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Highlights

Financial highlights

Group revenue

Adjusted profit/({loss) before tax**

Adjusted net cash/{debt)
(exclusive of lease abligatians)

Statutory diluted EPS*

Order book

* Oncontinuing ectivilies.

 Oncontinuing Bctivitiog, stated before excentional costs and amortisation of acquisition intangbies,

Net debt (inclusive of lease obligations)

Reported profit/{loss) before tax*

EBITDA tc cash conversion**

Adjusted diluted EPS”

Accident frequency rate

*** Being EBITOA divided by cash inflaw from operating activitles of continuing aperations,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategic highlights

— New clieni relationship with the
Ministry of Justice to provide
housing services

wa Signiflcant capabilities to support the
- decarboenisation of the UK's housing
stock Including an end-to-end offer
for clients, enabling projects to be
designed, funded, implemented
and measured

— Good progress In managing the
controlied closure of gur
Development activities, releasing
waorking capital absorbed in that area

- Excellent working capital
managemerit

- Underlying net cett (beiore lease
cbligations) at close to zero

ESG highlights

— Staff delivered 1,500 local community
projects generating over £29.4m of
soclal value

-  Plans to eliminate our carbon footprint
by 2030

— Awarded Order of Distinction by the
Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accldents (RoSPA), having achleved
Gold Award standard In our safety
record for 19 consecutive years

- Recognised as one of the Best
. Big Companies to wark for by the
Sunday Times

Reconclliations belween the statutory
figusres and the alternative performance
measures are reconciled on pages S5 and
56 of the Flnanclal review. The Financial
review also provides detailed analysis

of the financtal Impact fram the
discontinued operations.
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Strategic Report

Specialists in housing solutions

OUR PURPOSE

Working together to help people and
communities thrive. This is the guiding
principle that defines our brand and drives

our activities. it s what makes Mears distinctive
and is the starting point for all of our activities.

OUR VISION

To be the leading provider of housing
services and solutions 10 the affordable
housing market in the UK,

OUR VALUES

We vatue teamwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
excluding others,

We value cur customars
and communities, putting
their needs at the hesrt of

everything we do,

Our business at a glance

WHAT WE DO

Mears has a single-minded focus on the housing market and delivering
services o the residents of these homes, We operate within the
affordable housing sector, which is an area that will see continued
Investment given the significant housing shortage and the rising number
of people who are regarded as statutority homeless. We are aiso a key
player in the Net Zero agenda. As the largest provider of repairs and
maintenance to the soclal housing sector, we are already delivering Net
Zerc housing solutions with our partners.

OUR SERVICES

Qur core services are in the maintenance and management of homes.
Increasingly we operate an intelligant approach to mainlenance, using
technology and experlence to operate preventative maintenance
programmes that reduce levels of emergency repairs. As regards
management, we collect rent and ensure homes are managed and
maintained to 8 decent standard, whilst often providing other weifare
services to the tenants. Our particuler focus is on providing sustainable
altesnatives to homelessness, helping reduce the rising problems
created by the housing shortage In the UK.

OUR CUSTOMERS

We work predominantly with Central Goverament and Local
Government, in the delivery of housing services. These are typically
through %ang-term contracts. We equally consider the residents of the
homes that we manage ahd/or maintain 10 be our customers, and we
take pride in the high levels of customer satisfaction that we achieve.

02

We value Innovation,
being Imventive in our
approach and empowering
peopie to take reasonable
action without fearor
diserimination.

LONG-TERM DRIVERS

The shortage of housing in the UK has made investment in housing both
a political and an economic priority. The Social Housing White Paper will
lead 1o grester focus on tenant engagement and safety. UK carbon
reduction targets will also mean that significam further investment in
housing is needed. including the replacement of gas boiters.

We are alresdy seeing rising investment |n our markets and a greater
attention to the quality of delivery.

Demagraphic change is also @ key long-term driver, given the growing
and ageing population of the UK. This will create opportunity for more
speciakist housing, where management and maintenance services can
be effectively combined through a single partner.

Maars Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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PINANCIAL STATEMENRTS
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Strategic Repart

2021 accreditations

An organisation that actively
promotes support to Armed
Forces Veterans

An organisation that promotes
a safe working environmernt

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PREVENTION ARMED FORCES COVENANT —

OF ACCIDENTS GOLD AWARD

Heaith and safety ks paramount to our business, Mears has signed up 10 the Armed Forces

In 2021 Mears Group was awarded the RoSPA Covenant to demonstrate our cammitment to
Order of Distinctlon slongside its 15th consecutive ensure that those who serve or who have
Gold Aveaed in the intemationally renowned served in tha armed farcas, and thelr famities,
Health and Safety Awards run by RoSFA. are reated fairly.

An organisation that engages

i A
with customers great employer

TPAS CONTRACTOR ACCREDITATION BEST COMPANIES

AND AWARD WINNER Mears was named In 2021 as one ofthe Top 25
Mears has continuausly held the TPAS large businesses 1o work for in the Sunday Times
Contraclor accregilation since 2015. 1t is an Best Companies to work for list. Best Companies
independent evidence-based accreditation recognises businesses that lake workplace
schemne that assesses and recognises resident engagement Seriousty In arder to build & happier,
engagement arrangemants. Mears is privileged heatthier workdorce. Gur listing in the lop 26 has
to have been awarded the TPAS Award for best been maintained for 3 yaars.

Contractor ~ wenant engagement.

An corganisation that

, : A diverse and inclusive business
delivers quality

CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE EW GROUP INCLUSIVE

Mears aims ta put customers at the heart of CULTURE PLEDGE

everything we do. The Customer Service Mears is proud to have signed the EW Group
Excellence accreditation is a practical 100t for Inclusive Culture Pledge. The Fledge will
driving customer-focused change, fotus on keeping the equalkty and diversity

conversation akve in our organisation and how
we continue 10 progress cur diversity and
inclusion agenda and achlevemenls.

04 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



An organisation that
champions Social Mobility

SOCIAL MOBILITY INDEX

Mears is listed as & lop 75 Soclal Mobility Employer in the Sociaf
Mobility Index. The Index is an impaortant bench-marking Initlative
that ranks Britain's employers on Lhe actions they ot leking lo
ensure they are open 10 accessing and progressing talent from
all backgrounds and it showcases nrogress towards improving
social mability.

A socially responsible business

FTSE4GOOD

Mears Group is placed in the top 9% of the UK's most socially
responsible businesses in the FTSE4Good Index which recognises
excelent environmental, soclal and governance (E5G) practices.

Delivering excellent
customer service

ICS SERVICEMARK

Meaars aims 10 put customers at the heart of everything we do.
The ICS ServiceMark helps organisations undersiand how
effective their customer sarvice strategy is, and identifies areas
for improvement.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

An organisation that believes good
people make a great business

INVESTORS IN PEOPLE
Mears is proud (0 have long held the investors In Pecple standard.
Investors in People is the industry standard for people management.

Colleagues receive best
in class training

ICS TRAININGMARK

The Institute of Customer Service (ICS) TrainingMark gemonstrates
that our Customer Excellence Tralning (Making a Posltive
Difference) programmes meet national standards for customer
service, as indepencantly recagnised by the ICS.

Backing our essential workers

ICS — SERVICE WiTH RESPECT

Mears is proud to suppor the ISC's new 'Service with Respect’
campaign combatting the abuse and anti-social behaviour
experienced by essential workers in customer-facing roles.
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter

For much of the last two years,
Mears’ strategy has been to
streamline and refocus its
activities on the core provision
of low capital intensity housing
services to public sector clients
and in doing so to reduce its
indebtedness. This has now
been achieved.

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

06

]

INTRGDUCTION

The most obvious theme for 2021 was the
gradual and progressive requrn to normal
working across most of Mears’ activities.

At the start of the year, a version of lockdown
was 5illl in place, our repair and maintenance
activities were restricted and 8 number of
conlracis continued, as they had for much of
2020, 10 repay our costs but eliminated the
scope for profit generation, By the half year, -
we had retlurmned to almost normal operations
and contractal conditions, Activity continued
to bulld throughaut the second half of the
year, with growling work volumes and @ mare
active bidding process. The reslience of our
markets and our operations was underlined
by the fact that the appearance fate in the year
of the Omicron Covid variant, while creating
some operationai challenges, had very litile
impact on activity levels, service quality or
financial performance. We entered 2022 with
a strong trading and financial position, a goog
pipeline of work and continued high levels of
customer service.

This resfitence in performance owes much

to three factors. The first. and most important,
is the quality of our staff. | have seen many
examples of extraordinary dedication and
resilience in the face of difficult circumstances
and a determination to dellver a good
experience for customers, not simply to
execute a piece of wark. The second is the
strengin of aur custamer relationships, fastered
by our belief that excelent customer service
is the key 0 eflective cocperative working
between client and provider. Finaily, our
imformation lechnology platform has been
integral to the dedivery of our high quality,
responsive service, Mears” pgopie have much
1o be proud of in the way they navigated 2021.

Mears Group PLC Annuai Report and Accounts 2021



Continuing revenues

£878.4m

{2020; £805.8m)

Adjusted diluted EPS

18.23p

(Statutory dilutec EPS 11.50p)

Mears in 2022 Is & financialy strong group
whose business Is to fulfil contracts from LIK
Local and Central Government bodies to
provide essential services to customers in
need. No UK company will be entirely Immune
to the consequences of the current
deterioration in the world geopolitical climate,
but Mears’ financial stability and incressing
certainty of revenue provides the Group with
strong defensive qualilies and confidence in
ou Sustainable future.

RESULTS

Mears’ results for the year reflect this patiemn
of underlying activity, with activily and
profitability growing as the year progressed.
Full year revenue from continuing activities
reached £878.4m, very close to that achleved
in 2019 (£881.5m) and a significant increase
on 2020 (£B05.8m). Adjusted profit before
tax reached £25.6m {2020: £3.4m loss).

Cash generation throughout the year was
particularly strong, both in the core operations
and In proceeds from realisations in the
residual development business. The year end
adjusted net cash balance was £54.6m but,
mare importantly, average daily adjusted

net debt for the year was effectively zera.
Underlying cash conversion of over 100% in
the last two years, (as defined and detailed in
the Finance Review). has, along with strategic
disposals, transformed the Group's financial
position and created the current balance
sheet strength which Mears is determined

to retain into the future.

The value of new contracts bid and secured

in the year was relatively low given the delay
caused by Covid. The Group was pleased to
develop a new Cenitral Government client
relationship with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) to
provide housing services, supporting low and
medium risk prisoners upon their release Inlo
Initial accommodation and then providing a
clear pathway 1o a settled home. While the
initial value of the contract is modest, there is
scope to extend the longevity and geographic
coverage of this work as we become famifiar
with the requirements of a new and different
customer base and 8 new client.

We were delighted thatin early 2022, the
Ministry of Defence {(MoD) notified Mears that
it had been successful in its bid to continue to
provide housing services to military personnel
in the community under the new RLAP. This is
an extremely important client and contract for
the Group, and we look forward to continuing
o provide a very high quality service to owr
military customers for 8 number of years.
Including this successful retention, the
Company’s order book remains strong
atsome £2.4bn (2020; £2.6bn}.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

DIVIDEND

The Board Is proposing a final dividend of 5.50
pence per share, bringing the total dividend for
the year to 8.00 pence per share. We are
pleased to have been able 10 reinstate
dividend payments as our trading returned
towards ngrmal during 2021 and itisthe
Board's policy to pay a progressively growing
dividend, keeping cover at betweean 2x and
2.5x normalised earnings.

STRATEGY

For much of the last two years, Mears' strategy
has been to streamline and refocus its activities
on the core provision of low capital intensity
housing services 1o public sector clients and

in doing so has realised value from non-core
activithes to reduce its indebtedness. This has
now been achigved. During the last year, the
Board has invested considerable time in
working with the managemeni team, Suppored
by external advisers, to assess the scope for
the Group’'s fulure development.

The backdrop is encouraging. Demographic
trends are increasing the demand for
affordable housing and more sophisticated
retirement living solutlons. Sacial housing
walting lists remain long and there is growing
pressure on Local Authorities and Housing
Assoclations to find, service and maintain
homaes to a high standard, Finally, the
Government's commitment to national carban
reductlon largets cannot be achieved without
both a very substantial investment in the
guality of the existing housing stock as

well as significant changes in {he way

houses are heated.

Mears Is positioned to benefit from all of these
trends. We expect 10 use our position as the
market leader In housing maintenance 1o win
new business at good margin angd to
progressively extend our range of services to
clients, We will explore ways in which we might
be able to operate profitably with private sector
clients. We will grow our capabillities, especialy
in relation 1o the ‘greening’ of housing and,
once effective funding mechanisms are found
to pay for this work, expect 1o be a market
leader in this transformation of the country's
soclal housing stack. We will maintain a strong
financial position and our focus on excellent
cash generation,
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter continued

Our commitment to all of our stakeholiders will
remain af the forefront of our deveiopment.

We will continue to support customers and
communities, both in how we undenake our
core wark and in the social value projects we
supporl. We will Irvest in our business to
generate Incremental opporunity and quelity
improvements in the service we can provide
customers and clhems. Our commitment to our
stafl’s welfare and their personal and career
development will also be strengthened. We will
institute a pragrammea to eliminate our own
carban footprim by 2030. We will maintain
close relationships with our bank lenders,
although aur Tacilities will be smaller than in
past years. And we will keep a close eye on the
need 1o balante retained financial strength for
the Group with a steady and growing return of
value 10 out shareholders.

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

As foreshadowed in last yaar's repast, both Roy
{irwin and Geralrk Oavies stood down from the
Board at the 2021 Annual Genaral Meeting
{AGM). The Board (5 grateful for their services.
At that lime, the Boatd préposed to bdd cne
new Non-Executive Director durling 2022,

Much work was undertaken by the
Nominstions Committee 10 identify both what
skils and experience would be of most value in
racryiting a new director and in examining our
need for a continued effort to reflect at Board
leved the Group's overall commitment o
diversity. This wark is discussed further in

the Report of the Nominations Committee.
Following zn extensive process, the Board
was plegsed to announce the appointment af
Angela Lockwood as its new Non-Exacutive
Director with effect from 1 January 2022,
Angela has held senior roles in the affordable
niousing secior for many years and her in-depth
understanding of thet community will be of
inmense value 1o Mears as i continues 1o
develop (t5 business.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH
SHAREMOLDERS

For a number of years, Mears' largest
sharehalder was Primestone Capltal, which
hetd over 12% of the Company's shares.

Qver the last 12 manths, Primestona
progressively reduced its holding and. by the
end of 2021, It was no longer a sharehoider.
Mears’ current sharehoiger base is gominated
by & smal number of funds with signiicant
holdings, most of whom have been substantial
and supporive owners of the Company for
many years.

08

“We will continue to emphasise
the need to support customers
and communities, both in how we
undertake our core work and in the
social value projects we support.”

\while day-to-day dialogue with shareholders
is led by the sentor masnagemant team Lis
important ko me as Chairman o have the
OppOTLTLY i tBTk with sharehwoldess ftom tme
to time so that | can understang the key issues
which underpin theic support far Mears.

Quring 2021, | heid discussions on at least

ane occasion with mast of the largest 1S
shareholders in the Group, which allowed
them to quaestion me ahout the position and
prospects for the Group and facilitated my
understanding of what matters for them In their
contlauing support for the Company. | intend
to continue that dialogue. bath reactively

and proactively, through 2022,

ESG '

| referred above to the impartance of the
‘carbon zero agenda’ in the futyre development
of the Mears’ business, and this is discussed
further in the CEO's review. Mears is
developing its plan to eliminate its own carbon
footprint by 2030. This plan will be ctlosely
moniicred by the Board as it is rolled out across
the Group 1o ensure Ihat tne changes we make
are sustainable, effective, and permanent.

Mears’ commitment to responsible business
and the creation of social value is sn integral
part of the fabric of the Group. We are pleased
thatit continues to be racogaised by & wide
range of outside observers. We were
delighted to be awarded the Order of
Distinction by RoSPA, (the Royal Scciety for
the Prevention of Accidents), having achleved
Gold Award standard in our safety record for
19 consecutive years. We remain ane of the
Best Big Companies 10 work far in the annual
Sunday Times survey. We have continued to
devedop a range of programmes o support
staff frormn apprentices through to middie
management in their career development.
Qur commitment to customer service was
reflacted in the retention of the ICS's
ServiceMark Accreditation for Housing.

‘We remain in the forefiony of the developmeni
of good pusiness praciice with the prodiuction
of our report on Ethical Procurement and in the
deyetopment of ous Scotlsh Business Charter.

Further details of othac Initlatives are Included
In the ESG section of the Strategic: Report.

CONCLUSION AND QUTLOOK

Muych has been achieved by Mears over the
last thrae years to optimise its position and
prospects, despite the strong headwinds aof
the Covid pandemic for much of that period,
Credit for this mu3t go 1o the managemem
team and the workforce generally, and it

Is a pleasure, on behalf of the Board, to
acknowledge the hard and effective work
which has been put in gver this peclad.

We are confident in our capabilities, ur
ability to add value and our ¢capacity lo
generate sustainable protitable growth.

Mears Group PLC Annuai Report and Accounts 2021



An interview with the

Chief Executive Officer

There has been 50 much publicity around
the challenges in the asylum system.

How s this likely to impact the businass
going forward?

Itis correct 1o say that there have been major
challenges this year and our staff have been
briliiant In reacting to very high levels of
demand, cflen at veey short notice. We find
initial and dispersed accommodation, on
behalf of the Home Office across Seotland,
Nacthern irgland and parts of the north of
England. At the time of writing this response,
there is no sign of the number of pecple
requesting asylum decreasing, although we
have assumed that this will start to happen
from the middle of 2022 We will continue

to focus on providing good quatity housing
and to work with other groups 1o suppoit the
weliare of the individuals concerned.

“Our staff have
been brilliant

in reacting to
very high levels
of demand,
often at very
short notice.”

What Is the situation regarding materials
availlability and inflation, as well as the
pressures arising from abour shorages?
Worldwide demand had put pressure on
both the supply and price of some materials.
We are fortunate that all cur major cantracis
provide for increases in inflation, but we still
have a duty to mitigate the impact on our
clients. We have close working relatlonships
with gur supplers and ensured there is
good visbility of forward demand. There are
some pressures on front kne trade roles.

To mitigate this, we have putincreased focus
on apprenticeships, invested in the Kickstart
Scheme and developed new entry level
roles. Our continued focus on promoting
diversity is also Important in ensuring that we
reach out lo all peaple In society. The most
important thing is staff retention, and it is
cbviousty helpful that we are recognised as
being one of the best large companies 1o
work for in the UK. We have, however, gone
further, Improving terms and conditions for
slaff, in areas such as holidays, flexible
benefits and sick pay.

Covid must still be presenting challenges to
Mears, How are you dealing with them?
Covid has almost become a business-as-
usual challenge within Mears. By this | mean
staff have been excellent in'sticking lo
stringent safety procedures and being able to
balance working from home and the office,
sormetimes changing at very short notice.
We have iried and tested procedures, and
whiist It Is possibile that more severe
lockdowns may happen, itis evident that tha
work will nordisappear, but just get delayed.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Do you belleve that the focus on carbon
reduction is a real opportunity for Mears?
Without doubt. The business Is already
winning work in this space and had
developed an end-tc-end service capability
to suppon clients’ work towards net zero
within their housing stock. | am also excited
by the benefit this work bas on reducing
fuel poverty, While being ambitious in our
devetopment planning and speciiically in
broadening the skills In our workforce here,
we are being cautious as regards to the
speed at which clients invest, given scme
uncertainties with grant funding availability.
Owverall, though, this Is probably the biggest
opporunity for Mears over the next S years.

What steps are you taking to promote
diversity in Mears?

Our cllents are very diverse and 50 is our
workforce. | am pleased that staff have readily
shared £D| data with us, so we have a very
good piclure of our workforce, and we
monttar closely how our workforce is
progressing. it's been good to see significant
growth inthe percentage of managers who
are women in Mears and that the gender pay
gap Is closing. We have an Employee Director
on the main Beard and a Deputy Employee
Director, who is also the disability champion
for the Group. Diversity training has taken
place et every level in the Group, including at
the main Board. We have a Social Diversity
and Inclusion Board, with three independent
Directors, that reparts ta the main Board on
the progress the Group is making.

Our succession planning procedures, at all
levels, fully consider diversity aspects and
our ongoing goal 1o be a leader In this field.

“Our clients are
very diverse
and so is our
workforce.”

Now the cashi position of the Graup has
improved so much, o you see a iole

for acquisitions?

We don't believe that any major acquisitions
are likely. We have a very clear strategy with
some good opportunities for organic growth.
We will, of course, continue to have this
position under review.
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review

We are trusted partners to our

Local and Central Government

clients, who increasingly recognise

the need for a high quality housing

specialist to help them provide a

wide range of accommodation and

related services to often vulnerable

people within their care. INTRODUCTION

2021 was a strong year for the Group,
characterised by high quality operations and
David Miles customer service, & robust financial position
Chief Executive Officer and trading cutperformance. Qur track record
of operational excellence underpins everything
we do; from winning new work, gttracting and
retaining the best staff, delivering a strong
and sustainable financial periormance.
The pandemic again placed additional
operating challenges this year. Prior long-term
investment in client relationships, our peaple
and systems ensured the business continued
10 perform well relative to its peers,

We are a trusted pariner to our Lacal and
Central Governmen clients, who increasingly
recagnise the need for a high guality housing
specialist 10 help them provide a wide range of
accommaoadation snd related services to aften
vulnerable pecple within their care.

| am keen to put on fecord its appraciation for
the ongoing dedication and commitment showr
by all statf and the cooperation and support
recehved from our dients and customers.

Accident frequency rate

0.19

{2020: G.15)

Order book
£2.4bn
{2020 2.6bn}

1 O Mears Group PLC Annual Repoit and Accounts 2021



GROUP REVIEW

The trading performance of the Group continued to recover strongly over the course of the year as
the financial impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic receded. The recovery in revenue In the continuing
operations to near 2019 levefs In 2021, and the rige in operating margins, especlally fn the second

half, were very positive.

Continuing activities

Mt 2021 H2 2021 2021 2020
Revenue £m &£m £m m
Maintenance-led 286.5 2579 544.4 536.9
Management-led 1395 168.9 3084 2538
Development 177 79 256 151
Tolat 4437 4347 8784 8058
Cperating profit before tax measuras:
Statutory operating profit/fioss) 97 47 244 {6.3)
Adjusted operating profitfioss) 156 181 337 6.6
[post-IFRS 16
Adjusted operating profit/{loss) 137 15.9 296 06
(pre-IFRS 164
Adjusted operoting margin 3% 7% J.4% or%
{pre-IFRS 185)
Profit before tax messures
Stelutory profitAloss) before tax 56 107 163 (5.2}
Adjusted profitAloss) before tax? n 14.5 25.6 @.4)

1. Statutory cperating profit/loss) Inc/udes share of proflt In assodates.
2. Adjusted measunes are gefined In the Altarnative Perfonmance Measures section of the Finance Review.

Group revenuyes for the year were £878.9m
{2020: £80%.8m), 8 9% increase on the prior
year, driven by elevated volumes across the
Managemeni-led contracts, repair volumes
retuming to pre-pandemic levels within
responsive Maintenance and a good sell-
through n Development, especlally in the
first half of 2021,

Operating prolits and margins continued to
strengthen over the course of the year as
lockdown restrictions eased, volumes
increased, and the buSiness reverted to its
original commercial mechanismis with clients.
Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted operating profit for the
year was £29.5m (202Q; £0.6m), with pre-IFRS
16 adjusted operating margins recovering from
3.1% in the first haif to 3.6% by the second hail.

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
£25.6m (2020; £3.4m loss), benefitting from
the improved trading performance and lower
Interest costs glven the Group's much
improved debt position throughout 2021,

OPERATING REVIEW

Malntenance-led

Through its portfolio of Maintenance-led
contracts, Mears is responsible for the upkeep,
repair, and maintenance of sodal housing
across the UK, on behalf of around 50 Local
Authorities and Housing Associations,

The Group's Mainienance-led contracts saw

an improving volume and revenue trend during
2021 as restrictions eased snd more normalised
trading conditions retumed to mast branches.
All contracts reverted to their original
commercial mechanisms.

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021

We experienced particularty high volumes in
reactive mantenance activity in the second
half of 2021 as we worked with clients and
customers to clear the backlog of lower priority
maintenance jobs that had been delayed by
lockdowns. Higher Covid-related levels of
sickness in our warkforce during 2021, together
with some reduction in productivity given
ongoing soclal-distancing protocols, has
resulted in a higher level of overdue works
orgers. Planned maintenance works have been
slower to return Lo normal levels. However, this
spend 1s non-discretionary over the longer
term and we are conficient these works will
retwrn dusing 2022,

Our procurement procedures have meant that
we have not experlenced significant problems
with materal supply. Where lead times have
lengthened, we have managed to plan for this
In our opecstional delivery. However, as
evidenced across the industry, we have
experdenced Input price Inflation in the period,
impacting upon both materials snd labour.
The Group’s customer contracts include
inflationary uplift mechanisms which negate
much of this risk over the medium term,
although there can be liming differences In the
shortterm. The Mears model has always been
to invest in and retain our own staff as much as
possible, with lesser reliance than peers on
sub-contracted and other short-temm labour,
Qur employee fumover remains low relative
10 the Industry and, accordingly, we are

better protected from the shortages and
accompanying price inflatlon seen in the
broader construction labour markets.

Management-lad

Mears' Managementkled contracts include the
procurement, management, and maintenance
of over 10,000 affordable homes and support
to the people in those homes. Most of the
revenues in this area are generated through
contracts with Central Government.

Our contracts in this Management-led
category performed strongly throughout 2021,
with revenues up 22% year on year. This was
largely driven by the Asylum Accommeodation
and Suppart Contract (AASC) in which we find
inltlal and dispersed accommodation on
tehalf of the Home Cffice across Scotland,
Northern Ireland, and parts of the north of
England. AASC continued to experience
clevated volumes across the entlre asylum
process, with more service usars entering

the systern than exiting, The process of
supparting these vulnerable peaple inte
dispersed accommodation is continuing.
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer's review continued

1 am immensely proud of how the Mears AASC
team and Group infrastruciure heave maneged
such high demand {often at short notice)

' and continyed to provide good quality
accommadation and lenant suppern
throughout the year. While volumes remain
elevated gt the time of writing, we anticipate
that numbers within the system will start 10
normaiise from the middle of 2022,

Mears was swarded a contract with the MoJ
(Mo} to provide transhtional housing services
and support to low and medum risk prisoners
upon their release, from initial accommaodation
into a setlle¢ home. A key aim of this pilot
scheme is (o ensure that nc one leaves prison
without the offer of 8 good quality place 1o live
from their first right In the commurily, and a
clear pathway lo a settled long-term home.
This Is a ngw customer for Mears. We will
pravide an iegrated service including the
provision of the property. maintenance,
management, and walfare support. The contract
mobillised in Juty 2021and has ramped up
siowly during the initial Six-months, reaching an
annualised run-rate value of circa £6m revenue
by the year end. Initial feadhack from the MoJ
has been positive and discussions continue in
respect of extending both the tenm and
geagraphic reach of the programme.

Mears was delighted 10 be awarded the new
RLAP contract, providing a wide range of
housing services to the Defence infrastructure
Organisetion [DIO) The new contractis for a
period Of up 10 seven years and has 8 contract
value in excess of £50m a year. Under the
cantract, Mears will provide & wide range of
accommodation and propefly services 1o
service personnel and their families across the
UK, Services include property search, selection
and leasing, relocation secvices, tenancy
management, responsive repalrs, and
mairtenance. The new contracl s expecied

10 commence in April 2022. Mears has been
successiulfy providing similar services since
216 under the predecessor Substitute Service
Accommaodalion contract, deifvesing a high
leval of service and operaticnal delivery,

which kas contributed ta this successfyl re-bid.
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Development

Qurfew remaining development sites achieved 2 strang sefl-through, particularty in the first half year.
The Group sold S0 units in the year, generating Cash and revenues ol £25.6m [2020: £15.1m),
The Group anticipates a full exit from the remaining Development portfolio during 2022,

Development plots Units
Compleled units gs at 1 January 2021 40
Units completed during period 7
Units sold during perod {50)
Compieted units at 3t December 2021 16
Bullding In progress at 31 December fin addition 1o completed uniis} 26
Net working capital absorbed (31 December 2021) g12m
[2020. £25m)

Energy efficiency

The Social Housing sector, cComprising some
20% of the total number of 28 mibon dwellings
inthe UK, has baen tasked by Government to
{ead the way in the decarbonisation of the UK's
housing stock, in line with the UK's overall
climate change ambitions. Furthermore, risiog
levels of fuel poverty as energy prices surge
demand further action gn enetgy eifciency,
Mears has built significant capabifities in this
ares and is heavily engaged with its Local
Authority and Housing Assacigtion client base
1o help them rise to these challenges.

An analysis by Inside Housing put the
estimated cost of decarbonising the UK's social
housing stock a1 £104ba or circa £21000 per
property. While Central Gowemment has not
yet released enough funding for clients to
achieve their 2030 targets, there are row
Increasing funding commitments availsble 10
enable progress ta be made. Aprlf 2022 will
see £800m released for the English Social
Housing Qecarbonisation Fung {SHOF], with
similar funds existing in devoived natlons.

Tha Warm Homes Front end Energy Comparty
Obligation (ECO4) scheme also present
sigmificant investment opporiunities.

Mears hes created an end-to-end offer for
chients, enabiing swojects © be designed,
funded, Implemeanted, and measured.

Mears has worked collaboratively with several
Chents to design tallored retrofit sowutions and
secure funding through the SHDF. This is

the firsttranche of funding from Central
Govemnment, which wilt be released over

the nex1 10 years to improve the energy
performance of soclal remed homes on the
journey to achieve net zero by 2050 in England.
The funding appkcations wese faciiitated by
Mears in partnership with Livin Housing, Crawley
Homes and Milton Keynes Couneil, The Group
created a'carban reduction team' focused on
developing solutions to supporl our existing
clients o decarbonise theilr housing stock by
taking a resicent first approach that s centred
an reducing fuel stress, improving residents’
quaiity of e, and improving the condition and
energy perfonmance of clients’ housing stock.

The successful funding awards to date,
combined with client investment, wiil deliver
schemes to our Milton Keynes Council, Crawtey
Homes and Livin Housing to an aggregate
value of aver £15m {including grant funding of
circa £5m), with works 1o be completed before
March 2023,
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It Is obwiously Imporiant for clients 10 ntegrate
green investment with other planned
maintenance work and for thls work to be well
maintained sfter installation. Mears is uniquely
placed to Integrate such projects efficiently into
clients’ ongoing Maintenance and regeneration
programmes. Creating energy efficiency is not a
one-off piece of work, it will become an ongaing
key part of the management of housing stock,
slong with rising standards of bullding safety
and tenant engayeiint. The current Decent
Homes standards review can only give further
momentum ¢ these improvements.

Of course, we have a responsibility to take
action on our own direct operations to increase
carbon efficiency ang aim to achleve Net Zero
on Scope and 2 emissions by 2030. We will
publish our roadmap to this target in 2022,

CUSTOMERS

The Group conducts over 36,000 ‘Voice of the
Customer’ surveys 8 year to demonstrate to
oursetves and our clients that the highest
standards of customer service are maintsined.
These show that the Group's 'Satisfled with
Service' and ‘Likely 1o Recommend {NPS)
scores remained consistently above 80%

and 60% respectively, throughaut the yesr.
Such scores are substaniially above the
benchmark for the'industry across both the
pubsic and private sector, with 35% being

the average. Integral to this performance was
the Mears Contract Management (MCM)
technology platform. which facilitated a
seamless transition to and from remote
working, for both Mears employees and
cruclally our chents.

“At a time when competition for
skilled labour is high, it has never
been more important for Mears to
continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff.”

EMPLOYEES

At a time when competition for skilled labour
is high, it has never been more important for
Mears to continue Its commitment to being a
greal place to work for our staff. For the third
year running, we have secured our placein the
2021 Sunday Times Best Companies list of top
25 large companies 1o work for in the UK, and
encouragingly our score is higher than bath
2019 and 2020. Our cufture is defined by

our values. as sel out in the 'Red Thread',

We recogrise that through great employee
engagement we will achleve commercial and
customer success. A culiure of investment,
inclusion and deveiopment in the workforce
ensured that the Group saw anly modest
Increases in staff turnover and costs during
the year, despite labour markets tightening
significantly acress Lhe secior.

The benefits of this effort can be seen in the
extrapsdinary effort and commitment from our
staff during the Covid perlod, which hes had
such a big impact on our operational delivery.
As naw opporiunities arise, such as energy
efficiency, open up, we will have to continue
imvesting in our staff to develop both the
capability and capsacity of our teams to take
advarntage of such apportunities.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accourits 2021

During the year, we have used staff feedback
to further strengthen our workforce propasition,
with the following key initistives Implemented
during the year:

Improved holiday and sick pay for front
line operatives

Building the workfarce of tomorrow,
through investing in apprentices,
supporting the Kickstart programime

and creating new entry level roles 1o
drive social mobillity

Introducing flexible benefits and enabling
a better balance between home and
affice working

Providing excellent communication and
support around Covid and maintaining the
higheast standards of internal
communication more broadly”

Increasing Irvestment In staff, through
bespoke training such as our ‘Emerge’
development programme, for staff looking
to progress o senior management positions
Externally appointed Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publsh our first
‘ethnicity gap' report by the end of 2022
The development of new low carbon
technology and awareness training to
help transition our staff to these new
opportunity areas

Providing comprehensive mental health
and wellbelng support, especially given
tha difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group's health and safety record across
the year was exceptionally good, as evidenced
by our Heglth and Safety Team being awarded
its ¥h Consecutive RoSPA Goki Award and
retaining its place on ROSPA's Order of Mewit.

The Health and Safety team worked closety
wilh the operationsl ieam mobilising the
Ministry of Justice contract, 1o ensure robust
governance policies and procedures were
embedded into contract delivery. In this
regard, the Group’s knowledge, expertise, and
experience derived from managing AASC was
hugely beneficisl and was a key element in the
very successiul deployment of services during
the latter part of the yeer.

The ever-increasing importance of data
security is a key strateglc canslderation for

the Group and, In this regard, | have recently
widened the soie of the Compliance Commitiee
ta encompass greater scrutiny of {his essential
area moving forward imo 2022, to enhanca the
level of Information avaliable to the main Board.

SOCIAL VALUE AND

RESPONS!BLE BUSINESS

Cur business is foundad in local communities
where we dellver the highest standards of

care to people, their homes and thair kved
emnviranment, By caring abaut the people and
communities we work with, we are welcomed
nto people’s homes, ara a trusted partner 1o
ouyr clients, and an attractive and valued loca!
employer. Despite a challenglng year in which
to engage with our kocal communities, the
Group's siaff delivered over 1,500 local
communily prolects generating over E29.4m of
sacial value. Qur AASC staff delivered laptaps
1o schools and supported chikdren through
iockdown with self-isolation packs in 1 different
languages. Our Key Worker contract teams
contributed over £11m of social vaiue through
the ‘Reuse’ initisitve that donales and
distributes used furniture to those in local need.

We have targeted each empioyee to generale
£5.000 of social value in 2022 and the Mears
Foundation [our in-house, company/employee
fundad charity) 1o award £200,000 in funding
to support focal projects.

14

ORDER BOOK AND PIPELINE

The order book as at 31 December 2021 stood
at £2.4bn (2020: £2.6bn), reflecting the timing
of contract renewals over the last 12 months
and lower levels of re-tender activity across the
Industry due to Covid.

Whilst Mears itself enjoyed severai short-term
extensions, such as a1 Tower Hamlels, the
Group was also pleased 10 secure important
tongerterm extensions (o a few existing
contracts, notabily:

— 8 5-year contract extension with Orbit
Housing which will see Mears continue ta
provide services, with an annual value of
circa £20m, untll at least March 2027,

- B 3-year contract extension with Livin
Housing, based In Sedgefield, which wil
see Mears continue to provide services,
with an annual value of around £12m per
annum unth at least Aprl 2025; and

— 3% discussed above, the Group was
delighted ta secure work with 8 new
Central Government ckent, the MoJ.

We are seelng increasing leveis of bid
activity and the Group's bid pipeline
currently stands &t circa £1bn. The Groug
continues to prioritise the retention and
expansion of work within existing clignt
relationships. The reporied pipeline excludes
the North Lanarkshire Future Integrated
Housing Services contract re-tender
estimated st more than £1.0bn, where the
Group is well placed, with funther feedback
expected during G2 2022. The Group has
#50 had positive initial feeddadk from the
Mol in respect of the CAS 3 temperary
accammodation pllat programme and
discussions continue around tha potential
extension and expansion of these services.

STRATEGY REVIEW

We are leaders in the affordable housing
market In the UK. Qur services include
responsive repair, refurbishment, and
regeneration of housing siock, as well as the
procurement and management of temporary
accommadation angd tenant support for Local
and Central Goverriment clients. The future
demand profite for these speciallst housing
services femains positiva, given the
fundarertat shortage and poar quaity

of aflordable housing In the UK.

In 2021, we completed a 5-year strategic plan
for the Group, focused on this atfordable
housing sector. We see opporiunities to grow
consistently and sustainebty over the medium
term, given the folowing market drivers:

— Increased Governmert investment in the
alfordable housing secior given expanding
social housing waiting lists and renewed
patitical focus an quality hauskg past Covid.

- Social Housing White Paper and
Government pokcy towards higher
standards lov safety and custoner
engagement. Changes in procurement
procedures, post-Brexi, are also likely
to bring advantages to thgse companies
wha have high focus on socisl value and
service Guaiity.

— The commitmentto raise the catbon
efficiency of all seclal housing stock
by one EPC band by 2030 prasants
significant investment requirements.

We are now starting to see Increased
funding come through.

— Increasing Lacal Authority Spend
on long-term, cost-eflective
homelessness solutions.

- Ongoing demaographic pressure on
the UK housing shortage, particuiarly in
Mears' core comgatencies of affordable
reral and specialist ratirement flving.

= Delvering ESG commitments In lne with
the high standards of social responsibility
that are the foundatkns of gur business.
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Mears will address these markel opportunities
through the following measures:

— Leveraging our market-leading position In
Housing maintenance (o belter Cross-5ellf
upsell our broader housing services
through more effective client planring and
thereby growing our share of wallet with
existing clients,

— Continuing to evolve our atfordabte
rental, temporary acccmmodation,
and integrated housing offer to meet
Increasing market demands.

== Participation in targer, integrated
housing contracls, across Local and
Central Government.

~ Driving greater operationai efficlencies
through more centrakised adminisirative
and support services such as our regional
Hub netwaork.

— Continued digital Innovation to increase
the agility of front line operations whilst
continuing 1o drive improvements to the
customer experience.

= Operational consistency across the Group
and driving improvements where contracts
are underperforming.

Even with the potantial post-Covid economic
challenges. Housing is a sector that will gain
Irvestment 1o SUppPOrt @CoNoMiIc recovery

and to meet longer term challenges, such as
those posed by climate change. There Is clear
opportunity to grow both our maintenance-led
and management-led work and indeed we see
a number of opportunities that will integrate all
of our services, The responsitle approach that
we have taken to business through Covid, and
from the start of Mears, has left us well placed
1o benefit.

The business continues to make strategic
progress towards the vision to be the UK’s
most respected and trusted provider of
heousing solutions.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION

Over the last couple of years, the Group has
significantly reduced lis Indebtedness and
re-established its cash generative, lease-based
business modet. Foltowing this stccessful
de-gearing process, the Board will continue to
keep under close review Its policy esto the
appropriate allocation of the Group's caphal
resources. At least In curment market conditions,
itis intended 1o continue 10 operate the Group
with no more than modest levels of debt.

The Board considers that the Group can
continue to deliver organic growth within that
framework, with a relatively modest level of
capital expendiiwe. This business model will
continue to generate strong free cash flows.

The Board is committed to Investing in the
bu:siness and to Innovation, and will be willing
10 increase capital invesiment, especially in
technology. to develop new digitai solutions
both to drive operational efficlency and 1o
develop business lines. Oppartunities may also
arise 1o complete small strategic acquisitions,
agaln particularly of technology or data-orlented
businesses, where they can add value to the
development of the Group's business fines,
especlally in carbon reduction. The Group's
current view Is that larger acquisiions are
unlikaly to drive shareholder value, but the
Group will retain the flexibility to act whene
opportunities arise at short notice. Mears

will continue to promote its objective of

belng the most secially responsible business
working with the public sector and in that
context would expect to continue to drive
improvements in payment practices.

Having restored the payment of requiar
dividends to shareholders, the Board Intends
to continue to maintain a progressive dividend
policy and would expect to reduce earnings
cover over the relatively short term toward two
times. The scope to make further distributions
to sharehokiers, whether by way of share
buybacks or special dividends, will be kept
under review as the investment policy
described above unfolds.
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Accident frequency rate

0.19

{2020: 0.15)

Order book

£2.4bn

{2020: 2.6bn)

15

L80d3Y D1DRLVIULS

FONVYNEIAOD ALVHOLJUOD

SINIWILYLS IVIDONVYNIY

NOIIYWNUO4NI N2QTOHANYHS

TN

A\

A\Y




Strategic Report

Case study

Repairs and
Maintenance

in partnership with North Lanarkshire Council

Mears delivers an all-encompassing service
carried out in parinership with North
Lanarkshire Council, to fully maintain and repair
every property within the Council’s portiolio.

In 2022 we will be bidding far a new contract
with the Council — one of the largest contracis
in our pipelne, which will deliver repairs and
mainienance la every property within the
Council’s portfolio of 36,700 tenanted
properties and owver 1,000 pubiic buitdings,

If successful, the new contract will stgnificanity
grow our work volume acrass the Authority.
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North Lanarkshire Council and Mears are

joint partners In the LLP, ensuring we have
continued investment in the North Lanarkshire
community for the lonhg term. The two
organisations are truly integrated, with a shared
cammitment to deliver excellent sesvices to
residents. whilst bringing community and
training benefits 10 the North Lanarkshire
community in a sustainable way. Conlract KPis
have been increased from 90% to 95% as pan
of this commitrnent.

These include the following:

Flexible working patterns to address
emengencies - o ensure Mears offers
emergency repairs 7 days per week,
365 days a year with coverage from
8.00am to 10.00pm.

485

employed within North
Lanarkshire contract

Joint contact centre = Joltit working
arrangements between Mears and North
Lanarkshire have delivered efficiencies
acrass the contract and enable closer
working for both parties.

Van stack review — the sirategic review has
minamised down time and driven efficiencies.
Void property approach —through a joint
pre-inspection of all void propertles, the
delivery ol materials is now automated to
site in agvance of works. This has
minimised lravel and down time of the
team to focus on productive installation.

INVESTMENT IN NORTH LANARKSHIRE

Salaries totalling £19m per annum

Local procurement of mateiais totatling
£8m per annum

Payments of €14m per annum to local
supply chain partners

Training 150 and employing 51
spprentices, achigving & 98%

retention rate on all apprenticeships
Employment of 485 employees within
North Lanarkshire working on the contract

Read more
about new contracts
in our strategy section
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Case study

Changin

Lives

with the Ministry of Justice

Read more
about new coniracts
in our strategy section

We have added 1o our stable of contracts for
housing services to Central Government with
our successful bid to win the Ministry of Justice
CAS 3 project. This is cne part of a wider €70m
project to reduce reoffending, through the
provision of tempaorary accommodation.

CAS 3 will accommodate and provide services
to peapie on prebation - this means adult
offenders of all genders who are 18 or above
who have been released as homeless from
prison foltowing a custodial sentence.
Residents will be accommodated for up to

84 days in Maars managed properties and

will receive support and assistance to enable
& successful move on to their own home.

The MoJX's key requirement is 'to ensure that no
ane leaves prison withoul the offer of a place 1o
live, from their first night in the community and
a pathway to settied accommodation’.

Mears Group PLC Annyal Report and Accounts 2021

£70m

dedicated to the provision of
temporary accommodation )

MEARS HOUSING MANAGEMENT
CHIEF OPERAYING OFFICER

JOHN TAYLOR SAID:

“We knew when bldding for the contract that
we had the necessary skills and expertise

of working with vuinerable peogple to deliver

a supporting senvice. Enabling people to
mowve on with thelr lives |s soimportant to

us. We understand that even the risk of
homelessness and the instability caused
means that people are mare likely (o reoffend.
Mears is proud to be part of a jJourney to reduce
the liketihood of a downward spiral once
people have served their time and deserve to
be rehabilitated.”

The contract will run for 1 year, subject to an
option to extend for a further 3 years based on
value for money and positive outcomes, and we
are in the process of bidding for further housing
opportunitles with the Ministry of Justice.
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Strategic Report

Case study

Building an
Exemplar Relationship

in outer London - London Borough of Havering

The London Borough of Havering has
announced Mears as its new repalrs and
maintenance provider. The Local Authority is
a dynamic organisation with a core ethos of
cominuous improvernent and the client has
made It clear that its intemion is to build the
highest performing contract that is seen as
the best in London,

With over 12,000 dwellings, the coniract buikis
on our existing presence in East London with
our current cantract in Redbridge.

CHIEF DPERATING OFFICER

AT MEARS. LUCAS CRITCHLEY,
WELCOMED THE NEW RELATIONSHIP:
"From the pulset we have made it Clear that we
will work with Havering 10 make this contract
the best in London and an exemplar for other
councils (o follow. Mears will be a safe palr of
hands for residents, and we will bring our
specialist approach o each property.

Mears will start from the beginning with

strong communication with residents and

give them every opportunity to feed back

on aur performance,

"I particularly welcome the focus on developing
local employment opportunities — for botn
current residents whao are unemployed and
existing local suppty chains. We look forward

la meeting our new suppliers and 10 a great
partnership for the future.”

Mears will be a safe pair
of hands for residents,
and we will bring our
specialist approach

to each property.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Officer

Mears will bring its IT expertise to the new
partnership o ensure the best customer
approach possible. Customers waiting for
a repair will be Informed by automated text
and will have access to & live tracker — our
in-house spproach, MCM Live. A key part
of the softwara Is that [t directly links the
customer with an immediste satisfaction
survey so both Mears and the dllent can
see how we are performing.

QOur social value commitment loaks 1o deliver
for the residents of Havering, This incluges
commiments 1o careers advice, focal
employment, apprenticeships, job memoring
and suppor. We also have a firm commitment
10 use the local supply chain.

Read more
about new contracts
In our strategy section

18
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Case study

Mears and Livin
Partnership

to give Shildon estate a £6m revamp to address major
issues including fuel poverty and carbon reduction

Muars and Livin have embarked on a multi-
million-pound project to regensrate a
hausing estate, nddressing fuel poverty
and carbon reduction in County Durham.

Following extensive engagement with tenants.
residents, owners, privete lancliords and
stakeholders, The Courts on the Jubllee Flelds
estate in Shildon will undergo an extenslve
transformation that will include:

Introducing private garden spaces;
providing allocated parking;

converting unwanted flats into
spacious famliy homes;,

creating an impraved estate layout: and
energy efficdency.

The Courts wlil! be macie more energy-efficient
and economical to heat.

Mears will deliver the £6m scheme between
November 2021 and spring 2023, creating
20 homes for rent and 15 homas for saje,
available In phases.

ALAN BODDY, LIVIN'S CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
SAID; “Ow place making approach is a proven
way of addressing issues on estates, batancing
investment in existing and new homes and
addressing community needs and aspirations.

"By listening to our tenants and local residents,
and through working with our trusted panners,
we have designed a £6m scheme that
transforms homes and llves, and creates an
estate that s sustainable and fit for the future.”

As a business, Mears is
committed to generating
zero carbon housing in
the UK and this project
brings us one step closer
to meeting our target

of zero carbon emissions
by 2030.

tucas Critchley
Chief Operating Officer

MEARS CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER,
LUCAS CRITCHLEY, SAID: “We are delighted
to be working in partnership with Livin and the
residents &f Shildon on a project that will make
a massive difference to the community.

"As a business, Mears is committed to
generating zero carbon housing in the UK and
this project brings us one step closer to meeting
our target of 2era carbon emissions by 2030.

“We are looking farward to revitalising
the estate to create something special —
something that everyone can be proud of.”

Read more
about decarbonisation
In our ESG section

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Repaort

Market drivers

HOUSING MARKET

Affordable housing conminues 1o be an
attractive sector for Ihe longer term, given
the UK housing shostage, decarbonisation
contracis, long social housing walting lists,
cycles of outsourcing, policy changes
encouraging more socCkal house building
and broader resitience of demeand,

Market position
A teading provider of

affordable housing solutions
In the UK

A go-10, end-to-and expert
an decarbonising aur soclal
housling stock

A large pravider of repairs to
the affordable housing sector

Provider of affordable rental
management salutions

A private registered provider of
housing sits within the Graup

Leading partner to both
Central and Local Government

20

Political and
economic landscape

The Govemment's locus on
achleving Net Zero and a particular
facus an housing

The Sociel Housing White Paper wilt
be implementeg with an increased
facus ontenants and 3 new Decent
Homes Standard

Changes o the procurement framework
in 2022

We face & national skills gap for new
Net Zero works

Qpportunities

Retrofitting and future procfing existing
housing stock

A fucther commitrnent to better repaks
through the Future Homes Programme
and the Saclal Housing Regulation Bilt
n 2022

- The Procurement Whlte Peper will

hopefully see & more transparent and (air
biiding pracess which takes into sccount
social value with more impact

Risks

A relience on plecemeal Government
furding for Met Zer which could prevent
our clants getivering Net Zeya plans
witlist maintalning stock In a strategic way
Further Covid restriclions

Mears' response

We will continue to delfver a market.
ieading service as 8 Dwe-play specialist
in housing solutions

We are winning more work with Central
Government, with CONUACLS 10 provice
housing provision K three Government
departments

We have developed a clear carbon offer
for sur clients, including funging models,
and have ajready WOn contracts 1o aid Gur
chents’ catbon jourmey

Through our Independant Scrutiny Board,
we have gone further than we befieve
teqisialion will require to ensure tenants
have a s&y in how our service uns

We have remodelled cur 8pprenticeship
approach o hring through the next
generation of skills, whilst creating
rechnical positions for those who are
retired to enable them 1o continue working
withowt & longer-term commiment.

We have alse been an aclive supporter

of the Kickstart programme

Rising leve!s of homelessness,
asylum claims and housing need
for the most vulnerable

- The UK Is experiencing the highest influx
of refugees and economic migrants in
recent history, ait 6f whom have 8 right
10 be housed

~= Councils lack funding 1o provide their
statulory homelessness duties

-~ The Scotland 2040 Housing plan
aopiad by the Scottish Govermnment
envisages a role for private praviders
In meeting housing targets

Opportunities

~ Innovallve and rapig sohnions needed,
given likety continued siow growth on
new bulld provision

-« Homelessness 51l growing, with
councis looking for solutions which
innovate and support

— A growth In the market for housing and
support for vulnerable individuals

Riska
~ Associated reputational fisks through
warking with the most vulnerable

Mears’ rasponse

— We have award winning solutions for
more homelessnass and affordable
homaes, such as our partnership with
the London Berough of Waltham Forest,
which we hope will see 8 further tranche
of housing over 2022

— We have become the leading provider of
cost-effactive hametessness salutions

— 0 2021 we have further broadened our
toolotint to areas of spedific need
following our successhul bid 10 the
Ministry of Justice

— Our Housing Assodations Plexus and
‘Omega now represent the langest frivate
Regisiered Seclal Langlord in the UK

- We awalt confirmation from the Scotiish
Housing Regulator that we will be the
first private Housing Assodation in
Scotland, with our Shadow Board
sHeady up and rynning

—  We are working wel with the Home
Office to continue housing supply in
the face of increased migration

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accaunts 2021



Demographic change

- The UK's over 85 population
will grow from 1.6 million in
2020 to 21 milllon in 2030,
and 3.7 milkion by 2080

w= Funding for soclal care
has now been annownced
but 3 White Paper is stifl
to be delivered

= Ofthe UK's care homes,
an estimated 70% are now
aged 20 years or older.
Conversion homes and
even 19805 purpose-bullt
homes are becoming
increasingly outdated

Opportunities

— More specialist housing s
naaded to imit escalating
cost 1o the NHS and
soclal care

— Agrowth in the markei and
concept of retirement living

- The nexi generation of over
855 will have many affluent
and high Income members
who won't qualify for state
funded care and will also
want lo pay 8 premium
for the best passible
residential care

Mears’ responsa

— We are developing
750 extra care units
In partnership with
Cornwall Council

- We continue 1o service our
specialist housing solutions
such as extrs care and
Supported Living

= We have shown that the
cost to the NHS per
person 1s over £2,400 when
not In extra care through
commissioning independent
data from Housinguin

— Allof our services are rated
adequate or betterin
England and Scotiand

Pace of technological
development

— There are rising Government
and custormer expectations
that services wlll be easier to
navigate through technology

— Technology is playing an
ncreasing role In all aspects
of service management

Opportunities

— Our customers will experience
a service which gives them
control over appointments

- Fewer customer complaints
as we introduce more easlly
navigable services

Mears' response

- We have market-leading
technology o reduce
long-term costs and enable
us to integrate our services

-  We are making use of
self-service technology In
support of changing
expectations such as MCM
Live and chatbot

— There is a greater use of
customaer Insight and
development of bespoke
consultation 1oots with our
Voice of Customer
programme

— We will be introducing mare
technology to improve every
step of the customer Joumey

The impact of Covid
and Brexit

- Supply chains to the UK
are stressed due to Covid
and Brexit

Opportunities

— To further demonstrate our
health and safety expertise
and risk management
aspproach

= Furthes develop workforce
engagement

Risks

- Loss of work

— Rising cost of materials
- Safety challenges

Mears' response

— Maars has emerged healthily
from the pandemic
Cur procedures are tried and
tested and, while it is possible
that there will be interruptions
in work leveds, It is likely that
any delay work will be
subsequentty delivered.
We have strong relationships
with suppliers and a good
understanding of demand
levels, enabling us 1o manage
material supply challenges well

- Wa have an excellent
workforce engagement
approach that gives us the
best possible chance of
recruiting new people as well
as retaining our staff,
While there are |nflatlonary
pressures, our major contracts
hawve built-in uplift
mechanisms that limit these
Impacts significantly

Rising customer
expectations

— Therte are rising resident
expeciations

— The Government focus on
‘Invelling up’ and a commitment
to the renewal of democracy so
people’s voicas can be heard

— A new Future Homes Standard
is expected in the next 3 years

Opportunities

— Customers’ quality,
communication and speed
expectations continue 1o
Increase

— Stronger tenant volce
demanded by White Paper

— Opportunity to demonstrate,
the core strengths of ol
businass model

- Qursocial value impact s the
basls of our business

Mears’ response

— We now have a sole focus on
housing, having divested
unprofitable, non-housing
related businesses

— We are benchmarking well
agalnst the best across alt
Industries

—  We continue to support
regulatory change that gives
service users a bigger voice,
as promised In the forthcoming
White Paper

- We continue 10 demonstrate
our approach lo outsourcing
proactively

— We are working to continuously
improve tenant engagement,
highlighted by accraditstion
from TPAS and winning the
Inside Housing Award for
Quistanding Tenant
Engagement - Contractor

— We are continuing to support
better communities in which
service users Iive, with a focus
on developing skills for the next
generetian and bringing people
back Into the warkplace

— Ouw commitment t¢ social value
and tenant engagement
through Your Voice and our
Independent Scrutiny Board

= Our social value work remains
at the heart of our business and
is bolstered by \he work of the
Mears Foundation
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Strategic Report

Our value creation model

OUR PURPOSE
Working together to help people and communities thrive. This is the guiding principle thal defines our brand and drives
our activitles. It is what makes Mears distinclive and 1§ the starting point for sl of cur activitles.

OUR VISION
To be the leading provider of housing Services and soltions Lo the affordable housing market in the UK.

22

Key resources and relationships

OUTSTANDING PARTNERSHIPS;

Firmty rooted in Local Government and Housing Associations, we are also
an important partner for Central Government. Qur end service users are the
recipients of housing services and extra care living,

A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH:

Creating social vatue |s a key part of our business strategy, as this enables
us {0 be Seen as a trusted pariner by ouwr clients ang is an essemal part of
building stronger refationships. Our hew ESG strategy sets out how we will
continug on our socially responsible joumey

see pages 3310 45

EXCEPTIONAL PEQPLE:

Proud 10 be in the Suntiay Times Top 25 Sig Companies to work for.

We recognise our stalf as our greatest asset. Mears employees are skilled
In delivering sn excellent service whilst showing a strong customer service
ethos snd an empathy for our service users.

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLQGY:
Qur performance is bulit on a bedrock of firstclass IT platiorms, giving
market-leading capabllity and driving innovalion and resident engagemant.

SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS:

We choose suppliers who share gur values and meet Qur standards.

We work clasely with suppliers to develop innovative services and integrate
them with our core systems.

FINANCIAL STRATEGY:

We are funded from 8 combination of shareholder funds, retained profits
and moderete lavels of bank debt. Qur underlying business has good
forward visibility, stable margins, strong cash conversion and Iimited capital
requirements. Accordingly, free cash flow can predominantly be used 1o
invest further In the business, 1o maintain fow levels of debt and to provide
returns (o capital provigers.

INNOVAYION;

The challenge of deilvering service improvements at lower cost requires
innovative thinking and the use of technology. We create and lead best
practice in our markeis.

What we do and how

HOUSING
MANAGEMENT

— Procure, manage and maintain portfolios of
atfordable housing stock

HOUSING
MAINTENANCE

— Regenerate, refurbish and re-purpose stock
— InleNigent maintenance
— Decarbonise homes

SUPPORTING PEOPLE
IN THESE HOMES

— Tenancy management
- Tenant welfare and sypport

REVENUE GENERATION

Mears’ revenue Is generated from payments from
Goverrinent, Local Authority and Housing Association
cllenis in respect of its Housing services. Whiist the end
service users are a\ the centre of our business model,
they do not pay for the service directly. These payments
are Made under long-term contracts ([@verage 7 years).

STABLE MARGINS AND GOOQD CASH
CONVERSION

we have a long-standing record of stabie profit margins
on contracts (once mobilised) and converting profit into
cash, utilising strong financial management combined
with good relatienships with clients and the suppty chain.
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Value 1

We value our customers
and communitles, putting
their needs &t the heart of
everything we do,

Value 2

We value teamwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
excluding others.

Community outcomes

Create better
places to live

Reduce
homelessness

KEY STATISTICS

>£165m

wages and salaries paid to
circa 5,400 employees

>1Im

service ysers

>30%

women In senlor positions

>£160m

taxes paid

Reduce
pressuras on the
NHS and the
public purse

Improva life
chances for
people

£878m

revenue delivered to over
100 cllents

>200

apprentices

>£2,800

average soctial value
deliverad per employee

C. £9m

dividends paic and proposed

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

We value personal
responsibility, setting consistently  Inventive in our appraach and
high standards for our work ang ernpowering peopie 1c take
rolding ourselves accountable
for achieving them.

Vaiue 4
We value Innavation, being

reasonable action without fear
or giscrimination.

The value we share

SHAREHOLDERS:

Given the public health emergency, in 2020 Mears did
not pay a dividend for the first time n 25 years, as we
believed thal given the aver-riding importance of cash
management meant it would be imprudent to declare a
dividend during 2020. In 2021 we were able to restore
the dividend to our shareholders.

GOVERNMENT:

In 2021 we paid an aggregate sum in direct and indirect
taxes of £167.4m. In addition, through the services

we provide to the public sectar, we are delivering
significant cost savings and better value to Central
Government, Local Authorities and the NHS,

CUSTOMERS

We maintein homas throughout the UK, imdenaking
around 5,000 repalrs per day. Mears has extended
its activities to provide solutions to resolve the
challenges of homelessness, asylum housing,

MoD and Mo accommaodation.

COMMUNITIES

Al the heart of Mears lles a strong sense of
responsibility towards improving peopie’s Hves.

We create opportunities and enable people 10 develop
new skilis within some of the most disadvantaged and
marginzlised communities In the UK, Every branch of
Mears makes a social value pledge, which focuses on
specifle activities 10 improve its local community in at
least one of our soctal value priorities.

EMPLOYEES

Mears is committed to tralning. We have an extensive
apprenticeship programme and provide a number of
alternative training solutions for upskiliing employees
and for the professional development of Mears
managers. We are provd ta be rated as one of the
best 25 large companies in the UK to wark lor by

the Sunday Times,
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Strategic Report

Our strategy

The Board has fully
reviewed the strategy
for the business in 2021.

Our vision is to be the
feading provider to the
resilient and growing
affordable housing market
in the UK. A provider that
operates with a strong
sense of social conscience,
tackling issues that matter
to people and communities.

Against this vision, we have four
strategic priorities:

To be recagnised as the most
frusted farge private provider
working with the public sector

Te have the highest levels of
customer service Inthe
affordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace innovation thiat
drives poshtive change such as
digital and carbon reduction

To maintain and grow a resiient
business with long-term
partnerships, a swong balance
sheet andf cash posttion, afong
with a commitied, engaged
workforce

24

Strategic priorities

TJo be recognised as the
most trusted iarge private
provider warking with the
public sector

What we achieved

To have the highest levels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

What we achleved

— Secured work with 8 new Cealral
Government department, being the
Ministey of Justlce

= Consutied across Scotiand and launched
a charter as o how we will operate
ethically in this courtry. Similar work
will follow with other nations

2022 prievities

— Through the Covid period, we maintained
our glready high service scotes

— Recognised for the guality of out service
and customer engagement, through
several national awards

— Our new Independent Customer
Serutiny Board has published a report
on ow performance

-~ We have faced some challenges with
Covid related work backiogs and high
\evels of asylum seekers

2022 priorities

— Continue {0 achieve bid win rates
shead of tistorical norms

— Launch our new ESG plan with clear
roadmaps towards goal achievement

— Continue o operate to the highsst
ethical standards

How we measure success

- Manage the chakenges assoclated with
high demands both from mainenance
and from the asylurn system

How we measure success

- Extending services with existing clients

Retaining contracls at sustainable prdcing

— WiNNing wirk with new clients who share
ouwr values

- Beingseenasa trusted. responsible and

ethical provider to Central Gavernment

Risks

— Service user and cliem leedback

Risks

- EConomic pressures on some ckents
wall mean price will cantinue 1o drive
decisions on some contracts

Link to XPis

= Rising customer expectation requiring
ever more individug! respanses

- Shoftages in some areas of the labour
market and some delays ln matedals
availability

Link to KPis
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To embrace innovation
that drives positive
change such as digital
and carbon reduction

What we achieved

To maintain and grow

a resilient business with
long-term partnerships,
a strong balance sheet
and cash position,
along with a committed,
engaged workforce

What we achieved

- The establishment of carbon reduction
capablity in house to assist clients

«— The ¢ontinued improvements to core
systems, which enable our customers to
interact in real time with us and to report
and track thelr work requests

2022 prioritles

Continued to reduce debt

Secured long-term contracts with

both existing and new clients

~ Retained our position in the Sunday
Times Top 25 Best Big Companies st

- Provided a wide range of tools to assist

with mental health and welibeing

2022 prioritles

- Establish Mears as keadars in carbon
reduction in Soclal Housing

— Expand our sustainable housing solutions
that address homelessness, an ageing
population and challenges to the health
and social care system

How wa maasure SUCCess

— Continue to improve margins

— Mainain our Sunday Times Best
Companies position

— Continue to increase the diversity of our
waorkforce at all levels

— Mainmain focus on employee engagement
&nd helping tackle the challenges of
wellbeing and mental health

How we measutre success

— Levels of new work won

Risks

— Staff retention level

— Banchmarking v other arganisations

-  Margin improvements

- A happler, healthier and more engaged
workforce based on Best Companies
survey resulis and mental health and
wellbeing working group palicies

Risks

— There remains some uhcertainty as to
how fast Central Government funding will
flow through to enable housing landlorgds
to meet their carbon reduction targets

Link te KPIs

- Inflationary pressures in some areas
— The importance of diversity and Inclusion
has never been clearer

Link to KP1s

0000000000
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

Non-financial

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

In order for customers 1o recommend us, we must
defiven excellent service. The Group completed over
1.5 milllon repairs in 2021 and we subsequently post
inspect around 10% of works orders and encourage
1enants to provide feedback so we can deliver further
service improvements.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

86%

2021 TARGET

85%

@ Cutperformance

2022 TARGET

86%

CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

incidents resulting from poar service resultin a complaint
pef thousand jobs. We are committed 10 dealing with all
complaints on an individual basis.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGEY

22%
@ On-lrack

2022 YARGET

21%

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER

Our employees are fundamental to meeting our strategic
priorities. We recognise the importance in attracting and
retaining skilled staff, and at a time when compaetition for
skilted labour is high, it has never been mare important.
The staff churn figure Is catculated as the total number
of leavers during the yeac as a propantion of the
average headcount.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGET

26%
@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

22%

Business development

NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

Contract success is measured by the iotal revenues
secured as a proportion of the toial value of tenders
submitted. We typically tender around £1bin of new
opporiunities each year. The average contract kength is
around six years. In order 10 achieve cur arganic growth
forecasts, it is important that we secure 8found one in
three, by value.

RESULYS FROM THE YEAR

35%

2021 TARGET
33%
@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

33%

ORDER BOOX

Qur order book provides us goad visibility of those
revenues secured for future periods. It is helpful that

we have lang-term contracts thal allow us to plan with
confidence, in the knowledge thal we have significant
revenues alkeady contracted. i IS atso positive for all our
stakehoiders, providing stabiiity to our supply chain,
funders and, most importantly, for recrulting and
motivating our workiorce.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£2.4bn

2021 TARGET

£2.4bn

@ Underperfarmance

2022 TARGET

£2.1bn
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Financial performance

REVENUE GROWTH [CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)
Our key performance indicator (KPI) larget relates to total
revenue sithough it is iImportant to also identify the split
between organic growth and growth that has been
delivered through acquisitions. We belleve that organic
growth gives a betior indication of business perfosmdlnce,
Ligivyg an aggregation of success in new contract bidding
and contract retention. The reduction expected in 2022
reflects an expectation that the elevated revenues
enjoyed in 2021 will normalise,

RESULYS FROM THE YEAR

+9%

2021 TARGET

+2%

@ COutperformance

2022 TARGET

-5%

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
{CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Operating margin is the KP! used to measure and
understand the profitability of our activities. The
operating profit measure is taken before exceptional
costs and the amortisatian of acquisition Intangitiles.
The measure Is stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being
the measure that iz utilised within the business and
understood by our investors and bankers.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+3.4%

2021 TARGET

+3.7%

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET

+3.8%

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT

(EXCLUDING LEASE OBLIGATIONS)

Good working capital management remalns a cornerstone
of the business. The Group's IT systems are designed to
deal with the challenges of high volume and low valye
activities. The Group has made significant progress in this
area over the l2st 2 years, and now kooks to malntain a low
levet of debt or even a smali net cash balance.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£nil

2021 TARGET

£60m

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

£nil debt

GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS
Normalised earnings are stated before exceplional costs
and exclude the amoriisation of acquisition intangibles
tegether with an adjustment to reflect 8 full tax charge.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

18.23p

2021 TARGET

18.0p

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

19.5p

Health and safety

®

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

The heatth, safety and welibeing of our employees is our
prinary cansideration in the way we do business. Health,
safely and environmental risks are fully embedded In the
governance structures of the Group. Providing our
employees with a safe working environment remains
paramount. Our accident frequency rate (AFR) Is
calkculated as the number of reportable Incidents (by both
empiayees, service users and third parties) divided by the
rumber of hours worked, multipliad by 100,000,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

0.19

2021 TARGET

0.24

@ QOutperformance

2022 TARGET

0.22

Mears Group PL.C Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy.

We are focused on delivering positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

28

Clients

HOW WE ENGAGE

Our clients are from Central and Local
Government and Housing Associatians,
Our mode! has atways been based on
establishing long-term partnerships that
adidvass the significant housing challenges
and solutions o help owr clients.
Transparency aad respansibllity are at the
heart of our 2pproach, and we focus on
sojulions that establish susisinable
solutions, rather than quitk fixes.

STAKEHOLOER EXPECTATIONS

Our clients expect a tusted partner that
can contribute to wider sector and
sirategic thinking as well as dellver
innovative operational salutions that
improve service and lower long-term cost.
Partners now look beyond the contract and
rightly demand good governance, a
rasponsible financial position and high
levels of soclal respensibliity to be at the
heart of what we do.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

We operate as g trusted lang-1erm partner
to the public sector. AS pariners we have to
demonstrate that owr values complement
their own. We are not like many ather
outsgurce organisations, In that both the
focused nature of our services and the
culturat fit with our clients continue to
position us 10 win MaJor neéw conracts, such
as with the Ministry of Juslice, and to retain
long-standing contracts in the way that we
da. We afso try to lead the sectorin good
practice, as demenstrated by our thorough
independent scrutiny arrangements which
take the hest of public sectar scrutiny,

Tenants and customers

HOW WE ENGAGE

Qur "Your Voice’ programme engages
tenants via oyr independent and regident-
led Scrutiny Board, our customer forums
and our online customer network.

We have strengibened our tenant
engagement to ensure that we go above
and beyond requirements suggested in the
Government White Paper, At a local (evel we
have a system 10 engage cusiomers as
s00n as they interact with Mears, should
they wish to do 0. This anables us to create
a netwark of our cystorners via feedback
and online forums which can leed In10 our
Scrutiny Board 1o creste a genuinely
resident designed service.

HOW WE ENGAGE CUR BOARD

The Your Voice Independent Scrutiny Boarg
reports directly into our PLC Board to
ensure that its indings are reported at the
highest level of our organisation.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Qur tenanis and SEIVIce USeds expect1o be
part of developing solutlons rather than 1o
be simply a reciplent. Expectations from
tenants are rightly fising and they should be
seen not merely 85 service users but as
cansueners who have the right to leveis of
service. The greater raguirements for
complalnt handling and reporting efmerging
from the Government White Paper are
something we have already gone above
and heyand. Maars welcomes any further
regulation from Government inthis area
over 2022,

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

As an arganisation with a ¢lear objective to
be the leader In lerms of cusiomer Service,
wherever we opesate, this cannot be done
without good engagement. Our outstanding
customer service parformanceis a
testament (o Qur SUCCess.

KEY ISSUES

Clients want us 10 gemonsirate a strong set
of financial, culiurgl and community-led
values. We demonsirale an ethical and
transpareni approach and bring the besi of
private seclor innovation in areas such as
technology and access to institutional
finance. We do this whitst maintaining the
spirit af public service defivery whilst putting
customers a1 1he heart of what we do,

OUTCOMES

Qur commitment 1o putling owr customers
first was demonstrated by our winning the
TPAS awerd for best coniractor
engagement with tenams in 2021

KEY ISSUES

Increased regulation is coming in 2022 and
we have spent the last year preparing to go
above and beyond. Our customer forum has
hasted the Housing Ombudsman to test
whether the Mears approach is working and
1o engure that we are Ieading the sector
rather than responding to future legistation.

OUTCOMES

~— Created the Youw' Voice scrutiny
approach with customars iInvolved at
every level

— Provided 2 direct line from the Your
Voice board 1o the PLC Board ~ our
resident board members can speak 1o
our Non-Executive and Executive Board
membiers directly

= Engaged with the Housing Ombudsman
10 ensure our processes are alteady 'n
place pefore jegislation is passed

- nnovaled with our repairs patiorm
MCM Live, which gives tenants more
information about when thelr repalr is
due and enables them to change the
time/gate without having to cali us
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Communities

HOW WE ENGAGE

All of cur branches develop their own

local specific soclal value plans which
demaonstrate where we will add value 1o

the community, ofter over ang above fAny
contract commitments. Our social value
aclivity target is £2,500 per employee.
Examples include supparting communities
to develop green spaces, 10 provide access
1o the intemet for asylum seekers so thay do
not suffer from soclal isolation and to help
develop the skills of whole communities
through careers advice and suppost,
training and ultimately through job creatlor.

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

An Executive board member sits on our
Independent Social and Diversity Impact
Board which is led by independent experts
and helps us 1o drive our social value
rasouices 0 achieve meaningiul community
outcomes. The independem board reports
directly into the PLC Board.

Colleagues

HOW WE ENGAGE

We are proud lo be on the list of the Sunday
Times 25 Best Big Companies to work for,
and on the Soclal Mobility Index of the top
75 employers in the UK for Sur commitment
to social mobillty. We have a national
Workforce Group that is responsible for
selting the approach 10 staff engagement
and each tocal branch has a People plan,
which sets out what it will da in each year.
We have an Employee Direcior who sits on
the Mears Group Board, which also helps
ensure that the views of the workforce are
listened to and actioned.

Qur Say What You see survey Is aligned
with the Sunday Times Besl Comparies
portal, providing independent and
anonymous feedback.

We communicste with our colieagues

with the aim to ensure thal every single
employee has a right to understand how our
company s performing. We do this through
regular briefings from our Executive Board
and through two-way commuynication.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Stakeholders expect, given their long-term
commiiment, that we contribute posithvely 10
the communites in which they live. They want
us 1o help local peoplc into work, 10 wskill
people and 10 work with them ta address local
issues where we can. This is our continuing
contribution to the Govemment's Levelling Up
agenda, snd something we have comemitied
to for marny years.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Being a sacially responsible organisation
with a firm commiiment to supporting
communities is essential to being a valued
partner to our chents. Establishing strong
community links also helps us attract the
right pecple into our workforce and to
establish (inks with othar community-based
organisations, which can contribute 10 our
service offer. :

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Throughout 2021 we have developed

ouwr employee offer to introduce an
Increase in pay and hotiday entitlement
for those who earn the least. Qur regular
surveying shows that our colleagues want
transparent and regular communication
from the business about how we stand
financially and an honesty in cur approach
to any business changes.

Our staff want to work for an arganisation
that values them and the communitles In
which they kve. They want an crgenisation
that treats pecple faisly and gives them the
opportunity for personal development.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Qur wewkforce engagement s built around
the Mears ‘Red Thread' model, which
works 1o establish the type and culture of
workforce that we know wlil lead to both
customer and financial success.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

KEY ISSUES

Cost of living crisls in the communities
we serve, including fuel stress.
Opportunities to address our sector's
skills gap as a large employer.

Government has begun 1o releasa
tranches of funding for the net zero
carbon challenge and have allocated
funding for retrofitting, for which Mears
is already a successful applicant.

QUTCOMES

— Providing free learning provision
to our coleagues, clients and
comrmunities we work in.

— Ensuring we have the right local skills
in place through cur apprenticeship
programmes,

— Focusing on playing our part ta tackle
fuel stress and poverty, and doing ow
bit for the nation’s Net Zero targets

KEY ISSUES

Security in the workplace during a time
of financlal fluctuation. A focus on mental
heaith, welbelng, and encouraging hard
to reach groups into our workforce,
Creating a more diverse workforce.

A constant focus on communicating belter
and performance management.

OUTCOMES

- We have worked with independent
experts, through our Social and
Diversity Impact Board and colleague
engagement to laok at where our
sector needs 1o improve in recruiting,
promoting and retaining colleagues
from backgrounds who suffer from
discrimination, This bas formed our
new proactive policies to which we
will be held account,

- We have placed a primary focus on
periormance management tc ensure
that our workforce s appraised and
able to develop in the best way for
each Individual.
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the D in perfor e
of their stetutory duties in Accordance with
Saction 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006

The Board of Directors of Mears Graup PLC
consider, both Individually and ogether, that
they have acted in the way they consider, in
good laith, would be most likely to promote tha
success of the Company for the benefit of its
members as 8 whole in the deciskans taken
during the year ended 3i December 2021,

The Boand recogrises a wiki'e range of
stakeholder interests and seeks to Create

a cuiture whereby decisions are made with
consideration to the wider impact upon the
anganisation as well as financial performance
andg strateglc objectives, The Campany's
Directors recaognise their legal duties under
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2008, to
act in the way that is most likgly 1o promota the
success of the Company for the benefit of its
members as & whole whitst alsa having regard
for the interests of employees, the success

of thelr relatianships with supplers and
cusomers, the impact of our operations on
the community and the environment, whilst
mmalntaining a reputation for high standards

of business conduct.

30

Nan-Exatutive Directors and
SErNOr management receive raining
on Directors' duties to ensyre
awareness of the Beard's responsibilities

Stakeholder engagement
activities racorded, and detail
incluged in Board papers

'

A

Social Value report reviawad
and approved by Board

Board information

Customer Scrutiny Soard;
independently chaired and
working alongside PLC Board

The Group's culture ensures that
there s proper consideration of
the potential impacts of declsians

Mears Foundation, a charitable
trust with ap independent
chair, provides reguiar updetes
1o the PLC Board

Board strategic decision

)

Signiticant focus given
to workforce engagement
and customer service
during Board discussion

%.172 tactors considered in the
Boards discussions on strategy
and in setting the S-year plan

Board decision

Engagement and dialogue
with stakeholders

Follow up actions
with Board oversight

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Section 172 factor

The likely consequences of any decision on the long term

Annual Report disclosures

Company purpose and vislon page 02
Qurvalue creation model pages 22 and 23
Performance review page 26

The interests of the Group's employees

Performance review page 26

Listening to our stekeholders pages 28 and 29
Diversily and inclusion page 38

Soclal Mobility page 04

The success of our relstlonships with suppliers
and customers

Respansible payment practices page 40
Modern slavery page 40

Sustalnability pages 33 to 37

Naon-financial information statement page 45

The impact of our operations on the community and
the environment

TCFD pages 42 10 45
ESG pages 3310 45

Maintaining high standards of business conduct

Anti-bribery and corruption page 41
Whistleblowing page 41

Modern slavery page 40

Risk management pages 46 10 49
Internal controls pages 76 to 81

Acting for the benefit of our members

Mears Group PLC Annyal Report and Accounts 2021

Listening to our stakeholders pages 28 and 29
Shareholder engagement pages 71 and 72
Annusl General Meeting page 72, 98 and 169
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement in action

Promoting the success of the Company

Stakeholder engagemeant is central

to our strategy. Our key Stakeholder
groups are detalled on pages 28 and 29,
The Bosrd is mindful that it is hot always
possible to provide a positive cutcome
for ali stakeholders and the Roard
somellmes has to meke decisions based
on competing priarltles of stakeholders.

The differing interests of stakehoclders are
considered in the business decisions we
make as a company, at all levels, and are
reinforced by our Board setting the tone right
from the 1op. All of the Board's significam

Outcomes and Impacts for our

workforce, clients and communities

The Mears S-year plan addresses the most
important social and business questions of our
generation. We aim o create a more diverse,
socially responsible, safe and green environment
in which 10 serve our dlents’ negds and for our
awn workforce to benefit from. Through the
Board's decisions, we have created a plen which
embeds Mears a5 a great place lo work, with the
right focus on skifls and commiunities, it hes sisc
led to the direct awaed of three energy contracts
with our clients to decarbonise homes thanks to
the Investment in our sustainabllity team.

declsions are subject 10 an 5.172 evaluation

1o identify the likély consequences of any
decision In the long term and the Impact of

our degision on our stakeholders.

Stakeholder groups
S Service Users

E Employees

1 Investors

€t Community

D DebtFunders

C2 Customers

G Government

Examples of decisions taken by the Board and how stakeholder views and inputs, as well as
other 3.172 considerations, have been considered In its decision meking are set out below:

®

Approvel of 5-year plan.

The vision underpinning the
pian is 1o be the leading
pravider to the reslient and
growing affordable housing
marketin the UK, A provider
that operates with a strong
sense of 504s conscience,
tackling 5sues that matter 1o
people and communities.

@

Covid-19 crisis
management.

As the Covid-19 pandernic
untoided, thwe Board
Increased ity interactions to
mafrtan contingal dialogue
on the potentist Impact io
colleagues, cients, service
users and sharenoiders.

32

Outcomes and Impacts for our
workforce, ciients and communities
Through dally direction and dialogue with
our warkforce and clieats, Mears was able
1o weather the pandemic by supporting
emergency works to homes which people
were not able 10 leave. We were able to
continually update financial and wellbeing
support for our workforce and to bulld an
our health and safety expertise through our
Partners [n Safety Programme. This enabied
us to continue to repair the homes of our
most vulneratile service ysers whilst assuring
them and our employees of their safely.

Stakeholcar
Board consijerations Qroup
— The plan will deliver growth In profit and value for shareholders 1
— The plan commits to invesl In our workforce, improving the quality and capability of staff. E
— The plan 1ooks for the Group la be more diverse at every level of the organisation. E
- The plan aspires 10 be recognised &8s the most socially responsible business working with CLES
the public sector, maintaining the highest standards of gavernance, customer ard client
engagemant, and workforce safety.
= The plan commitied o being leaders in carbon reduction within Social Housing, whilst C1LE
focusing on developing a stronger cimate chanpe response with our ambition lo be carbon
neutral by 2030, .
— The pian commits to imaest further In digite! platiorms, embracing new technolagies thet can c2,8,E
enhance operational performance, both internally 1o Mears and in the home environment.
— Daily communications throughout leckdown. E
— Decision taken to futlough colleagues; hawever, top-up mechanism intreduced (o ansure ,D.E
kwest paid stafl were not financially disadvantaged.
— Rapia provision of addhional moblie technalagy to enable people 1o work from home. E
— Topping up salaries of staff required to set-istlate and hardship fund for staff in financial difficutty. E
= Putting heahh and safety first at all times, including agreeing with clients to focus on ECS
emergency and essential works onty.
— Rapic response 1o PPE shortage, enabling Mears 10 sécure stocks when many others did not. E C
- Voluntary repayment of furough received in 2021, Y
= Cancellation of the final dividend for 2019 and subsequently reinstating the interim dividend c.D

for 2021.
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ESG

“Our ambition is to become the most
socially responsible business in the
housing sector by 2025.”

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

ESG COMMITMENT - PUTTING QUR
CLIENTS FIRST

Theough our approach, we will put our
clients first, working in partnership to
achlave our combined ESG ambitions.

To achieve this we will fotus on.

— Healthy Planet — our transition to
net zero, by decarbonising homes,
reducing emissions across the
Mears Group and making a positive
contribution 10 aur planet

— Improving Lives — making a positive
difference by delivering great service
safely, giving something back and
treating everyone faily and equally,
specific to their needs

- Good Govermnances — running our
business in the most ethical and
transparent way, operating robust
governance processes covering:
ethics, risk, T, procurement and
partnership working

DIVERSITY
Women on the Boerd

6 Male

3 Female

(2020: 2 female, 9 male)

By everyone working together and delivering
our ESG ambitlons, we will maintain strong
business credentials and demonstrate our
commitment to always dolng the right thing.
Successful delivery means, by 2025, we

will have:

— enhanced our ESG reputation and
articuisted a clear story to the City, our
investors, clients, customers and partners;

— Attracted new investors to our business;

— retained all agreed ESG related
accreditations,;

— championed external themes that
demonstrate our values;

- established curselves as a Thought Leader
- staying ahead of, and being invaived in,
future policy and regulation changes:

- established Mears Foundation as the
cornerstone of our community
imwestment work;

— grown diversity, across our business,
especially in senior positions;

- demonstrated commitmert and Intefnal
leadership 1o ESG;

Women In senior leadership roles

36 Male

9 Female

{2020: 7 female, 31 male)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

supported work winning and ratention:
develcped strong parinership working with
supply chain,
- enhanced our employer brand story

and colleague |oyalty, and
— become leaders.in reducing carbon and
fuel poverty in social housing.

With the above in mind, this document sets out
our plans to develop ow ESG Approach. We want
to become & trusted friend to our clients and help
them realise thelr ESG ambitions, as wedl as buitd
trust with all our stakeholkders.

Qur approach prioritises where we can have
the greatest impact and supports a culture that
fuBly integrates sustainabllity and

purpose beyond profit.

Together we can ralse standards across the
sector, to the benefit of every resident.

Employees by gender

3,817 Male

1,587 Female

{2020: 1633 female, 3,971 maie)
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

SOLID FOUNDATIONS TO SUPPORYT
OUR 202%5 AMBITION

Our culture and values centre around pur
ambition to be the mosi socially responsible
business in the housing sector by 202S.

We value:

— Our customers and communities, putting
1hei needs at the heart of everything
we do;

- leamwork, supporting each other, sharing
ideas and never excluding others;

— personal respansibility, setiing consisiently
high standards for owr work and holding
ourselves accountable for achieving them;
and

— innavation, being inventive In cur approach
and empowering peopie to take reasonable
action without fear of recrimination

ESG RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board leads and provides strategic direction
o the Group: and cames ultimate responsibliity for
management ofthe Group's activitles, ESG and
financial parformance.

The Board scknowledges accountability

1o sharehaldess, clients, employees and
customers, for proper conduct of the business,
effective assessmen of risk and the long-term
success of the Group, having regard to the
Interests of all stakeholders.

OUR MATERIALITY REVIEW

= Through an onkine survey. we consulted
with 32 of owr intemal stakeholders to
identify the matters that are important 1o
them and asked them 10 rank a number
of spacific ESG and sustainability topics
on a felative basis. We slso assessed
these topics on the increrental impact
that they Can have on our business

— Whife all items shown are important,
some have greater urgency, in temms
of focus, 0 owr business than others

- We will use the results (opposite) io
nelp Inform our approach and
davelopment plans

— NB - the key maleriality topics used
were sowced from relevant ESG
framewearks and sector insights

- it 2022 we will widen our consyitation
to external stakeholders, ted by our
ndependant ESG Board

34

“The Mears Board places our
responsibilities to society

at the heart of our business.
Through robust governance

and identifying risks, we will
ensure that our company is ready
to fully commit to the measures
set out in our ESG Approach.”

Andrew Smith
Chief Financial Officer

HIGH Interest

Stakeholder interest (importance)

Interest

Priority Business Impact Priority to Mears Group PLC High Priority
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UNITED NATIONS’ SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The UN has identified 17 Sustainable Development Goats {SDGs} which aim to achleve a betler and more sustainable future for all,

Mears has identified the 10 following goals and fully aligned them to our own 2025 Strategy and ESG Approach, The goals we have identified
are those which we believe are highly relevant to ow business and the housing sector, in which we operate.

3. Good health and wellbeing: Ensure healthy lives
and promote wellheing for all at all ages

8. Decent work and sconomic grewth: Promote
sustainable economic growth, full and productive
employment, ang decent work for all

8, Industry, innovation, snd infrastructure:
Develop, upgrade, and retrofit iInfrastructure to make
them sustainable, with increased resource efficiency
and cleaner technologies and processes

10. Reduced inequalities: Reduce inequality by
supporting the marginalised and disadvantaged

1. Sustainable cities and communities: Provide access
to safe, adequate, and afordable basic services, energy,
housling, transporiation and more

12. Responsible consumption and production:
Ensure sustainable management and efficient use
of natural resowrces

13. Climate action: Take urgent action to combat
climate chenge and its impacts

15. Life on land: Susiainably manage forests, combat
desertification, halt and reverse land degradation, halt
biodiversity loss

16. Peace, justice and strong Institutions: Promote
peaceful and Inclusive socleties for sustainable
development, provide access to justice for all and
build effective, accountsble, and inclustve institutions

17. Partnerships: Partner with Governmenis, businesses,
academia, and communities to mobilise action for
sustainable development

Qur Apprasch will see the Group report progress against the chosen SDGs and we will continually monitor the UN's goals to ensure that we are
always acting on those most relevant to our business. For more information on the UN SDGs, please find out mare here: https:i/sdgs.un.org/goals

Introducing our plans

HEALTHY PLANEY IMPROVING LIVES

unk w0 socs: [ 11 K51 KE) 3 unk o socs: [ER 1B B3

GOOD GOVERNANCE

Link to SDGs:

We will achleve net zerd carbon emissions on We will improve lives by contributing st least We will enhance ouwr strateqy for sustainable

Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across our operations £8k, per empioyee, of sacial value each year
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to maintain our high standards
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procurenient by 2023 and evolve our approach
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Healthy Planet

Our aim is to become &
carbon neutral organisation,
whilst helping clients

create safe and sustainable
places that will have long-
lasting benefits for their
communities.

HEALTHY PLANET (N 2021

96.63%

waste diversion from landfill

Zero

poliution incidents

Zero

envifanmental legislation breaches

3

Social Housing Decarbonisation
projects secured with our chients
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Reducing our
carbon emissions

Qur goals

-= Achieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 1andg 2 by 2030 across
our operations

— Achieve nel zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 2045 across our
suppty chain

Our plan

— Create & net zeso carbon trensition
plan using science-based targets

— Continue disclosing our emissions,
and publicly report on progress
against our 1argels

- Transition to electric vehicle fleet
by 2030

— Conlinue partnership and supporl

supply chain to achieve net zerc carbon

= Support ourclients in meeting
Government commitments

- Crante an internal plan for reducing
¢arbon across our contracts, crealing
awareness and und erstanding with
all colleagues

Minimising waste

Qur goal

= Achieve a Zera Waste Index score
of 1.5 degrees Celslus by 2030,
from 2021 baseline of 2.53%

Qur plan

= Incresse ¢olleague awareness and
Introduce measures 1o reduce waste
across all sites

= Reduce carbon through the protection
of nalwral resources by reviewing our
wasie processes

—~ Avoid waste by improving the reuse of
‘wiste materials’

-~ Pariner with charities 1o reuse and recycle
fumiture and white goads, increasing the

percemaga recycled yearty

— Monitor and adopt new technoiogies as

they become available
— Woik in pactnership with our Natlonal

Waste partner 1o embed improvements

to achieve Zero Waste Iindex score

Decarbonising homes

Our geal

wa By 2025 we willaim to be a sector-
leading provider of carbon reduction
selutions in the sodal housing sector

Our plan

- Achieve and mainiain all relevant
accreditations o demanstrale
competency and compliance

- Help our cliems measure their
carbon emissions and retrofit
solutions to deliver carbon savings.

= Embed a resident first approach 10 the
decacbanisation of homes (Data >
Define > Design > Oeliver > Declare)

— Use asset data o help access the
fimited financial resources currently
available AND leverage funding as
it becomnes available

= Transtion our workforce as a whola ta
ensure understanding and capability

Preventing pollution

Qur goal

- Continually evolve our appioach 1o
maintain zere poliution incidents and
zero erwironmental legisiation breaches

Qur plan

- Mairtain 30 14001 (Environmental
Management System)} certification

- Work with clients and communities to
dear poliutants from the environments
we work in i.g, fiter, plastics, etc.

— Continue activity 10 ratse environmental
awareness within our workforce

— Mainain mbust policies and procedures
to ensure ernwitonmental camplance
and adharence with legislation

— Monitor and adopt new technologles
as they bhacome avaiisbie
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Healthy Planet:
Green space
refurbishment
in Thurrock

Mears, Thurrock Council and the Riverside
Community Big Local have joined together
with the community to take derelict and
mistreated woodiand and have created the
newest green space for local people to enjoy.

Falconwoced in Thurrock had sadly become
a prime spot for fiy tipping and vandatism,
meaning that this was not a space the
community could use in safety,

After belng asked to help by the Counci,
Mears-volunteered to participate in the
praject ta bring this site back to I¥e, working
with the Riverside Community Big Locat.

Having reviewed the site, we drew up a Wst
of Inmediate tasks and asked volunieers

for help. This Included installing new matal
security gates to the front and rear entrances
to protect the wood against vandalism and
also rebullding vandalised brickwork piers.

The team was then able to remove overgrown
shrubs and weeds to enable us to proceed and
install permanert pathways 50 everyone can
use the woodland. Atthe end of the ¢learng,
we removed over 15 fonnes of waste, including
washing machines and mattresses.

Susan Murray, Asset Investrent & Dalivery
Manager from Thurrock Council, commented:
“This was a great project to participate In with
our local residents and partnering contractor
Mears. The work everyone achieved wlllbe a
great asset for everyone in the community to
be able o enjoy.”

Ardy Blakey, Chalrperson from Riverside
Community Big Local, commented:
“Falconwaod was one of the very first projects
that residents kdentifled for the Riverside
Community Big Local — it's an area that has
caused problems for many, many years.

“For far 100 long it has been a waste
ground, overgrown and prone to fly
tipping. We really want to transform it Into
an attractive and Inviling space thatis &
real asset for the tocal community.

“Everyone at the Riverside Community Big
Local Is immensely grateful to Mears for
partnering with us to help make aur ambition
for Falconwood 8 reslity.

“The help and suppori that Gary Luscombe and
his colieagues from Mears have given

has been amazing and — aithough there is still
along way to go -~ they have helped make

the transformation of Falconwood a reallty.”

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2024

Gary Luscombe, General Manager

of Mears, said:

“When Thurrock asked us 1o plich in and
help, we sald yes immediately. | think we've
al! been reminded over tha last year of the
Importance of green space and having
places where we can all appreciate nature,
Sadly, Falconwood was not in good shape.

When we put out the call for help, we had so
many members of the community volunteer
that we actualiy had to turn people away.

It really is a fantastic example of how, when
calted upon, the peopte of Thusrock truly
come together for the benefit of everyone,

What's next?

Now the woodland has been restored,
Riverside Community Big Local has
ambitious plans for the rest of the year.
Having asked residents what they would
like to see next, we are working with themn
on the next stage of the refurbishment.

Gory Luscombe added:

“Without the voluntaers and donations,

we could net have achieved what we have.
It's been a real pleasure to work with the
Councll and the Riverside Community

Big Local project. Thank you Lo all the
volunteers who helped — this reslly is

a space for the community.”
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.Strategic Report

ESG continued

Improving Lives

From a solid baseline,

our aimis to create an
environment that is *fair

for all’, which enables
customers, colleagues and
communities to thrive by
improved: social impact,
health, safety and wellbeing,
employee value proposition
and fairness and inclusion.

IMPROVING LIVES IN 2021
Social value:

— Ccirea 1,500 sodial value projects
— £29.4m social value impact

- Owar £2,800 impact per ermployee

Mears Foundation:

— EB0k grant gonations to support
local community projects.
Far mare information about the
Mears Foundation please visit

https. fwww ithemearsfoundation.org.uk/

Heaith & safety:
- Accident frequency rate: 0.19

Fairngss & inclusion

92% of colleagues shared EDI data
100% of managaers trained in EDI
Gender pay gap of 22%

Employee tummover of 22%

P
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Promating fairness
& inclusion

Our goals

= Continually evolve a Board-driven
sirategy that ensures {aimess end
inclusion for gll coleagues

By 2025 we will aim to achleve:

— 36% of women in leadership positions
[grade 5 +)

- 12% Group representation of black,
Aglan and cther mthnicities

- Genderpay gap of 19%

- Colleagues consider us a leader

Qur plan

- Maximising current recnatment
processes to ensure they ave blas free
and encowage job opportunilies for al

= Publish first ethnlchy gap report, with
98% of coleagues sharing ED! data

— Achieve leading Gold standard fairness
& inclusion accraditation

- Insight-led approach to ensuring our
workforce reflects our local communities

- To eradicate under-representation and
pay disparity In aif job roles

- A coleagues scioss the busingss 1o
receive faimess & incluslon training

= Achleve Disabllity Confident
Employer status

- D&l tergets to be embedded in
menagers’ performance and
reward schemes

— D&l 'consalidation’ training for
managers - periodic (every 3 years)

— Contractual requirement for suppliers
\o provide evidence of how they are
addressing D&|

Improving health & safety

Our goals

-=  Continualty evalve our appraach
to maintain our high standards for
creating a safe working environment
for everyone:

- Acciden frequency rate
of below 0.25.
- Win the ROSPA Industry Sector

Award, which recognises best HES

performance in the sector, by
2030

Attracting &
retaining talent

Our goals

= Continualty evalve a cohesive stralegy
for attracting and retaiting the besy
talent; enabling our colleagues to thrive

By 2035 we will aim 10 achieve:

— Emplayer of choice recognition

— 90% of sl apprentices secure work
&t Mears or angther organisation, on
completion of thalr apprenticeship

~— Employee tumover of 18%

Owr plan

— Develop a competitive Employee Value
Proposition, including standard and
fNexible benefits

— Deliver an enhanced approach te tajent
management

= Promote intarnalty and externally the
Mears Brang and Employee Value
Proposition

- Yedron year growth, in percentage,
of overall recryitment from under-
represented groups

- Impiement Voice of Calleague forum,
chaired by Employee Directoy, to
engble even higger employee voice

= Maintain approach to ensuring al
employees are paid the real Living
Wage or above

- Maintain governance to ensure no
inappropriate Zero Houts contracts

— Promcte Mears' flexible working offer
bnked to wellbeing 1o suppon attraction
and retention

Our plan

—  Maintain all ISO accreditations

= Ratain RoSPA Gold Award

~— Maintaln a team of professionally
qualified Safety, Health and Environment
Managers to support the business,

- Maimain robust policies and procedures
to ensure heaith and safety compliance

= Conduct reguiar audits and
inspections across the business
ta monitor compliance

= Monitar and invest In new technologies
a3 they become avallabie
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Boosting health
& wellbeing

Qur goal

- Continually evolve a Board-driven
welibeing strategy, the Importance
of which is regularty commun|cated
to the workforce, that ensures the
health and wellbeing of ouwr colleagues

Qur plan

== Mental Health First Alder in 100% of
contracts and departments

= Tailored and enhanced Employee
Assistance Programme (EAP)

- Access for all employee to voluntary
health services and programmes

= Enhance support for vulnerable
colleagues

— Enhance flexible benefits package and
contractual lerms to support access
10 opportunities

== Mainialn focus on employee engagement
and help tackle the challenges of -
wellbeing and mental health

Raising social value

Qur goals
- Continually evolve cur approach
10 ensuwre that, by 2025:;
= All contracts must have a yearly
soclal value plan contributing
at least £5k, per employee, of
soclal value
- We will grow Mears Foundation
grant giving to over £200k
per annum

Qur plan

- Develop Scclal Return on Investment
reporting to focus more on qualltative
outcomes and personal impact

== Bulld on engagement with supply chain

— Year onyear Increase in use of
volunteering hours

— Lobbying Government for & more
transparent and consistent measure
of social vaiue

Improving Lives:
Mears Group adds
to its team using
DWP’s SWAP
scheme

Mears Group, the UK's leading housing
solutions provider, has recently engaged
with the Department of Work and Pensions'’
{DWP) SWAP scheme to connect two
Jobseekers with permanent employment

in its Milion Keynes call handling facility.

The DWP's SWAP — Seclor-based Work
Academy Programme - scheme connects
peapte irying to enter the job market with
opportunities in local businesses. SWAPs
are an apporturtity for jobseekers (claiming
Universal Credit, Jobseeker's Allowance or
Employment and Support Aliowance] 1o
improve job prospects, leam new skills end
get experence of working in particular
industries such as care, construction,

or warehouse work,

In Mitton Keynes, The MK Councid
Meighbourhocod Employment Project
Manager epproached Mears' customer
success manager, Claire Foden, to
collaborate on a SWAP initlative. Recognising
that attracting new talent to the housing
solutions sector s an ongoing challenge,
Claire was keen to drive the nitiative forward,
support Mears' commitment 1o soclal
responsibilty and secure employment for
vacart roles within Mears Group.

At the end of the process, which included a
two-week DWP SWAP training programme
foliowed by interviews, Mears offered roles
lo two individuals who have been employed
as call handlers for the past four months.

The benefits to Mears and the employees
are numercus; both individuals have
becomae trusted and valuable members
of the call handitng team, while gaining
valuable skits and experience that will

set them up for the future.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

QOne of them commented on how the
opportunity has positively impacted him:
*Since joining Mears | have been able to
settle into a routine, which Is great for my
condition. | have been identified as
someane who can progress at Mears and
am looking forward to this. Customer service
is really important to me - it's been amazing
so far” Another commenied: "It is rice to be
back in work after two years out of work. | am
lucky to have a supportive manager and
great colleagues at Mears”

Minister for Employment Mims Davies MP
sald: “It's great to hear about people getting
Into work and progressing at Mears, with the
support of our Sector-based Work Academy
Programme. What's great about SWAPs is
that this training Is connected te live
vacancies, offering people the best chance
at landing that all important job.

“Our Plan for Jobs. including the SWAPS
scheme, is supporting people across the
country on their way to work in exciting
new sectors, from housing to hospitakity,
by giving them the skills, experience and
opportunities they need.”

Managing Director of Mears and MK
resident Peter Baldwin sald: “t am very
proud of our new colleagues - they have
already become much valued members
of our team here In Milton Keynes and

| look forward ta seeing them develop.
Initlatives like this should be used by att
companies - as shown In this case, we
can make areal ciiference to people’s
lives within a supportive environmant.”

Claire Foden of Mears added:

“We are delighted that the SWAP scheme
has worked so well for Mears and has
resulted in them becoming valued members
of cur team. We will continue 1o engage with
SWAP and look forward to bringing mare
people into the team across the UK"
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Good Governance

Through robust govermnance
and identifying risks and
opportunities, the Mears
Board works to the highest
level of transparency and
good governance. Our aim
is to take this approach
throughout our business

to ensure that ethical
behavlour, trensparency and
openness form the heart of
our culture at every level.

GOOD GOVERNANCE IN 2021:
— Stmong balsnce shest, with good
cash conversion and low debt

= Long-term, low rigk contrack
paitiolia for essentsl services

— Zeto human rights breachis

e Over 1,000 nesidents are part of
ous dnkne angagement network

- Awerd winning Customer
Scrutiny Board

— Newly reformed ESG Adwisory Board

40

Protecting
human rights

Qur goal

— Mainmain our approach o engure
we have n0 human rights braachas
of ssuex

Our plan

— Continus to conduct business and
delver service In B way Lhi respects
N0 CONSI0RMs human AYNts

— Al SLppies Tulty compllan with
Geoup policy by 2024

— Uphoic oUr stand s ds e

Sustainable
procurement

Dur gowl

= Dafine our sirategy for sustanacie
procuemant by 2023 #nd therealter
dwiver and evolve 0w approach to
RN OU high Standaras

Ow plan .

—  Al'suppiirs signed up 1o dur
Supphe Commikmerns, which are
measured and monkored anauslly

= Al core supphers have suocessiul

O MoUeM skavery. human trafficking
and chitdforced mbow
— Regulatty monitor lsbour and poyrol
- Deliver a package of inftisthves ihal
raiSE BWRrerirss with empioyees
= Gain graatar undarsianding of ihe

nud rgsulls by 2025
AN timber proguCls Sounoed from
cantiied kuesis by 2030
- 5% of ab sourced products e
from susiainable 1ources by 2025
- Mawnisin responsibla approach
0 prompL payman! code

supphy chain and
of our ey SUPOIeTS

Information security
and govemnance

Our goal

= Continually evolme & robust siramgy
£0 &NSUCE ‘Wit GA Y Lo The highest
slandard, have no sacurlty breeaches
and are fully GOPR compllant

Que plan

— Embed a consistent process 10 identfy
8ng assess privacy isks — 100%
complipnce Bcross o business arees

— Alllnfarmation security Incidents are
nvirstigited and aress of improvernent
ora icentified and aciaoned

= Delivera package of infisives that
ensiNe awsreness and LNdersianding
across ol cobeagues

=  Maifiain an Information Security
Management Sysiem that s certified
o IS0 27007

— Cbeain and maintain ndusiry carahicaoons

= Kemiity B0 manage cyber risks

= Dedvar secuns inkrmation sysiesns
to the Group
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- activity
18 outcome-focused with well-
dafined deltverables

—  Comlitue k0 work with gxierngily
scoedited crganisations on attributing
velue to sustainable procuremen

= Our Top 10 suppliers engaged in
<olaborative ESG plan

Partnerships

Quw goaks
‘We will continue to;

—  Work chosely with our cients ana supply
<hain and InCrease perinership fenune
- WOrk closely with wasion snd funcers
= Hold oursaives 10 3000u Wrough sawiiny

Qur plan

— Provide secure Invesiment sndl fundiing

— Conlinue wiih Your Vioice Customer
Scntiny Boord - ingependam

for customer engeg

= Contimis with ESG Advisory Boerd
— Indepencent acvisers thal
comiuciively challenge

— Consider ESG factors across all assers
I which we invest by 2025

= Poriner with Govemmems, businesses,
ATaqasTHA, SN0 COMMUNKHS (o ehsuie
best practice and mobikso action for
sustainable cevelopmant

— Posiiively inluence polcy snd current
peaction {Local and Netional Gowmment)
through cur Thoug ™t Leader programme
—continue to kead the wiy




Risk, ethics &
governance

Our goal

- Maintain a robust strategy and
governance framework (o ensure we
are fully compllant, manage risk and are
regarded as g responsible business

Qur plan

- Ensure year on year compliance with
antl-corruption governance

- Continue zero tolerance to
anti-competitive behaviour

— Yaar on year compliance and
good practice on financial reporting
and tax cbllgations

— Review and align our targets to TCFD
and UN SDGs

~ Promote Executive Board and senior
management responsibilities for
governance and risk approach

- Continue Independent audit and risk
assessment ennually with transparent
action and reporting

— Provide a confidential whistleblowing

channel to encourage colleagues to

speak out

Opt into open carbon reporting

Continue with Mears Workforce Group,

as govemance to main Board, leading on

all workforce practice and engagement

== Continue diseiplined approach to
bidding and capital sllccation to
maintain strong balance sheet

“Through good govermnance
we know that we can
reduce risks and create
value by leading from

the front to create a
business truly based on
ethical and transparent
business practices.”

Alan Long
Executive Director

Good Governance:
Holding Mears
to account

In 2021 owr Indepandent Scrutiny Board
published its first annual report, which
highlighted the Company's performance,
including recommendations for continuing
service improvements.

The resident-led board forms one part of

our resident engagernent madel, which

has the right to guestion any part of the
Mears business, to scrutinise how we deliver
services to the housing sector and make
recommendations aimed at improving
customer experience. The Your Voice
Serutiny Board reports directly to the PLC
Board and has the power to publish
Independent public reports about Mears.

We also recognised that there may be
some issues which Impact on customers’
lives which are outside of Mears' direct
control and the Scnutiny Board will consider
how it can influence wider improvements
working with local counclls, Housing
Assodiations and Government. Your Voice
is structured as follows:

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Mears Customer Scrutiny Board —

An independently chaired panel of customer
representaiives working atongside the PLC
Board and providing oversight, challenge and
support to Mears. it will be supported and ils
independence assured by the Centre for
Pubfic Scrutiny.

Mears Customer Champions Forum —
Made up of Mears’ branch-based customer
engagement (or equivalent) leads plus other
key stakehciders such as client Scrutiny
Board chairs, resiient association leads, and
community activists. This forum will create a
link between the Scrutiny Board and the local
inrvolvernent groups and scrutiny structures.

Maears Online Customer Network -

A virtual network of residents from around the
country, who opt Into providing feediback on
Mears services, provide insight into what's
important and what's not, offer opinions and
suggestions, snd validate and endorse our
thinking/new inltiatives,

You can read the Board's 2021 report here:

Mears Scrullny Boerd — Annual Report
2020-20211 Mears Group PLC
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Mears 5 committed to adopting the
recommandations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Oisclosures (TCFD),
providing our stakeholders with deciston-useful
information on climate related risks and
opporiunities that are relevant to our business.
We are conlinuing to evolve our climate risk
disclosuras in ine with the TCFD guidelines.
During 2021, the management team continued
to focus on the implementation of TCFD.

The Group has not completed scenario
planning, and in this area the Group is not
compliant with the TCFD recommendations.
As part of our risk planning in 2022/23, we

will complete scenario planning to enable

our business to mitigate climate related risks.

Mears is not new 10 ESG. In fact, ESG has
always been at the heart of what we do.

We struciure our ESG Appreach through our
three priorities:

see pages 35to 41

— Healthy Plapeat: Reducing emissions and
making a positive contribution to our planet

= Improving Lives: Making a poshive difference
by delivering great senvice. giving something
back and treating everyone fairty and equalty.
specific t thelr needs

- Good Governance: Running our business
In the mast ethicel and ransparent way

Each of these js driven by an understanding that
a company of our size cen make an kmpact on
the communities we work in and on the wider
workl, We set our standards extremedy high and
have a robust set of govemance structures in
place, Including independent scrutiny,

Mears will 3lso play & crucial role In helping 1o
retrofit and improve the national bousing stock.
Using our internal experts, we are already
developing plans with our clients to achieve
Net Zerd in emissions fram housing. We see
this as & major part of our future as a business.

Our uttimate goal is to be recognised as the

mast soclally responsible business warking in
the public seciar.

42

Governance

Disclose the organisation’s govermnance around
climate refated issues and opportunities.

Qut ESG Approach can be viewed Infull on
pages 33 to 41 and cutlines our plans to reduce
emissions — this being one of qur three strategic
pricrities for ESG alongside Improving Lives
and cresling opportunities and Good Govemance.

As part of our strategy in 2021, we appolnted a
new sustainability team to provide a vision and
plan for us both internelly and as a contractor (o
the public sector.

The Board is focused on ensuring that Mears
fives by i(s vaiues. The Board is accountable for
the long-tecm success of the Group, setting @
framework of effeciive controls which enables
risks, Including dimate refated risks and
opporiunities, 1o be assessed and managed.,
Responsibility for ESG is embedded Into our
corparate governance and owned by the
Board, receiving Inputs from the Compliance
Cormmittee and Group Sustainability Team.

Qur executive management leads and provides
strategic direction to the Group, and cames
utimate responsibility for management of the
Group's activities, ESG and financial performance.

Wider managernant functions throughout the
organisation also have climate related roles

and responsibifities. For example, our Heaith
and Safety function sypports ne delivery of
our environmental sirategy. with particular
focus on waste management and recyeling.

We will continue 1o embed climate related roles
and responsibilities throughout aur functions
and operations during 2022,

Qur strategy will see us:

— achieve net 2210 carbon emissions by
2030 across our operations;

— achieve net zero carbxon emissions by
2049 across our value chain;

— &mbed a nel zero carbon culture based on
personal responsibility; and

— Move to an electric vehicle fleet by 2030.

Wae are currently concluding our Carbon Plan,
which is due for completion during the first half
of 2022, This will include additional interim
milestones as we progress to net 2ero carbon
emissions by 2030.

We are proud 10 have achieved ISO 14001
(Environmental Management System)
certification and this will farm 8 key indicator
{ac the Board 10 1eview.

Seepage 16

Strategy

Disclose the actual and potential impacts
of climate related risks and opportunities
on the orgenisation's business, strategy
and financlsl planning where such
information is material,

Climate change presents Mears with both
risks and opportunitles,

RISKS

As 8 large manager of housing stock, the
Company will need to demonstrate a leading
rcle in ansuring our stock is it for Net Zero.
As a repairs and maintenance provider, we
will need to move our vehicle fleet to electric
by 2030. However this commitment is
cependent upen the infrastructure in the UK
being available to allow our operatives to
charge their electric vehicles without impacting
wpon productivity.

OPPORTUNITIES

As part of our 2025 Sirategic Plan, the Board
has directed that we will work to become
teaders in carbon reduction within social
haeusing and within our organisation.

The strategy planning for 2025 means that we
are already in 8 position to Ainancially ptan for
an electric vehicle fleet, to mitigate the effects
of climste change on cur business and to
enhance our cffer on Net Zero 0 enable us 10
benefit from the opportunities of Net Zero.

The benefits of Net Zero are clear (o Mears.
The retrofitting of socisl housing will become

a major growth area for Mears. Our expertise

in this area makes us an integral part of the
green economy. We have already secured o
fiest three energy efficlency projects as detailed
within the Chief Executive Officer's review.

& lurther benefit will be to show investors with
an emphasis on BSG and the green economy
thal Mears is an arractive nvestment, and our
expertise wil present a competitive advaniage
when bidding for contracts.

In considering our climate risks and
opportunities, we have considered short-term
risks between 0 and 2 years. medivm-term
risks from 2-5 years and long-term risks being
over 5 years. The Board would expect io
increase these time horizons as the Group
bullds on the recommendations of the TCFD
and completes the scenario plarining work.
Atthis time, 8 period that is significantly
greater than 5 years is considered too long,
given the inherent uncertainties involved.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021




Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (0-2 YEARS)

Risks

= Failure to financially plan for upskilling
workforce in low carbon technology

— Fallure to access all avallable funding

MEDIUM-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (2~5 YEARS)

Risks

— Risk that suppliers wili not be able 1o adapt
In timeframe set

— Failure to analyse all contracts for business
procurement. These will all need to be
stress tested to ensure that they help us
to achieve our Net Zero goal

— Fallure to begin upgrades to housing
stack we own and manage

Opportunities

- Help to upskill our supply chains to
reach our Net Zero goals

== Become the preferred supplier for Net
Zeroin soclal housing stack nationwide

- Access 10 Government funding to
decarbonise housing stock (see financial
planning below)

LONG-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (5 YEARS AND

ABOVE)

Risks

— Transitlon to electric vehicle fleet wil
depend on charging nfrastructure

— Scope 3 s depandent on suppliers

— The UK skills shortage could affecy
our plans

— Ourincreasing housing footprint reduces
our ability to meet our goals

== Changing sources of supply, e.g., for
forestry praducts that may be impacted
by climate change

— Energy and IT supply risk, where bad
weather causes widespread downtimes

— Additional maintenance pressures as a
resuh of more extreme wealhes conditions

~— Need for greater flood protection
measures for homes as risk areas spread

Opportunities

- We become the UK's leading end-to-
end carban reduction experts with
capability to analyse existing stock,
access funding, implement new
technologles and measure Impact

— We support the UK skilis base by
supporting our supply chains Lo adapt to
new skllis, technologles and regulation

— Need for protection of and greater support
for blodiversity will enhance our social
value offer by greening communities

— Combatting dimate change will present
us with opportunities to grow our
maintenance business

— With increasing migration we can harness
the new skills 10 fill the current gap

FINANCIAL PLANNING

Our 2¢725 Strategic Plan se1s oul owr ambiton
to become leaders in carbon reduction,
Financlal ptanning is ted (o our strategy

and as such we have already incorporated
this and will continue to do so to meet our
goal of Net Zera for our business by 2030.
Appainting a carbon reduction team Is an
example of our investment.

To become leaders in this area, we need
to ensure that we are able to access the
slgnificant investment coming in through
Soclal Housing Decarbonisation funds,

the Warm Hames Front and the new ECO4.

We already have an emerging pipeline of
ocpportunity, aithough further Government
funding announcements will influence how
fast this opportunity will develop. We know
that £800m will be released under the English
Social Housing Decarbonisation fund In

Apeil 2022, with a further £800m mentioned
for April 2023 {there are similar pots in the
devolved natlons). In each case, this will be for
work being carried out over a 3-year period.
Wae also know there is £150m In the Warm
Homes Front for off gas properties and

April will see ECO4 faunched with a potential
£1bn fund for housing of all types.

CARBON PRICING

As part of the scenario analysis, we will further
consider the impact of future carbon pricing.
Carbon taxes have to date remained relatively
low but are expected to increase In the future
In Jine with Government commitments.

We conslder the most significant financlal
impact s where the cost of carbon taxes and
levies, both those incurred directly by Mears
and where Indirect caroon taxes sre passed
ta Mears through Its supply chain, cannot be
passed ono customers.

RESILIENCE

We link our work to the Group’s stralegic
pricrities and principai risks. As part of our risk
planning in 2022/23, we will compiele scenario
planning to enable our business to mitlgate
climate related risks. This will include planning
to ensure that we mitigate against risks thal

the Group does not maximise cpportunities
presented by ESG releted changesinits
business environment.

See pages; 46 10 54
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Risk Management

Disclose how the organisation identifies,
assessaes and manages ciimate-relatad risic.

The Group Sustalnability Team identifles
strategic climate change risks and opportunities
facing Mears through the regular review of
issues and trends. Active collaboration with
axternal experts, and representation at
conferences and events help to ensure
up-to-date knowledge, Identifted risks and
oppornunities are shared with the Board and
included within the strategic risk register.

As detailed in the Risk managemant section
on page 46, Mears has a struclured risk
management framework operated at 8
business unit, function and Group level.
The senior management team reviews and
identifies the key risks: dimate releted risks
are identified and considered as part of
that process. Cilmate related risks are not
considered in isolation, and the process

is integrated intc the Group’s overall risk
management pfocess.

The Board has carried out a robust assessment
ofthe principal risks, Including cimate related
risks, facing the Group., Including those that
threaten the business model, strategy and future
performance. Risks are prioritised basad on
the liketihood of occurrence and the severity
of the Impact on the Group. This severity can
be measured using various criteris such as
financial, customer service, growth, reguiatory
comptiance and reputational criteria. Therefore,
Mears messures more than simpty the financdial
Impacl of the risk. These scores are used 10
escalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Climate change represents both risk snd
opportunity for the Group, There is a risk that
Mears does not identify and manage the risks
associated with changes in environmeritat
legislatian relating to housing, transportation,
and corporate reporting requirements. There is
also a risk that the Group does not maximise
the oppartunities presented by energy
efficiency In the affordable housing sector.

See pages 4610 54
Climata risks are assessed as part of our

integrated sk management framework as
detailed on pages 46-54
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the metrics and targets used
to assess and manage relevant climaote
related rsks and opportunities where
such information is material.

Mears will creste a net 2670 Carpon transition
plan, with science-based targels. We will
publish data in our Annual Reporn and on our
ESG website, which will publicly show our
emissions, and progress against our targets.
We will devealop our year on year targets for
reducing Scope 1and 2 as part of our transition
plan over 2022,

Specific targets Include:

— transitton to electric vehicle fleet by 2030;

—  workin parinership and support supply
chain 1o achieve net zerc carbon;

— 1O0% carbon awareness training for
colleagues by 2023;

- Invest in carbon offsetting 1o balance
residual emissions by 2030; and

— achieve net zero carbon emission by
204S across our value chain.

We have set a small number of climate
related metrics and largets in our Graup
strategy, and included them within our wider
ESG plan, notably:

= gregnhouse gas [GHGE) emissions, absolute
Scope1and 2 [as detalled opposite):

— GHG emission intensity {as detailed
opposite); and

—  waste diverted from landflll (as detaited
on page 36).

We recognise the need to review our climate

tergets in 2022 and 2023, and further

performance measures will be considered

in due course.

The Group's carbon emissions data for the year
5 detailed cppaosite.

See pages: 3510 37
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GHG EMISSIONS
The Group's carbon emissions data for the year is provided below.

The data sat out In these tables represents emissicns and energy use for which Mears Group PLC
Is responsible and is incorporated by reference in the Directors’ Report on page 99. To calculate
our Group emissions, we have used the main requirements of the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard.

These figures have been generated from independently provided repons of carbon emissions

or energy usage from a variety of sources and, where necessary, energy usage has been
converted into carbon emissions using the UK Government GHG Conversion Faclors for Company
Reporiing 2023,

This year, we have also calculated cur Scope 2 emissions using the market-based methodology
to recognise the purchasing of low carbon energy.

Scope Units 2021 2020
Scope 1— UK Tonnes COze 36397 34,370
Scope 2 — UK location-based Tonnes COze 6,449 7376
Scope 2 - UK market-based Tonnes COze 5817 n/a
Scope tand 2 Units 2021 2020
Intensity lonnes COe/fm revenue 4878 4963
Energy consumption MWh 198,363 189.074

Qur reporting foliows the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corpovate Accounting and Reporting
Siendard, epplying the 'Financlal Control’ approach {organisational boundary).

Out policy is to restate carbon and energy figures in consideration of changes In methodologles.
improvements In the accuracy, or discovery of errors In previgus years' data. No restatement has
been made this year.

Qur gross carbon ernissions have been classified in the iollowing way:

Scope 1~ Direcl emissions from: vehicle use [owned and leased}, heating fuels used in buildings.
Scope 2 = Indirect emissions from: eleckricity used in our bulldings. We report location-based
emissions {taking into account the UX grid average).

Scope 3 - Indirect emissions from business travel by air and taxi; hoted stays: water supply; and
waste recycling and disposal.

Out of Scope — Indirect emissions from: biofuel usage from al divisions In line with DEFRA

reporting guidelines.
During 2021, Mears has taken active measures ta improve (ts energy efficiency, including:

== LNising lechnology 1o minimise journey time between all operational visits

— Expeanding use of video technology to reduce the number of journeys ravelled by over 75%
- Sourcing energy from renewable resources

— Working with our supply chain to reduce packaging and waste on a continual basis

- Employirng a Sustainablity manager 1o complete a roadmap through ta 2030 and beyond

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021




Non-financial Information Statement

Board requirements

Policles and standards
which govem our approsch

Additional Information and risk management

Stakeholders {customers,
suppliers, ete))

— Responsible Business Charter

— Data Protection

— Responses to Social Housing White Paper.
Procurement Green Paper and the Decent
Homes Review

= Scottish Business Pledge

— 150 44001 - collaboration in contract
management

= Monltoring right first time, customer

- complaints, customer satisfaction

Board activities — page 70

5.172 statement - pages 30 10 32

Critical market factors that influence
performance - page 46

Awards and accreditations — pages 04 and 05
Market drivess - pages 20 and 21

Business model — pages 22 and 23

Customer satisfaction — page 26

Siakeholder engagement — pages 2810 29
and 71 and 72

[

P

Environmentai matters - ESG Approach — ESG reporting website
= FYSEAGood membership — ESG Approach — pages 33 to 41
— 15014001 (Environmental Management == TCFD statement — pages 42 10 44
System) centificatian — Carbon emissions statement — page 44
— Environment and waste recycling — page 36
Emplayees Whistieblowing policy Improving Lives — pages 29 and 28 to 39
Family Friendly policy Gender Pay Gap Report — page 38
Safeguarding ' Governance reper —page 71

Equality, Diversity and Incluslon

Approach to Labour Standards compliance
Launch of a socislly responsible business
plan to atiract snd retain staff and go further
on our diversity and inclusion plans

2025 Strategy

Health and Safety

Red Thread Approach

RoSPA QOrder of Distinction

Remuneration report — pages 82 1o 97
Awards and accreditations -~ pages 04 and 05
Health & Safety - pages 38 and 39

Human rights

Modern slavery and human trafficking
Preventing engagement of child labour
Whistieblowing palicy

Family Friendly policy

— Modern Slavery Act — page 40
- ESG Governance — page 4Q

Anti-corruption

Anti-Bribery & Corruption

— Govemnance - page 1

and bribery — Independent research Into ethical — Report of the Audit and Complance
procurement sponsored by Mears Committees — pages 76 to 81
— Responsible Business Charter
Social matters ESG Approach ESG Approach - pages 33to 41

Social Value UK Certificate Level 2
FTSEAGood Index

Mears Scrutiny Board

ESG Boarg

Social Mobllity Index

Awards and accreditations ~ pages 04 and 05
Governance —page 71

Stakeholder engagement - pages 28 10 29
and 7Vend 72

Description of principal
risks and Iimpact of
business sctivity

Risk management - pages 46 to 43
Principal tisks and uncertainties —
pages 50 to 54

~ Business model — pages 22 and 23

11

Description of
business model

= Business model - page 22 and 23

Non-financial KPis

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

= Sustegic Repart ~ page 26 .

Corporate governance — page 64

Report of the Audit and

Compliance Commiittees — pages 76 o 81

Pl
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Strategic Report

Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking an
appropriate level of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
Effective management of risks and opportunities is essential
to the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives, whilst
protecting our employees and ather key stakeholders.

Risk management framework

Governance

Board

- Sets the tone on risk management Culiure

~— Maimains sound and effective risk management and internal
control systems

- Defines risk appetite

Audit Committee (Non-Executive)

— Reviews the effecliveness of the risk management process
- Approves risk management policies and guldelines

Internal Audit

— Defines and maonitors the risk management process and
mitigation tools and actions

- Plans and executes assurance acllvities 1o ensure that there are
policies and procedures in place 1o support the effectivenass of
the Group's intemal control System

Compliance Committee (Executive)

- Develeps and oversees Implementation of risk management
sirategies and makes recommendations to the Audit Commitiea
and senlor management ’

- Supports the Audit and Risk Committee In monitaring
sustainability risks

Business Unit and Central Functions

Risk awareness embedded in day-to-day operations

Risk identification and assessment performed across business
operatigns on an everyday basis

— Implementation of sk mitigaticn programmes and operationat
manitoring of intermal controls

46

- I8 responsibie for principatl risk identification and ongoing
monitofing of the Company’s risk exposure to ensure that material
matters are managed in alignment with strategic objectivas

3rd line of defence

~= Prepaies regular sisk and Internal control reports for approval
by the Audit and Risk Committee and maintains the Risk
Assurance Map

=~ Perfarms risk analysis on growth projects, detaling the specific
conditions and risks faced by 8 new project

2nd line of defence

— Supportsthe Audit and Risk Commiltee In evaluating the Group's

risk profiie and internal controls implemented by management

— The Chair of ine Compliance Committee presents to the Board

twice a year, to provide a detafied update on the activitles of
the Committee

1st line of defence

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accaunts 2021



Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has averall responsibillty for
determhning the nature and exttent of risk

Itis willing to accept within the agreed
sirategy and ensuring that fisks are managed
effectively across the Group. Risk is a regutar
agenda item at Board meetings and is clasely
aligned to strategy review. The Board alsg
reviews reports on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk mansgement
and internal control.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Commitiee monitors the Group's
key risks identlfled by the risk assessment
processes and reports s findings 1o the
Board. It also has delegated responsitility for
reviewing in detall the effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control policies and
procedures for the identification, assessment
and reporting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Our Internal audit plan is devised by
understanding the strategy, objectives ang

fisk profile of the Group and considering the
other forms of management and indepengent
assurance before agreeing what Intemal gudit
work Is required. This enables us to ensure that
our imternat audit resources target the key
areas end it also enables us lo be efficien by
not duplicating other assurance activities,

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
outsourced provider of internal audit services,
KPMG assists the internal Group risk function
to s&t the internal audit ptan. This Is a dynamic
programme seton a 3-year time horizon and
ensures certain risks and themes are priaritised
and approptiate resources and skills applied 1o
those areas.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has a very active
sub-cormnmittee, being the Compliance
Committee. This refiects the significant focus
that the Graup gives ta degling with heatth,
safety and environment rsks. The extent

10 which the full integration of health, safety
ang environmental risks is now embedded in
the governance structures of the Group Is
highlighted by ihe members of the Compliance
Committee, who inciude the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Director
and internal Health and Safety legai adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL
RISK OWNERS

Mears has a strucfured risk management
framework operated at a business unit, function
and Group level, The senior management team
réviews and identifies the key risics which may
tmpact upon the achievement of the Group's
strategic goals and will consider how these risks
are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the regulatory environment.

The nature of the risk Is reviewed, Including the
possible triggering events and the aggregated
impacts, before setting appropriate mitigetion
strategies directed at the causes and
consequences of each risk. The risk is assessed
in relstion 10 the likelihood of occwTence and
the potential Impact of the risk upon the
business, and assessed against a matrix scoring
system which is then used to escalate risks
within the Group as appropriate. The senlor
management team has responsibility for
managing the Group's key risks.

The Group has a functional risk register and
there Is 8 good understanding of the risks that
could impact the Group, and their severity,

The Group has a positive risk culture, with a
clear tone-at-the-top balng set by the senior
management team, The control enviconment is
underpinned by a detailed scheme of delegaied
responsibllities that defines processes and
procedures for the approval process in respect
of decision making. This ensures that decislons
within the organisatlon are made by the
appropriate level of management.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Three lines of defence
— assurance providers

Mears operates a 'three lines of defence’
assurance medel.

Ouwr first line of defence, our operationa!
management, have a responsibility to
manage day-to-day risk in their own areas
guided by Group policles, procedures and
control frameworks.

Our s5econd line of defence includes our
central support functions, which devetop end
malniainthe risk management framework
and engage with enanagement to Identify,
agree and update risk information on &
regular basis to review the effectiveness

of the mitigating actlens and contrals.

Our outsourced provider of internal audit
services provides our third line of defence,
providing independent assurance on
internal controls and risk management
processes. Further external assurance

is provided by our statutory auditer, in
respect of the financial statements, and
other external specialists as required.
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Strategic Report
Risk management continued
Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for rsk identification,
analysls, evaluation and mitigation rests with
the seator management teamt. This is also
responsible for reporting and moniioring key
risks in accordance with established processes
under the Group operational polictes.

Identified risks are documented In risk registers
showing: the risks that have been identified;
charactevistics of the risks; consequences of
the risks; the basis for determining the
mitigation strateqy: and what reviews ang
monitoring are necessary. The person{s)
sccountable for assessing and monitoring
each risk is noled.

We continue to drive Improvements in our fisk
management process. We also review our
business model, core markets and business
processes to ensure that we have properly
entifled all risks. As part of this review,

Setting our internal
audit pricrities

48

Climate related risks are cofsidered inboth the
Group and Operational risk registers, butthelr
sevelity Is ot considesed 10 be significant.
We cantinualty neview our miigating actions to
ensure that they are sufficient (o minimise our
rsidusl risk.Key financlal and non-financial
risks identified by the businass from the risk
assessment processes are coliated and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and are
regulary reviewed to monitar the statys and
progression of mitigation plans; the key risks
ara reported to the Board on a reguldr basls.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Board has carred oul a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group, including
those that threaten the busingss moded, steqy,
future performance, solvency and liquidity.

Risks have boen identified as ‘principal based
on the likefihood of occurrence and the severity
of the impact onthe Group.

Step 1 Step 2
Strategic priodities Analysis of risk
Pricritles: shoriimediym/ Top down/botiom up

long term risk profiling

Risk management Corq cantrols
Rafresh of principal risks, Core controls
mitigating actions, and spot checks
assurance feview
Step 6 Scheme of Defegated
Resource and skilla Frawd Risk register Authority (SOD@}
Identify and deploy team faciitation

Specific risk areas
Serious Incident response
Branch spot visits Including
business conminulty and
sub-contractor management

Information secuity

Step S Step &
Audit plen and approach Other assurance
Dewveiop an internal Consider other assurance
aucdit plan processes

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

The Group's principl rsks are identifled on
the pages that foltow. together with how we
mitigate those risks. Each principal risk is
considered in the cantext of how it relates

1o the achievemen! of the Group's strategic
objectives. The risk discussion includes
assessment of gross risk and net risk, Gross
risk reflects the exposure and risk [andscape
before car ing the mitigations in place,
with net risk being the residual risk after
mitigations. The movement In gross risk from
the prier vear for each principal risk has been
assessad and s presented on the pages that
follow, Mitigations in place supporting the
menagement of the risk to a net risk position
are plse described for each principal risk.

Step 3
Identifying priorities




Principa! Risk Heat Map: year end No. Risk

The Group's risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based on their ikelitood and 1
impact, Le. potential severity. This severity can be measured using iife and limb, finencial,
customer service, growth, requlatory compliance and reputationsl criteria, Therefore, Mears
measures mare than simply the financial impact of the risk. These scores are used to escalale
risks and 1o drive the mitigation plans.

Likellhood of sccurrence
Unlikehy Possible Likely Almost certain

Rare

Insignificant

EMERGING RISKS

Minor Moderate Major

Fabure 10 successiully deliver the Asylum
Seekars Contract from a commercial,
reputational, and operational perspective.
Major breach of infformation or data security
Serious health and safety fallune
4 Fallwre In governance, control, processes,
systems and structure In the management-led
contracls
5 Fallwe to recover operations in a disasier or
crisls (business continulty)
6 Potitica! and market disruptions, for example
towands outsourcing
Reduction In the Group's sbillty to attract and
a4 q retain istent
3 B Serious damage to or boss of brand Integrity
due to poor management of publicity and
extemal communications
Serious fallyre to manage housing
sul-contraciors
10 Risk of percetved and actual discrimination
leading to reputational damage and financial
penalties

w N

10 1 .

Severe
7 8 High

Medium

Low

Gross risk
Net risk

Read more in the Corporate
governance section

Read more in the Report of the
Audit and Compliance Committees

Catastrophic
Severity of impact

In addition 10 known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing
risk management processes. Emerging risks are everts that present uncertainty. They may potentially Impact us in
the longer term but there is currently insufficient informatian to understand and assess the likely scale or impact, or
for the senior management team to set out an appropriate risk response. In some cases, emerging risks are
superseded by others, of cease 1o be relevant, 85 the environment in which we cperate changes and evolves.

The Board has considered the following areas and their risk to the Company:

Cowid-19 aftershocks

The risk that the Group fails to successfully recover from the short-term impact of Covid-19. Areas of concern
are increased health and safety risks to the Group's staff and Its service users, adapting to remote working,
and mental health and welleing.

Covid-19 has long-term implications far the Group that could result in financial losses and limitations on future
growth. Possible scenarios include a reduction In Government spending, increased taxation. and potential
future claims from staff and service users in relation to the medical condition "Long Covid®

ESG

ESG presents risks and opportunities for the Group, There s & risk that Mears does not identify and manage
the risks associated with changes in environmental legislation relating to housing, transportation and
corporate reporting requirements, There s also a risk that the Group does nol maximise opportunities
presented by ESG related changes In its business environment,

Legislative changes

Read more

Changes to building and fire safety legisiation that result in higher cost to compty with requirements and
increased scrutiny from regulators.

in the Corporate governance section and in the Report of the Audit and Compliance Commitiees

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

Damage to Reputation Damage to Reputation

RSk Faijlure to successfully RISk Major breach of informatlion

Strategic priorities
To be recognised as the most
trusted lerQe private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customaer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace innovation that
drives positive change such
a5 digitat and carbon reduction

To malntain and grow a reslilent

1 deiiver the Asylum Seekers
Contract. Given the nature
of the contract, the failure
to manage the reputationat
impact of an Incident or
operational or commercial
Issues remains o key risk,

e

Strategic outcome

2 ar data security resuiting in
negative publicity leading to
loss of confidence in the
sector or financial penaltias,

L JE)

business with long-term
partnerships, & strong balance
sheet and cash pasition,
along with a committed,
engaged workforce

27w

£ iMedivm

KPIs associated with risk

Change in year
@ Increase in risk exposure

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure
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- Works arders completed on time %
{manthiy)

— Right first time % {monthly)

Customer satisfaction {monthly}

— Complaints {monthly)

Mitigations

- Nurnber of privacy complaints
- Response time to data

subject requests

- Business As Usual risk registeris
maintained for the asylum contract
which Is reported 1o Home Office on
& manthly basls and acts as 8 basks
for questioning to Mears

- Mobilisation, transition and delivery
planning led by senior team and close
attention from Group Executive

— Waeekly Teams call including Chief
Execuiive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer o ensure all senior team
members are aligned

— Varipus projects around IT system
set up, GDPR, HR related and iraining

— Information Security team in place.

Meetings are attended by Information
Security Group (ISG) and information
asset owners on a monthly basis.

The asset ownars are held responsible
for their respective departments’ actions

— Penetration testing Is undertaken

by an external spedialis: company

— Thirg party review and support for

training in terms of GDPR requirements

— On some of the Group's most sensitive

contracts, the dient conducts audits that
review physical access, security of hard
copies of files and IT system security

- Compliance with ISQ 27001

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Damage to Reputation

RISK  Failure to manage the

3 impact of a health and
safety incident leads to
reputational damage and
high financiat penaities.

LS

Strategic outcome

RSK  Failure in governance,
4 control, processes,

systems, and structure in
the Registered Provider of
Social Housing key risk.

O

RISk Fallure to recover
5 operations In a disaster or
crisis {business continuity).

L JS)

XPIs assoclated with risk

— Accident frequency rates
- Customer complaints
= Exceilent service rating

Mitigations

Praperties with valid gas, electrical and
Legionella test certificate (100% target)
Praperties with up-to-date asbestos
survey and fire dsk assessment

(100% target)

Tenant satisfaction (manthly)

Customer complaints

== The amount of ime since each plan

was updated

= The Group's Health and Salety funciion

provides a second line of defence
and carries out reguiar branch audits

— Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPls with
business iImprovement records
issued to managers and action
completlons are belng tracked

== Actidenis are reported within

24 hours. Investigations are performed

for every case and recommendations
are provided where spplicable

= Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality report submittead a
Compliance Committee covering key
areas (safety, health, environmental,
waste, quality, compllance, and trend
analysis on accident statistics)

Reglstered Providers have own Board
structure which includes five Non-
Executive Directors and an Independent
Chair, Sub-Committee {Assurance and
Operations) meetings are held which
focus on key contract details
The RPs have been subject to audit by
the Regulator of Social Housing
Regular Commiitee meetings are
held on key areas: perfarmance
updates, customer service
performance, compliance {gas,

fire, electrical and asbestos risk
assessments, and complalnts update)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

- A crisls management policy is in place
= Business continuity plan is in place for

each branch
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

KEY

Damage to Financial Viability

Ability to Resource

Strategic priosities
To be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest levets
of custemer service in the
atfordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace Innovation that
drives positive change such
as digital and carbon reducton

To maimsin and grow a
resMent business with
lorg-temm partnerships, 8
strang balance sheet and

cash position, afong with a
commitied, engaged workforce

RISK  Political and market
6 disruptions, for example
towards outsourcing.

® O

Strategic outcome

RISk Reduction in the
7 Group's ability to
sttract and retain talent.

Risk level

O Severe
. High

sy

. Medium

TLow

Change in year
@ Increase in risk exposure

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change In tisk exposure
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KPls assocliated with risi

— % of surveyed clients and politicians
who regard Mears as highly
responsible jannual}

- % of gverall media coverage that
15 positive (monthly}

Mitigations

Staff turnover {momhiy)

Social value per employee (annual)
Sel-delivery % monthly)

% of apprentices completing their
caurse and obtalning work {snnual)
Great Place to Work score {annual)

% of the grade 5+ workforce wha are
women [annual

(it

«= These is regular Board level maonitaring
of the political cimate

~ Regular one-10-one Meetings between
CEQ and Members of Pariament t
improve mutual understanding

— The business is diversiied to becotme
a registered provider of sacial housing

— Cloge working relationships are
developed with Local Government
organisations

Mears Group PLC Annval Report and Accounts 2021

- AwWorkforce Strategy Group consisting
of seniof employees is Jn operation, 10
address key matters associaed with the
reqmit of data analysis action planning
and implamentation monitoring

- Rigorous process ensures that all
annuadl appraisals abave grade 5
{mid-managememn) are reviewad
by senlor management team

= Mears Learning is ah intemal training
department used to implement
Learning and Development strateqy

~ There is an Executive backed
culture of retalning and developing
the Group's talent



Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

RiSK ° Serious damage to or
8 loss of brand integrity due

to poor managemernit of
pubficity and external
commumnications.

=
[} ]
L.

Strategic outcome

RiIsK  Serious failure to manage
9 housing sub-contractors,

RiSK  Risk of perceived and actual
1 o discrimination leading to

reputational damage and
financial pensalties.

Y
1] ]
L

KPls assoclated with risk

% of surveyed clignts and politicians
who regard Mears as highly
responsible (annual)

% of overall media coverage that

Is positive {monthily)

Cusiomer satistaction (monthty)
Compialnts {monthly}

Mitigations

Selt-delivery % (monthiy)

Works orders completed on time %
(monthity)

— Right first time % [manihly)
Customer satisfaction {(monthly)
Complaints [monthly} :

- % of apprentices completing their

course and obtaining work (annual)

= % ofthe grade 5+ workforce who are

women {annual)

Engagement of external public
relations adwisory

All staff are required to foliow the sacial
media policy

There Is 3 dedicated Group Head of
Communications

Whistleblowing policy and procedures
in place (for some potential adverse
pubiicity events)

Staff are given clear directions as 1o
how to deal with a press enquiry

— A critical control peint (CCP) has been
developed which partly focuses on
Branch complfiance with the Group's
Sub-contractor processes

- Priorto sub-contractor engagement;

rigorous interview process covering
health and safety and insurance

— Mears Contract Management (MCM}
holds key sub-contractar information

and documentation

Payment controls

Post inspection checks and monthly
performance reviews of accidemt
statistics)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Soclal Value Board with extemal
Board members

Waorklorce Strategy Group, consisting
of senlor employees, addresses key
matters associated with the remit of
data analysls, action planning and
implementation monitoring
Investment In single HR database
[Workday) which allows for improved
analysls.

Gender pay gap is considered as part
of the people plan

Remuneration Committee provides
govemance al executive level
Tradeswomen Into maintenance and
social mobility initiatives i cperation
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Strategic Report

Principal tisks and uncertainties continued

‘Smartphone’
initiative for
Rotherham’s
asylum seekers

54

Thet gioba! angindeing company AESSEAL
has parinered with the Mears Foundstion
toheta esylum seekins temposariy housed
i Rotherhem 0 COMMUNkabe with thelr
FamMla; and suppor Sroups.

The two omganisstions funded the purchsse
of more than 800 siartphones in an
initistive that recognises the social and
emation sl ngeds for connactivity of A groug
that hees In most cases experienced exireme
nasdshin during WS journey so the LIX.

At any ook dme, around 600 propia,

s ol Y Qroups, are
in hotel or geher lemporary accommeodation
I flotharham whiie 1he exyium claims or¢
processad The asyium Seekars come from
vious part of the world, Induding 2
nutsher rom Sontict regions. such as
Alghaniston, Syria and Ukraine.

Arccommodstion, faod and basic dothing
we supplied by the Honre Gifice.

Mears is » providar of housing o ssylum
saekers In Yorkshiee. The Mears Foundatian
& 3 Not for profit eharkaiile foundetion
which supports the communities where
Mears worka.

ARSEEAL MO Cheis a8 suid the compay
heard about the asylum seeiers and
watiled 1o heip whaure that, whatever

the OUICaME of thelr Casa 1o remain in the
LY, thay retainad postive memories of
Rotherham and its péopie.
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“These sve (H301Ced peopio sind famdies
wilh tha Same needs for amotional 2uppornt
any connactivily that we alt have. ft's a

T joinrd-up world ano smanphones give

them access 10 information and mportant
famity #nd 351 Support” e soded.

Tha charky 8nC th Rotherham

‘s
any jointly naadng the inttisthe io buy
2 siock of entry level b hully fumctionsd
smartphanes that gt capabig of Inteine

connect|on and support vikieo caling.

This is In ackHiGn 10 tha support proviced by
the UK Govammaen to those who smva in the

UK srekingy 83/ on & variety of grounds.

Hagthet Tyrst, Genarsl Munagur of the
Maars Foundetion, said "W sre proud 0
be partroning with AESSEAL to provids
way Lo commuicate i asyium seeier,
Wher peopis sexive In the UK, offen flasing
paracution, INing in & rew community st
e caunting. W hope that By previding &
B for thim 10 be bis 1o spaai 10 rlstives
and i find out 3bout their ndw local anka,
this will el them 1o settle ko e n the UK,



Financial review

. .. This section provides further key information in respect of the financial - - e

performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer's review.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM)

The Strategic Report includes both statutory and adjusted performance measures, the fatter of which are considered to be useful to stakeholders in
projecting a basis for measuring the underlying performance of the business and exclude items which could distort the understanding of performance
in the year and between periods, and when comparing the financial outputs 10 those of our peers. The APMs have been set considering the requirements
8nd views of the Group’s investars and debt funders among other stakehelders. The APMs and KPls are aligned 1o the Group's strategy and also
form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.

These APMs should not be considered to be a substitute for or superlor to IFRS measures, and the Board has endeavoured to report both statutory
and alternative measures with equal prominence throughout the Strategic Report and linancial statements.

The APMs used by the Group are detalled below with an explanation as to why management considers the APM 10 be useful in helping users to have a
better understanding as to the Group’s underlying performance. A reconciliation is also provided \o map each non-IFRS measure 16 is IFRS equivalent.

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and before other normalisation adjustments which
management believes are infrequent in nature and are considered not to be part of undertying trading. The normalised resulits are further adjusted
1o reflact a 19% corporation tax charge, The Directors believe this alds consistency when comparing to histerical results and provides less incentive
for the Group to particlpsie in schemes where the primary intention Is to reduce the taxcharge,

A reconclliation batween the statutory profit measures and the normatised result for both 2021 and 2020 is detalled below. -

In addition, the Group 8iso provides an APM which reports results before the impaci of lease accounting under [FRS 16. Management has provided
this siternative measure at the request of a number of sharehalders and market analysls to allow those stakeholders to properly assess the resuits of
the Group over-time. In panticular, the Directors use the pre-IFRS 16 measure to generate the Group's headline operating margin;, whilst this generates
a lower operating margin, it reflects how the underlying contracts have been tendered and is also more aligned to cash generation. in addition. the
Group's banking covenants utiise adjusted profit measurements which are reported befare IFRS 16 and stakeholders require better visibllity of the
Group's adjusted profit for that pumpose.

Continuing activitles’ ' 2021 2020

. Note £'000 E000
Profitfloss) before tax Statutory 16333 {i5.218)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles Note 13 7654 9526
Non-undertying ltems See below 1627 2273
Profitfloss before non-undertying items, amortisation of acquired Intangible and tax APM 25614 (3,413)
Remaoval of IFRS 16 profit impact See below 2876 118
Finance costs (non-IFRS 16) Note 5 M8 2,875
Operating profit pre-IFRS-16 before nan-underlying items and emortisation of acquired intangibles - APM - 29638 580
Amortisation of software Intangibles Note 13 2123 221
Depreciation and loss on disposal {noa-IFRS 16)° Note 14 5.884 5,677
ERITDA pre-IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 37644 8,468
IFRS 16 profit impact See below (2.875) (1.ng}
Finance costs (IFRS 16) Note 5 6921 7123
Depreciation and loss on disposal {IFRS 16 - Note 15 43,386 42,242
EBITDA post-IFRS-16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibies APM 85075 568,15
Amortisation of software intangibles Note 13 (2123) 22
Depreciation and loss on disposal (IFRS 167 Note 15 {43,386} (42,243
Deprecdiation and loss on disposal [non-IFRS 16)° Note 14 (5,884} 5,670
Operating profit post IFRS 16 und before non-underlying Hems . APM 33,683 6,888

1. Opersting profit{loss) and EBITDA measures Include shave of profits of associates.
2. ncludes profit on disposal of £27,000 (2020: £268,000).
3. Inciudes lossAprofit) on dispossl of £268,000 [2020: (£3,000)).
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

The profit impact in respect of IFRS 16 is detailed below:

W21 2020

£'000 £000

Charge to Income statement on a post-IFRS 16 basis {50307 49.365)
Charge 1o income statement on a pre-IFRS 16 basis {47430 48.247)
Profit knpact from the adogtion of IFRS 16 2.876) (1118}

Mon underiying itams

Non-underlying tems ame tems which are considered outside normal pperations. They are material to the results of the Group through either thelr
size or nature. These items have been disclosed sepaaiely in the adjusted result above (o provide a better understanding as to the underdying
performance of the Group.,

202 2020

£000 £'00C

Repayment ar waiver of furdough entitlement 1627 -
Impairment of assels in the course of construction - 1500
Restruclure Costs - 7719
1627 2,279

The Directors elected to voluntarily repay to HMRC amounts previousty received of £1.1m and, in addition, to not submit a claim for a further amount of
£0.5m accruing during 2021 under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (furiough’). During the first lockdown, the furlough scheme was essential
In safeguarding the financlal stability of the Group and protecting employment. Howeaver, the Directors believe that the strong recovery of the
business in 2021, augmented by the dispasal of Terraquest, means that (o continue to claim furlough is no longer necessary and is not within the spirit
of the legisiation. A number of Mears' clients looked to the Group to continue to utilise the furtough scheme. and much of that cost reduction passed
to those clients as part of the open book reconcillation, leaving Mears Group PLC to subsidise this voluntary repeymen.

The Directors believe that the repayment of furlough should be disclosed within non-underlying ilems; this voluntary repayment is not a trading item
and by its nature is unique and non-recurring. The size of this tem is considered matedial and the Direciors believe it would distort the readers’
understanding of the financial results of the Group.

All furlough received during 2020 was recognised within the income statement in normal trading, matched against the associsted cost, and no
repaymednt 5 Intended in respact of that earlier period,

In the: priar perlod, the Group incured rastructuring costs of £0.8m, which were disclosed 3s non-underlying and excluded from the adjusted operating
profit 10 the extent they arose from Initiatives which were significant in scope and impact but would not form part of recuring operational activities in the
future. In addition, during that same period, the Group recognised a £1.5m impaiment on an asset In the course of construction being the difference
between the total cost (including an estimate of the casts to complete} and the fair value of the asset. The impairment charge applied against this asset
was considered exceptional given is size and due to it relating to an activity which is not pant of the continuing activities of the Group.

Earnings per share (EPS)
For the purposes of assessing the Group's compllance with its banking covenants, the Group utilises an adjusted measure based on EBITDA before
the impact of IFRS 16 and before non-underlying itams which are termed as "exceptional tems’ within the Group's benk facility agreement.

A reconciliation between the statutory measure for profit floss) for the year attributable lo shareholders before and after adjusiments for both basic
and diluted EPS is:

Diured {continuing
Dituted (continyingl  __ Diuted {dlscontinued) and discontinued)
0N 2020 202t 2020 201 2020
p ] [ ] P B
Earnings per share 150 {10.66) 099 50.87 1249 4021
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 677 862 - - B77 B8.62
Effect of full tax charge adjustment a2y {1.92) 032 9.67 0153 (1.e0)
Effect of non-undertying tems 157 167 -~ 3873 uz {3708)
MNormalised earnings per share 1823 (2.29) 067 246 18.80 o7
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Continuing and

Continuing Discontinued discontinued
2021 2020 2021 2020 0 2020
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Profitfloss) attributable to shareholders 12996 M.781 1322 56,242 1418 44,461
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 7654 8525 - - 7655 9525
Full tax adjustment 1.365) {2425) (361 {10,696) {1.726) (12821
Exceptional costs 1,318 1,846 — {42,823 1318 {40,970
Normalised earnings 20603 {2,535) 761 2723 21,365 188

Net cash/(debt)

The Group excludes the financial impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debl measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been Introduced to align
the net borrowing definition 1o the Group’s banking covenants, which are required to be stated before the impact of IFRS 16, The Group utliises leases
as part of its day-10-day business providing around 10,000 residential properties to vuinerable service users and key workers. A significant proportion
of these leases have break provisions and the Jease terms are sllgned to the Group's cusiomer conlracts to mitigate risk. The Group does not
recognise these lease obligations as traditional debt instruments given the Group's abllity to break these leases and in so doing cancel the
assoclated lease obligation. A reconciliation between the reported net cash/{debt) and the adjusted measure is detalled below:

2021 2020

MNote £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 54.632 96,220

Amortisation of acquired intangibles - (35,353)

Adjusted net cash/{debt) AP 54,632 56,867

Lease llabliities {current) Note 20 {41.600) (42,888)

Lease liabilities {non-current) Note 20 {175,290) (166,183}

Total Satuiory (162.258) (152,204}

Less: lease obligations {IFRS 16} sbave 216,890 209,01

Adjusted net cashidebt) 54,632 56,867
Amortisation of scquisition imtangibles .

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Amortisation charge 7,654 9,525

A charge for amartisation of acquisition intangibles arose in the year of £7.7m (2020: £9.5m). This charge predominantly relates to the MPS acquisition
in 2018, resulting in intangible assets being identified associaia with to the order book and customer relallonships. This MPS Intangible has now been
fulty written off. The Directors estimate that, in the absence of further acquisitions, the amaortisation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.3m per
annum. As detailed above, the Group edjusts for this charge within the Group's alternative profit measure. This amortisation charge Is very material in
size and can vary significantly based upon the Directors’ assessment of useful economic life. The Group’s shareholders and market analysts typically
atid back this item in their analysis and the Group's aitemative performance measure Is aligned to that. Management believes that reporting profit
figures Ihat excludes this tem can help the reader to better understand the underlylng performance of the business, without any distorlion &s 8 result
of this charge.

DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

As detailed within [ast year's Annual Repart, in December 2020, the Group completed a disposal of its entire shara capital in its Planning Sclutions
business (‘Terraguest’} for a headline enterprise value ¢f £72m. The consideration payabie to the Company pursuant to the terms of the Disposal
Agreemem was structured as follows:

- £956.9m payable [n cash at Completion

— The issue by the Buyer to the Company of Consideration Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal value of £3.16m, accruing an interest rate
of 10% per annum payable on redemptian

— The Issue by the Buyer to the Company of £0.06m of Ordinary Shares in the Buyer, representing 6.16% of the entire issued share capital

— A maximum amount of £10m of deferred consideration payable in cash conditionsl upon the Terraquest Group achieving an aggregate
EBITDA of £9.5m in the financial year ended on 31 December 2021. A minimum consideration of £5m was guaranteed.

The Directors are pleased that the Terraquest business, under new ownership, has performed well. The Directors have been notified by the buyer
{Apse Capital) that the acquired business delivered an EBITDA of circa £8.5m In 2021, being the eam-out period. The tegal agreement allows Mears
time to review the basis of this result and a mechanism for resolution If there Is any disagreement. Based on the dreft assessmant of the Terraquest
result for 2022, deferred consideration has been fair valued at £6.5m, being an increase of £1.1m. This additional profit has been recagnised within
discontinued activities. The deferred consideration is payable in Aprll 2022,
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Property, plant and equipment (PP&E] is stated at historical cost of £57.3m (2020; £64.6m) less accumulated depreciation of £36.6m [2020: £41.0m),
giving a net carrying value of £20.7m {2020: £23.6m). Mears historicalfy has a track record of delivering organic growth in the core Housing
aclivities with 8 low requirement for capital expenditure. When the Group secures a new contract, the Group will typicaily open an office In that
locality delivering services to this single client; whilst Mears will typically lease the site office, improvements are often required to ensure that the
property Is set up to deliver the required services, and IT infrastructure and equipment IS also required, and all this spend is typically capitalised.
Leasing properties for rental to tenants is a core business activity for Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds around 10,000 residential property
leases Bnd a further 3500 office property and vehicle leases, Broadly speaking, a lease should be accounted for under IFRS 16 only if Mears has
the right to direct its use, which, through its decision making rights, can sffact the economic benefit dertved from that asset. Around one-half of
the Group's residential ieases meet the criteria for recognition on the batance sheet. Those that do not meet the criteria are typically due tothem
being short term In nature, often driven by the existence of a two-way break clause {8 practical expedient offered under IFRS 16 allows those
leases with a term of less than 12 months to be expensed).

IFNS 16 focuses upan a ‘righl of use dsset’, and 1 complete ne book-keeping, recognises a coresponding lease obligation. The lease obligation

is not entirely consistent with the historical definition of a llabllity; accordingly, the lease obligation is not & typlcal debt instrument as Mears can

terminate a significant proportion of its eases giving 30 days notice, with no more than an insignificant penalty.

Working capital balances include trade receivables, trade payables and inventories; further explanation is provided within the werking capital

management s&ction that follows.

The Group participates in two principal Group pension schemes [2020: two) together with a further 21 {2020; 20) indiMdual defined benefit

schemes wheva the Group has received Admitted Body status in a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

— Penslon assets of £37.7m (2020; £71m) which relate 10 the two Group pension schemes, The significant increase In the surplus is driven by
the increase In the discount rate assumption, which reduces the carrying vasiue of the pension ohligations. Positively, the focus of the pension
trustees is to reach a positien in the medium term where both these schemes become self-suifictent.

- PENsion obigations of £17.0m {2020; £45.7m) which predominantly relste to the Group's LGPS penslon arangements. The significant reduction
in this obligation is driven by Increasing discount rates. Whilst pensions typically have long-term time horizons, the risks carrled by the Group
associated with the LGPS obligations maich the time horizon of the undertying contract which, whilst not removing all risks, does reduce the
period over which a deficit can arlse,

- The exposure (o the Groug In respect of its LGPS obligations is reduced where the Group enjoys back-to-back Indemnities with iis Local
Authority and Housing Assoclation clients. These indemnities are classed as Guaraniee assets, absorbing £13.0m of pension obligations
{2020: £30.7m). Therefore, in maspect of Its LGPS pension schemes, the net exposure Is £4.0m (2020: £15.0m) being the pension obligation
less the Guarantee asset. In addition, a number of LGPS schemes are reporting surpluses amounting to £37.7m {2020: £11.0m) which the
Directors belleve would not be prudent to recognise as assets, bul which do provide additional headroom against future deficit

The penslon disclosure ks spiit on the face of the balance sheet between non-current assets and non-current liablities. In addition, the pension

guarantee assels are reported separataly from their associated liabllities. Where LGPS amangements are reporting surpluses, these are nol

recognised as assets,

Receivables relate to the disposal of Terraquest and comprise deferred consideration of £6.5m end loan notes of £3.5m as detailed within the

discontinued activities section above,

Other payables include provisions relating to the Group’s insurance risks and a small number of onerous contractual praviskons which arise when

the unavoidable cosis of meeling contractual obligatians exceed the remuneration expected to be received.
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

CASH FLOW AND WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has delivered excelent operating cash flows over recent years with strong underlying EBITDA to operating cash conversion.

As highlighied in last year's report, and notwithstanding the strang underlying performance Iin the prior year. the Group did banefit from a number of
Covid-19 related cash inflows which would unwind during 2021; notably the VAT deferral which increased the operating cash flows in 2020 by circa
£16m and which was subsecuently settled and Is reported as an outflow In 2021. Given tha unique circumstances brought by the pandemic, the
Directors believe that taking & combined result for the 2 year period provides stakeholders e better measwe for assessing the underlying cash
performance of the business. The EBITDA to operating cash conversion fos this 2 year pefiod, as detalled belaw, was 118%.

Mears has always foslered » strong 'cash culture’. wheteby the Group's front-line operations understand that invoicing and cash collection afe
intrinsically linkers, and that a works order is not camplele until the monies are banked. This cullure has underpinned strong cash performance over
many years, The reported cash conversion has been enhanced further as the working Capital absorbed within the Group's Development activities.
which have been in run-aff phase far the past 2 years, has started 1o be released. The working caphtal absorbed in the Development activities
reduced 1o around £12m at 31 December 2021{2020: circa £29m), a reduction by circa £7m over the last 2 years.

2021 2020 202142020

€000 £00¢ €000

[Loss)Mproiit before tax 16,333 05,218 L ANS
Net finance costs BOE3 6998 18,066
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 7654 8525 17180
Drepreciation and amortisation 51392 51630 103,022
EBITDA 83448 5593% 139383
Other agjustments ' 0.213) 1608 395
Change in inventories 12944 4787 1773
Change in operating receivables (2.244) 6475 6,231
Change i opetating payables [@2573) 22418 (10155)
Qperating cash flow 60.362 103,223 163,585
EBITDA 10 operating cash corversion 2% 185% nr%

The Group reporied an adjusted net cash posilion at the year end of £54.6m {2020. £56.9m). The small reduction predaminantly reflects the unwind
of the VAT deferral, which cancelled out the free cash flow generated in the period. Whilstitis pleasing to report a stong Cash position within the year
end balance sheet, of much greater significance is the performance over the 365-day period. Pesitively, the sirong year end performance is also
mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year at £0.4m (2020: adjusted net debt £37.3m.

W2 2020

£000 £'000

Average caily adjusted net cashvidebt) 400 {27300
Adjusted net cashiidebt) st 31 December 54,632 56,867

The average month end trade receivable and trade payabie balance split by Housing category reflects stfong working capital management during
the period and is detailed below:

2021 2020
Receivables Payables Nat working capital Recaivables Paysbles  Networking capital

€m £m £m £m £m £m

Maintenance-ied 142.0 (129.5) 125 1385 257 128
Management-led 179 @18 3.8 324 25.5) 69
Development 216 (38) 178 0 6.0} 25.0
1815 (1859 16.5 2019 ns7.2) 447

The core activities of Maintenance and Management have historically absorbed a relatively iow level of warking capital when compared to the size
of the business and the profit generated. This low working capital Intensity remains the case and is reflected In the average month end balances
detalled above. The working capitel abscrbed within Management-led activities benefitled from paymems received on account averaging around
£15.0m over the year; however, even if excluding this temporary benefit, the adjusted measure would refiect strong performance.

The Development portiolic had a strong sell-through in the peried otalling £25.6m of revenyes. The working capital absorbed within the
Development activity has seen a reduction reflecting excelent pragress in uniocking the cash that has been absarbed in this legacy part of the
business. The working capital balance absorbed in Development as st 31 December 2021 was circa £12.0m. Management continues 1o expect 1o
complete the remaining unwing of the working capital absorbed in this area over the course of the next 12 months.
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Banking and financial covenants

The Group has a simple approach to its debt funding arrangements, holding a single revolving credit facility (RCF} which provides a total commitment,
but allows the Group to draw down monles as required, mirroring an overdraft facility. Foliowing the significant reduction in debt levels, the Directors
completed a refinancing, reducing the total commitment to £70m.

The Board Is grateful for the tremendous support that has been provided to the Group by its banking partners; Barclays and HSBC have provided
support to the Group for many years and made additional funds available at a time of extreme uncertainty, as the UK entered the first national
loclidoven. It s pleasing 1o refinonce at lovels which are cansidarably lower, whilst rotaining signifisant headreom. The refinance also saw Citl Bank
enter the banking arengement, and the Mears team looks forward 10 extending this new relationship.

The financlat covenants included within the RCF, which are tested twice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, are detslled below:

Covenant Formulae Covenant ratio
Leverage Consolidated net borrowing divided by Adjusted consolidated EBITDA" 3.00x
Interest cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDA" dwided by Consolidated net finance charges™ 3.50x

*  Adjustad EBITDA on 8 rolling 12-morith basis, pre-IFRS 16, and stated before non-underlying tems and share-based payments,
** Netfinance charges comprise all commission, fees and other finance champes payable in respect of financlal indebledness. This excludes (nomeosts relating
to Group penslon arrangements.

‘The margin applied to draw-downs under the RCF increases Is determined by the Group’s leverage ratio at each quarter end, as detailed below.
This margin is payabie in addition to the Sterling Overnight index Average [SONIA} being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Sterling markets.
Given the strong cash performance In 2021, the Board's expectation would be for the margin 10 stay at the bottom end of the ratchet throughout 2022,

Leverage ratio Margin % p.a.,
Greater than or equal to 2 50x 275
Less than 2.50x 2.50
Less than 2.00x 2325
Less than 1.50x 2.00
Less than 1.00x 175
Andrew Smith

Chief Financial Officer

31march 2022
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Strategic Report

Financial viability review

This viability review Is being completed
followirg a period of almaost 2 years that has
seen the unprecedented event of 8 worldwide
pandemic. The Covid-19 outbreak brought
significant short-term challenges. The Group
adapied quickly 10 deliver services in a secure
and safe environment ta protect both our
employees and service users. Whilst the
Group adapted quickly to find the new ways of
working, the altemative methods of working
reduced productivity and brought inCremental
costs such as PPE. However, the Board 1akes
significant comfort from the fact that during this
period, where the Group was required (o react
t0 an event that was more severe than any
scenario that was previously considered, the
Group delivered services safaly, maintained
high levels of customer satisfaction and
improved employee engagement, whilst from
a financial perspective delivered both a profit
and improved liquidity. Whitst this viability
review looks to the future, the recent
performance of the busingss in the most
challenging of circumstances provides the
Board additional confidence as 1o the
resiience of the Group.

In accordance with circa 2.2 of The UK
Corporate Governance Code 2014, the
Directors are required to assess the viability of
the Group over a S-year period. A period of 5
yeers has been chosen es it reflects the
average contract length, being & blend of an
average contract length of 5 years exciuding
extensian pptions. Whilst the Group holds
contracts which extend beyond this time
horizon, a period of greater than 5 years

was considered too long, given the inherent
uncertainties involved,

The Board considered its key risks. The
principal risks are st out on pages S0 to 54
and are those which are considered to threaten
the Group's future performance, solvency

and liquidity. Risks are identifled as ‘orincipal’
based on the likellhood of occurrence and

the severity of the impact on the Group.

A financial model has been bullt on a contract-
by-cantract basis for the next 12 months and
extended for the following 4 years. The Syear
plan considers cash fiows as well as financial
covenants. The forecast for 2022 Is based
upan revenuas generated from existing
custorner redationships, and 8 business that is
generaling cantract margins that are k line
wihh recent run-rates. The forecast for 2022
assumes 8 modest level of new customer
reverves secured from the current bid pipeline,
but with no furthes growtn anticipsied beyond
this first year,
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The base case model forecasts & result for
2026, being year 5 of the model, with revenues
and profit before tax (PBT) of £741.2m and
£293m respectively, and an average netcash at
the end of that period of £66.6m. The finencial
modet excludes the Group securing work with
new customers beyond the first 12 momhs and
refiects some revenue reduction from existing
clients, where it is expected that there will be no
further opponunity upon expiry of the current
contract. The base case model could be
corsidered tc be conservative.

Sensithvity analysls was undertaken lo stress
testthe resilience of the Group and its business
model to the potential impact of the Group's
principal risks, or a combination of those rlsks.
A downside case was prepared by management
10 Hlustrate the impact of adverse changes in
key varlables of the base case forecast and
projections. The downside case isinliended to
illystrate a reasonable worst-case scenarlo
which could affect solvency of liquidity in
‘severe but plausible’ scengfios,

The Directors have considered five scenarios:

- A prolonged impact of Covid-19 upon
Maintenance-led acthJties

- Significant deteriorstion in Group’s bidding
success on contract re-bids

— A performance fallure on a8 major contract

- Significant deterioration (n working capital
management

— & combination of all of the above scenarios

The following sensitivities have been applied
to each downside case:

SCENARIO 1. COVID-19 IMPACT UPON
MAINTENANCE-LED ACTIVITIES

The Cowvid-19 reasonable worst-case
assumptions assume a fourth UK national
lockdown in the 3-month period betwaen
Octobers and December 2022, with trading
in line with that experienced between April
ang June 2020, bt without the banefit of
the UK Government's Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme or othes simiar messures.
Following this decine, this scanario assumes
that this period is folowed by 8 phased
recovery in teading, as the restrictions are
gragually relaxed. Notably:

Q4-22: A 45% reduction In Maintenanceded
revenue compared to the base case, reflecting
g further UK lockdown of equal severity o that
experienced in G2 2020,

n-23: An 18% reduction in Maintenance
revenue, mirrorng levels reported in Q3 2020,
reflecting customers’ desire (o deliver some
high priarity services but equally to defer any
spending which could in the shortterm be
considered discreionary.

Q2-23: A 5% reduclion in revenue in April
snd May 2023 with a return to the base case
in June 2023.

Koy tinanclial cutput, Scenario 1

= Areduction in revenue, PBT and net cash
in 2022 10 £769.3m {base ¢ase: £823.0m),
E17im base case: £28.0m} and £25.7m
[base case, £27.5m) respectively, The
size of the revenue and profit shortfak
reduces in 2023, reflecting the easing
of trading restrictions,

SCENARIO 2. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN GROUP'S BIDDING
SUCCESS ON CONTRACLT RE-BIDS
This downskde scenario assumas a negative
outcome in respect of Housing maintenznce
contract renewals. Given the average contract
length of circa 5 years, several key contracts
will come up for renewal over tha viability
review period. The Group has a good track
record of securing work on re-bid. However,
for the purposes of this viability review,
managemant has assumed a significant
deteriocation in the Group's pérformance in
this area, possibly following 3 significant event
which has impacted negatively on the Group's
reputation in the sector. The Group has
modelled a downside scenario where it faits
to re-secure any material contracts that come
up for re-bld during the period 2022 to 2025.
The impact upon revenue of this assumption
i5 detalled below:

Annual value  Expiry
Contract £m date
Contract A, £16m 2022
Contract B £12m 2022
Contract C £42m 2023
Conltract O £1im 2023
Contract E £20m 2023
ContractF £24m 2024
Contract G £12m 2024
Coantract H £42m 2024
Total annuai
value In 2025 £779m

Key financial output, Scenaric 2

— Revenue reducing from £823.0m In 2022
1o £555.9m in 20286, together with an
associated reduction in PRT from £28.0m
in 2022 10 £17.3m in 2026.
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SCENARIO 3. PERFORMANCE FAILURE
OF A MAJOR CONTRACT

The Directors have modelied a performance
faflure In 2023 resuliing In higher costs of
delivery with no recovery from the customer.
In order to illustrate a worst-case scenaric, the
Directors have considered a performance
fallure on the Asylum contract, being the
Group's largest single contract, which is
expected to account for around 15% of Group
revenues. This failure is assumed to be driven
by a shortage of residential housing units,
resulting in & significant increase in occupants
being placed In hotel accommuodation for an
extended period. This sensitivity assumes that
this performance fallure begins in April 2023
with 1,000 service users being accommodated
in hotels over a period of 12 months.,

Key financial autput, Scenario 3

- Areductionin PRT in 2023t0£21.4m
(base case of £30.2m]. The net cash
balance at 31 December 2023 slso reflects
this peofit reduction, reducing to £33.2m
(base case £40.2m).

SCENARIO 4. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN WORKING
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This scenario assumes a significant
deteroration in the cash collection
measurements, being an increasein the time
period between the completlon of works and
the receipt of cash from the Group's clients
{which follows a process where works are
valued and invoiced by the Group before being
approved and settled by clients). The Group
has made significant Investmentin its
operational systems which are key to ensuring
that the work delivered is Identified and
Invoiced correctly. The Group has an excellent
track record In menaging the warking capital
absorbed. This scenaric modeked a permanent
deterioration in respect of the maintenance
cantract asset collection perlod, increasing
from 60 te 70 days. Whilst a scenario where the
Group expesiences a permanent deterioration
In working capital is considered particularly
pessimistic, such & scenario is helpful to the
Directors to further stress test the viability
review when taking a combination of
downside scenarios.

Key financial output, Scenario 4

- A reduction in the net cash balance at each
financial year end, reducing to £47.9m in
2026 (base case £66.6m).

SCENARIO 5. A COMBINATION OF ALL SCENARIOS1TO 4.
The Directors modelied the impact from the occurrence of all downside scenarios occurring -
concumently, The key financial outputs from this combination are detalled below:

Scenario 5 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Revenue £m 7693 632.5 5725 555.9 555.9
PBT £m 171 123 15.2 7.3 173
Net cash/{debt) £m 3.5 {2.6) (5.9} (10.0 {14.9)

No mitigating actions were included within any
scenario, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions
available to management include a reduction
in discretionary capital expenditure, dividend
policy and robust warking capital management
around covenant test dates. In addition,
upsides that are svallable to the base case
In¢lude generating an improved margin ata
local cantract level over and above the current
run-rate and securing new contract awards.

In addition to the five scenarios, the Board tested
the sensitivity of the business to increasing the
severity of the assumptions detalled In each case,
to measure the irigger points at which the viability
of the Group, in the absence of further
mitigations, could be impacted.

= Scenario 1indicates thatin the event of
a national lockdown of similar severity to
that experienced In Q2 2020, and in the
absence of any Government rellef such as
the Coronavirus Job Retentlon Scheme,
each rading month reports a profit
reduction of circa £3.5m. Whilst the Group
would continue to retaln strong liquidity,
the Group's interest cover covenant i$
breached in the event that the Group’s
pre-IFRS 16 EBITDA Is negative.

— Scenaric 2 assumes that all revenue is lost
on re-bid and tn isolation this would not
impact on the viability of the business.
Were the Group o see existing contracts
terminated before their time, this could
impact upon covenants and funding leveis,
and could inevitably Impact upon viablity.

— Scenario 3 assumes a contract failure for
a period of 12 months, reduding Group
profits by £1.0m per month over that
period. In the event that a contract failure
of a similar severity extended over a longer
period, the Directors do not believe such
an event would impact upon the viability of
the Group In isalation but could Impact
upon solvency and liquidity to the extent
that this more negative cutcome combined
with other negalive events.

— Scenario 4 shows a change in net cash/
{debt) by circa £18m for a change of
10 days in the contract asset collection
period. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facilities,
it is not considerad plausible that the
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collection pertod could deteriorate to
such an extent as to result in exceeding
the available hanking facilities.

The viabllity review alsc considered the
increasing risk that fines can be levied upon
companies for non-compliance i areas such
as health and safety and data protection.
Fines are discretionary based on the nature,
gravity and cuipability of the company but
fines are applied based upon a percentage
of Group revenue. In a low marg(n business
such as Mears, any single fine could have a
significant and proportionate impact upon
retained profits. Whilst such an event could
be damaging, it would not be expected o
uliimately impact on the iong-term viability
of the Group. Both health and safety and

IT and data feature high on the Group's

sk register, and we continually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that we
minimise our res|dual risk.

The Group's existing debt facilities run to
December 2025, The future viabllity review
extends beyond this date and therefore
assumaes that there will be encugh appetite
from our existing or new funders 1o provide
the required level of funding on simder terms.
The Group reported an averaga dally net cash
balance of £0.5m in 2021. The future viability
review indicates net cash at the pont of
renewal In respect of Scenario 1to 4. Only In
the case of Scenario 5 s @ net debt position
of £5.9m forecast at the point of renewal.

The Direciors recognise that there is naturalty
uncertainty within any forecast and this uncertainty
incresses as the projections cover a 5-year
period. The conclusion atlached ta the viabllity
review was lhat there was a reasanable
expectation that the Group will continuein
operation and would be able to continue to
meet Habillties as they fall due over the S-year
period of business planning.

This Strateglc Report was approved
by the Board on 31 March 2022

D Miles
Chief Executive Officer

david.miles@mearsgroup.co.uk
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Corparate governance

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual Report sets out haw the Company is governed. it provides
biographical and service details about the Board of Directors and discusses the
composition of the Board, how that has been developed and the Board evaluation
process entered into in 2021. It discusses how the Board assures itself as to Company
performance and sets out the key areas which were subject to significant Board
review and discussion in 2021. Finally, it sets out how the Board communicated

with shareholders and key stakeholders.

. hairman’s introduction Page
Introduction to Chaifman's oge 63
corporate governance

Boar of Directors Page 66
Roles and responsibiities Page 68
Board leaf:lgr-shrp. Corporate governance framewark Page 69
Board activities -
Key Board activities in 2020 Page 70
Stakeholder engagement Page 7t
R R ition, d 4] i
Composmon. succession Board composition, development and evaiuation Page 73
and evaluation Repor of the Nominations Commitiee Page 74
Audit, risk and Report of the Audit and Campliance Committees Page 76
’
internal controls
Report of the Remuneration Committes Page 82
Annual Regort on Rerineration Page 90
Remuneration
Report of the Directars Page 98
Statement of Diréctors’ responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

The Board continues to develop its activities and processes so as to provide effective
oversight and valuable input to the sustainable development of the business.

On behalf of the Board, t am pleased to
introduce the corparate govemance report

for 2021, The overall purpose of this report Is

1o brief stakeholders an how the Board
undertakes its responsibilities for the leadership
of the Company ang for the promotion of its
long-term sustainable success. During 2021, the
Board considers that it was compliant with the
principles of good governance set oul in the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the *Code’).

PEQPLE AND CULTURE

Mears has a strong and distinctive corporate
culiure. The Mears 'Red Thread’ underpins
how our workforce undertakes Its daily tasks,
with its emphasis on working hard, being &
role model, taking responsibility and initiative,
and focusing on excellent customer service
- g desire notjust to do each job well but to
make a positive difference to customers and
communities. The wellbeing of our workforce
and our customers, alongside the creatlan

of commercial value for stakeholders and
shareholders, are key Ingredtents to the
Campany's long-term sustamable success.

The prometion of this cultuse is an important
etement of the debates that take place at

each Board meeting and informs the strateglc
decisions which the Board takes. At each
meeting. the Board receives reports on key
workforce developments, monthly health and
safety and compliance statistics and up-to-date
feedback from customers, both complaints

and commendations. In 2021, each meeting
also received data on Covid infactions and
disruption to the business caused by the
pandemic. Twice a yaar, the Board receives

& more detalled report on key trends in the
requiatory and comphiance landscape. Similarly,
the Board recelves anin-depthreport of key
human rescurces develapments twice a year,
including an analysis of the annual Volce of

the colleague staff survey, data as 1o workforce
diversity and developments In staff training and
development schemes, Each Board meeting
also has a discussion faciitated by a report from
the Employee Director on current issues of
importance to lhe workforce. In these different
ways, the Board maintains constant oversight of
the development of the Mears culture.

STRATEGY

During the course of 2021, the Board spent
Significan lime exarmining how Mears should
besl develop once It had completed its exit
from activities which it had decided notto
continue and reduced lts indebtedness to
acceptable levels. This exercise, undertaken
with the help of external advisers, Is discussed
further in my letter at the front of this Annual
Repart. The conclusion was thet Mears should
remaln as a speciafist provider of housing
services, largely to the public sector. Areas for
future growth will be developing homelessness
solutions for our key Local Authority customers,
executing on the very large programme of
Insulation work and other heating related
changes to the UK's soclal housing portfolio
needed to satisfy Government targets for
carbon reduction and selectively developing a
capability t0 provide services 1o private sector
cusiomers on a sustainably profilable basls.

BOARD EVALUATION

During 2021, the Board undertook a rigorous
external evaluation of its performance,
supported by Independent Audit Limited (JAL).
1 am grateful for the objective, candid and
supportive manner in which the IAL team
approached its task, FALS report [dentified
areas of good practice and made a number of
suggestions for improvermnent. This Is discussed
further in the Report of the Nominations
Committee. The Board will fallow up on this
review in 2022.

BOARD DEVELOPMENT

During the course of 2021, the Board
undertook an exercise to Identify and appoint
a new Non-Executive Director. This processis
discussed in more detall in the Report of the
Nominations Committee. The result was the
appointment of Angela Lockwood o the
Board with effect from 1 January 2022,
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ESG

The Board continues 10 take a close interest in
the development of the Company agenda for
improvements In its environmentat performance,
the creation of social value and the promotion
of good governance.

During 2021 and into 2022, the management
team has been working on a detailed plan

to give effect lo the Company’s ambition to
deliver operations which are net zero In carbon
emissions terms by 2030 (see ESG section

on pages 33 to 41).

Qur commitment to social value was reinforced
by the development of the Mears Customer
Scrutiny Board, whose Chairman reports
twice-yearly to the Mears Board about its
aclivities. These imsolve the detailed scrutiny

of selected operational activities thwoughout

the Mears Group with a view to producing
recommendations for change designed to
craate incremental improvements in the quality
of service which Mears delivers to its customers.

We continued {o strengthen our govermnance
over the year, with rigorous planning of Board
agendas to ensure that allimportant aspects

of the business are exsmined al Board level al
least once & year, if not more often. We have
sirengthened the contribution of the Employee
Director at 8card meetings and thereby ensured
that current workforce Issues can be a point of
discussion &t each meeting.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company, primasity through the
management team but also at Chairman

level, malntains a dose dislogue with its major
sharehalders. Each Board meeting receives

a report on Invastor relations tssues, with a
discussion on changes and trends, and there

Is 8 discussion about anything of importance
that has emnerged. it Is important that all Board
members understand the main reasons why
major shareholders are supporiers of the Group
and what their key issues are so 85 10 ensure
that the voice of the owners is also brought into
boardroom discussions and decision making.

AGM

For the first ime in three years, it appears that it
will prove practicable to hold this year's AGM In
person. Accordingly, | look forward 1o meeting in
parson any shareholders who wish to come to
the meeting.

K Murphy
Chairman
I Mearch 2022
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Corporate governance

Board of Directors

Kieran Murphy David J Miles AndrewCM Alan Long Angela Lockwood
Chaiman Chief Executive Officer Smith Executive Director Non-Exgcutive Director
Chiet Financial Officer

Age Age Age Age Age

63 56 49 59 5%

Tenure Tenure Tenure Tenure Tanure

3 years 25 years (15 years on 22 ygars {15 years on 16 years (1 years on 3 months
the Board) the Board] the Board}

Skills and experience
Kieran Is a vary
experienced Non-

Skills and experience
David joined Mears in
May 1996 and, prior to

Sidliy and experience
Andrew Joired Mears in
1999 and, prior to his

Skills and experience
Alan joined Mears in
2005 and, prior to his

Skills and experience
Angela has extensive
experience gained from

Executive Director and his appaintment to the appointmentto the appaintment to the A carear in housing
Charman. He gpent Board in January 2007, Board, was Chied Board in august 2009, spanning nearly 30
much of his executive was Managing Director Financial Officer was Managing Director years. Starting her
career working of the Mears Social covering the Group's of the Group's Care caraar at Sunderland
in finance. At Kleinwort Housing division. subsidiaries. division, having Council, Angela then
Benson, ke bult & Before joining Mears, Andrew qualified es a previously held the worked for Home
rmarket-leading David heild a senlor . Chartered ACCOuntan pasition of Group Sales Housing and
corpovsate finance position with the MITIE in 1994 and worked in and Marketing Director. subsequently joined
advisory business Group. His background professional practice Prior ta |oning Mears, Endesvour Housing
in the building and 15 in electrical prior to jolning Mears. Alian held senior roles Agsociation, firstly as
construction sector ang engineeting. 8t Britannia Bullding Housing Director and
became a member of Saciety. Mars and then Managing Director.
the bank's Investrnent Smith & Nephew. She joined North Star
Bank Management in 20095, holding the
Cammitiee. More position of CEO.
recently, at Gleacher Angely hoids an MBA,
Shackiock, Kieran and i a Fellow of the
exiended his advisory -Chartered institute
work into the business of Housing.
services sector.
Principal external Principal external Principal external Principal external Principal external
appcintments appointments appointments appointments appeintments
Aliaxis 5.A., University None None None CEC of North Star
of London Housing, Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust,
National Houysing
Federation Board,
Institute of Customer
Service
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Claire Gibbard Christopher Loughiin Dame Julia Unwin Jim Clarke Ben Westran
Empluyee Non- Non-Executive Director, independent Non- Independent Non- Company Secretary
Executive Director Senior independent Executive Director Executive Director and
Directar, Remuneration Audit Committea Chair
Caommittee Chair
Age Age Age Age Age
34 69 B5 62 45
Tanure Tenure Tanure Tenure Tenure
1yeat 2 years 6 years 2 years 18 years (7 years as
Company Secretary)

Skills and expearience
Clake joined the Group
in 2018, following the
acquisition of Mitle's
maintenance business.
Prior to this, Claire
worked for a Local
Authority as

well as previously
working at Mears for

7 years in various rales.
Clake Is cumrently
warking as a

Customer Insight
Manager In the Group’s
Marketing team and has
worked across 8 wide
range of branches and
central support.

Skills and experience
Chris is a very
experenced CEQ.

His last executive role,
prior {0 his retirement In
2020, was Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennch Group pic, the
listed company which
owned South West
Water and the waste
business Viridor.

He was previously CEQ
of South West Water
and before that held
roles at Lloyds Register,
British Nuclear Fuels Pic
and Magnox,

Siills and experiance
Julia Is former Chief
Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation
and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing
Trust. She has
significant experignce
in the housing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Hausing
Corporation Board for
10 years and Chair of
the Refugee Councik.
She was appointed
Darne Commander of
the Order of the British
Empire in January 2020
for service to civll
s0Ciety.

Skills and expaerience
JimIs 8 very
axperienced company
Chief Financial Officer.
MHe qualified as a
Chartered Accountantin
1884, He has spent
much of his career in
senky finance roles in
consumer facing
industries, having been
Chief Financial Officer at
David Lioyd Lelsure, JO
Wetherspoon and
Countrywide.

Skills and experlence
Ben is a Chartered
Accoumant and, prios
to his appointment as
company Secretary,
was Group Financial
Contralier and Director
of a number of the
Group's subsidiarles.
Ben joined the Group
In 2004, having
previcusly worked in
professional praciice.

Principal external
appointments
None

Mears Graup PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Principal externa!
appointments
British Water,

Water UK, Retall

Princlpal external
appointments
Yorkshire Water,

York St John University
Smart Data Foundry
{University of Edinburgh)

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
None
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Corporate governance

Roles and responsibilities

Role

Chairman
Kieran Murphy

Senior Independent Director
Chris Loughtin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Jim Clarke

Chris Loughfin

Dame Julia Unwin

Angela Lockwood

Employee Director
Claire Gibbard

Chief Executive Officer
David Miles

Chief Financiai OMicer
Andrew Smith

Executive Director
Alan Long

638

Responsibilities include:

Trered rirt [ (N

Promoting 8 cufture of challenge, debate, apenness, support and mutual respect
Leadership of the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring effactive information flow

and time management

Ersuring that Directors contribute effectively and allocate sufficient ime 1o the Company
todoso

Ensuring that the Board listens to the views of shareholders, the worklarce. customers
ang other stakeholders

Ensuring that the Board both monitors and demonstrates culure, values and behaviours
of the Group

Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of isk and reward in

strategy execution

Ensuring effective Board evaludtion

Leading the annuat performance evaluation of the Chalrman
Providing & sounding board for the Chairman
Avallabie 10 shareholders &5 a channel for them 1o raise Board level sues

Promoting the highest standerds of integrity, probity and cotporate governance
throughaut the Group

Constructively challanging decisions proposed by the Executive Directers
Ensuring stakeholder views are debated and considered

Assisting in developing propasals on strategy

Contributing to the performance gvaiuation of the Chairman

Briefing the Board on declsions inade and key issues fram each Commitiee Chair

Promoting the highest standards of integrity and probity

Assisting In developing proposals on strategy

Assisting the Board to receive full, open and honest insight and views from its
waorkforce on how strategie Inltigtives are being implemented

Helping 1o provide the wider warkforce with a better understanding of how the
Boagrd aperates

Managing the day-to-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives
sat by the Board

Ensuring the Board 1s supplled with sufficient and appropriate information an a timely basis
Leading the business within the scope set by the Board

Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy approved by

the Board

Managing the Group’s aperations to ensure they meet the risk appetite set by the Board

Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Bringing a commerclal and financial perspective to the Board

Leading the finance Tunction and establishing strung cantrof processes

Managing the treasury activities in sccordance with the credit risk appetite set by the Board
Supporting the Chief Executive Officer with investor relations

Leading the development of talent within the finrance function

Supparting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Supporting the Chief Executive Cfficer In managing external communications and
investor relations

Setting the Group social value policles and procedures

Leading the operational leadership and development function of the Group
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Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

Durlng the cowse of the year, there were
11 scheduled and 4 unscheduled Board
meetings, 8 Audit and Risk Commitlee
meetings, 6 Remuneration Commiltee
meetings and 4 Nominations Committee
meetings, with full attendance.

INDEPENDENCE AND

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Board reviews the independence of

its Non-Executive Directors as part of the
annual evaluation process. The Nominations
Committee also considers this as partofits
ongaing review of the Board composition.
The Board considered all Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board operates a policy to Identlfy and
manage situations declared by Directors In
which they or their connected persons have,
or may have, an actual or potential conflict of
interast with the Company. No Director conflict
situation currently exists or existed at any time
during the year.

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accorgance with aur Articles of Association
and to the extent permitted by the laws of
England and Wales, Directors are granted an
Indemnity from the Company In respect of
tiabliiies incurred as a result of their position In
office. However, our indemnlty does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of being
praven of acting dishonesily or fraudulently.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE
GOVERNANCE

The Board Is the principal decisicn making
body of the Company. Certain matters, for
example retating to strateqy, financial structure,
communications and policy spprovals, are
matlters reserved for the Board 10 deckie.
Authority for othar specific matters is formally
delegated by the Board to three Board
Committees — Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations — and to executive managament.

During the course of 2021, following an
Independent appraisal of the effectiveness

of the Board, an exercise was undertaken o
review and update the documents which set
out the role of the Board, the Chairman snd the
CEOvexecutive management and to review the
matters reserved for Board approval. The full
text of these documents can be found on the
Group website.

A summary of the roles of each element
of our corporate governance regime is set

cut opposite.

THE BOARD

The key purpose of the Board is collectively to
lead the Company and to promote its long-term
sustainable success, 50 generating value for
shareholders and other stakeholders, and
contributing 10 wider society. The principal
responsibllity of the Chairman Is to lead the
Board and to ensure its effective operation.

The Board's key functions are:

o)

b}

keadeiship: establishing Company purpose
and values, strategy, financial structure,
adequacy of human and financlal resources,
and workforce policies;

oversight: of corporate practice

and behavlour, financial controls,
Implementation of workforce policies,

risk and management performance,

and succession;

reiationships: understanding views of
shareholders, other stakeholders and the
workiorce, and the means to Influence
those views, and

decision making: to take effective decisions
on those matters reserved to it, ensuring

It has the appropriate mix of skills and
experience and the information, time

and resources to do so.

The matters reserved for decision by the
Board are:

a

b

o

d}
€}

f)

g}

strategy and management: approval

of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes in the scope of activities
and review of performance against plans;
financial structure, capital allocation,
dividend policy and listing;

approval of financial and other major
communications and resolutions for
general meetings;

approval of major contracts;

changes o the composition of the Board
and Its committees and appointment of the
external auditor;

remuneration and other corporate
policies; and

risk appetite and review of strategic risk.

The Board's activities in 2021 are set out on
page 70. The composition of the Board and
the evaluation process undertaken during the
year Is set out on page 73. The Chairman’s
review of 2021 is set out on pages 06 to 08 of
this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee

The key purpose of the Audit Committee is to
assist the Board In its function of oversight of
risk, financial controls and reporting.

The Commitiee:

8}

oversaes the deveiopment of the
Company's strategic risk register and
makes an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company's risk managemaent;
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b) assesses the Company's financlal systems
of control, sccounting pokicies and key
Jucigements, and comphlance with
ragulatory requirements;

c} oversees the work of both the Internal and
external auditors; and

d} reviews the Company's policies on fraud,
bribery, whistleblowing, etc.

A report of the Audit Committee’s activities tn
202115 sei out on pages 76 to Bl.

The Ramuneration Committee

The Commitiee's key function Is to determine
the Remuneration Pallcy for executive
management and oversee the appropriateness
and effectiveness of Group-wide remuneration
poficles. It:

a) determines the remuneration of Executive
Directors and the Chairman;

b} reviews and decides on awards under all
share incentive schemes,

c} reviews the application of pay and pension
policies across the Comparny; and

d) reviews Group-wide human resources
strategy.

The report of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2021 s set out on pages 82 to 97.

The Nominations Committee

The Committee reviews the compasition,
structure and size of the Board and oversees
the process of racruitment to the Board. It also
reviews executive management successiorn
plans. A report on its aclivitles in 2021 s set out
on pages 74 and 75.

The Chief Executive and executive
management generatly

The CEQ has responsibility for the day-to-day
opearations of the Group and authority for all
decisions which are not reserved to the Board
or its Committees. Tha key role of the CEQ is to:

a) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution of
the agreed strategy, that key performance
meirics are in place and that progress
against those metrics 1S measured end
reported 10 the Board;

b} lead, inspire and suppart Company
employees, through developing a high
performing management team and effective
Company-wide communication;

c) lead the Company's relationships with
shareholders, customers, suppliers, other
stakeholders and the wider community: and

d) ensure that adequate processes are in
place to manage risk.

The CEO's reportis set out on pages 10 10 15 of
this Annual Report.
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Carporate governance

Key Board activities

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD IN 2021
The Board met a totat of 15 times In 2021, of
which 11 were planned meetings and four were
shorter ag hoc discussions convened during
the year to discuss particular toplcs. As in
2020, proceedings of the Board were
significantly affected by the Covid pandemic
and it did not prove possible to meet
collectively in person an a reguler basis

until after the summer. All of the meetings
ware attended by all of the Directors.

While ail Board members agree that the quality
of Board discussion is typicalty better when

we meet in parson, the Board has noted that

it has proved petfectly practicable to jake
effective declsions while being required to
work remotely. Accordingly, the Board resclived
at the start of 2022 10 have some meetings.

tegether and some remotely, taking into
account the recommendations of the
external review of Board effectiveness.

The Board agenda |s set by 1he Chairman
with support from the Company Secretary.
Early In 2021, a plan was produced and
approved by the Board which set out the
praposed particular discussion areas for
each meeting. Inevitably, the plan evolved
and changed during the year.

At every planned Board meeting, eachof the
Executive Directors and the Employee Director
pravides a report and/or 8 verbal summary in
relation 1o the activities for which they have
responsibility. in addition, the Board recelves
verbal updates from the cha'is of each of the
three Board commitiees on activity which has

occurred since the last Board meeting. Finally,
the Board receives a verbal report on any sile
visits undertaken by the Chairman or other
Non-Executive Directers since the 1ast Board
meeling. In this way, the Board [ assured that
at gach meeting It is provided with an
up-to-date understanding of strategic and
sector refated developments, operational
Issues and successes, major conract
performance, cusiomer feedback, heaith and
safely performance, financial matters, investor
relations, workforce Issues, successes and
awards, progress on new business wins,
communications, marketing and Influencing,

The table below sets out the other substantive
matters with which the Board deailt during 2021

Strategy and performance Finance and risk People Statutory and govermnance

wa Devetopment of a S-year Group - Review of the strategic == Deep dive reviews of health = Approval of the Company's
strategy and focused risk register, following and safety issues and Annual Report, AGM
discussion on issues and recommendations from interral performance documents and resalufions,
oppaortunities related to the audit and the Audit Commiltee . Review of workforce survey prefiminary and intetim financial
requirement for carbon = Review and approval of the data and trends statements and ad hoc trading
reduction, on cpportunities in Company’s Insurance - Review of the ESG Strategy statemnents
the private rented sector and programme, reflecting [see ESG section on pages - Approval of certaln Group
on future KPl measures Group risk appetite 3310 45) palicles including in redaticn
Deep dives inlo the operations .. Review of a valuation of the — Review ol pay and the Gender 1o going concern snd
of the housing maintenance Group prepared by the Pay report, following discussion viabllity assessmemnt, tax
business, the housing with care Company's advisers and of at Remuneration Commitiee and mogdern slavery
portioho and the asylum stock market perspectives ~— Deep dive on key workforce — Approval of the dividend policy
contracts == Approvsl of 2 debt refinancing policies end issues and of proposed dividend
In-cdepth review of the package — Review of senior managemen payments
IT function and key = Approva! of the annual budget succession following discussion — Review of the independent
related issues for 2022 at Nominations Committee report on Board govermnance
Review of the report of — Appraved the appointment on 8 practice
the Mears Customer new Non-Executive director with . Approval of updated
Scrutiny Board efiect rom 1 January 2022, documents setting out those
Rewview of the proposed: following 8 process run by the matters reserved for the Board,
Scotish business chatter Naminations Commitiee Remuneration Committee terms

of reference and the roles of the
Board, Chairman and CEO

70
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT
WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we delait how
we engage with our key stakeholtders, and
explain how each stakeholder group Impacts
upon our business model and our abllity

to deliver against our strateqic prioritles.

The Board recognises that engagemert

with key stakehofder groups strengthens

aur relationships and is an ongoing part of
the operational managemeit of the Gioup.
This inclugdes employee surveys, assessments
of customer satisfaction and ongoing
conversations with regulators and non-
governmentat organisations. The Board
receives regular updates from sanior
management on insights and feedback fram
stakeholders, which allows the Bosard to
understand and consider the perspactives
of key stakeholders in declsion making.

The table below sets out the different
stakeholders with whom we engage

and how the Board monitors these
Important relationships.

Dascription

Clients

Tenants and
customers

Communities

Colleagues

Suppliers

Shareholders and
debt funders

The Company is committed 10 maintaining good communication with investors,
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How the Board is kept informed

Executlve team has dafly contact
with key clients

Regular discussion of key issues
at each Board meeting

Access to external press and
news flow

Monthly customer performance
statistics, Including satisfactlon,
complainis and compliments
Executive Director attendence
sttena panel meetings
Customer Sc¢rutiny Board

Monthly social value measures
Sociel Value Annual Report

Close manitoring of staff surveys
Monthly People KPis
Employee Director

Engagerment with supply chain

Investor roadshows and

investor briefings

Shareholder feedback

gathered bi-annually

Analyst research notes

Regular diatogue with
shareholders and funding banks
Engagement with supply ¢hain

Read more

Page 28

Page 28

Page 29

Page 29

Page 22

Page 72
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Corporate governance

Stakeholder engagement continued

INVESTOR MEETINGS

Investor meetings are predominantly atiended
by the Group CEC, CFO and Head of Investor
Relations, although ather senior Executives
may attend. There is an active programme of
communication with existing and potential
shareholders, with ‘City Days’ scheduled ona
monthly basks (gutside of closed periads) which
pravides any sharehotder an opportunity for a
meeting with managemens. There is mcreased
dialogue folowing the publication of final and
interim results, which is facllitated through a
series of formal presentations, and management
allocates a full week at those limes 1o ensure
all shareholders can be accommodated.

The Chairman is also avaliable for discussians
with shareholders gs and when they so wish
and & number of such discussions took place
during the year.

The Chair regularty engages with major
sharehaolders (o canvass their views on
govemance and performance againsi
strategy. Committee Chairs will engage
with shareholders where a particular
matter relates 1o their area of responsibility.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Sharcholder particlpation at each AGM is
usually encouraged. Given the restrictions
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, special
measures meant that no sharehclkders were
able 1o attend the 2021 AGM in these unique
circumstances. Full detalls of the 2022 AGM
will be set oul in the Natice of Meeting.

In normal circumstances, all sharehoiders
are invited {o atiend the Company's AGM.
a1 which point they have the opporiunity

to meet the Board and raise questions,
Shareholders who are unable 10 attend are
invited to email questions lh advance to
company.secretery@maarsgroup.co.uk

ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS

The Board maintains regular contact through
the provision of the Annual Report, reguiar
Interim Reparts and regular trading updales,
This Information can be found on the Group’s
website (www.mearsgroup.co.uk).

CORPORATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated investor
section which provides an overview of
Mears, whilst also providing access to historic

Annual Reporis and shareholder presentations.

The Group regularly recelves and responds to
questions raised by small private sharehoiders
through the investor enquiry portal within the
Group's website,

The Group also has regular dislogue with its
banking partners. The Group refinanced its
debt facilities in December 2021, putting in
place a £70m unsecured revolving credit
facility, The Directors werne pleased to extend
the clase relationship with Barclays and H5BC,
which have bath been banking partners to the
Group for over 20 years. The Directors were
also delighted ta include Citl Bank in the new
arrangement and lock forward 1o building on
that partnership in the (uture.

Holding at Holding at

March 2022 Aprik 20021

Shareholders holding over 2% of lasued share capltal %IC % IC
Sharehoider Vaiue Management 10.3% 9.8%
Artemis Investment Management 10.2% 3%
Fidelity Manggement & R ch 2.9% 10.0%
Premier Miton 8.2% -
Majedie Asset Management 78% 8.2%
Heronbridge Investment Management 6.5% 5.0%
Columbia Threadneedie Investiments 53% 51%
LOYS 51% 51%
Huntington Parnners 4.3% 3%
Dimensional Fund Advisors 4.3% 4%
PrimeStone Capital - 123%
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2021 investor relations
programme;

JANUARY
- Sharehoider calls avaliable on request

FEBRUARY

-~ Non-hoider imeestor (virtual) roadshow

— Chaleman’s (virtual) roadshow with top
sharebolders

MARCH
= Pre-close trading update followed by
calls with major sharehalders

APRIL
- Close period

MAY
— Preliminary results for FY2020 released
follawed by full investor (virtual) roadshow

JUNE
~—  AGM and trading update followed by
calls with major shareholders

JuLy
~ Close period

AUGUST
- Interm results for HI FY20 released
followed by full virtual) ivestor roadshow

SEPTEMBER
— ESG consultations with major sharehalders

QCTOBER
- Adhoc non-helder {virtuah
Investor meetings

NOVEMBER
- Trading update followed by calls
with major sharenolders

DECEMBER
= Management {virtual) Q&4 session with
existing and prospective investors
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Board composition, development and evaluation

4. COMPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT
s critical to the success of the Board that

it has the optimat mix of skills, knowledge,
expetience and diversity to produce an
informed debate and a high quality of decision
making. Directers offer themselves for re-
election annusily. The Boserd considers that
each of the Non-Executive Direclors applies
their time and experlenca o as 1o make 8n
effective contribution to the daliberations of
the Board.

a) Indepsndence

In accordance with the Code, the Chaiman
was independeant at the time of his
appointment in Jenuary 2019. The other three
Non-Executive Directors (Julia Unwin, Chrig
Loughtin and Jim Clarke) are all considered 1o
be independent for the purposes of the Code.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Director (by virtue of her
employment in an executive role within the
Group) are not considerad to be Independent.

At the start of 2021, both Roy Irwin and Geraint
Davies served as Directors of the Company
and both were considered to be Independent.
Both stood down from their posktions at the
Annual General Meeting in June.

The Company considers that it has been in
compliance with the Code requirements as
to independence throughout 2021,

b} Tenure

All Direclors are subject 10 annual re-election
by shareholders atthe Annual General
Meeting. The length of service of each
Dlrector as at the end of 2021 s set out

in their biographies on pages 66 and 67.

¢) Skills and experience

The Nominations Commiltee regularty
assesses the skills and experience mix of

the Non-Executive Directors. More information
on this process in 2021 is set out In the Report
of the Nominations Committee.

The Board requires a range of views, skills

and experlence in order to ensure thatit can
effectively challenge management’s ideas and
debvery but also contribute positively 1o
Company strategy and corporate development
move generally. The balance of those skilis
and capabilities is kept under review 1o ensure
that the Board can supply effactive leadesship
and that, In particular, [t has both extensive
commercial private sector experience and

& good understanding of the dynamics and
processes which drive the behaviour of it
dlient base.

Set out belaw is a sell-assessment of the skills
mix of the six Non-Executive Directors:

Skilis and expatience mix of the
Non-Executive Directors

Customer knowledge

Service sector experience

Finance

Human resources

Slrategy

Investor relations

Senior executive leadership

Risk management

Business development

(AP BERINEE RO BT N RN Y

Operations

This assessment underpinned the decision
making behind the recrultment of 8 new
Non-Executive Director in the second half of
202, a process discussed In the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

d} Diversity

As atthe end of 2021, the Board had eight
Directors. two of whom were female. Of the
Non-Executive Directors (Including the
Chairman). three were male and one female.
There are currentty no Directors from an ethnic
minority background. The diversity mix was 2
factor in the approach taken to the racruitment
of a new Non-Executive Director in 2021, which
Is discussed further in the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

To consolidate the Board's focus on diversity
and Inclusion, a seminar was held in spring
2021, coordinated by Jene Farreldl of EW Group,
which examined a number of aspects relevant
to the oversight of a large commercial business
such as Mears.

Mears will work to secure balanced boards to
broaden the range of perspectives and
expertise, and ultimatety benefit the services
and clients we seek to support,

we will follow the principles set out in the FTSE
Women Leaders review, which alms to Increase
opportunities for women at the top of Britain's
largest comparies,

e} Induction

In view of the intended appointment of 8 new
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman and the
Company Secretary reviewed and updated the
Company’s induction programme. This now
provides for a comprehensive serles of
meetings with each of the Directors and senior
managers in the Group, access to the key
Board and Committee papers prepared and
discussed over the last 12 months, plus 8
programme of visits to some of the Group's
key operating locations.
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f) Commitment

The Directors, Executive and Non-Executive,
are required to devole as much time as is
reasonably required 10 discharge their duties
effectively and the Board Is setisfied that the
Directors do so. This i5 illustrated by the fact
that in 2021 all of the Directors were in
attendance at all Board maetings, whether
planned or ad hoc. Simitar levels of attendance
were in evidence at meetings of the Board
sub-committees, each of which are now
attended by all Non-Executive Directors.
Directors wishing to take up additional external
appomtments require the permission of the
Board, acting though the Chairman.

g) Processes

Al Directors have access to the Company
Secretary, who Is responsible for ensuring
compllance with law and regulation and that
Directors are kept abreast of changes in
relevant corporate legislation. Directors,
collectively or Individually, have access though
the Company Secretary to appropriate external
professional advice should that be needed,

The Board operates a policy to identify and
manage situations declared by any Director In
which they or their connecied parties have, or
may have, an actual or potential confiict of
interest with the business of the Company.

No such siwation currently exlsts or existed

in 2021,

In accordance with the Articles of Assochation,
and to the extent permitted by law, Directors
are granted an Indemnity from the Campany in
respect of iiabilittes incurred as a result of thelr
position in office. The indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers In the event of their
behaving fraudulently or dishonestly.

2. EVALUATION

During the course of 2021, an Independent
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board
and its commitiees was underiaken by
Independent Audit Limited. A description of this
process and the outcomes is set out In full In
the Report of the Nominstions Committee.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Meeating sttencdance

C Loughlin

K Murphy

J Unwin

§1818

G Davies

J Clarke

R Irwin

N

K Murphy
Chairman

74

As foreshadowed in last year's report, one of
the main tasks for the Committee in 202t was
the selection of a new Nan-Executive Director,
congequent to the retirements of Geralnt
Davies and Roy Unwin,

To commence this process, the Commitiee
reviewed the mix of skills end experience

at Non-Executtve Director level, taklng

into account Gercaint and Roy's dapariure.

In discussion, the Cammittee concluded that
we recuired an Individual with an excellent
ungderstanding of the dynamics and operations
of the organisations which are the key
constituents of Mears' current customer base.
The ideal condidate wouli demonstrate
efleciive leadership 21 Board level, having
held one or more leading executive positions
Ina Local Authority, operational Governenent
department or Housing Association. The key
requirement would be an ability to bring that
knowledge of Mears’ customer base 10 make
an effeciive contribution to strategic debate,
with a clear understanding of the drivers of
customer behaviour and how that could be
matched with Mears’ desire for growth and
value, It was alsa imporiant that the successful
candidate be aware of and empathetic 10
Mears’ corporate culture.

The Committee was also conscious of the

need 1o continge to broaden the diversity

of backgrounds around the boardroom table
and this was explicitly reflected in the choice of
recrutment consultant made for the assignment
and In the brief given to that adviser.

The Committee interviewed flve candidates for
the role, chosen from a jonger list of possible
appointees, and selected Angela Lockwood.
Angela ts Chief Executive Officer st North Star
Housing, 2 successful medium sized Housing
Association based in Stockton on Tees which
won Investors in People UK 2021 Platinum
Employer ol the Year for smaRer organisations.
Angela has exiensive expefience gained from
8 career in hausing spanning nearly 30 years.
Starting her career at Sunderland Councll,

Angela worked for Home Housing and
subsequently joinec Endeavour Housing
Association, firstty as Houslng DireCtor and
then Managing Director. She jolned North Star
in 2009. Angeta holds an MBA, is & Fellow of
the Chartered Instiiute of Housing, 8 Board
member of the Joseph Rowntree Housing
Trust. 8 member of the National Housing
Federatisn Board and a Vice Presicent of the
Institute of Customer Service, Angela joined
the Mears Board with effect from 1 January
2022 and has begun an extensive induction
programme with a series of meetings and visits
to Group operations,

The ather major task for the Committee In 202
was lo undertake an Independent evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees, In accardance with the Code.

This review was postponed from 2020.

Independent Audit Umited was appointed in
May 202110 undertake such a review. tAL has no
other connection with the Company and thisls
the first time it has evalumed the Mears Board.
1AL underiook a comprehensive review
covering all aspects of Board and Committee
effectiveness. The reviewers atlended Board
and Commitiee meetings in person and virtually
during the summer, reviewed a full cycle of
Board information and held sne-to-one
discussions with all of the Directors, a range of
other senior executives and the external auditor.
IAL reported to the Bodrd in September 2021,
attending an In-person meeting. Alt Directors
had an apportunity to discuss tha findings, ask
the reviewers questions and conslder the
direction of future Board development.

The review concluded that the Board had
undergone consicderable change in the last
twa years, with the Chair having extensively
changed both the compaosition of the
noh-executive team and the planning of
Board agendas. Much had been improved
over that period and there was the potential
for further improvement,
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Strengths of the Board

Areas for Board development

of the business

Key areas for
development
A strunyer fucus on effective

communication with more time
spent together if possible

The review highlighted 8 number of areas for the Board 10 focus on in 2022

Action taken/
to be taken

Holding mare Board meetings In person,
moving Commitiee meetings to different
days, regular Non-Executive group
discusslons before Board meetings

and, over time, more visits by Non-
Executives to operations

Clearer documentation of the rote
of the Board, its committees, the
Chairman and the CEO to facilitate
collective working

ReviewIng and agreeing documents
setling out the respective roles of the
Board, committees, Chalrman and CEO.
These documents can be viewed on
the website

Clearer plan for executive succession
combined with further consideration
of the roles of the most senior
managers below Board level

Substantive discussions held about
executive regrganisation, the recruitment
of 8 new senior commerclal director

and continging discussion on senior
executiva succession

Maintain focus on strategy and
on the use of KPls and risk analysis
and assessment

The Board will review the S-year plan in
spring 2022, examine the Group’s carbon
reduction plan and continue its
discusslon of KPI reporting

Clarification of the role and
contribution of the Employee Director

Ensuring that each Board meeting has
an agendaitem for the Employee Director
to report on her activities and key issues

More work needs 1o be done and the Board inends o undertake an intemal self-evaluation
during 2022,

In addltion to its assessment of the Board, |AL also provided input to the review of the Chalrman
canducted by the Senior tndependent Director,

The terms and congitions of each of the Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at
the AGM and can be made avallable lo shareholders on raquest Lo the Campany Secretary.

. K Murphy
:::“:h: ring '"; Chairman, Nominations Committee
3 31 March 2022

and challenge cnw
range of major topics

The Employss Director
provides a valuable
employes perspactive
and halps reinforce the
workforce volce
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the

Committee in 2020.

Mm . 3

J Clarke

C Loughlin

JUnwin

8/3
22
4/4

G pavies

44

4 Clarke
Audit Committee
Chairman

76

This report sets out how the Committee has
fulfiled its responsibillties during the year and
In retation to financial reporting matiers, the
significant issues that were considered and
how they were addressed.

In my first year as Chalman of the Audit
Committee, ) am plessed to present the
summary of the work of the Commitiee

over the Last 12 months.

As detalled in last year's reporl, the Comminee
appolnted EmsL& Young LLP {EY) as the new
extemal auditor and the first year of the new
audit engagement went well, bul was made
more chakenging by the restrictions placed

on office working through the pandemic,

The Committee is pleased with the progress
of EY In Its secand year, with much of the
learning and knowledge accumulaied in the first
year allowing a more focused audit approach,
with continued Jeverage of dala-snatylics {ools
to detiver an efflcient process.

The Commiltee has reviewed the significant
financial reporting matters and judgements
identified by the managemenit tearn and EY
thiough the audil process, and the approach
to acdrassing these Is detafied on pages 78
and 78 of this report,

The 2021 financial year was relatively
stralghtforward when compared to the previaus
two years, which had encountered a number of
disposals {Domiciiary Care and Terraguest).
steps taken to exit the Development aclivities,
significant new accounting standards (FRS 16
‘Leases’) and the unique challenges
encountered at the start of the pandemic.

By contrast. 2021 was a period of stability and
strengthening, the aneas within the financial
stalements requlring significant estimaes and
judgemant are not new to the management
tesm or any of the Committee membars.

The continuation of the pandemic ensured
that the fight against Covid-19 and the
necessity 1a keap owr people and cusiomers
sale remained one of the primary concerns of
the Compliance Committee throughout 2021.
The ever-changing enviranment meant there
were challenges across our entire range of
operations, moSt natably in asylum support
ang care services, whilst the Group's decisian
to lake a very cautious approach to the
refaxatian of conlrol measures {inked to the
return to ‘business as usual’ meant we were
able to quickly respond to the threat posed
by the Omicron variant.

The ever-increasing importance of data
security is a key strategic consideration for

the Group and In this reqard, the Complignce
Commitlee’s role has recently been widened
1o encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area moving forward into 2022, 10 enhance the
level of Information available 1o the main Board.

In relation to risk management and intemnai
controls, the Board and Audit Committes are
mindful ol the impgrtgnce of cantinuing to
improve both control and output in this area.
The work carried out during 2021 is detailed
within this report. The Co-sourcing between
the internal Mears team and KPMG has
dedvered a high quality oulput and excellent
value, allowing KPMG to bring in specialists on
an ad hoc basis rather than adding full-time
emplayment for what are mainty “task and
finish' projects. The overall lead for our
Internal audit work continues to sit with KPMG.

Gur regular programme of meetings and
discussions, supparted by our interactions

with the Company's management, ang external
and internal auditors, and the quality of Ihe
reports and information provided to us, enable
the Committee members o effectively
discharge their duties and responsibilities.
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HOW THE AUDIT

COMMITTEE OPERATES

The Committee provides independent

review and monitoring of the rlsk management
and control procedures within the Group.

Each Committee member is iIndependent and
has broad commerclat experience. Jim Clarke
is a Chartered Accountani and has significant
recent and relevant financiat experience,

most recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chris Loughiin has held a number of CEQ and
COO rotes within large, quoted entities and
brings broader, more operationally focused
commercial expertise. The final Committee
member, Julia Unwin, has held senior roles
within housing and care sectors which bring
industry specific expertise, whilsi also currently
engaged by the Financia!l Reporting Council.

During the year, the Commitiee held aight
meetings. These meetings were also attended
by the Group Chlef Executive Officer, the
Chief Financlal Officer, and the Group
Chalkrman. The intemal and external auditors
were invited (o ail meetings, The Company
Secretary acts as secretary to the Commitiee.

The Audit Commitiee Chairman meets with
the external audttor and lead internal suditor
regularly throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE COMMITYEE

In addition, the Audit Committee has a

very active sub-committee, belng the
Comptliance Committee. This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives 10
deating with heslth, safety, and environmental
risks. The Compliance Committee is a
sub-committee of the Audit Committee and is
chaired by Jason Burt, the Group Director of
Health, Safety and Compllance, a former
speclalist health and safety lawyer. He has

an extensive and detalled working knowledge
of the issues which can adversely impact the
efficiency of health, safety and compliance
govemance systems and cause &nd drive
regulatory prosecutions and employers’

and public liability claims. The extent to

which the full Integration of health, safaty

and environmental risks Is now embedded

in the governance structwes of the Group is
highfighted by the members of the CompRance
Committee, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Ckector
and intemal Health and Safety iegal adviser.
COthers are calied upon to attend es required.

The Committee’s terms of reference are
avallable on the Company's wabsite and
on request from the Company Secratary.

Main activities of the Committee during the year

internal audit

= Reviewed and monitored progress against
2021 internal audit plan

— Reviewed the quality and effectiveness
of the outsourced arrangement

— Reviewed the interna) audit plan for 2022

Risk management

— Recaived réports from the Chair of the
Compllance Committee

== Reviewed and approved the Group's
risk register

- Reviewed and validated the effecliveness
of the Group’s system of Internal centrols

— Monitored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

- Owversight and manitoring af the Group's
compliance with the Bribery Act

Financial performance

— Reviewed the basis of preparation of the
financial statements as a going concermn
and the long-term viability review

- Reviewed and discussed reports from
the CFO on the financial statements
and considered the significant
accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncerainty

- Considered reports from the external
auditor in respect of the suitability of the
accounting policies and the integrity of
the financial reporting

- Reviewed the 2021 Annual Report
and Accounts and provided a
recommendation to the Board that, as
a whole, they complled with the 2018
Code principle to be falr, balanced,
and understandable, and provide the
information necessary for shareheiders
to assess the Company’s position,
performance, business model
and strategy

External auditor

— Agreed the audit fee for the year
ended 31 December 2021

— Reviewed the proposed audit plan.
for the 2021 statutory audit

-~ Reviewed recommendations arlsing
fram the 2020 statutory audlt
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

We considered the aspects of the finantial statements that required significant accounting judgements or where there Is estimation uncertainty.
These are explained in greater detail within the notes to the financial statements. The Audi Commiltee recelved detailed reports from the CFO
and the external audilor onthese areas and other matters which they belleved should be drawn 1a the atiention of the Comemittee.

The Committee discussed the range of possible treatments both with managemant and with the external auditor, confirming that the judgements
made by management were rabust and supportable. Faor all the significant issues detailled below, it was concluded that the treatment adapted was

the most appropriate.

Significant Issue

Read more a8 to hew this kay issue was
sddressed in the financlal stotements

Lease accounting

IFRS 16 was adopted with effect from | January 2019 and
fhas proved a difficult standard to implement and one which
has required significant changes to the systems and
day-to-day processes.

Under IFRS 16, a lessea will recognise Itsright to use a
leased 8ssel along with a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. On inception of a

new lease, a right of use asset and lease obligation are
measured &t the present value of the future lease payments
discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
The depreciation cost of ihe newly recognised 'right of use
asset’ will be charged to the profit within cost of sales or
administrative casts, whilst the interest cost of the newly
recognised liabitity will be charged to net finance Costs.

On the basis that depreciation Is required to be charged
on g straightiine basis, whilst interestis charged ona
reducing balance basis, this resylts in a higher overall
charge being applied to the Income statement In the early
years of 8 lease, with this Impact reversing over the later
years. The profit impact over the life of & lease is neutral
and IFRS 16 has no impact on pre-tax cash flows.

Lesse accounting Is critical to Mears given the Group hotds
more than 13 500 leases across its postfolio of residentisi
properties, offices, and vehicles. The most significant and
complex cateqory relates 1o the Group's portiolio of
residential properties, which comprises approximately
10.000 leases; whilst the Group endeavours o standardise
the form of leases, operstional demands dictate that many
leases have specific wording to address the specific
operational need and alsa to manage the assoclated
cperationai and financial risks.

The Committee challenged management in respect of the
processes and controls that were in place throughout the
year to ensure the completeness of the right of use asset
and lease obligations. The Commiltee recagnised this to be
8 high risk anea given the high number of new leases being
incepted and the complexities of IFRS 16.

The Committee has reviewed the assumptions and key
judgéments provided by management. including the
additional detail provided, resulting from the extensive
review and reassessment of the process in respect of
lease identification.

The Committee recognises lhat ease accounting is very
significant to Mears ang i a key area lor stakeholders to
fulty understand.

The completeness of the lease obligation is identified as a key
SUCH area and EY has provided fisther detald as 10 how this
matter was addressed durling its audit work on page 105,

Detarmination of the
amoutil of the Group's
retirement benefit
abligations

A1 31 Cecember 2021, the Group reported a net retirement
beneflt surplus of £20.7m, being the difference between the
{air value of the scheme assets less the present value of the
benefits expected o be paid to members of the schemes,
This assessment requires an assumption to be made In
respect of mortality rates and future inflation rates which
wiil resuit In an increase in future benefits received by
members. This also requires an appropriate discount sate
1o calculate the present value of these future obligations foc
the future payments. Where the Group has a contractual
right to recover the cosis of making good any deficit
pension 5¢heme, the fair value of that asset has been
recognised and disclosed.

The Commilitee reviewed the key assumptions proposed by
management, notably assumptions in respect of discourt
rate, RP1, CPl and future salary increases, which are detalled
in note 28 to the consalidated financial statements,

Given the technical nature of this area, the Committee
placed reliance upon the worik of AoN, which is engaged
o support management in setting assurnptions and
consolidating information prepared by the respective
scheme actueries in respect of each of the defined benefit
pensiaon schemes. The accounting for defined beneli
pension schemes i also klentified as a key audit area

and EY provides further detail as to how this matter was
addressed during its audit work on page 106.
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Significant issue

Assessing whether the
Group has the powar
to control in respect of
a benaficial interest in
49% of the shares ina
company, Haydon
Mechanlical and
Electrical LLC

Read more as to how this key issue was addressed
jn the financial statements

Aninvestor, regardless of the nature of its involvement with
an entity, is required 1o determine whether it is a parent by
assessing whether it controls an Investee. An Investor
controls an investee If and only If the investor has power cver
the investae. In assessing wheather it has power, an Investor
considers only substantive rights relating to an investee, For a
right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical
ability to exercise that right.

The Group holds a beneficial interest in 49% of the shares ina
company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC {Haydon
LLC"), registered in the UAE. Whilst the Group took active
steps to dispose of Haydon LLC in 2016, certain completion
conditions associated with the sales transaction have not
been met, and the beneficlal interestin Haydon LLC has as
such been retained by the Group. EY has identified this a5 a
significant control geficiency.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reports a net
Nability position, The carmying value of the Group's investment
in this assoclate has previousty been reduced to £nll, and the
Directors do not believe that the Group has Incurred any legal
of constructive obligations on behalf of this assodiate.

The Committee reviewed and considered the key judgements
by management. In assessing whether the Group has the
practical ablity to have power over the investes, the Directors
have considered several operational, legal and reguistory-
barriers which prevent Mears from exercsing its rights.

These barriers Includied the absence of suiteble Individuals
willing to provide an execulive management service and
restrictions placed upon the trade licence.

The Directors have therefone taken the judgement that Mears
does not have the practical abiiity to direct the activities of
Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criterda for control.

The judgement of the Directors was supported by external
legal advice which confrmed the significant restrictions
preventing the Group fram exercising its rights.

The committee took comfort from the additional work cartied
out by EY, and that they independently reached the same
conclusion 1o that reached by the Executive Directors

and Committee.

Goodwill impalrment

Al 3t December 2021, the Group reported goodwill with

a carrying vatue of £119m. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, management identifled two separately
Identifiable cash flows which are termed as cash-generating
units {CGUs). The two CGUs Identifled are the continuing
Care activities {referred to as ‘Housing with Care’} and the
Group's other Housling actlvities. Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimate of the value In use
of each of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value-in-use calculation Involves an estimate of the
future cash fiows of the CGU using the ciirent one-year
budget, extrapolated far five years to December 2026,
requiring a medlum-term growth assumption and a genevsal
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an approprizte
discount rate to calculate present values. The Committee
took comfort from the fact that there was significant
headroom when reviewing any impairment in the prior year.

The key assumptions, and a discussion of how they are
established, as well as the sensitivity analysis are described
In note 12 to the consolidated financlal statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Contracts with Cusiomers'. IFRS 15 provides a single,
principles-based, five-step mode! 1o be applled to &ll sales
contracts. It is based on the transfer of control of goods and
services to customers. The accounting policy within note 2
to the consolidated financial siatements sets out the
principal types of contracts and how the revenue Is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

Determining future contract profitability requiras estimates

of future revenues, costs to camplete, stage of completion

of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress,
mobilisation costs and contract assets. Each contractis
treated onits merits and subject to a regular review of

the revenue ang costs 1o complete that contract. In making
these assessments, there is & degree of inherent unceriainty.
The Group utiises the approprlate expertise in determining
these estimates and has well-astablished internal contrals

10 assess and review the expected outcome.

The Audit Committee addre@ssed this area of judgement
in the following ways:

— The Committee reviewed the key judgements report
prepared by management, which provided a detailed
explanation in respect of the valuation of unbifled
works and the recognition of revenues.

— The Committee took comfort from the contract
management system which is central In generating
the valuation of works {both biked and unbifled) and
the integrated process that follows to ensure an
sccurate cut-off so that revenue is eppropriatety
matched to cost. EY caried out substantive testing
of the amounts recoverable on contracts, adopting
& blend of risk-based and random sampling
aspproaches to testing, and provided detailed
feedback to the Committee in this area.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary focus of the Complisnce
Comimittee during 2021 was directed towards
the following areas:

- Monitoring and review of the Group’s
policies in relation o health, safety and
environmental {(HSE) matters.

— Review of HSE rigks and risk assessments
on the Group risk register and mitigation
actions and controls related thereto,
including sub-contractor controls and
related procurement.

— Providing an opefational focal point and
raport far KPMG, the Group's independent
internal auditor.

= Considering any other significant HSE
matters, ncluding emerging risks and
unforeseen iisks 45 they arose.

— Providing grester scrutiny on data security
and enhancing the level of information
avalable 10 the main Board.

The conlinuation of the pandemic ensured that
the fight against Cowvid-19 and the necessity to
keep out peopie and customers safe remained
one of the primary concerns of the Compliance
Comemittee throughout 2021. The aver-changing
environment meani there were challenges
across our enlire range of operations, most
natably In asylum suppon and care services,
whilst the Group's decision to take a very
cautious approach to the refaxation of control
measures linked to the returm to ‘business as
usual’ meant we were able to quickly respond to
the threat posed by the Omicron variaat. tn all,
the Group performed exceptionally well during
these chalenging times.

The Asylum Accommodation and Support
Conlract was also s key 2rea of focus as iis
operational challenges were impacted by the
unhprecedented increase in the number of
asylum seekers entering the country,
necessitating further reflance on hotel-based
accommodation. The Compliance Committes
provided support and guidance to the relevant
teams, linked 10 the procurement, mainltenance
and day-to-day running of the same ang
implemented enhanced governance protocols
to ensure compliance with the Group's internal
procedures and wides reguiatory ocbligations.

The Compliance Committee also worked
closely with the team mobilising the Ministry

of Justice CAS2 contracl, 1o ensure robust
govemnance policies and procedures were
embedded into the contract delivery. In this
regard, the Group's kitowledge, expertise, and
experience destved roMm managing the Asylum
Accommodation ang Support Contract was
exceptionally beneficial and was a key element
In the very successful deployment of services
during the latter part of the year.

80

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board Is responsible for estabiishing the
Group's overall risk appetite and ensuring that
the Group has in place an adequate system of
internal controls. However, in Bccordance with
the requirements of the Financial Reporting
Councif's Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financlal and
Business Repaorting, the respansibility of
mordioring and reviewing the integrity and
effectiveness of the Group's overal systems
of internal controls and risk management has
been delegated 1o the Committee.

The Committee also provides the Board with the
assurance that the risk management and internal
controls systems, including strategic, financial,
operationsl, and compiiance controls, ae
sufficiently robust to mitigate the principal and
emerging risks that may impact the Company.

The system of intlernal contro's is destgned o
manage rather than eliminate the risk of fallure
10 achieve business objectives and can only
provide raasonable, but not absolute, assuvance
agalnst malerial misstatement or loss. ltindludes
all controls including financlal, operational and
compllance corirols and risk management
pracedures. These include heatth and safety,
pecple, legal compliance, quality assurance,
Insurance, and security, and reputational,

sadial, ethical, and ervironmental risks.

The Group's principat risk report captures and
assesses the principal risks facing the Group.
This forms part of the Growp's framework for
deterrnining risk and risk appetite. This document
Is updated regulerly and Is consicered at both
Committee and Board level throughout the
year. Further details are included within the
Strategic Report on pages 46 to 54,

The internal audit function camies out work
acmss the Group, providing independent
assurance, advice, and insight 1o help the
organtsation accomplish its objectives by
bringing 8 systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluating and Improving the effectiveness of
risk management, conlrol, and governance
processes. in December 2021, the Audh and
Risk Commitiee agreed the FY21 audit plan 1o
be undertaken by the internal audit team.

The audit plan coverage is based on risk,
strategic prioriies, and consideration of the
strength of the control environment The internal
auwdit funclion prepares audit reports and
recommendations lollowing each audit, and
appropriate measures are then taken 1 ensure
that all recammendations are implemented.
Significant issues. if any, are raised at once.
There were no such issues in 2021,

The Board has reviewed these procedures and
considers them appropriate given the nature
of the Graup’s operations, The Cammitlee is
pleased with the additional support provided
by KPMG.

The Board has adppted a scheme of
delegated authority, with defined financiat
and other autherisation limits and settng
procedures for approving capitel and
investment expendiure. The Board also
approves delailed annual budgets.

It subsequently reviews performance against
fargets sel forth inthese plans and budgets.

Throughout the year, the Group's principal
tisks have been regularly reviewed by
managemeant to provide assurance on the
robustness, integrity, and effectiveness of the
systems in place, induding those that could
threaten 1S business model, operations, future
performance. solvency. and liquidity.

The Board akso seeks to ensure that a sound
systemn of internal controls, based on the
Group's paolicies, standards, and proceduras,
is in ptace in all material assoclate and joint
arrangement entities. Our systems of intemal
controks and risk management are designed
1o identify, mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can only ever
provide reasonable. and not absoiute,
assurance against matersial financial
misstatemen or fraud.

The system of internal controls encompasses
the culture, behaviours, crganisation design,
policies, standards, procedures, and systems
that, taken together, facilitate its effective and
efficient operation. These inlernal controls
are based on the "three ines of defence’
pinciples as detailed on pages 46 and 47

of the Strategic Report.

The Company's risk-based internal audit
programme for 2021 was considered and
approved by the Commitiee in Dacember
2020. This programme was develcped further
during the year to consider the Company’s
principal risks &nd to identify where they
primarily occur In the business; through
discussions with the Commititee and senior
management; by recognising changes within
the Group and the extemal environmenl; and
with consideration o prior audit coverage.

In approving the 2021 audit programme, the
Committee considered the cuoverage of the
principal risks by the proposed audits. [t was
agreed that primary focus for 2021 should be
on the following areas:
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RISK MANAGEMENT

— Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurance review

~ Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS
-~ Core ¢controls spot checks
— Scheme of Delegated Authority

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

«. Managemem of key contracts

- People management and HR processes

— Legal and compliance framework

— Branch spot visits including business
continuity and sub-contraclor management

— IT systems, controls, and sacwity

There has been good sponsorship of internal
audit from the senior management team and it
is pleasing to observe the positive tone at the
top In terms of apenness 10 discussion of
Issues, agreement of action pfans and a
commitment to doing the right thing.

From the core controls work completed to date,
no high priority gaps were identified; however,
In & few areas there is a need 10 ensure that
processes are being followed and for control
activity to be lormally documented and
evidenced. This is also important within the
wider regulatory context where there are
emerging requirements for public Interest
entities to have a documented control
framework and in due course an articulated
Audit & Assurance Policy.

Thera Is a culture across the Group Of active
monitoring by executive and sentfor
management. Cur focus this year was on
management's oversight of branches,
Internal audits were carried out on two key
contracts and & further thrée branch audits
were compleled, and the themes identifled
during those audits will be developed further.

The 2022 programme was considered and
approved by the Committee in December 2021
and performance against this plan will be
reported in next year's Annyal Report.

The Company has in place intemal contro! and
risk management systems In ratation to the
Company's financial reporting process and the
Group's pracess for the preparation of the
consolidated financlal statements which are
produced by the Group finance function, which
is responsible for the review and compilation of
reports and financial results from each of the

operating subsidiarles in accordance with the
Group reporting procedures. The consolidated
financial statements are supported by detalled
working papers. The Audit Committee is
responsible for overseeing and monltoring
these processes, which are desigried to ensure
that the Company complies with relevant
reguiatory reporting and filing requiremants.

As at the end of the period covered by this
report, the Audit Committee, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, evalualed the
effectiveness of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procadures designed
to ensure that information required to be
disclosed In financial reports Is recorded,
processed, summarised, and reported within
specified time periods.

We have conducled an annual review of the
effactiveness of our risk management system
andinternal contral systems in accordance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code. Part of this
review Involves regular review of our financial,
operational and compliance contrals, following
which we report back to the Board on our work
and findings as described above. This allowed
us to provide positive assurance to the Board ta
assistit in making the statements that our risk
management and intemzal control systems are
effective, as required by the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external suditor engagemeant was
re-tendared In 2020, at which point EY was
appolnted, replacing Grant Thornton UK LLP,
which had been appointed since 1986.

The Senior Stalutory Auditor, Paul Mapleston,
is required to rotate afier a maximum of five
years, the year ending December 2024,
being his last possible finandlal year.

The Committee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 In accordance
with the current regulation that requires a
tender every 10 years.

Annually, the Committee reviaws the external
auditor's audit plan and reviews and assesses
information provided by it conflrming its
independence and objectivity within the
context of applicable reguiatory requirements
and professional standards.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

The Committee aiso reviews the auditor's
effectiveness, which involves assessment
of the auditor by the Commiittee and key
Executives; and confimmation that the auditor
meets minimum standards of qualification,
independence, expertise, effectiveness,

and communication. These assessments

are carried out prior lo the Commitiee
recommending to the Board that the external
auditor be proposed for reappointment at
the Company's AGM.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company has adopted a strict policy of
prohibiting the external auditor from Carrying
out non-audlt services, to safeguard audit
objectivity and Independence. The Commitiee
is responsible for epproval of all non-audit
services provided by EY; however, this is In
exceptional circumstances only. Insuch an
exceplional event, the Audit Committee would
approve such work only where the Company
would be disadvantaged by engaging an
alternative provider, for instance where EY
possesses a detailed knowledge of the
structure of the business or an understanding
of the markels within which the Group
operates. No non-audit services were
provided by EY during 2021, '

4 Clarke

Audit and Compliance
Committee Chairman
jimclarke@mearsgroup.co.uk

31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets
out the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Mmina attendance

CLoughlin

JUnwin

J Clarke

Rirwin

K Murphy

SIR|518|8

€ Loughlin
Remuneration
Committee Chairman
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Dear sharehoiders

1 am pleased to present the Direciors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 December 2021,

This report s made up of three parts:

- This Annuyal Statement, where § set out
details of the key decisions of the
Remuneration Commiitee and the business
context within which they were taken.

— An abridged version of the Directar's
Remuneration Policy, which was approved
by sharehokiers in June 2020,

— The Annual Report on Remuneration,
which sets out details of (i} remuneration
eamed Yy Directors and the ink beiween
Comparny performance and pay inthe year
ended 31 December 2021 and (i} how we
intend to implement the Directors'
Remunerstion Policy In 2022,

There will be an advisory shareholder vote on
the Annual Statement and the Annual Repart
on Remuneration at the 2022 AGM.
Sharehalders approved the current Directors’
Remuneration Policy at the 2020 AGM and this
& Intended 10 apply fof a three-year period up
1o the 2023 AGM.

Business context

2021 was a very strong year for the Group.

We entered the year in 3 lockdown which
restricted our activities, but by the half year,

much of the bysiness had returned to amost
normal gperations and contractual condtions.
Activity continued 10 bulld throughout the second
hell of the year and this resulted in higher work
volumes and a more active bidding process.

As mentioned in the Chalrman's letter garfier
in this Annual Report, our resillence in
perfarmance &s down 1o three maln factors.
Our s1aff heve been exemplary during the year,
a continuation from 2020. They have
demonsirated extraordinary dedication and

a dear focus on service and delivering for
our customars, Our strength of custamer
relationships has lkad 10 effective cooparative
working between client and provider. Finally,
our T pletform has been integrat 10 delivering
our high qualkty, responstve service.

This fs reflected In cur financial resulis, with
revenue increasing by 9% to £878m, which Is
very closé lo pré-pandemic revenus in 2019,
Adjusted PET increased to £25.6m and we
ended the year with & net cash balance of
£54 6m. Underlying cash conversion of over
100% in the 1ast two years has, along with
strategic gisposals, rangformed the Group's
financlal position and created the current
position of balance sheet strength which Mears
Is determined to retain into the fulure. In 2021
we reinstated the dividend snd the Board has
proposed a final dividend of 5.50 pence per
share, bringing the tolal dividend for the year
1o 8.0 pencg per share.

For the third successive year.we have secured
our place in the Sunday Times Best Companies
fist of top 25 large companies te work for in the
UK, with cur 2021 score higher 1han the
previous two years. Our staff and therefore aur
employee proposition i very imponant o us
and during the year, followlng feedback from
employees, we have implemented the
fallowing initiatives:

— |Improved holiday and sick pay for front line
apetatives.

— Bulking the workfarce of tomorrow,
through Investing in apprentices,
supporting the Kickstart programme end
creating new entry ievel roles to drive
soclal mobility.

— Introducing flexible henefits and enabling
8 better balance batween home and
office working.

— Providing excellent communication and
support around Covid and maintaining the
highest standards of internal
cammunication mose broadly.

«= Increasing investment in statf, through
bespoke training such as our Emerge
develapment programme, for staff
looking to progress te senior
management positions.

= We remain one ofthe very few Listed
Companles with an Employee Director
on the Main Board,

— Extamally appointed Social and Diversity
Impact Board and pecredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, Including
grewing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gander pay gap. We will publish aur first
‘ethnicity gap’ report by the end of 2022,
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- Providing comprehensive mental heaith
and weilbeing suppaort, especially given
the difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-lo-day basis.

{NCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2021
Annusl bonus

As set out in the business context section
above, the Group continued 1o make gooad
progress against its key strategic objectives,
focusing on core housing activities and
reducing indebtedness.

The 2021 annual bonus was based 40% on
Group profit before tax, 30% on average dally
net debt and 30% on sirategic objectives
relating to customers, employees and the
generation of social value. These targets were
set early in the year and were not adjusted at
any point thereafter. The achievements against
the targets were as follows:

—. Profit befare tax {40%)

The Group dekvered adjusted profit before
tax on all activities of £26.5m, which was
within the target range of £23.1m to £28.1m.
This is assessed an all activities comprising
a PBT of £25.6m on continuing activities,
additional fair value of £1.1m from the sale of
Terraquest, and a sundry loss of €0.2m in
respec! of the discontinued Care activities

Average daily net debt (30%)

The Group reported 3 small daity net cash
balance, meaning the threshald and stretch
target of £64.4m and £43.9m of gverage
daily net debt respectively was achieved

-~ Employee engagement, customer
satisfaction and soclal value
generated (30%)

— Our employee engagement criterion was
measured by reference to inclusion within
The Sunday Times best companies to work
for, which was achleved

— The customer satisfaction criterion was
assessed differently this year as a result
of the pancemic impacting upon our
Interaction with the client. Mears has
adopted alternative methods of working
since the onset of covid-19, with the
primary focus being on ensuring the
safety of our employees, customers, and
service-users. Ultimately, the accident
frequency rate which Includes all messures
with regard our working practices and
provisions of defivering essential services
throughout the pandemic, it is the most
relevant measure of success in 2021
The Group Is delighted to report an
AFR of 0.19 {shead of target of 0.24).

— The soclalvalue generated was In excess of
£3,000 per employee, which was above the
maximum stretch target of £2,794 which
required 20% growth on the prior year

Overzll, the strong performance over the year
resulted in a formulaic bonus outcome of 88%
of the maximum. 67% of the bonus will be pald
In cash, with the balance deferred |n shares for
three years.

The Remuneration Commitiee belleves this
outcome is appropriate and fully reflects the
strong financial and operating performance of the
Group during the year, As a reminder, prior to
2021, the Remuneration Cammittee had applied
significant negative discration on the formuiaic
bonus outcomes for financial years 2018, 2019
and 2020. Such discretion was not deemed
necessary in respect of 2021 performance.

LTIP autcome

There wete no long-term incentive plan (LTIP)
awards capable of vesting for performance
ending in 2021. The first awards to be granted
duiing the year under the LTIP adopied as part
of the Directors' Remuneration Policy approved
at the 2020 AGM were made In June 2021

and these wilt vest in June 2024.

Update en 2020 annual bonus

As set out In last year’s repon, the annuat
bonus for 2020 was scaled back to reflect

a number of factors. The resulting bonus
outcome was 46,6% of salary. In accordance
with the agreed Policy, one third of the bonus
was deferred in shares and the remainder,
which should have been pald in cash shortly
after the 2020 year end, was withheld by the
Company. The Committee determined that this
withheld cash amount wolld be released at an
appropriate time in 2021, taking into account
business recovery and the impaci on our
sharaholders. Following the recovery of the
business, the cash element was relgased to
the Executive Directors In October 2021,

Mears-wide pay review

At & time when unempioyment is low and where
competition for resources labour is high, it has
never been more important for Mears to continue
s commitment to being a great place to work for
our staff. Mears is commitied 1o fine tuning our
employee brand proposition, ernphasising more
clearly the benedits of working for Mears. We will
continue our progressive approach of enhancing
packages to enhance retention.

Glven the significant cost of living increases
pressures being encouniered by our staff,

we were very focussed on directing as

much of the Increase 10 the lowest paid.

The outcome of the 2022 pay review was a
4% increase applied to the first £40,000 of
basic pay for all our employees (except where
certain employees pay is linked to national

or iocal agreements). The weighted average
increase In base salaries across the group
has been calculated as circa 3.4%. indluding the
mangatory requirement to apply Statutory
Living Wage Increases which predominantly
relates to our Housing with Cara activities.

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2022

Base salaties

The Cammitiee has agreed that the Executive
team will have a £1,600 increase, being in line
with the woarkforce, from 1 April 2022 who were
awarded a 4% pay increase, but capped at
£1,600. The Commitiee intends to review base
salary positioning later in the year, with any
proposed increases disclosed in next year's
reporn and applying from 1 April 2023
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Annual bonus 2022

Follawing on from the above, the Committee
has considered both the measures and targets
for 2022. We have decided that all measures
should remain the same for 2022 as was the
case In 2021. Similarly, the Committee has
decided that the same weightings applied to
each performance target will remain the same
as the previcus year, being profit before tax
(40%), average dally net cash/(debt) (30%)},
customer satisfaction (10%), employee
engagement (10%} and the generation of social
value {10%). The specific targets for each of
these measures have also been set to reflect
the achievements in 2021. The aciual tergets
for 2022 end performance outcomes will be
reported in next year’'s report In 2023,

LTIP 2022

The second awards under the LTIP adopted
as part of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
approved at the 2020 AGM will be made in
2022 at a level of 100% of salary to each of
the Executive Directors, The LTIP consists

of two measures, being EPS grawth and total
shareholder retusn {TSR) measured relative to
the FTSE SmallCap {excluding Investment
trusts, financial services and natural resource
campanies). The Committee will consider
return on capital employed (ROCE)
performance |n assessing the cutcome for the
EFS component and the Committee has the
ability to reduce the vesting outcome if
perormance Is inconsistant with the
performance of the business or Individuat
during the threa-year performance peviod.

Pension

Pension contributions for the current Executive
Directors for 2021 will be 15% of salary.

This contribution level will reduce from 15% of
salary to a level allgned with the workforce by
1 January 2023. The contribution level for any
new Executive Cirector hires will be aligned
with the workforce immediately on joining.

Concluslon

The last two years have been challenging for
many businesses. The Group has performed
well in the unforeseen circumstances and has
made strong progress In delivering against its
strategic priorities. The pratection of our staff,
of owr customers, and our shareholders and
other stakeholders, while re-shaping the
business, have been our priorities.

| betieve the Committee has putits mind to the
matter of Executive Pay matters in a sarlous and
thorough way and has been faithful to the Policy
that we consulted with our shareholders onin
preparetion for its adoption this time last year.

1 am happy to receive feedback from the
Company's shareholdess. Please get intouch
with me direct, or via the Company Secretary,
Hen Westran.

C Loughiin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
31 March 2022
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Corporate govermnance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

REMUNERATION FRAMEWODRK — AT A GLANCE
The following section sets out our remyneration framework, a summary of how our Policy was applied in 2021in the context of our business
performance, and from page 95 details of how the Committee intends to implement the Palicy in 2022,

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION

The Commitiee belleves 1t is imporiant that, for Executive Directors and senior management, a significant proportion of the remuneration package
should be performance related. and the performance conditions applying to incentive arrangements shoutd support the delivery of the Company's
strategy. The following table sets out how the annual bonus scheme and LTIP reflect the Group's strategic priorities:

Our strategy
pening Increasing quality Growing and Developing Continue
our client leaderchip impraving our people to innovate
re{ationships: our business peo
How we have measured progress against these objectives
— Exceptional health and safety performance, with the Group being — Continue to urwind the Group's Housing Development activities

awarded its 18th consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and retaining its with a pesitive impact to net debt
place on RoSPA's Order of Merit, — Top 25 Sunday Times ‘Best Companies’

—  improvement in Group operating profit margins

How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan

Annua! bonus (capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)

Adjusted Average V Customer Employea Social value
operating profit daily net deibt satisfaction oengegement 10%)
(40%) {30%) ’ (10%) (10%)

L TIP (capped at 100% of salary with 3-year perfarmance targets)

Totaf sharehoider Eamings per
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TAKING ACCOUNT OF THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

(n Implementing our Policy during the course of 2021 and in planning for its Implementation in 2022, we have been careful to take full account ol the

provisions of the Code and it will continue 1o be a key touchstone for the Commitiee. In summary, with regard to how we have sought to comply with

the six faclars outlined in Provision 40 of the Code, we believe the following are worthy of particular note:

— Clarity — the Policy is well understood by our Directors and has been clearly articulated to sharehoiders and proxy voting agencies.

— Simpllcity — the remuneration structure Is simple and transparent and we have purposefully avoided any complex structures which have the
potential to deliver unintended outcomes.

— Rk - our Policy snd approach lo target setting seek to discourage any Inappropriate risk-taking. A balanced scoracard of financial and
non-financial oblectives applies to the annual bonus scheme and the targets are appropriately siretching. to mitigate the risk of inappropriate
actions being taken. Malus and diaw back provisions apply.

— Predictability — executives' Incentive arrangements are subject te individual participation caps. An indication of the range of values in packages
is provided In the reward scenarko charts on page 88. Deterred bonus and LTIP awards provide alignment with the share price and thei values
will depend on share price at the time of vesting.

= Proportionality -~ there s a clear link between Individual awerds, delivery of strategy and our long-term performance.

— Alignment to culture — pay and polkies cascade down the organisation and are fully aligned to Mears’ culture.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY — A SUMMARY

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting and s intended to apply for a period of
three years including the 2021 financial year. An abridged version of the Policy which sets out the key aspects is set oul below (to Include updated
charts illustrating the spphication of Remuneration Policy in 2021) and the full original Policy can be found In the 2019 Annual Report and on the

Company website,

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE
The tabie below sets out the key elements of the Policy for Executive Blrectors:

Objective and Performance measures
link to strategy Qperation Maximum opportunity and assessment
Base salary Salaries will be eligible for increases during the  The Committee is guided by Not applicable.
The purpose of the base three-year period that the Remuneration Policy  the general Increase for the
salatyis to: operates. The Committee reviews base safaries broader employee population
annually with any change typically effective but may declde 10 award @

— help recruit and retain from t Api. lower increase for Executive

individuals of the Directors of Indeed exceed

necessary calibre to The Committee will retain the discretion to this to recognise, for example,

execute the business Increase an individual's salary where there an increase in the scale, scope

strategy. is a significant difference between current or responsibility of the role
— teflect the individual’s levels and a market competilive rate. and/or to take Into account

experience, role and When determining base salaries and whether  relevant market movements.

contribution within the to increase levels the Commitiee will take the

Group; and following Into consideration:
wa ensure fair reward for

‘doing the job'. — tha performance of the individual Executive

Director,

- the Individual Executive Direclors
experience and responsibilities;

- the impact on fixed costs of any Increase;

- pay and conditions throughout the
Group; and

- the economic environment.

When setting the salary levels for the Executive
Directors, in addition to the factors summarised
above, salary levels paid by companies of a
simitar size and complexity to Mears are taken
Into account.
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Cotparate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objective and link to
strategy

Cperation

Performance measures

pportunity

and t

Pension

To provide a framework o
save for retirament 1hat is
appropriately competitive.

The Carmpany may contribute directly into an
occupationst pensiaon scheme {an Execuiive
Director’s personsl pension) or pay & salary
supplemeny in lieu of penslon. i appropriate,
a salary sacrifice affangement can apply.
Cnly the base salary is pensionable.

The cufrent Executive

Directors receive a contribution

of up ta 15% of satary.

Any naw Executive Director
appointments to the Board
after 1 January 2020 will
receive 8 pension contribution
{in parcentaga of salary terms}
in Bree with the prevailing
contribution for the majority of
the Mears workforce. 2020 wil
recene a pensicn contribution
{in percentage of salary terms}
in fine with the prevaiiing
comrbution for the majarity of
the Mears workforce,

Not applicable.

Arnnual bonus

Ta reward and incentivise the
achlavement of annual largets
linked to the delivery of the
Company's strategic prigrities
for the year.,

86

Bonus measures and targeis ace reviewed
annually and any payout Is determined by the
Committee after the end of the financial year,
based on performance against targets set for
the one-year flnancial period.

Up to 67% of any bonus that becomes payabie
Is paid in cash with the remainder deferred inlo
shares for three years.

Deferred bonus shafe gwards typically vest
Subject to continued employment.

Individuals may be aljle to receive a dividend
equivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at
the time of vesting equal to the value of
dividends which wouki heve accrued during the
vesting period, The dviaend equivalent payment
fnay assume the reinvestment of dividends on a
cumulative basis,

I the event that there was §) 3 material
missistemeni of the Company's rasults; (I 8
miscakculation or an assessment of ary
performance conditions that was based on
incorrect information; (i) misconguct on behal
of an Individual; (V) the occurrence of an
insolvency or agministration event; (v}
reputationat damage; or (vi} serious health and
safety events; malus and/or clawback provisions
may apply for three years from the dale of
payment of any bonus o the grant of any
deferred bonus share award.

Maximum bonus potential is
capped at 100% of salary for
Executive Directors,

Bonus peHlomnance measwes

are set snnudlly snd will be
predominantly based on
chailenging financial targets set

In line with {he Group's strategic
priorities and tallared to each
individual role as appropriste; for
example, largets relating o
adjusted eamings. For a minority of
the bonus, strategic or operational
objectivas may operata.

The Commitiee has the discretion
to vary the performance measures
used from year to year depending
on tha sirategic prigsities a1 the
start of each year. Details of the
pericrmance measures for the
relevant financial year wil be
provided in the Annual Repart on
Remuneration and actuail targets
will e disclosed retrospectively.

For financial \argets, and where
practicabie In respect of operational
or strategic targels, bonus starets 1o
accrue once Whe threghold target Is
med {up t 20% payabie) rising on a
graduied scale 4o 100% for strecch
performance.

The Committee may adjust bonus
gutcomes, based onthe
apelication of the bonus formuta
set gt the start of the relevant year,
i it considers the quanium 10 be
incongistent with the performance
of the Company, business or
individual during the year. For the
avoidance of doutt Lhis can be to
2ero and honuses may not exceed
the maximum levels detailed
above. Any use of such discretion
wauld be detalled in the Annugl
Report on Remuneration.
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Objective and link to Performance measures
strategy Operation Maximum opportunity and assessmant
Benefits The Executive Directors may receive benefits  Benefit values vary year on Not applicable.
To provide beneflts that are including & Company-provided car or an year depending on premiums
valued by the reciplent and are allowance In fiey, life assurance and private and the maximur potentlal
appropriately competitive. medical insurance, Other additional benefits value is the cost of these
may be provided where appropriate. Benefits in  provisions.
kind are not pensiocnable.
Long-term incentive plan The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (ie.  In any financial year, The Committee may set such

Its purpose Is to incentivise
and reward the dellvery of
strategic priorities and
sustained performance over
the longer term.

To provide greater alignment
with shareholders’ interests.

either conditional shares or nil or nominal cost performance shares with a face
options) normally un an annual basis whnich are  value of up to 00% of salary (or
eligible to vest after three years subject to 150% of salary on an exceptional
continued service and the achievement of basls, such as in recruitment
chalenging performance conditions. it Is cases)may be granted to an

anticipated that the first sward under this scheme  Executive Diractor.

for cumrent Directors will be made in 2021.

The actual grant level will take
Into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made in

previous years.

Vested awards are subject to a two-year
post-vesting halding period. In exceptional
circumstances such as due to regulatory or
legal reasons, vested awards may also be
settied In cash.

The actual grant level wil take
into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made in
previcus years.

Dividend equivalent payments may be
made on vested LTIP awards and may
assume the reinvestment of dividends.,
oan a cumulativa basis.

In the event that there was {i} a material
misstatement of the Company's results; (i) a
miscalculation or an assessment of any
performance conditions based on incorrect
information; {ilf) misconduct on behalf of an
individual; (W) the occurrence of an insolvency
or administration event; (v} reputational damage;
or (v} serlous health and safety events, malus
and/or clawback provisions may apply for three
years from an award becoming eligible 10 vest.

performance conditions on
LTIP awards as it considers
appropriate reflecting the
medium-term pricrities of the
Group. The choice of measures
and their weightings will be
determined prior to each grant.

Up to 25% of awards will vest Tor
threshold periarmance with full
vasting taking place for equalling,
or exceeding, the maximum
performance targets. No awards
vesl for performance below
threshold. A graduated vesting
scale operates between threshold
and maximwn performance levels.

The Committee may agjust LTIP
vesting outcomes, based on the
result of testing the performance
candltion, if it considers the
quantum 1o be inconsistent with
the performance of the Company,
business or individual during the
three-year performance peried.
For the avoidance of doubt this
can be 1o zero. Any use of such
discretion would be detslled in the
Annual Repart on Remuneration.

AR-employee share plans
Encourages employees [0 own
shares in order o ncrease
alignment over the longer term.

All employees are ellgible to participate in the
Company's Share incentive Plan (SIP) and share
save plan {Save As You Earn},

Under the SIP, share save plan
and CSOP, the maximum
amount is equal to the HMRC
Emits set from Ume to time,
Under the terms of the share save plan, all

employees can apply {or three or five-year

options to acquire the Company's shares priced

at a discount of up 10 20%.

Under the terms of the SIPF, the Company

can choose to offer free shares, partnership
shares, matching shares (LUp to two far one on
any partnership shares purchased) and/or
dividend shares.

In addition, the Company operates &
discretionary unapproved share plan and
a Company Share Option Plan [CSOP).
No awards to Executive Directors are
proposed under these plans.

Nat applicable.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ILLUSTRATIONS OF ARPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's Remuneration Policy results in a significant proportion of remuneration received by Executive Directors being dependent on
Company performance. The composition and tolal value of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages Jor minimum, on-laget and maxjmum
performance scenarios, along with 8 maximum perfarmance scenario with a share price growth assumption included, are Set out in the graph below.

ASSUMPTIONS:

— Minimum performance includes only fixed pay (base satary for 2022. the value of 2021 benefits as per the single figure of remuneration table and
a 15% salary pension contribution),

— On-target performance includes fixed pay and assumes an annual bonus payout of 50% of maximuem and 25% vesting of 8 100% of salary grant of
LTTP awaids,

— Maximum performance includes fixed pay and assumes full bonus and Y00%LTIP vesting.

e Maximum performance with share price growth as per maximum but with SG% share price growth assumed on LTiF awards.
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CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
The Board as a whoie s responsible for setfing the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, other than the Chair, whose remuneration is
determined by the Committee and recommendext 1o the Board.

The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.

Objective and link to strategy  Operation

Ta provide compensation that
attracts individuals with appropriate
knowledge and experience.

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures
and assessment

Fee levels are reviewed periodically
1aking into account independent
advice and the time commitment
required of Non-Executive Directors.
The fees pald to the Chair and the
fees of the other Non-Executive
Directors aim to be competitive with
other listed companies which the
Committee (in the case of the
Chalrman) and the Board [in respect
of the Non-Executive Directors)
consider to be of equivalent size
and complexity.

Non-Executive Directors receive a
base fee and additional responsibiity
fees for underiaking the role of Senior
independent Director or for
membership and/or chairmanship of
certain Commitiees.

in exceptional drcumstances, if
there is a temporary yet material
increase In the time commitment for
Non-Executiva Directors, the Board
may pay extra fees on a pro-rata
basis 1o recognise the additional
workload involved.

The Chair receives & single fee and
does not recetve any additional fees
for membership endfor chalmmanship
of Commitiees.

Non-Executiva Direciors also
receive reimbursement of
reasonable expenses (and any lax
thereon) Incurred through
undertaking thelr duties and/or
Company business.

Any increase in Non-Executive
Director base fees or additional
responsibliity fees may be above the
level awarded to other employees,
given that they may only be

Non-Executive Direclof fees

are not performance related.

Non-Executive Directors do
not receive any variable
remuneration element.

reviewed periodically and may need .

to reflect any changes to time
commitments or responsibiities.
The Company will pay reasonable
expenses incurred by Non-
Executive Directors.

Current fee levels are set oulin
the Statement of implementation
on page 95,
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of tha Directors' Remunerstion Report cantaing detalls of how the Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy was implemented during
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and how it will be implemented for the following year.

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is set out balow. Figures provided
have been calculated in accordance with the regulations.

Fived

Executive Director Toxahi and blna;’l: Annus Long-term  Variable pay Total
{£'000) Year Salary' benefits Pension® subr-igiat borus*  Incentives sub-tote!  remuneration
O J Miles 202 400 25 &0 485 353 - 353 838
2020 393 26 59 £77 123 - 123 600

200 267 1 40 EL 235 - 235 553

A CMSmith 2020 262 9 39 e 82 - 82 392
2021 218 1 33 . 262 193 - 193 455

Along 2020 2% 5 32 261 67 - 57 328

1 Benefits included a Company-provided car of an allowante in ey, Hfe assurancg and private medical insurance.
2 Executive Directers recelved & cash allawance in Heu of pension.
3 FRuli details of the annual banus outcomes are set oul i Ihe section below.

ADDITIONAL DETAILS IN RESPECT OF SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION TABLE {AUDITED)
The performance measures and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 December 2021 are detaifed belaw.

The annual bonus measwres chosan for 2021 were dependent upon achievernent of a number of targets detailed below; 70% of the annual bonus was
Hinked to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic objectives felating to customer satisfaction, employee engagement and manetary
social value generated, The actudl performance achieved in respect of the annual bonus for 2021 is also summarised below against each target.

Threshold Meximum

%of [ X Threshgid Actual
' "] } target Maximum  pecfarmgncs for  Bonus outcome
Measure [« - sdlary) payable) payable) for 2024 for 2021 2021 1% of salary}
Adjusted Group gperating proft* 40% 20% 00% £231m £28.m £26.5rm 30%
Averppe dally net deb® 30% 20% 100% £64.4m £43.9m £0.5m) 30%
Achigved,
Customer satisfaction™ 0% 20% 00% wa n/a soe below 0%
Employee engagement, Sunday Times, Best
Big Companies score January 2022)™ 0% 20% 100% 659.2 675 6n 8%
Creatlon of social valye 10% 20% 100% £2.840 £2794 £2.800 10%

M Adjusted Graup profil before tax is staled befare the amontisation of scquisition intangibies and non-underlying kems. K IS assessed on alf activities comprising a PBT of
£25.6m on continuing acthvities, additional tair vaiue of £1.1m from the sale of Taragquest durng 2021, and a kess of £0.2m In respect of the discontinued Care activities,

0 Average dally netdebt is derived from 365-cay average bank siatement batance. The outcome for the year was a pasitive cash average daify cash posftion.

fili} The Ci sati s wos d differently this year as 8 result of the pandemic impacting upon our interaction with the client. Mears has adopled
atternative methods of working since the onset of covid-19, with the primary locus being on ensuling the salety of our employees, customers, and sesvice-users.
Utimately, the accident itequency rate which ingludes all measures with regard our working practices and provisions of gelivering essential services throughout the
pandemic, It is the most relevan measyre of suecess in 2021. The Group reparted an AFR of 0.1 {ahead of targes of 0.24).

{ivl The empioyee engagement Measure is sel against the ovemll score awarded to the Growp by the Sunday Times in the Best Companias awards.

v) Sociaivalue is independentty assessed wllising a social value measurement l00( 80 is expressed as an amount generated per employee,

The annual bonus mechanism rasulted in an aggregate banus entittement 8Cross the three Executive Dinectors of £767,000 which i included within
the single 1o1al figure of remuneralion. Two-thirds of this entitlement s pald in cash and one-third of the bonus enlitlement will be deferred in shares
for a perad of three years.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' SINGLE FIGURE
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures Is shown below. Figures provided

have been calculated in accordance with the regulations.

Chairman snd NOon-Executive Salary/ Taxable Fixed pay Annual Long-term Vllil:; Total
Director (£'000) Yeuar fees* benefits Pension sub-total bonus incentives sub-ttal ramuneration
K Murphy 2021 160 — — 160 — - — 160
K Murphy 2020 147 - - 147 - - — 147
J Unwin 2021 63 — - 63 = - — 63
J Unwin 2020 55 - — 55 — - - 55
J Clarka 2020 68 - — 658 — - - 68
J Clarke 2020 52 — - 52 - - - 52
C Loughlin 2021 70 - - 70 — - — 70
C Loughlin 2020 56 - — 56 = - - 56
C Gihbard® 2021 56 - - 56 - - - 56
C Glbbard® 2020 23 - = 23 = - - 23
G Davies' 2021 38 - - 38 - - - 38
G Davies' 2020 69 - - 69 - - - 69
J Burt! 2021 - - - - — - - -
J Burt! 2020 18 - - 18 — - - 18
A Hillerby? 2021 — - - — - - — =
A Hilerby? 2020 1 — — 1 —_ — — 1
R Irwin' 2021 43 - - 43 - - — 43
R lrwin' 2020 78 - - 78 - - — 78
C Gibbard? 2021 56 - = 56 - - - 56
C Glbbard® 2020 23 — - 23 - - - 23

Varigtions betwesn the figures above and the spproved fee rates relote to the part-year impact for changes in the Committee membarship.

1 JBurt stepped down from the Board in March 2020.

A Hilierby stepped down from the Boand in Fabruary 2020.

2
3 Rirwin and G Davies stepped down from the Board in June 2021
4

To reflect the chakenges the business encountersd durkg the Covid-19 lockdown, the Non-Executive Directors elected totake a 20% reduction In fees between

April and Octobr 2020.

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR
The folowing LTIP awards were granted on 10 June 2021:

Face value Number Threshold vesting  Maximum vesting End of
Divector a3 % of salary Fate value' af shares {% of face value} (% of foce value}  perfor perad
D J Miles 100% £402 444 213876 25% 100% 31March 2023
A C M Smith 100% £268,332 142,603 25% 100% 31March 2023
A Lorlg * 100% £210.544 16,675 25% 100% 31March 2023

1 The face vakie of the awards Is based on a share price of £188.2p, belng the 3-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the award,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and AcCounts 2021

o1

JINYNUIADD 31VHOdH0D 140d3Y 21931VHLS

SLNZWILVLS TVIDONVYNId

NOILYWUHOAN] HIATOHIEVYHSE

\Y

A\

h\Y




Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The swards have been granted in the form of nominal cost aptions and will normally became exercisable on 10 June 2024. Awards may become
exerclsable subject to the achievement of relative TSR (50%) and EPS (S0%;) performance conditlons

Description Waighting Calculation Targets
Total shareholder 50% Relative TSR versus the canstiwents of the FTSE SmeftiCap Threshold: Median (25% vests)
return (excluding Investment truss, finandial services sng natural resources Maximum: Upper Quartlle {(100% vests)

companies) measured over 8 three-year performance period.

Earnings 50% Adjusted EPS target redating to the 2023 financial year None of this part  Threshold: 20 pence {25% vests)
per share of the award will vest If 2023 EPS is less than 20 pence; 25% shallvest  Maximum: 25 pence {100% vests)
for EPS of 20 pence, increasing to fuft vesting for 25 pence or higher, The
Committee will consider ROCE performance over the performance
period and may reduce the EPS vesting outcome if the Committee is not
satisfied that the level of EPS vesting Is justified an actount of the
Group's RQCE over the performance period.

in addition, the Committee retains discretion (o reduce the ovarall LTt vesting level if it considers that the underlying business performance of
the Company does nat justify vasting {taking into consideration a range of factors, Including. 5or example, ROCE performance). Ifthe Committee is
nat satisfied that the formulaic vesting outcoma is aligned with underlying Group performance then it may raguce [potentially to zero) the vesting
outcome. Awards granted ta Executive Directors are additlonally subject to 8 two-year nholding period following the vesting date.

Awards granied to Executive Directors are addittonally subject 1o a two-year holding peried following the vesting date.

The following delerred bonys share awards were granted during the year in respect of bonus earned far performance In the 2020 financlal year:

Divector Oate of gram Number of deferred shares granted’ Vesting date

D J Miles 10 June 2021 32,245 10 June 2024
A C M Smith 10 June 2021 21,499 10 June 2024
Alang 10 June 2021 17.580 10 June 2024

1 The face value of the awards is based on a shane price of 188.2p, being the 3-day average share price directly prior to 1he grant of the award.
Awards were granted in the form of nominal Cast options.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS (AUDITED)
Directors’ share interesis as at 31 December 2021 are set out below:

Number of Options Optlons rubject Urvasted Total

beneficially vested but not 10 gerformance d bonus I s held
Oirector owred shares exercised conitions mwards &t year and Sh g guideting met?
DJMiles ) 336,769 - 213,876 32,245 582,890 173% of saiary, guidaling not met
A C M Smith 199,333 — w2603 21499 363,435 155% of salary; guideling not met
AlLong 92,957 - 116,675 17590 1227222 95% of salary, guidelne not met

There were no ¢changes to the holdings set out above from the period 31 December 202110 dale of sign off.
No Noh-Executive Director hofds an interest in shares.
The current Executive Directars each have a sharehalding requirement of 400% of salary. As at 31 December 2021, based an beneficlally owned

shares and deferred banus awards (on a net of tax basis), D J Mites, A C M Smith and A Long had sharehaldings equal 1o 173%, 155% and 95% of their
base salsries (based on a share price of £1.88).
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SHAREHOLDER DILUTION
In accordance with the Investment Associstion’s guideknes, the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of Its issued share capital in a roliing 10 -year
pericd to employees under ail its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can Issue 5% 1o satisfy awards under discretionary or Executive

plans. The Company operates all its share plans within these guldelines.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE (UNAUDITED)
The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Index and the FTSE
All-Share Support Servites Index over the past 10 years. The Company Is a constituent of both indices and these peer groups are considered to
provide relevant comparisons,

The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past 10 years, together with incentive payout/vesting as

compared to the maximum opportunity.

Single figure Long-term incentive vesting (es
of total ramuneration Bonus payout (#s % maximum opportunity)

Year Name {£'000) A maximum opportunity)
2021 D JMiles 838 B88% -
2020 0 JMiles 600 47% -
2019 D JMiles 469 - -
2018 D J Miles 455 - -
2017 D JMiles 443 - -
2016 D J Miles 436 - -
2015 D J Mlles 436 - 20%
2014 D . Miles 412 - 35%
2013 D J Miles 825 - 100%
2012 D J Miles 409 - -
201 D J Miles 384 - -
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Carporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS COMPARED WITH OTHER EMPLOYEES (UNAUDITED)
The table below compares the percentage change in the remuneration of the Directors with that of the wider employee population for the Igst
tWo years.

Remunerstion

Salery/tee Benetits Sonusfincerth

20 2020 20 2020 2021 2020
D J Mites 2.0% 2.0% (4%) - 187% -
A C M Smith 2.0% 20% 7% - 187% Z
Along 20% 20% 27%) - 187% —
K Murphy - - -~ _ - _
G Davies' ’ - - -~ - - -
J Unwin - — ~ - - _
R lrwin' - - -~ - - -
C Loughiin - - ~ _ _ _
JClarke - - - - - -
C Gibbare? 20% 2.0% - - - -
Al employees’ salsries 20% 2.0% - - - —

G Davies, R (rwin stepped down from the Board in June 2021, Percentage change caiculation incfiudes pari-yeer remunaration in 2021,

2 R Irwin stepped dowr: Irom the Board on in June 2021 Pecentage change calcuistion inchudes pan-year remuneralion In 202).

3 Percentage change in Non-Executive Director fees is adjutted i exclude tive voluntary electionint 2020 o take a 20% reduction in fees batween Agril and
October 2020 (o reflect the chafienges faceq by the business rom Covg-19. The percentage change reflects any changa in entilement s compared to the
actual ramungration recelved.

CEQ TO EMPLOYEE PAY RATIO {UNAUDITED}
The table below sets out the ratio between the otal pay of the CEO and the total pay of the employees at the 25th, 50th (median) and 75th
percentiles of the workiorce,

Yaar Mathod 25t percentile Maedian 75th percentile
202 ;] 297 278 221
2020 8 231 211 191

The 25th, 50th and 75th percantlie ranked individuals have beean identtfied using the gender pay gap survey data for 2020, i.e. as allowed for
under method B of the UK reporting requirermems. This was deemad to be the most reasonable and prectical approach to identifying the relevant
individuals for the purposes of this disclosure. The day by reference to which the 25th, SGth and 75th percentiie employees were determined
was 22 March 2022, The CEQ pay figure is the total remuneration figure 35 Set oul In the single figure table on page 90 and equivalent figures
{on & full-time equivatent basis) have been calculated for the refevant 25th, S0th ang 75th percentife emplayees. The Remuneration Committee

i§ camfortable that the resulting calcuiations sre representative of pay levals at the respective quartiles.

The totai pay and benefits figures used 10 calculate the ratios for each of the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile employees are £28 244,
£30.146 and £37,870 respectively. The salary element for each of these figures are £27.616, £29,379 and £35,733 respectively.

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY (UNAUDITED)
The 1able below sats out the relative imporiance of spend on pay In the financial year and previous financlal year compared with other disbursements
from profit.

Disbursemnsnts
Disbursements tram profit in
from profht in previous
financlal yaat financial year
0N 2020 %
Significant distributions £'000 €000 change
Total Directars’ pay 233 1819 18%
Profit distributed by way of dividend® 8.875 —
Qperating profit before non-underying items (Contituing activites) 33,686 6,585 51%

T Profit distributed by woy of dividend includes proposed final dividend of 5.500 per share.
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Following the uncertainty surtounding Covid-19, the Board proposed that no dividend be paid in respect of the 2020 financial year. An intefim
dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid to shareholders and the Directors recommend a final dividend of 5.50p per share.

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Director Date of contract/letter of appointment Notice period by Company or Director
Exacutive

D J Miles June 2008 Twelve months
A CM Smith June 2008 Twelve monihs
Along Aiigust 2008 Twelve months
Chalrman/Non-Executive

K Murphy Janyary 2019 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
J Unwin January 2016 Six months
R lrwin - " February 2017 Six months
J Clarke July 2019 Six months
C Loughlin September 2019 Six months
C Gibbard Seplember 2020 Thsee menths

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE (AUDITED)
There were no payments for loss of office or to past Directors during the year,

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR

Executive Diractors

Base salary

The salary entitlerents for the forthcoming year (which effective from 1 Apri! of each year, and for the foliowing 12-months} are set out below:

2022 202t %
Executive Director £ £ change
D J Miles 404,044 402,444 04%
A C M Smith 269,932 268332 0.6%
Along 221144 219544 0%

The salary increase for 20232 is effective rom 1 April 2022 and matches the general workforce increase of 4% applied on 1 April 2022, but capped at
an increase of £1.600 for any single individual.

Pension

Details of pension contributions for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

Executive Director Pension
D J Miles 15%
A CM Smith 15%
A Long 15%

The current Executive Directors’ pension contribution rates will be reduced to the majority workforce rate of circa 6% of base salary from 1 January
2023. New Qirectgrs appointed to the Board will have a contribution no higher than the workforce rate on jolning.

Annual bonus 2022
The maximum bonus potential witl bve 100% of salary and wili be dependent upon the following performance measives:
— Profit before tax (40%)

— Net detn (30%)
— Strategic objactives (30%) relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engagement (0%} and monetary social value generated (109%)

These strategic objectives, which will be buik around the Group's strategy for customer success and supported by our Independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect ihe Group’s caommitment to senving our clients and customers: {o further developing our social value offer to add
value in the communities we serve; and to secwring high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoter scores and validation by
external accreditation.

in addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpin and, before any bonus becomes payable, the Committee will consider health and
safety performance gver the year angd will have the power to reduce the bonus outcome if standards are below expectations.

Any bonus payable will be delivered in a mix of cash (67%) and deferred share awards (33%) which wik vest after three years from grant.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

LTIP for 2022
The second LTIP awerd under the new plan adopted as pant of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the 2020 AGM will be made in 2022.
ltis intended that awards will be made at 100% of salary lo each of the Executive Directors. The measures and targets will be as follows:

Description reighting  Calculsti -

Total shareholder return 50% Relative TSR targel against the constituants ofthe FTSE  Threshold: Medlan (25% vests)
SmaliCap {excluding investment trusts, financial services  Maximum: Upger Quartiie (100% vests)
and natursl resburces companies) measured over 8

three-year performance pedod.
Earnings per share 50% Adjusted EPS tmget refating to the 2024 financlal yearie.  Threshold: 21 pence [25% vests)
the third year of the three-year performance period. Maximum: 24 pence (100% vesis)

The Commitiee will consider ROCE performance over the
performance period and may reduce the EP§ vesting
outcome if the Committee is not satisfied thai the level of
EFS vesting Is justified on account of the Group’s ROCE
over the performance period.

The Remuneration Commitiea believes the use of TSR and EPS provides an apprapriate balance batween focusing ort share price recovery and
delivering financial returns.

Vesting will be on a pro-rata basis batween the threshold and maximum vesting figures. In addition, the Commiltee retalns discretion 10 reduce the
averall LTIP vesting leve! If it considers that the underying business performance of the Company does not justify vesting (laking into cansideration
a range of Iactors, including, for example, ROCE performance). if the Cammittee I5 not satisfled that the tormulalc vesting outcome is aligned with
undertying Group performance then it may reduce {potentlally to zero) the vesting outcone.

Any shares which vest fram this award will be subject to & two-year post-vesting helding periad.

Non-Executive Dirgctors
The following table sets out the fee rates for the Non-Executive Directors (which effective from 1 Aptil of eath year, and for the following 12-monthsk

%
2022 2024 change

Chairman fee 161,600 150,000 153
Base fee 518G0 30,000 32%
Committee Chaitman fes 15,000 15,000 -~
Committee membership fee 5,000 5,000 -~

The salary Increase for 2022 s effective from 1Apnil 2022 and matches the general workforce increase of 4% applied on 1 Aprll 2022, but capped
at an increase of £1,600 far any single individual.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Commitiee determines the 101a! individual remuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain other senlor empioyees
{and any exit terms) and recommends to 1he Board the framewark ahd broad poticies of the Group in relation 10 Senlor Executive remuneration.

The Commitiee determmines the targets for ail of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers in relstion to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans. The termns of reference of the Commitlee are available on the Comparny’s website.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for developing poficy on Executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration of individual Directors.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for:
— determiiing and agreeing with the Board the broad Remumeration Policy for.
«= the Chalrman, the Executive Cirectors and sentor management; and
- the Executive Directors' remuneretion and other benefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share
optians; and
— Bpproving the service agreements of each Executive Director, including termindtion arrangements.

Nao Director is Involved in determining his/Mer own remuneration.
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During the year the Committee addressed the following main topics:

-— Undertook a comprehensive review of Executive Direclors’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of a revised Rermuneration Palicy
which was put to shareholders for approval at the 2020 AGM.

— Reviewed the pension contributions of the Executive Directors to align the contributions to the workforce level by 1 January 2023,

~ Sought the views of our major shareholders snd the maln voting agencles as part of 8 comprehensive Investor consultation exercise to inform
the design process for the revised Policy which was appraved at the 2021 AGM. :

- Reviewed guidance from lnvestor bodies and institutional shareholders.

.~ Assessed whether our ramuneration framework is appropriately allgned with our culture and values, and molivates our leaders 10 achieve the
Group's sirategic abjectives.

— Reviowed and approved the remune alivn puckages for our current Executive Directors.

— Finalised the annual bonys payments for the 2020 financial year to the Execulive Directors {(which included the exercise of negative discretion
to reduce the formulale autcome from B6% of maximum 1o 46% and the annual bonus ptan for the 2021 financial year.

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Commitiee during the year were Chris Loughlin {Chair), Julia Unwin, Jim Clarke and Kieran Murphy. Roy Irwin siepped down
from the Board and the Committee In June 2021.

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Committes, meetings are also attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee) and the MR Director,
who are consulted on matters discussed by the Committee, uniess those matters relate to their own remuneration. The Committee is authorised 1©
take such internal and extermal advice as it considers appropriete in connection with carrying out its duties, including the appointment of its own
external remuneration advisars. During the year, the Commitiae was assisted in its work by FIT Remungration Consuftants LLP. FIT was appointed

In 2019 following a tender process and has provided advice in 2021 In refation 1o general remunergtion matters and the review of the Remuneration
Policy. Fees paid o FIT in relation to advice 1o the Commitiee In 2021 were £44,398 {excluding VAT). FIT did not provide any other services to the
Company. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntanly operate’s under the Code of Conduct in relaticn to
execulive remuneration consulting in the UK. The Committee |s satisfied thet the advice i received from FIT is objective and independent,

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The table below shows the voting outcome In respect of the remuneration related resoketions at the 2021 AGM.

Rem Votes for % Voies against % Votes withhatd
To approve the Remunersation Policy 70.850,552 T7% 21665.055 23% 1,788,687

The significant vote against the Annual Report on Remuneration at the 2021 AGM was primarlly 8s a result of the dissatisfaction with the performance
of the Company - &t that time — of a smati number of significant shareholders, The Remuneration Committee engaged In exténsive consultation with
shareholders aver the application of the Remuneration Policy during the year and refined the application of that Policy in line with the feedback
received, The Commitiee also engaged with sharehalders ahead of the AGM and endeavoured to explain the context around iis application of the
Policy. Given the renga of views which were expressed by sharehoiders, it was not practicabie to reflect them all in dasigning the terms to apply the
Paiicy. The Commitiee recognises the need to continue 10 engage with sharehalders over the coming year and will do so, in addition to continuling lo
monitor evolving views and market practice,
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Corporate governance

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2021.

98

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are
the provision of a range of putsourced
services to the public and private sectors.
The principal aciivity of the Compariy is 1o
act as a holding company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is required to set out a8 fak
review of the business of the Group during the
reparting perlod, The information that fulfis
this requirement can be found in the Strategic
Report, Chief Executive Officer’s review snd
Financial review. The results of the Group

can be found within the consolidated income
statement. Information required ta be disclosed
In respect of emissions and future developments
Is Included within the Strategic Report.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared In respect of
2020. Following the impact on the business

from the Covid-19 pandamic, the Board took
steps 1o protect its liquidity end Is gretefu!

for the Strong support of the majority of

- shareholders for the actions taken by the

Directors duning this period of uncerlainty.

An imtefim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p
was paid 10 sharehoiders tn October 2021,

The Directors recommend a final divigend of
5.50p per share for paymentin June 2022,
This has not been Included within the
consolidated finantial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2021,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Dalails of the Graup's Corporate govermance
are set out on pages 64 10 97.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We focus on a range of key indicators lo assess
our performance. Our performance indicators
ara both financial and non-financial and ensure
that the Group targets its resources around its
cusiomers, employees, operations and finance.
Collectively they form an Integral part of the
way that we manage the husiness to deliver

our strategic goats. Qur primary performance
Indicators are detalled on pages 26 and 27,

DIRECTORS

The presemt membaership of the Boerd Is set
out with the blographical detail on pages 66
and 67

Roy Irwin and Geraint Davies did not offer
themseives for re-glection at the 2021 AGM
and ceased 1o be Directors in June 2022,

In ine with current practice, ali of the Direclors
will retire and. being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM in June 2022,

Aty person appalnted by the Directors must
retire at the next AGM bul will be eligible for
re-glection at that meeting.

The beneficial interests of the Directors in the
shares of the Company at 31 December 2021
are detailed within the Remuneration Reporl
on page 92.

The process govesning the appointment and
replacement of Direclors is detailed within the
Report of the Nominations Committee.

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

OF ASSOCIATION

The Company's Articles of Association can be
amended only by a special resohtion of the
members, requiring 8 majority of not tess than
75% of such members voting in person or

by proxy.

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2021 AGM held in June 2021 suthoarised:

= the Diractors to allot shares within defined
lirnits. The Companies Acl 2006 requires
directors to seek this authority and,
follawing changes to Financlal Services
Authority {FSA) rutes and Instiiutianal
guideiines, the authority was limited to
one third of the issued share capital, a
total of £363,606 plus an additional one
third of issued share capltal of £369,606
that can only be used for & rights issue of
similar fundralsing;

= the Directors to Issue shares far cashon a
non-pre-emptiva basls, This authority was
limited to 5% of the issued share caplital of
£55.440 and |s required 1o facilitate
technical maners such as dealing with
fractional entitiements or possibly a small
placing; and

- the convening of geners! meetings {other
than an AGM} on 14 days’ natice.
Section 3074 of the Companies Act 2006
pravides that isted companies must hold
genéral meetings (other than annual
general maetings) on 21 days' notice
unless the members of that Company pass
a special resolution agreeing to a shorter
notice period which cannot be any less
than 14 clear days. it is therefore necessary
for the Company to pass this resolution
allowing the Company to continue 1o hold
generai meetings fother than annual
general meetings) on not less than 4
clear days’ notice.
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Further details of these authorisations are
available Inthe notes to the 2021 Notice of
AGM. Sharehoiders are also referred to the
2022 Notice of AGM, which contains similar
provisions in respect of the Company's equity
share capital.

AGM

The 2022 AGM will be held on 17 May 2022.
A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy
will be issued In advance. The ordinary
business to be condudied will include the
reappointment of alf Directors,

* PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Risk is an accepted part of doing business.
The Group’s financlal risk management is
based on sound economic ohjectives and
goad corporate practice. The Soard has overall
responsibility for risk management and internal
controls within the context of achleving the
Group's objectives. Our process for [dentifying
and managing risks is set out in more detail
within the Corparste Govermnance Statemant.
The key risks and mitigating factors are set out
on pages 50 to 54. Detells of finandial risk
management and exposure 1o price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk are given in note 23 to the
financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group is party to significant cantracts.
The Directors do not consider thal any one
of those contracts is essentlal in its own right
to the continuation of the Group’s activities.
As detalled within the Strategic Report an
pages 62 and 63, the Directors completed a
long-term assessment of the Group's financial
viabllity and the loss of a number of key
contracts was modelled as one possible
downside scenario but the Group remained
viable In such an event.

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as a holding
company and as such is non4rading.
Accordingly, no payment policy has been
defined. However, the policy for Group
trading campanies is to set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering into
a transaction and to ensure syppliers are
aware of these terms. Group \rade creditors
during the year amounted to 33 days
(2020: 59 days) of average supplies

far the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group Is financed through both equity
share capliat and debt. Detals of changes to
the Company's share capital are given In note
25 1o the financlal statements. The Company
has a single class of shares — ordinary Tp
shares —with no right to any fixed income and
with each share camylng the right to one vote
at the general meetings of tha Company.

Under the Companny’s Articles of Association,
holders of ordinary shares are entitied (o
participate in any dividends pro-rata to thei
holding. The Board may propose and pay
interim dividends and recommend a final
dividend for approval by the sharehotders at
the AGM. A final dividend may be declarad by
the sharaholdars in & general meeting by
ordinary resolution but such dividend cannot
exceed the amaunt recommended by

the Board.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As al 9 March 2022 the Company has been
notified of, or is awgre of, the shareholders
holding 2% or more of the Issued share capital
of the Company. These shareholders are
detalled on page 72.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabted
persons are always fully considered, bearing in
ming the aplitudes of the applicant concerned.
In the event of members of staff becoming
disabled, every effort is made to ensure that
their employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is arranged. it is
the policy of the Group that the training, career
devetopment andg promotion of disabled
persons should, as far as possible, be identical
to that of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group's carbon emissions data for the
year is provided within the Task Force an
Climate-related Financial Disclosures

on pages 42 1o 44.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AND CONSULTATION

The Group has received recognition under
the ’Investors in People’ award, The Group
continues to involve its staff in the future
development of the business. information is
provided to employees through 8 dally news
emall, 3 quarterly newsletter posted cutto ali
staff, the Group website and the Intranet to
ansure that employees are kept well informed
of the performance and objectives of

the Group.

CREST

CREST is the computerised system for the
setttement of share dealings on the London
Stack Exchange. CREST reduces the amount
of documentation required and also makes

the rading of shares faster and moce secure.
CREST enables shares 10 be held in an electronkc
form instead of the tradltional share certificates.
CREST is voluntary and shareholders can keep
thekr share certificates if they wish, This may be
preferabie for shareholders who do not trade in
shares on a frequent basis.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the financial stetements, there is 8
reasonable expectation that the Group and
Company have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the perlod to atieast
30 June 2023. When making this assessment,
management considers whether the Group will
be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom
above the leval of its borrowing facillties and to
operate within the financial covenants
applicable to those facilities, which will be
measured at 30 June 2022, 31December 2022
and 30 June 2023, At 31 December 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed bormowing
faciiittes, maturing in December 2025; however,
no amount was drawn on the facility.

The principel borrowing facilities are subject 1o
covenants, 8s detalled within the Financiat
review section of the Strateglc Report.

The Strategic Report also detalls the principal
risks and vncertainties and how the Group
manages its risis. The Group has modelled its
cash flow outlook for the period ta 30 June
2023 and the forecasts indicate significant
liquidity headroom will be maintained abowve the
Group's bormowing facilities and thet financial
covensnts will be met throughout the period,
including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022
and 31 December 2022,

The Group has cariled out stress lests against
the base case to determine the performance
levels that would result in 8 breach of covenants
or a reduction of headroom against its
borrowing facilitles to £nil, The Directors have
modelled a number of downside scenarios,
which are covered in more detadl in the Finandal
viability review section on pages 62 and 63.
After making these assessments, the Directors
consider eny scenaric or combination of
scenarlos that could cause the business to be
no longer a going concern to be Implausible,
The Diractors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and its subsidiaries have
adequate resources to conlinue tn operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going
concem bask in preparing the Annual Report
and Accounts.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offers itself for
reappointment as auditor in accordance with
Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006.

By order of the Board

B Waestran

Company Secretary
ben.westran@mearsgroup.couk

31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required to prepare the
financial statements for the Company and the
Group at the end of each financial year in
accordance with all applicable laws and
ragulations. Under comparty law the Dkectors
must ot approve the financisl statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or
loss of the Group and the Company for that
periad. In prepating these financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

~= Select suitable accounting pohicies and
apply them consistently;

- make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable;

- State whether the consolidated financiat
stalemants have been prepared In
accordance with LUiK-adopted imernational
accounting standards (IFRS) and in
conforenity with the Companies Act 2006;

= State for the Company financial statements
whether United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and spplicable law, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disciosure Framewaork’ (FRS 101), have
been followed; and

- prepare the financial statements an the
going concecn basis unless i is
Inappropsiate 10 presuma that the Company
and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that
the Group keeps proper accounting recards
which disciose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and the Company
10 enable hem to enswe that the financial
staternants comply with the Companigs &ct
20006 and, as regards the consolidated financial
staterments, IFRSs. The Directors are also
respansible for the Sysiem of iernal control, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the
Company, and taking reasonable steps to
prevent and detect fraud and other imegularities.
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Under applicable lsw and regulations, the
directors are also responsible for preparning a
stralegic report, direcioss’ report, directors’
remuneration report and corporate gavernance
statenent that comply with that law and those
regulations, The Directors are responsiple for
the mainienance and integrity of the coporate
and financlal information inCluded on the
Company's website,

The Directors confirm that:

- 50 far as each Direclor is dware there is no
relevant audit information of which the
Company's auditor is unaware; and

— the Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors in
order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and 1o establish
that the auditor Is aware of that information.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the Company's
website. Legisiation in the Unlted Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may ditfer from leglslation In
other jurisdlclions.

The Board confinms that to the best of
Its knowdedge;

— the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable setof
accounting standards, glve a true and fair
view of the assets, llabfitles, finandal
pasition and profit or 1oss of the Group and
the undertakings included in the
cansolidation \aken as 3 whale; and

~ the Annual Report includes a fair review of
the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group and
the undertakings included inthe
consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

The Directars are responsible tor preparing the
Annuai Reportin accardance with applicabte
law and regulations. The Board considers the
Annual Report and Accaunts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and that it
provides the Information necessary for
sharehclders to assess the Group's
performance, business mode! and strategy.

On behaff of the Board

ACM Smith
Chief Finan<ial Officer
andrew smith@mearsgroup.co.uk

31 March 2022
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In our opinion:

— Mears Group PLC's group financlal statements and parent company financial statements (the "financial statements”) give & true and fair view
of the state of the group’s and of the pareni company's affakrs as at 3t December 2021 and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International accounting standards;

— the pareni company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

- the financial ststements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group PLC (the ‘parent campany’} and its subsidiaries (ihe "group’} for the year ended 31 December 2021
which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 December 2021

Consolidated staternent of comprehensive Income for the year Statement of changes In equity for the year then ended
then ended

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 Related notes 110 16 to the financlal statements including

a summary of significant agcounting pollcles

Consolidated cash flow statament for the year then ended
Consolidated statement of changes in €quity for the year then ended

Reiated notes 1ta 31to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting polictes

The financlai reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial stalements is applicable Iaw and UK adopted
international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent comparny financial
statements s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” {Unlted Kingdom
Generally Acceplad Accounting Practice),

BASIS FOR QGPINION

We conducted ow audlt in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ISAs (UK and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditar's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our raport. We believe that the audit
evidence we have oblalned is sufficient and appropriste to provide a basis for our opinlon.

INDEPENDENCE

We are Independent of the group and parent in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financlal statements
inthe UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public inlerest entities, and we have fulfilled our cther ethical responsiblliies

In accordance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the ERC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company and we remain independent
of the group and the parent company in ¢onducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the dirgciors’ assessment of the group and parent company's abllity to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting inchuded:

— testing the clerical accuracy of the Mode! used to prepare the group's going concerm assessment,

— 8ssessing the reasonableness of the cashflow forecast by analysing management’s historical forecasting accuracy. We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the group's forecasts by proposing alternatives, reflecting the uncertainties arising from Covid-19 and the recemt
events in Ukraine, and challenging management's position.

— considering whether the group’s forecasts In the going concern assessment were consistent with other forecasts used by the groug in its
accounting estimates, including goodwiliimpairment.

- challenging, based on owr own independent analysis, whether the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead either to
a loss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarlos were plausible. Our assessmentincluded consideration of the impact
and |ikelihood of management's scenarios as follows, Including a combination of them;

- the loss of significent customer contracts
- future Covid-19 resirictions and the liketihood of government support in this respect
= & performance faliure on a major contract
- considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a severe but plausible downside scenario and challenging their faasibility.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

— Considering, Independently, s “revarse stress-test"scenario that would lead to efther a loss of liquidity or a covenant breach and conciuding that
such a scenano would be implausible based on evidence obtained and our understanding of the business. Our reverse stress-test scenario
utiiisad management's scenarios and additionally incorporated that there would be no Government support in the forecast iockdown between
Octaber and December 2022,

— We aiso canfirmed the cash position at 31 December 2021 by agreeing to confirmations received direcily from the bank, as well as availabitity
of debt fadilities and considered their undertying terms, including cavenants, by examination of executed documentation.

Based on the work we have petformed, we have not identified any material unceriainties relating 10 events or conditions that, indivigually of
coflectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and pangnt company's ability o continue a5 8 going concern for & period to 30 June 2023,

In relation ta the group and parent company’s reporting an how they have applied the UK Corporate Govemerice Code, we hava nothing matenal
io agd or draw atiention to in relation to the directors' statement In the financlal statements sbout whather the directors considered It appropriate
to adapt the going cancern basls of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the respansibilities of the direciors with respect to going concem are described In the relevan! seclions of this report.
However, because not ali future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not 8 Quarantee as te the group’s ability to continue
a5 & going concern.

OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scope — We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 3 components and audit procedures on specific
baiances for a further § components,

= The components where we perfarmed full or specific audit procedures accountad for 100% of Profit belore 1ax,
100% of Reverue and 100% of Tolai assets,
Management override via topside adjustments posted to sccruals and provisions through the financial statement close
pracess and consolidation process
Appropriateness of lesse sccounting under IFRS 16
Valwation of the Group and parent’s defined benefit pension abligation and valuation of hand to value scheme assets
Appropciateness of revenue recognition including contract sccounting, ¢ONract assets, and Contedct accruals
Interidled dispasal of Heydon Mechianical & Efectical LLC (Haydaa UAE")
Overall Group materiality of £1.3m which represents 5% of normalised profit before tax from continuing operations.
We used professional judgment to detenmine materality glven the impact of Covid-19 on the group's relevant
materiafty measures.

Key audit matters

Materiality

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GRQUP AUDITS

Taitoring the scope

Cur assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our aliccation of performance materiality determine our sudit scope for each company
within the Group. Taken together, this enables us o form an oplnlen on the consolidated financial statements. We lake into account size, risk profile,
the organisation of the group and efectiveness of graup-wkie controls, changes In the business environment and other factars such as recen
internal sudit results when assessing the level of work to De performed at each company.

I assessing the risk of matenal misstaterment to the Group financial statements, and 10 ensure we had agequate quantitative caverage of significant
accounts in the financisl statements, of the 15 reporting components of the Group, we selected 10 components cavering antitles within the UK ang
\ component based in the Channel isiands, which refresent all the business units within the Group.

Of the 11 Group components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 3 companents (“full scope components’)
whith were selected based an their size ot risk charactedstics. For 8 componens ("spedific scope companants™), we performed auda precedures
on specific accoumts within that component thal we considered hao the potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts inthe financial
statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 100%{2020: 100%) of the Group's profit before tex, 100%
(2020: 99%) of the Group’s Revenue ang 100% (2020: 31%) of the Group's Total assels, For the current vear. the kill scope components
contributed 79% (2020: 56%) of tha Graup's profit before tax, 79% (2020: B8%) of the Group's Revenue and 82% (2020: 87%) of the Group's

Total assets. The specific scope campanent contributed 21% (2020: 49%) of the Group's profit before tax, 20% (2020: 11%) of the Group’s Revenue
and 18% (2020: 4%) of ihe Group's Tolal assets, The audit scope of these components may not have included testing of all significant accounts of
the component but will have contributed 1o the coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group.

Ot the remaining 4 components that together represent less than 1% of the Grougp's profit before tax , none are individually greater than 1% of the

Group's profit belore tax , For these components, we performed other procedures, Including analytical review, testing of consolidation journais
and infercompany ellminations 10 fespond to any petential risks of material missiatement to the Group financial statements.
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The chans below illusirate the coverage obtained from the work parformed by our audit team.

Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope components was at similar levels to the prior year.

2021 2020
Full scope 3 7
Specific scope 8 5
Remaining components 4 8
Total components 5 20

The reduction In components compared to the prior year (which included 1 In full scope, 3 in specific scope and 1in remaining components) reflects
3 entities disposed of in 2020 and 8 rationalisation of components. The changes in the current year reflact 3 full scope entities in 2020 moving o
specific scope In 2021, and 3 remaining components in 2020 moving to speciic scope In 2021, This ensured that in assessing the risk of material
misstatement we had adequate quantitative coverage of significant accounts In the Group Finandal Staterments.

Invoivement with component teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audi team.

CLIMATE CHANGE

There has been increasing interest from stakeholders a3 to how climate change will Impact Mears Group Pic. The Group has determined that the
mast significant future impacts from dimate change on its operations will be from the need to move to an electric vehicle fieet for repairs and
malnteniance work, and the need for “retrofitling” of social housing to be compliant with climate-related measures (eg replacement of gas boilers).
These are explained on pages 42-44 in the required Task Force for Climate refated Financial Disclosures and on page 49 in the risk management
section, which foem part of the "Other information,” rather than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these disclosures therefore
consisted solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financie! statements or our knowledge obtained in the course

of the audlt or atherwise appear to be materialiy misstated.

As axplained in the Basls of Preparation note on page 117 of the accounts, govesnmental end societal responses to climate change risks are still
developing, and are Interdependent upon each other, and consequently financis! statements cannot capture all possible future cutcomes as these
are not yet known. Our audil effort In considering dimate change was focused on ensuring that the effects of any material climate risks disclosed on
poages 42 and 43 have been appropriately reflected in asset values where values are determined through modeliing future cash flows and in the
timing and nature of iabilities recognised. The Dyectors have assessed that there were no material Impacts of climate change in determining asset
end liability valuations and the timing of future cash flows to be incorporated into these accounts. We also chaillenged the Directors’ considerations
of climate change in their assessmeant of going concern and viabllily and assoclated disclosures.

Whilst the Group has stated its commitment to the aspiratiorss of the Parls Agreement to achleve net zero emissions by 2050, the Group is currently
unable 10 determine the full future economie impact on their business model, operational plans and customers to achieve this and therefare as set
cut abiove the potential impacts are not fully Incorporated In these financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key sudit matters are those matters that, In cur professional judgment, were of most significance In our audit of the financlal statements of

the current period and include the most significant agsessed risks of matesial misslatement (whether or not due 1o fraud) that we identified.
Thesa matiers included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed In the context of our audit of the financlal statements as & whole, andin
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinlon on these matters.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Key obssrvaions communtcated
Risk Our responge to the risk to the Audit Committee
Managsment override vis topsida We performed audit procedures over this risk area centrally, covering both ‘We conclute that based on the sudit
adjustments posted ta accruals and full and specific scope components. procedures performed. manual
provisions through the FS close journal entries, top-side consolidation
P nd lidution process We walked through the {inancia! statement close and consclidation adjustments, judgemental provisions
processes to assess the design and implementation of key controls. and accruéls are appropriate.

Refer to the Accounting poilictes in
Note 1 of the Consolidated Finonciol
Statements [page 117)

Thete Is & level of complexity within
the busk which nec high
volumes of manual joyrnal entries,
and top-side adjustmants in preparing
the consalidated financial statements.
This increases the risk that
management will post an erronecus
journal that will materially affect the
financial statements.

There are also a number of provisions.
and accruals atyear end that are
based on management estimation.

We independenlly verified the results and balances ofthe consalidated
entities by agreeing the resuils and balances included kh the consolidaton
direcily to the sudited results and balances for all full snd specific scope
components.

We obtained an understanding of all matersial year-end financial statament
close and consolidation journal gniries postad and specifically tested a
sample of the journals to supposting evidence.

We have further tested journal entries throughout the audit process using
our data analytcs general ledger analyser tools ta identify and investigate
unusual items having considered criteria thal we believed indicated s higher
lkelihood of material misstalement.

We identified 3 journal source types that in our Judgement may be mare
susceptible o management overide. We assessed Ihat size was an
mpartant factor in relation 1o the risk of management cvenide and therefore
tested all jJournals in these source types aver £110,000 affecting accruals and
pravisions i the month of December 2021 as we assessed that thare wes,
greater risk of management override close to the year-end date.

We also tested the same journal source tynes 1o the same thwashold in
January 2022 o understand if there were any unusual amendments which
shouk? have bean reflacted in the 2021 financial statements.

We understood the nature and appropriateness of materal round sum smounts
In accrusis and orovisions at the year-end, We ensunad we undarstood the
¢season for significant movements in provisions and acanusls rom the: prior yaer
and challenged management where theve had been no movemert Our work
included coroborating the year-end accruals and provisions 10 supporting
Information, iooking back at prior year 10 8558558 rmanagement’s abilly io
estimate and challenging the most significant assumptions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was unaertaken by tha
Group engagement leam.

Qur procedures did notidenttty any
instances of managemen overnide of
controls although we dic identify that
there is a need to Improve internat
raview and appraval processes.
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Key observations communicated

Risk Qur response to the risk to the Audit Committee
Appropriateness of lcase accounting  'We performed sudit pracedures aver this risk area which covered 100% of Based on our sudit procedures
under IFRS 16 (right of use assets the risk amount. performed we conclude the key
Group 2021 £204.9m Group 2020 astimates and judgments

£200.0m, lease Higbilities Group
2021 £216.9m, Group 2020 £209.4m,
right of use assets Parent 2021
£21.4m Parent 2020 £99.9m, lease
llabilities Parent 2021 £21.7m, Parent
2020 £18.9m)

Refer to the Audll Committee Report
(page 78); Accounting policies (poge
134} and Note 15 and Note 20 of the
Consolidated Finoncla! Statements
{poges 134 and Mt respeciively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 ks complex
and requires a number of estimates
and judgements. The most significant
estimate s the discount rate
{Incremental Borrowing Rate, 'IBR7 to
apply to each lease. Key judgements
are made when assessing whether
leasing arrangements fall within the
scope of IFRS 16 and In determining
the appropriate lease term at the
inception of the lease where leased
assels are subject to extension or
termination options. Further, the
group has & high volume of leases,
some of which are comptex in nature,
and the group uses a combination of
manual bespoke excel modelling
tempiates and an off the sheil
saftware package to derive the

ROU asset and lease liability valuas
for the ROU aseet categories.

Due tothe significant financiel
statementimpact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation and judegment
required In determining the
appropriate accocunting treatment, and
the manual modeliing of the impact on
some lease categories, we therelore
identifled IFRS 16 as a significant risk.

Our procedures included:

Assessing management's process: We gained an understanding through a
walkttwough of the process and conlrols mansgement have in place over
the completeness of IFRS 16.

Key estimate: We have assessed the spproprlateness of the IBR by
reviewing management’s methodotogy. With the support of our Corporate
Treasury speciallsts we reperformed the calculations and challenged their
valldity by comparing ta cbservabie marked rales.

Key judgments: We chalanged the key judgements and assumptions used
by management In retation 1o assessing whether leasing arrangements fal
within ihe scope of IFRS 16 and in determining the appropriate lease term ot
the Inception of the lease where leased sssets are subject o extension or
termination options, by inquiring of management, Inspgecting Audit
Commitiee and Board minutes, and selecling a sample of leases, inspecting
the arrangement terms and reaching an indepandant opinion on the IFRS 16
accounting treatment,

Tests of detait We assessed the completeness of the population of leases
by selacting a sample of igase payments mede during the year, and post
year end through to 31 January 2022, from the appropriate income
stetement general ledges codes (which includes all lease payments made
during the year prior to the reversal of ROU assets), obtalning and Inspecting
a copy of the underlying lease contract and independently assessing
whether managemant's lease identification basis Is skgned with IFRS 16, by
tracing the asset through to the cormect ROU model/enswuring not Included
within any ROU modeis. Further, we obtained and Inspected thind party
statements from the vehicle lessors and third pacty returns from those where
the lease completion pathway sits ouiside of the immediate Mears functian.
and ensured that these reconclled to the undertying IFRS 16 leaye data.

We considered whether any reconalling difference may Indicate a
completéness Issue,

For a sample of lesses, we d the mea t/veluation of the
underlying lease data by checking the key inputs used in the models to
original contract or other supporting data and racalculating the right of use
assetand coresponding lease liability.

We interrogated the integrity and mechanical accuracy of the bespoke excel
madelling templates used to derive the IFRS 16 journals for vehicles.
residentiai property used directly In the business and some of the residential
propérty sub-leased lo customers, through the application of our £Y Al
Spreadsheet analyser which highlights, amongst other things, complex
sheets, hardcoded items, inconsistencies in the logical design, unexpected

formula changes, ang by searching the models for potential duplicate assets.

During the year management transitioned the office leases and teases for
some of the residential property sub-leased to customers from their
pespoke manual excel models to an off the sheif iease accounting software
package, We assessed the completenass and accuracy of the transition by
reconciling the 2021 total opening position for gach lease category 1o the
2020 tolal closing position and selecting a sampie of leasas and agreeing
the key inputs from the underlying lease agreement to the lease sccounting
software package. The integrity and mechanical accuracy of the softwere
package used to derive the IFRS 16 Journals for office and MHM fixed leases
was validated by independently calcutating the cash flows for & sample of
leases and comparing the cutput to the output from the software package.

We considered the adequacy of IFRS16 disclosures, Including sensitivity of
the lease [iabllitles to the key assumptions.

All audit waork In refation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team with assistance from our valuation specialists.

underplnning the IFRS 16 right of
use assets and lease llabilities are
appropriate and the disclosures
within notes 15 and 20 arg in
sccordance with the raquirements
of IFRS 16, Leases.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Kty QEServgtions communicated
Risk Owr response v the risk te the Audit Committes
Valustion of the Group and parent's We performed aud)t procadures over this risk area ceptrally, which covered The two Group Schemes and the
defined benafit pension obligatian 100% of the risk amownt. LGPS all have 0ifferent scheme
{Group 2021: net surplus £20.2m, liability durations. However, the
2020: net deficit £38.9m Parent Qur protédures included: financial assumptions have been

202%: net surpius SL.8m, 2020: et
daficit £2.8m) and valuation of hard
to value schemie assets (Group
2024: £419.3m, 2020: £424.3m,
Parent 2021; £19.7m, 2020; £18.6m)

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{page 78; Accounting policies (puge
1501 and Note 28 of the Consaolidated
Financial Statements (page 150},

The Group oporales g rusxnber of
defined benellt pension scheames
{Group schemes)and ks an admitted
body of other delimed benefit pengion
schemes (LGPS}

Subjective valustion using complex
actuarisl assumptions:

A gress definad benefit pension
liability of £434.9m was heid at

31 December 2021 (2020: £501.4m) in
respact of all Jefined benefit pension
schemes, Small changes in the
assumprions andt estimates used o
value the Group's and Parent's
pensian gbligation (before deducting
scheme assets) would have

3 significant eflect on the carrying
value of those pension abligations,

The effact of these matters is that,

as pan of gur risk assessment, we
datermined that the Group's and
Parant Company's pension cblgation
has a high degree of estimation
uncertasinty, with 8 potentlal range of
ressonable outcomes greater than our
materiglity for the financial statements
as 4 whole. The financial statements
[note 28) disdloses the estimation
uncertainty identified by the Group
and company.

Valustion of defined banatit
pansion saseta:

Thwe fair value of the defined pension
scheme assets in aggregate as at

31 December 2021 was £492.9m
{2020, £473.9m) Judgament Is
appliad in valuing the more complex
level 2 and 3 Group schemes’ assets,
while the LGPS assets are estimated
ty rolling forward the published asset
position from the previous year using
markes index returns over the perod.

We have understood management's process and methodalogy for
calculating the pension liability for each scheme, including discussions with
management's external actuaries, walkthrough of the processes,
understanding the key inputs and the design and implemeniation of key
controls. We performed a fulty substantive udit approach rather than testing
the operating effectiveness of key controls.

We have assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
Group's extemal actuantes, which included understanding the scope of services
being proviced and considering the appropristenass of the quaifications of the
extemal actisary.

With the support of our pension actuariak specialists, we dssessed and
challenged the appropriateness of the assumptions adopted by the
Directors by comparing them fo the expectations of our pension actuarial
specialists which they had derived from brosder market data.

Wa tested a sampie of the membership dats used by the actuaries to the
Group's records. We direclly confimmed the existence and valuation of
pension scheme assets with asset managers and cusiodians for Group
Schemes and snalysed the Movements an assets for LGRS, With the support
of our valuation and aciwarial specialists we Indapendently challenged the
valuation of had to valye scheme assets by performing detailed testing on a
sampie of level 2 and Jlevel 3 Group scheme's assels and the LGPS assets,
We identiffed market indices that most accuratety reflect the expected
periormance of the fund (based on the undertying investment/asset portiotio
of the fund) for 2021. Using the sultable/relevant market index, we set an
expeciation of the performance of the fund in arder o determine the
expectad value of the fund as at 31 December 2021, We then companed the
expectad value of the tund as at 31 Decembar 2021w the value as at

31 December 2021 as per the investment manager to determine whether this
met qur xpectations.

We considered the pdequacy of IAS 19 disclosures, including sensithvity of
the obilgation o the key assumplions.

All audit work In relation 1o this key audit maiter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team with assistance from our actuarial and valuation
specialists.

sel consistently atross the Group
Schemes and LGPS based on &
weightad average duration of aff
Schames. The salary increase
assumplion which is linked o RP1 is
oplimistic. Thera Is sufficient scope
within the other assumptions wnich
fall within a central range or have
been assessed and Set on an
appropriate hasis to offset this,

As such, we conclude that overall
management's actuarial
assumptions are within an
ecceptable range.

We have noted below, for the
assumptions that are assessed
against a specific range, cur ranges
compared 1o managemen’s
assessmant:

Discount rale: 1.70%-2.00%
{Mears rate; 2.00%)

RP inflation: 3.00%-3.70%
{Mears rate: 3.00%).

We conclyde that group scheme
assets were under-valued based
on extemal canfirmations received,
Management made adjustments 1o
Incraase the group scheme asset
values by £0.62m ta reflect this.
Qur testing did not identify any
other material missiaiements.

We are satisfied with the
adequacy of disclosute within
the financial statements.
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ey ahservoilons commeeicpted

Risk Our he thik tathe Audit Commint=e
Appropripteness of rvanus Wa perfonmed sudit procediines over this risk area which covered 100% For tha year e 31 Dacember 2021,
recognition including contract of tha risk amaunt. we concfude that based on the
eccounting, cortract assets and gudll procedures performed,

i (Group W parf of the revanua recagnllion process lor all revienue lradsections have baen
2004: EE7B.Am, Group tevenus matesial revenue Stasms to assess the design and implemantaton of key recognised appropriaiely.
20 ERO5.2m) CONrNs, Qur procedures did not identity

Insmnces of inappropriate
Refer to 19 Auglt Commitee Reparnt Wa used date snalysss toots on 100% of apvenur transactians In the year m mansgemant oweeriie (n the

fpoge 75; Accounting Soicies (pege  lest the cornelalion betweren revimes, tiode debiors and cash receints to facogiion of [evanue BCross
13 ord Note 2 of the Consofdoted varify the ocoarrance of fevenure, iaun.gi!c-nuﬁ annan- the Group,

Finondiod Stutements fpoge 15 correlating eniries by e ang
explanations tor ooanu_._.m_ma %Nﬂﬂus sampia of tevente ‘Wo ane aatisfied with the adequacy
Mears has 4 diffomnt key rvenus Iransactions ko ensure that revenua had been sppmpdstaly recogmised. of discogure within the financlal

stregms, each withits gwn revenug siziements.
sceounting policy, Determinirg the: We obtained the scheduts of contract assets and setected 8 semple of

smount of revenus to be recognised cantracty ..naa_:oga:ook?_,gsg ahold 1o Inchude an

reruires monagement 1o make etement of unp iffty of comtrsct

significard eogements and eslimates  assels Eﬁsgaﬁnﬁggsnﬂgg or

Inihe spplication of IFRS 15, the stage.  obteining the avidence from the wark certified by tha custamer or Group's

of completion of cartain contracts and  internal or indepentent quoatlly surveyor,

Ihe recoverabilty of Wi mobilisation

COFs and contract assets. Forrevenus regognised but not cerified by the cusiamer's o Group's
nternel of iIndapendent qUAAkity surveyar. wa lngquired the reason far -
Thave is considered to be a rfsk nen-Certification and challenged the recagnifion of contract assets and

of meterat error and menegement relsted revahus,

ovemda In making this assessment.
Wa challenged the estimated convrectcost to completi Inchuniag obtaining
evidence 1o suppon curindependent eanciusions whars ralevant leg
verifying e work orders issued 1o sub-conirectors and challenging the
esumation bas's of cverneads),

Wa held meetings with the in-houso logal counse! and reviswed tha board
mueeting minutes ko lentfy and assess tha mpact of try onpolng dispaes
Eegas 6 rectverstility of tha contract assets batance and
onthe of such contzact assets
iinam*gncmm: recognised.

Fra 52. of contracts, whine the forecasted mengin is negative,

onthe of thelr anerous
nﬂ.—-—mﬂuvacﬂﬂr
For @ sampia o direct y ther
COnuact trada tarms with Masrs.
'We ha of ct labiles and perk
aﬂg.o of incoms secagrised dudng the year Rﬂa&aﬂnﬁaﬁﬁﬂ
and, & sampte of ransactions and ensured

thatihe reven cnw.ooou:wonsoooﬁgsé_ﬂam 18,

W selacted 8 sampto of revenip rensaclions recorded before and efter
yearend to veriy that the revenus had baen recorded In the apprapriata

period, .

Wa selectad e semplo of crediL notes gsued after ygar-end and obtsined
10 warify that revenua adj o yedr eng had been

recomded approprialely.

e the of Group th gooesdance with the

raquiramonts of IFRS {5,

All audit werk in resstion (o s key Suck matter was undartaken by the
Gmxip engag eam.

#ears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 202t ‘_Oﬁ

ANOdIY DINILVILSE

A\

AANTHAIACS AIYNOLNDD

o

12NY

SINIWELIVLIS Y

N

NOILYNNO4N] NIATOHINFHE



Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

Our response io the risk

Key chservations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Inpended disposal of Haydon
Mechanical & Electrical LLC
{“Haydon UAE™)

Refer to the Audit Comminee report
hoge 79) and the Accounting policies
basis of preporation (page 119)

The 2016 annual report and accounts
rellected Mears' Itended disposal
{during 2016} of 48% of its beneficial
interest inthe shares of Haydan
Mechanicat & Eleciriced Contracts LLC
(*Haydon UAE™) leaving Mears with a 1
% interest. The legal awner of the
shares is Haydon UK Limited ("Haydon
UK") L was brought to our attention in
late 20211hat the ransfer of shares
from Haydon UK (ard Mears’
beneficial Interest o the Intended
Bequirer gid not complete s intended,
due to 8 fallure 1o complete all aspects
ofthe reguired fllng piocesses I the
UAE, and thevefore Meurs has
retained ils fuil 49% beneficial interest
In the shares of Haydon UAE.

As & tesult of the falled share transier,
Mears continues to hold the right to
control Haydon UAE {by virtue of its
benefldal interest In the shares and
powers set under the Memorandum
of Association). We have therefore
considered what the apgropriate
accounting is and whether any prior
year adjustments result.

We performed avdlt procedures over this risk drea which covened
cansideratian of the key judgaments relating o Mears' substantive Aght, and
practical abifity to control Haydon UAE and whether any liabikity should oe
recognised by Mears Group Pic in respect of claims lodged against the
Haydan LUAE entity.

We have obtained and inspected relevant third party documentation and
confirmed detals to the company's analysls.

We have challenged management’s conciusions refaling to their sbility fo
contrcd the Haydon UAE enlity in the current and prior years and whether
there Is any further lability 1o be recognised or disclosed.

With the support of EY Law Dubai, we have independently challenged
ranagement's judgements relating to the existence of aperationsl, legal
and regulatory barriers to exercising their right ta cantrol Haydan UAE.

We have atso independently considered, with agvice from EY Law Dubal,
the likelihaod of any further lisbility arising on Mears from the Heydon UAE
entity.

We have confi alt other disposals inthe last 10 years have laken place
as Intended by checking current awnership detalls to independent thkd
party information.

Wa considered the adequacy of disclosure i the basis of preparation note
in the accounts and considered whethet any further disclosures i the
accounts were raguired.

All audit work in retation o this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team with assistance from our EY Law specialists.

We conclude that whilst Mears has
the right to control Haydon UAE,
there are barriers preventing control
ang therefore the entity has not
been consolidated. We have slso
coancluded that Mears' exposure

10 arty further [fability is remote.

W are satisfied that ail other
disposals msde by Mears inthe last 10
yaars have teken place as intended.

As referred to in the Audit
Commitiee Report {page 79) the
failure to complete all necessary
requiremants for the disposal
transaction to be elfective
highlighted a significant

control deticiency

We are salisfied with the adequacy
of disciosure within the financisl
statements.

in the priar year, our auditor's report inciuded key audit matters i refation to 3} dispasal accaunting including recogniion of profit on disposal and
contingent consideration and b) first year audit transition including assessment of opening balances. in the current year, these weren't considered
key audit matters since there were no disposals and this was the second year of our audit.

OQUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of matersiahty in planning and performing the sudit, in eévaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and

in forming our dudit opinian.

Matariality

The magnitude of 0N OmMIsSIoN or mSSIalement that, INCRIUORY or 1 e QGGregae, Coult reasonably ie expected (o ifienae the econanmic
decisions of the ysers of the finoncial statements.

Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and exlent of our audit procedures, We detenmined materiality for the Group to be £11 million
{2020: £1.1 mitlion), which is 5% {2020: 4.75%) of normalised profit before tax from continuing operations. Materiality in 2021 was based on our
judgernent of normalised eamings of the Group from continuing operations. To form the basis of this assessment we have considered the average
profit before tax from continuing operations for financial years 2018, 2019, 2021 snd the forecast profit befare tax for financis! yesr 2022.

Financial year 2020 was excluded due to the significant iImpact of Covid-19 on profit before tax from continuing operations.

We determined materislity for the Parent Company to be £1.1 miflion (2020: €1.1 million), which is 1% (2020: 1%} of nef assets.

During the course of our audit. we reassessed intial materiality and adjusted our final materiaiity 1o refiect the finaf profit before tax for 2021
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Performance materiality
The oppifcotion of moateriality ot the individue! account or balance leved, it is set ot an omount to reduce to on appropriately low level the probability
thot the aggregate of uncorrected ond undetected misstatements exceeds materiaiity.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall control environment, our judgement was that performance
materiality was 50% (2020: 50%) of our planning materiglity, namely £550,000 (2020; £550,000). We have set parformance materlality at this
percentage due to differences identifled relating to both the current year and prior year.

Audit work at component lecations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken based

on a percentage of iotal performence materialty. The performance materislity set for each component Is based on the relative scale and risk of the
component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component. in the current year, the range of performance
materiality allocated to components was £55.000 to £412.500,

Reporting threshold
An amount balow which identifled misstotements one considered os being cleorty triviol.

We agreed with the Audit Commitiee that we would report 16 them all uncorrected audil differences in exceis of £55,000 (2020 £55,000),
which is sel af 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evoluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed ahove and in light of other relevant
qualitative considerations in forming cur opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The other Information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1to 100, including the Stralegic Report, set cut on
pages 110 63, Corporate Governance, set out on pages 64 1o 100, and Shareholder Information, set out on pages 168 to 169, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are respansitle for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our opindon on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, '
we do rrot express any form of assurance concluston thareon.

Qur responsibikty is to read the other Information and, in doing sa, consider whether the other information is materally Inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears 1o be materialy misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement

in the financlal statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, wa conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are requirad to report that fact.

We have nothing to report |n this regard,

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In aur oplnion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been property prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

In our oplinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit;

- the Information given in the strategic report and the directers’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
Is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT B8Y EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatemenis in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing to reportin respect of the following matters In relation 1o which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;

- adequale accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, of returns adequate for our audit have not been recelved from
branches not visited by us; oi

the parent campany financial staternents and the part of the Direclors’ Remuneration Reporl o be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

- Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

— Wwe have not recefved all the information and explanations we requilre for our audit
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Financial statements

Independent auditor's report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
We have reviewed the directors' statement in relation 1o going concerm, longer-term viability and thai part of the Corporate Governance State ment
relating to the group and company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance Statement
is materially consistent with the financial statements o our knowledge obtained during the audit:

— Direciors’ sistement with regards 1o the appropristeness of adopting the going concem basis of accounting and any matetist uncernainties
Identified set out on page 99;

— Dilrectors’ explanation g5 10 its assessment of the company’s prospects, the perlad this assessment covers and why the perlod is appropriate

set oul on page 6210 63,

Director's slatement on whether it has a reasonable expeciation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meets its Uabllities

set out on page 99;

Directors” statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 77

Board's confinmation that it has carried oul @ robust assessment of the emerging and prncipal risks set oul on pagas 4616 53,

The section of the annual report Ihat describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and Internal control systermns set out on page 77; and;

The section describing the work of the audit commitiee sel out on pages 76 10 Bl.

{

Vit

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained mare fully in the directors’ responsiblliies statement set out on page 100, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial siaterents and for being satisfied that they give & true and fair view, and for such intemal contral as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of inancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing tha financial statemants, the direclors are responsible for assassing the group and parent company’s ability to centinue as 8 going
concem, disclosing, as appiicable. matters relaled to going concern and uskg the going concern basls of accounting unless the directors efther
intend to liquidate the group or the parant company of 1o cease opevations, or have no reglistic aftermative but 10 do so.

AUDITQR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance abgut whether the financlal statements as a whole are Iree from materlal misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and (0 issue an auditor's report that indudes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of asswance, but is not &
guarantee that an audit conducted in accord ance with ISAs {UK) will always detect 8 material misstatement when i exists. Missiatements can adse
from fraud or error and are considered material If, Individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonsbly be expecied to influence the economic
dacisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irreguiarities, including fraud

irraguianities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined abave, to detect irreguilarities, inchuding fraud, The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud Is highar than the risk of hot
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve defiberate concealment by, for exampie, forgery o intentional misrepresentations, or through
collusion. The extent to which our procedures ate capabie of detecting irregulanities, Incuding fraud is detailed below.

Howevar, the primary responsibiity ko the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both thase charged with governance of the companty and manaement

— We obtained an untierstanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable lo the group and determined that the most significant
are those that relate 1o the reporting framework {IFRS, FRS10} and the Companies Act 20086, the Financial Reporting Councll {FRC) and the UK
Corporate Governance Code) and the relevant lax compliance regulations In the UK.

—~ We undersicad how Mears Group PLC is complying with those frameworks by reading Internal policles and assessing the entily level control
environment, including the level of oversight of those charged with governance. We made enquires ol the Chair of the Audit Committee, the
group's legal counsel and internal audit of any known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations.

We corroboratled our enquiries through review of comespondence with regulatory bodies. We designed awr audit procedures to ldentity
non-compliance with such laws and regulations identified in the paragraph above.

- We assessed the susceptibility of the group’s financial statements 1o material misstatement, including how fraud might occur by considaring the
programs and controis that the group has estabiished 1o address Jisks identified by the entity, o that otherwise prevent, deter and detect fraud,
how senior management manitor 1hose programs and controls, evaiuating canditions in the context of incentive and/or pressure to commit fraud,
considering 1he opportunity 1o commit fraud and the potential rationakisation of the fraudulent act.

-~ Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulstions. Our procedures
invotved making enguirles of senior management, including the Group Finance Director, Comparry Secretary and Chair of the Audit Committee.
As well as aitendance and enquiry at meetings, our procedures imvolved a review of minutes of board meetings, internal audil reports, and other
committee minutes to identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations. We planned our audit procedures 1o idertify risks of management
override, lested higher risk journal entrles and performed audit procedures to address the potential for management blas, particularly over areas
Involving significant estimation. Further detall of our approach to address the identiied risks of management override are set out In the key audit
matters section of aur report.

A further description of our responsioliitias for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reparting Council's webslite at
httpsivwwwirc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditar's report.
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2021

202t 2020
Nate £'000 £000
Cantinuing operations
Sales revenue 2 878,420 805,817
Cost of sales {697,933) {649,530)
Gross profit 1B0AZY 156,287
Administrative expenses : (156,940) [62,563)
: fAloss) — 235487 6276}
Share of profits of associales 16 855 1,056
Finance income S B38 293
Finance costs 5 18,904) (10,291
ProfitAloxs) for the year bafore tax. 16,333 (15,218)
Tax jexpense)credit -] (3.152) 3,207
Profit/{loss) for the year from continuing operations 13 2,01
Discontinued operations
Proflt from discontinued operations 9 940 56933
Tax creditfcharge} on discontinued aperations 8 182 (12}
Profit for the year after tax from discontinued operations 1122 56,812
Profit for the yeor from cantinuing and discontinued operations 14,263 44,801
Attributable to; '
Owners of Mears Group PLC w19 44519
Nan-cantrolting interest 144 282
Profit for the year 14,263 44,801
Eamings pes share — from comtinuing operations
Basle u n72p (068
Diluted " 1.50p (10661
Eamings per share - fram continuing and discontinued operations
Basic " 1273p 40,21p
Diluted n 12.49p 40.21p

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

112 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £000 £'000

Profit for the year 14,263 44 801
Other comprehensive income:;
Which will be subsequently reclassified 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:
Cash flow hedges:
— gainsAiosses) arising in the year 23 1,023 {1139)
— reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 3 (85} 354
(Decreaselincrease in deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 24 178} K9
Which wil not be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

Actuarisl ganfioss) on defined benefit pension scheme 28 59,71 (19m4)

Pension guarantee asset mavements in respect of actuarial (ganyloss 28 (t9,018) 10,024

{Decrease)iincrease in deferred 1ax in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 24 (8,809) 1727
Other comprehensive income for the year 32,654 (7.999)
Total comprehensive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Attributable te:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 46773 36,520
Non-controlling interest 144 282
Totel comprehenshive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Total comprehensive Incame for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC arises from:
Continuing operations 45,651 (1972}
Discontinued aperailons 1122 56,241
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 1o owners of Mears Group PLC 46,773 36.520

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financla! statements.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

113

AINYNYIAOCD AiVIO4HNOD LBOd3Y DIDILVHLS

SANIAMILYLS TVIONVHNIL

NOILVHNHOIN? HIGTOHIUVYHS

n

Y

kY




Financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note 000 £'000
Assets
Non-current
Goodwifl 12 118,873 18,873
Intangible assets 13 6,690 15.205
Property, plant and equipment 14 2012 23,600
Right of use assets 15 204,949 200041
Investments 16 mn 966
Loen notes 23 3476 3160
Contingen consideration 23 - 5,431
Penslon and other employee benelits 28 37651 7068
Pension guarantee assets 8 12975 30705
Defemed tax asset 24 - 3320
405,959 408,369
Current
Inventories 17 22869 31,258
Trade and othes receivables 18 148,305 139,884
Current 1ax assets 2,154 358
Cash and cash equivalents 23 54,632 36,220
227960 267720
Total assets 633,919 676,089
Equity .
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC
Calfed up share capital 3 1109 1109
Share premium account 82,265 82,225
Share-based paymeni raserve 133 1312
Hedging reserve 23 - 760)
Merger reserve A i 7971
Retaingd earnings 107.578 63,536
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 200236 155,393
Nan-~controlling interest 802 658
Yots equity 201,038 156,05
Llabilities
Non-currant
Long-term borrowing and overdrafts 23 - 39352
Penslon and other employee benefits 28 16,995 45653
Deferred tax fiabilities 24 8,676 -
Interest ratk swaps 23 - 462
Lease Kabifties 20 175,290 166183
Non-current provisions 22 3800 3,667
_ 202761 255318
Current -
Trade and othet payables 19 184,047 221029
Interest rate swaps 23 - 459
Lease liabilities 20 41,600 42888
Pronvislons 2 4473 344
Current iabilities 230120 264720
Toty! liabilities 432 85 520,038
Total equity and lisbilities 533,919 676,089

The financial statemenls were appraved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behaif on 31 March 2021.

D 1 Milex A CM Smith * Y .
Director Director
Company number: 03232B63 d j miles (Jun 19, 2022 13:34 GMT+1] andrew smith (Jun 19,2022 21:11 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policies and noles form an integral part of these financial staternents.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Note £000 £'000
Operating activitles
Result for the yesr before 1ax 16,333 {15,218}
Adjustments 6 65,902 72761
Change ininventories 12,944 4,787
Change in trade and other vecelvables {2,.244) 18,475
Change in trade, other payables and provisions (32,573) 22418
Cash inflow from opersting activities of continuing operations befare taxation 60362 103,223
Taxes paid {3.752) 41
Net ¢cash Inflow from operating activilies of continuing operations 58.610 103,264
Net cash inflow from opearating activities of discontinued operations 9 59 2527
Net cash inflow from operating activities 56,669 105,791
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 2.587) (5.065)
Additions to other intangible assets (1182) 017
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipsment 46 17
Cash Inflow In respect of property for resale - 4618
Loans repaid by related parties £l 500 0
Distributions from assoclates 16 1108 -
Interest received 413 86
Net cash autflow from investing activities of continuing operations 6,702 (2,051
Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations 500 54,612
Net cash (cutflowlinflow from investing activities {6.200) 52,561
Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 40 4
Net cash movement In revolving credit facillty {40,000) {84.694)
Discharge of lease kgbilities (40,258) {39.958)
Interest paid (8.844) {¥0,056)
Dividends pakj — Mears Group shareholders 2.773) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities of continuing operations 91,835) 124704)
Net cash autfiow from financihg activities of discontinued operations 9 _220) (489)
Net cash outflow from financing activities i (92,055) (135193
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 96,220 73,061
Net (decreaselincraase in cash and cash equivalents {#1,588) 23158
Cash and cash equivalents, end of ysar 54,632 96,220
The Group considers its revalving credit facility to be an Integral part of its cash management:
== Cash and cash equivalents 54,632 96,220
= Revolving credit facility - (39,353
Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit facility 54,632 56,867

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Altribtabie to equity shareholders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-

Share premium payment Hedging Maerger Retained controliing Totsl

capital actount reserve reserve reserve eamings interest equity

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 E'000 £'000
At 1 January 2020 105 82,224 2421 {124) 12956 19,840 {85 118,337
Net resutt for the year - - - - - 44519 282 44 801
Other comprehensive income - - - (635} - {7363} — (2599)
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - {636) - 37156 282 (35,802)
Deferred tax on share-based
payments . - - - - - 10 - 10
Issue of shares 4 1 - - - - - s
Share options — value of
employee servites - - 1029 - - - - 1029
Share options — exercised or
lapsed — - (2138 - - 2138 - -
Non-contralling interest
eliminated on disposal .
of subsidiary - - - - - - (132} N33
Transactions with non-
controlling interesis - - - - - {593) 593 -
Transter of realised profits - — - - {4.985) 4,985 — -
Al january 2021 1109 82,225 1312 760) 791 63536 658 156,051
Net result for the year - - - - - 1419 144 14,263
Othar ¢comprehensive income - - - 760 - 31894 - 32654
Total comprehensive income
for the year — - - 760 - 46,013 44 46,917
Deferred tax on share-based _
payments - - - - - 228 - 228
IssUe of shares - 40 - - - - - 40
Share options -~ value of
employee services - - 575 - - - - 575
Share opiions ~ exercised or
lapsed - - 574 - - 574 - -
Dividends - - - - - RI73 - 2773
At 31 Decembar 2021 1109 82,265 133 - gl 1a) 107578 B0O2 201,028

The aceompanying accounting policies and notes form an integra!l pari of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detailed In thelr respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific to a particular note are detailed below.

Basis of preparation

The consolidatad financlal statements of the Group have been prapared In accordance with International Accounting Standards In conformity with the
requiremants of the Companies Act 2006 and Linited Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial statements are prepated
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of contingent consideration, desivative financial instruments and shere-based
payments. They are presanted in Sterling and all vaiues are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000}.

The accounting policies remain unchanged from the previous year except for the modificaton of a number of standards with effect from ¥ Januvary 2021,
The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group's financial statements.

The preparation of financlal statements In conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and judgements that affect the reporied amounts of assets
and Kabliitles at the data of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of the amounts, aclual results may ulimately differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates made
by managemenl in these financial statements are set outin the accounting policies to which they relate.

Government and societal responses to dimate change are still developing and are Interdependent upan each olher, and consequently financial
statements cannol capture all possible futyre outcomes as these are not yet knowr. There were ng materlal impacts of climate change in determining
asset and habllity valuations and the timing of future cash flows 1o be Incorporated into these financial statements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and domiclled in England and Wates (registration number 03232863). lis registered office and principal place of
business is 1390 Montpeilier Court, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GLI 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are fisted on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Basis of consolldation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries and Is made up to 31 December 2021.
Entities for which the Group has the ability 1o exercise control over financial and cperating policies ave accounted for as subsidlaries. Contral I
achleved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current abiiity to direct the activities that affect the Company's returns and exposure
or rights to variable retums from the entity, Interests acquired In entities are consofidaled from the effective date of acquisition and interests sokd are
consolldated up 10 the date of disposal.

All significant inlercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises, including unreslised profits arising from intra-group transacitons,
are eliminated on consofigation; no profit is 1sken on sales between Group companies,

Non-controlling interests In the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are Identified separately from the Group's equity therein. Nan-controlling
interests consist of the amount of those Interests ai the date of the original business combination and the non-contralling shareholders’ share of
changes in equily since the date of the combination. Total comprehensive Income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this resuits in the
non-cantroling interest having a deficit balance.

A Joint venture Is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have the rights 1o the net assets of the arrengement. Asscciates are
entlties over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments In jeint ventures and associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the Conso idated
Statement of Profit or Loss; the cost of the investment in a glven jolnt venture or associate, 1ogether with the Group's share of that entity’s post-
acquisition changes to shareholders’ funds, is included In Invesiments within the Consoiidated Balance Sheet.

Going concern

The Directors conslder that, as at the date of epproving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
adequate rescurces o continue in operaticnal existence for the period 10 at keast 30 June 2023. When miaking this sssessment. management considers
whether the Group will be able to mainaln adequate liquidity headroom above the level of its borrowing facilities and (o operate within the financial
cavenants applicable to those facilitkes, which will be measured al 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023. At 31 December 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed borrewing faciities, maturing in December 2025; however. no amount was drawn on the facility. The principal borrowing
taciliies are subject to covenants, as detailed within the Financial review section of the Strategic Report. The Strategic Report also detalls the principal
risks and uncertainties and how the Group manages Its risks. The Group has modelled its cash flow qutiook for the period to 30 June 2023 and the
foracasts Indicate significant liquidity headroom will be maintained above the Group's borrowing facilities and that financial covenants will be met
throughout the period, including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2022.

The Group has carried out stress tests 8gainst the base case to determine the performance levels that would resultin 2 breach of covenants or a
reduction of headroom against its bormowing fadllities to £0i. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scanarios, which are covered in
more detail in the Financial viability review section on pages 62 and 63, Afler making these assessments, the Directors consider any scenario or
combination of scenarios that coukd ¢cause the business to be no longer a going concern to be impisusible. The Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and lts subsidiaries have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adop the going concern basls in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Business combinations

Businass combinations are accounted for using the acquisition methed. The acquisition method involves the recognition at fair value of all identiflable
assats and liabilitles, Including contingent Habilties of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardiess of whether or not they were recorded [n the
financial statemenits of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assels and liabilities of the subsidlary are Included In the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at thelr fair values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group
accounting polides. Goodwil is stated after separating out Idantiflable intangible assets. Goodwilt represents the excess of acquisition cost over

the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Where applicable, the consideration for an acquisition includes any assets or liabliities ansing from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured at fair value al the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted agsinst the cost of acquisition where they result
#rom additional information cbtained up lo one year from the acquisition date abaut facts and ckcumstances that existed st the acquisition date.

All other subsequent changes in the falr value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liablity are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or LoSs.

For transactions with non-controlling parties that do not result In a change of control, the differance between the fair value of the consideration
paid srid the amaunt by which the non-cantralling interest Is adjusted is recogrised in equity.

Any business combinations prior 1o 1 January 2010 were accounted for in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which ditfer in the
following respects: transaction costs directly attributable to the acqulsition formed part of the acquisition costs; contingent consideration was
recognised If, and only if, the Group hiad 8 present cbiigation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was
determinable; and subsequent ad|ustments to the contingent cansideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Fair value
The Group measures certain assels and llablities at fair value on a recurring basis, including Its interest rate swaps, contingent consideration and
assels Inthe Group's defined benefit pension schemes,

Trade and cther recelvebles, trade and other payables and other loans are initlally measured at fak value and ane subsequently held at amortsed
cost. Other assets are measured at falr value when they are assessed for impairment or on classlfication as held for sale.

Fair value is the price thatl would be recelved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an arderly transaction between market participants atthe
measurement date. The Group uses valuation techniques thal maximise the use of relevant observable Inputs using the following valuation hierarchy,
ordered from highest to lowest priority:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or Kabilities.

Level 2 — Inpuls other than quoted prices Included in level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Leve! 3 — Unobisevvatia inputs, typicaily derived from the Group's ewn Information with any necessary adjustments to eliminate factors specific to
the Group,

For assets and liabilities measured at fai value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have oocurred between levels in the
himrarchy by assessing the lowest level Input that Is significant to the most recent measurement.

Details of the paricular valuation lechniques used by the Group are provided in the refevant notes for each type of asset or liability measured at falr value.

Usae of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requites management 1o make estimates and judgements that affact the reported amounts of asseis and
Rabilitles and disciosure of cantingent assets and Rabiities at the date of the finandial statements and the reported amaunts of income and expenditure
during the reponed period. The estimates and assoclated Judgements are besed on historical experience and various other factors that are believed o
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basts of making judgements about carrying values of assets and llabifities that are
not readity apparent from ather sources.

The estimates and underlying judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basls. Revisions to accounting estimates sre recagnised in the period in

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision ang future periods If the revision affects both
curreni and future periods.
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in the preparation of these consolidated financlal statements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning wheither
an entity shouid be consolidated, provisions necessary for cerlain liabilities, estimates used in forecasts used to assess future profitabiitty. the
discount rates used and other judgements when recognising right of use assets for lease accounting, the timing of revenue recagnition, the
recoverabllity of contract assets and work in progress, actuarial estimates In respect of defined benefit penslon schemes, the fair value of contingent
conslderation In respect of disposed entitles and other simllar evaluations, Actual ameounts could differ from those estimates. Further details of key
estimates and judgements are provided in the appropriste notes, with the exception of the consolidation judgement described below.

The Impact of Covid-19 has been considered when making the estimates and judgements abave. The global and local effects of the pandemic heve
primarily affected the discount rates used for lease accounting as well as the assumptions of discount rate and inflation rate used in calculating the
Group's liabilitles n respect of defined benefit penslon schemes.

Consolidation judgement

An Investor, regardiess of the nature of its Involvement with an entity, is required to determine whether it is & pareni by assessing whether it controls
an Investee. An Investor controls an investee if and only i the investor has power over the investee. In assessing whether it has power, an investor
considers only substantive rights relating to an investee. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to axercise that fight.

The Group halus a beneficial Interest in 49% of the shares in 8 company, Haydon Mechanical and Etectrical LLC {Haydon LLCY), reglstered n the UAE,
In assessing whether the Group has power over the investee, the Directors have considered several operational barriers which prevent Mears from
exercising its rights. These barriers included the absence of suitable individuats willing to provide an executive menagement service and restrictlons
placed upon the trade licence. The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Mears does not have the practical abllity to direct the

activitles of Haydon LLC and as such dees not meet the criteria for control. The resuits of the entity are therefore not consclidated within the

flnandial stataments.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and repors & net izbllity position. The carrying value of the Group’'s Investment in this associate has
previousty been reduced to £nll, and the Directors do not believe that the Group has incurred any legal or constructive obligations on behalf of
this associate.

New standards and interpretations not yet applied

A number of standards have been modifled with effect for accounting periods commencing on of after 1 January 2022, These include IAS 37 —
“Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’, IAS 16 = 'Proceeds Before Intended Use' and other existing standards arising from the Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018 - 2020 cycie. None of these amendments are expected to have a materisl effect on the Group's financlal stalements.

2. REVENUE

Accounting policy
Revenue Is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers'. IFRS 15 provides a singie, principles-based, flve-step

model to be appliad to al sales contracts. It Is based on the transfer of control of goods and services to customers. The detail below sels out the
principal lypes of contracl and how the revenue is recagnised in accordance with IFRS15.

Repair and maintenance contracts
For contracts in this category, the customer raises arders on demand, for exampie to carry out responsive repairs. Revenue is derived from a mixture
of lump-sum perlodic payments and task-based payments depending on the terms of the individual contract.

Where a lump-sum payment is in place it may cover the administrative element of the contract er may cover the majority of the tasks undertakan
within that contract with exclusions to this being charged in additlon to the lump-surm charge. For the works covered by the lump-sum payment, the
performance obligation is being available to detiver the goods and services in the scope of the contract, net the performance of the individual works
orders themsetves. Revenue is recognised on a stralght-line basis as performance obligations are belng met over time.

For works orders hot covered by a lump-sum payment, each works order represents a distinct performance obligstion and, as the customer controls
the asset being anhanced through the works, the performance obligation is satisfied aver time. Each works order can be broken down into one or
more distinct tasks which are either complete or not complete. The stage of completion of the works order Is assessed by looking at which tasks are
complete. The transaction price for partly completed works orders is recognised as cost plus expected margin. The transaction price for completed
works orders is the Invoice value, which Is typically determined by a pricing schedule referred to as a Schedule of Rates that provides a iransaction

price for each particular task.

Some tontracts may include an element of variable revenue based on certaln KPls. These are recegnised either at a point in time or over tme,
depending on the nature of the KP1and the contractual agreement in which it is contained. Where there Is uncertainty In the measurement of variable
cansideration, at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the facts and circumstances of the contract in determining
either the mast |kely amount of variable consideration when the cutcome ks binary, or the expecied value based on a range of possible considerations.
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there is a high probability that a significant reversal in variable consideration revenues will not
occur once the uncertainty 1s subsequently resalved. This assessment will include consideration of the foliowing factors: the total amount of the variable
consideration; the proportion of conskderation susceptible to judgements of customers or third parties, for example KPis; the length of time expected
before nesolution cf the uncertainty; and the Group's previous expertience of similar contracts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. REVENUE CONTINUED
Property income
Where the Group i acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue is recognised in revenue on a straight-kne basis over the tenancy.

Where the Group I5 providing a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent {the net management fee) on & straight-iine basis.
Where significant inftial costs are required to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities, the cosis directly attibuiable to
the initial upgrade will be recognised as costs Incurred to fulfil 8 contract and held within current assets, to the extentthat it Is determined that
COSLS are recoverable.

Where the Group s providing an accommodition and support service, revenue is recognised at a point In time for each night thal the accomenadation
Is occupled.

Some contracts may include an etement of variable revenue based on certain KPIs. This is recogrised on the same basis s above,

Where the Group enters into arrangements with cuslomers far the provision of housing, an assessment Is made as to whether this Income

is recognisad under IFRS 15 or [FRS 16. The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed to comain alease whete the contract conveys
the right to control an identified asset for a periad of time in exchange for consideration. I this instanca. the rental lncoma is recognised on a
straight-Nne basis over the life of the lease. All such sub-teased residential property leases are classified as opersting leases. Revenue in respect of
sub-leased residential property Is disclosed separaely.

Care sorvicas

The standalone seling prices for providing cere are avertly slaled in the contract, snd the method of applicatlon of the rate of charge Is on & unit of
time: basls, usually expressed as a réte per visit. Revanue will be recognised In respect of this singte performance cbligation, by reference to the
chargeable rate and time for completed care visits in the period.

From time 1o time, care contracts with customers include a fixad fee per pertod (or performing a consistent scope of care services. For these contract
types, the revenue recoqanition is consisten with lump-sum payments included in repair and mainienance contracts, as described above.

Mobillisation

Acrass all revenue types, where a contract includes a mobilisation element, consideratian s inllaly given 10 whether the mabllisation glement
comains any discrele performance obligstions. H this is the case, an etement of the total cantract price is allocated to those performance obligations
and recognised either at g paint in time or over time, depending on the nature of the perormance ubligation. Mabilisation ncame is included In the
revenue category to which the contract reletes.

Where amounis Bre received for maobilisation elements that are not performance obligations, these amounis are aftocated to the performance
obligations in the contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021in respect of mobilisation performance obligations.

Contracting projects

For contractisig projects. the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to ba carried out, for a fixed price. Mears is
continuously salisfying this singte performance obligation as cost is incurred, determining progress against the performance obligation on an input
basis. The customer controls the site or output as the work is being perfarmed on it and therefore revenue Is recognised aver time wheve there ks an
enforceable right 10 payment 101 works completed to date and the work completad does not creste 8n asset with an allernative use to the Group.
An assessment is made of costs Incurred to date and the costs required 1o complete the project. f a project is not deemed to be profitable. the
unavoidable costs of fulfilling the contract are provided for immediatety. This category also includes construction conracts where an end customer
has not yet been identified and the revenue Is racognised at the point of sale of the property, rather than over time.

Other

From Pme 10 time. the Group recelves revenua that does not fall within any of the categories above bul is not individually sigaificant enough 1o require
a specific policy. In these cases, the revenue is considered separately and recognised in accordance with IFRS15.

Kay sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining fulure contract profitabifty requires estimates of futura revenues and costs lo complete. In making these assessments there is a degree
of inherent uncertalnty. The Group utllises the appicpriate expertise in determining these estimates ang has well-esiablished internal controls 1o
assess and review the expected outcome.
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Criticat judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

Revenue recognition

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profit recognition In respect of contracting and varlable consideration contracts require
judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain contracts and the recovery of work [n progress, mobillisation costs and contract
assels. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject 10 a reguiar review of the revenue and costs 10 complete that contract.

The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition is as follows:

201 2020
£'000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repaiks and maintenance 481,647 449974
Contracting 101,599 103,643
Property income 240,641 199718
Care services 19,446 19,825
Other 295 109
843,628 773,269
Lease income . 34792 32,548
878,420 805,817

Al of the above categories falt exclusively within the Housing segment.

A total of £13.2m of revenue was recagnised in respect of the balance of contract liabliities at the start of the year (2020: €2.1m).

Repairs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically Invoiced between one and 30 days from completion of the performance obiigation,
Contracting revenue Is typically invoiced based on the stage of completion of the owverall contract. Property income is typically invelced monthly in
advance. Payment terms for revenue invaiced are typically 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

A maturity analysis of future minimum lessor incoma as at 31 December is shown in the table below:

200 2020

£'000 £'000

Less than 1 year 7535 7963
Between 1and 2 years 2,365 2938
Between 2 and 3 years . 2,080 2,385
Between 3 and 4 years 1780 2,087
Between 4 and 5 years 1,544 1,683
Over 5 years 812 2,296
16,066 19,352

3, SEGMENT REPORTING

Accounting palicy :

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group repons to its chief operating
decision maker.

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business.

The Group had one continuing operating segment during the year:

— Housing - following the disposal of the Group's domiciliary care operations, all services provided by the Group fall within this segment.
This includes housing repairs and malntenance services, a full housing management service and Care services directly related 10
housing provision.

All of the Group's activities are carried out within the United Kingdom and the Graup's principal reporting to its chlef operating decision maker ts not
segmented by geography. As such, the results for the Group as a whole represent the resuits for the single segmant.
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Financiai statements

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SEGMENT REPORTING CONTINUED

AX remiug 80 S8 ION-CLAEN AS3ELS NS WIS the Unfled Kingdom. Aol the revenus repariad 5. sxtemal 1o 1he Group. The Gioup's larges)
single cusiomer relationshin is in respect of the Asyium Accommodation snd Suppor Contracl with the Home Ofica At the tne that tihis conirect
wrs won, e Groug Sxpected 1o repod Bnnual revenues. of 810und E1Z0m, which woul, LACH O CONtHLioNs, MM £0 SOUNd 15% of Group
revenues. The AASC contract has experenced mlevaled volumes as 2 rrmit of 8 backiog bnied (o the chalienges of Covic-t9 At 8 result, this
cusiomer relationship eccounted for gver 20% of Groun revenues In 2021 and thiy slevated posiion has continued o 2022 in the tanger term,
this contract Is expecied 16 reduce back down 1o a normal level, No other customer comprtses more than 0% of reporied revenue.

4. OPERATING COSTS
Opéraiing costs, relating i Lontinuing activites, include the following:

i 2920
€000 )
Share-besed paymems L+, ] 993
Demreciavon 4900 47668
Impaiemen of fied sasets - 1500
AmGisation of soquiSIton imar gikes 7084 9525
Amonisation of oiher knangibies a3 2.2M
Loss on gposal of property. plar 860 equpment m a3
Faes payable far sttt and non-sudit services gueing tha year weare 35 loliows.
20H 3620
€000 000
I réspeci of cantmuing scivities:
Faus pEyabin 10 th Bucitor e tha sudil of the Group's Hancisl Statements %0 0
Giher fees paysbie 10 the sudkior in respect aof:
- audling of of sutxskdiary syart 19 00 L
—  axidiifion sl fees in respect of the 2020 sudit m -
Fres piryabie 1o the Bucior In respect of Sscominued aciiviies - 0
Total audstor's emunerstion 1023 685
S, FINANCE INCOME AND PINANCE COSTS
£ 2020
K000 5000
Interest charge on ovesch ahs and iosm Haom| 63
Inevest charge on hetged hems 2] <]
Interest on lease obigaticns [ X, ] a3
Other Iniarest L] 9
Finance costs o bank ioans, overdreits and iesses any S9)
imereR cnarge on detined benefi pension oblipation 23 =3
w costs [m.804) 10294
Inlevest inComa resulting from shodd-term bank depostts 1 L)
Intarest income resuiting from defined benefit penslon asset 108 2
Micome inpm ewemen of hedge instruments E -
Cther intrrast income: 3 53
Finange ncome L] 293
Net inance chage (8.06m 9,938
Geins and kossérs o0 hedged hems recognised In other com orehensive ncome:
Gainuosses) arising in 1he yess wa Jek<z]
R ation k0 the Conscldated Statemeni of Profk or Loss oy 394
Chanoes (N MAnc-market of inberest rete cwaps a8 (785)
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6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £000
Wages and salaries 166,304 161128
Social securlly costs 16,425 17,280
Other pension costs 8,562 9,454
191,28 187962

Vwages and salaries are presenied net of Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme of Enil (2020 £15.7m).

The average number of employees of the Group guring the year was:

2021 2020
Site workers 2873 3474
Carers 664 703
Office and management 1860 2150
5397 5,327

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financlal statements in accordance with IFRS 2.

The Group operates equity-settled share-based remunetation plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the grant of
any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the falr value {excluding the effect
of non-market-based vesting conditions) of the share options awarded. Their vaiue is determined at the date of grant and s not subsequently
remeaswred unless the condltions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant Is calculated using the Monte
Cario aption pricing moded (2020: Sfack-Scholes) and the cost is recognised on & straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustments are made ta
reflect expected and actual forfeliures durlng the vesting period. For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required io contribute towards
the plan. This non-vesting cangition Is taken into account in calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date.

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, For equity-settled share-based
payments there is a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued
are allocated to share capital, with any excess belng recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four (2020: four} active share-based payment schemes for employee remuriecation,

Details of the share options outstanding &nd movement during the year are as follows:

201 2020
Waighted Weighted
avarage verage
exercise exercise
Number prica Number price
Operating segments 000 P ‘000 [
Qutstanding at 1 Janudry 5,292 31 3325 brird
Granled 544 1 4,004 93
Farfeited or lapsed (965) 177 (.647) - 240
Exercised {a4) 92 R90) 7
Quistanding at 31 December 4,827 1o 5,292 3

The welbhted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercsed during the period was 125p. At 31 December 2021, 0.5m aptions
had vested and were still exercisable at prices between Ip and 429p. These options had a weighted average exercise price of 284p and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 6,7 years.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION CONTINUED

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Monte Carlo option pricing moded (2020: Black-Scholes). Significant inpuls into the
calculation include the marke! prce st the date of grant, the exercise price and share price volatility. Furthermaore, the calculation incorporates an
estimate of the future dividend yield and tha risk-free interest rate, The share price volatility was determined from the dally log normal distributions
of the Company share price over a period commensurate with the expecied life as calculated back from the date of grant. The risk-free Interest

rate ytllised the zero-coupon bond yield derived from UK Government bonds as at the date of calculation for & life commensurate with the expected
life. Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period due to failure ta salisty service conditions.

There were 0.54m options granted during the year and 0.97m options 1hat lapsed during the year. The market price at 31 December 2021 was 189p
and the range ducing 2021 was 148p 10 224p.

AN share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the following expenses related to share-based payments:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Giving rise 10 share-based payment reserve;
- SAYE 295 . £82
— S0P 133 347
- LTI o4 -
- DSBP 53 -
575 1029

The Group is currently running four active schemes, detalled below:

Share save plan (Save As You Earn)

Options are available to all employees. Options are granted for a period of three years. Oplions are exercisable st 8 price based on the quoted
market price of the Company’s shares et the tima of invitation, discounted By up ta 20%. Options are forfeited i the employee leaves Mears Group
before the options vest, which impacts on the number of options expected to vest, If an employee stops saving bul continues in employment, this is
treated as a cancellation, which resuits in an acceleration of the share-based payment charge.

Company Share Option Plan

The Company operates a discretionary unapproved share plan and a Company Share Option Plan, Options are exercisable ot a price below market
valye at the date of grant and ofien at nominal value. The vesling period is three years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears Group before the options vest. No awards to Executive
Directors are proposed undey these pfans.

Long-term incentive plan
The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (ie. either canditional shares or il ar neminal cost aptions) normally on an annual basis which are eligible
to vest after three yeers subject to continued service and the achlevement of challenging performance conditions. The first award under this scheme
was made during 2021. Options are granted under this scheme to key senior management subject to performance conditions as detalled on page 92
of the Remuneration Report.

Deferred share banus plan (DSBP)

The deferred share bonus plan relstes to Annual Bonus payments where typicalty 33% are deferred into shares and vest subject to continued
empioyment. Individuals may be able to receive 8 dividend equlivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at the time of vesting equal to the value of
dividends that wauks have accrued during the vesting period. The dividend equivaient payment may assume the relnvestment of dividends ona
cumulative basis, Clawback provisions may apply for firee years from the date of payment of any bonus or the grant of any deferred bonus share award.
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8. TAX EXPENSE

Accounting policy

Current tax assets and/or liabilittes comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities that sre unpald at the balence sheet date. They are
calculated according 1o the tax rates and tax laws applicabie to the accounting periods 10 which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Where an item of income or expense is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recognised 8s a
comporent of t&x expense in the Consolidated Statement of Prafit or Loss. Where an item is recognised directly to equity or presented within the
Consolldated Statement of Comprehensive Incame, any related tax generated is treated simlarly,

Deferred taxation is the 1ax expected to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilllties in
the financial statements and corresponding tax bases used in the computaiion of taxable profit and is accounted lor using the balance sheet
liabllity method.

Oeferred taxation Kabilities are generally recognised on all taxable temporary differences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets are
recognised 1o the extent that it Is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be ulilised.
However, deferred tax Is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, unless the related
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

Deferred taxation is Calculated using the tax rates and laws that are expected 10 apply in the pericd when the kability is settled or the asset is realised,
pravided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferred laxation assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that It s no longer probabte that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which taxable
temparery differences can be utilised. Deferred taxis charged or credited to either the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehenshse Income or equity to the extent that i relates to items charged or credited. Deferred tax relating 1o items charged or
credited directly to equity is atso credited or charged 1o equity.

Tax recognised in the Consokidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2021 2020
£000 £000
United Kingdom corporation tax 2407 (785)
Adjustment in respec of previous periods (450 674
Total current tax charge/{credIt) recognised in Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1,952 [}
Deferred taxation charge:
= 0n defined benefit pension obligations 154 (ien
== 0On share-based psyments - 101
- On capital alowances BOS (26)
- On amortisaticn of acquisition intanglbles (1.372) 1.553)
== On short-term temporary timing differences (45) 4
—  On corporate taxlosses 1,003 (324)
— other timing differences (50} 43
- siatutory rale changes : 742 -
Adjustment In respect of previous periods {3) (1314}
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1,235 (3.096)
Total tax chargeficredit) racognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on continuing aperations 3192 3,207
Tolal tax (creditycharge recognised in Consolideted Staterent of Profit or Loss on discontinued operations {182) 1
Totaf tax chargedcredit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 3,010 (3,086}
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December _2021

8. TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £000

Profitfloss) for the year on continuing operations befare tax 6,333 (15.218)
Profit for the year on discontinued operations before tax 940 56.933
Result for the year before 1ax 17273 HNNS
Result for the year multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax In the Unhied Kingdom for the perlod of 19.0%
(2020:19.0%) 3,282 7926
Effect of:
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes n 142
— fixed asset impairment - 285
— nelproceeds of disposals of subsidiaries not subject 10 tax {208} 8,760
- Income not subject to tax - (248)
- taxmpact of employee share schemes 102 20
— taxlosses not previously recognised in deferred tax [593) (35)
— Impact of stalutory rate changes ’ 742 -
— _adjustment In raspect of prior perods {835) 1,597

Actual tax chargef{credit) 3.010 {3.086)

Defarred tax is recognised on both temparary diffarences batween the treatment of items for tax and accounting purpeses. Defeqred tax on the
amortisation of acquisition inlangibles is atemporary difference and arises because no tax relef is due on this kind of amortisation.

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expecied to be utiised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax asset and
a subsequent charge arises as those losses are utilised, No deferred tax assel is recognised in respect of losses of £25.5m (2020, £29.0m) across
several entities in the Group as it is not expected that they will be eligible to be uthised against profits in the future.

Deferred tax is 8lso recognised on shori-tenm temporary timing differences, primarity relating 1o provisians. These differences are expected
ta reverse in the following year and arise because tax relief s only avallable when the cests are incurred.

Capltal allowances represent 1ax refief on the acquisition of property, planmt and equipment ant are spread over several years at rates set by
legrslation. These differ from depreclation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment over its useful life. Deferred tax
Is recognised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying value in the accounts.

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 included measures to support economic recovery as a resuit of the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic. These included an increase to the UK's maln corporation tax rate to 25%, which is due to be effective from 1 April 2023. These changes
were substantively enscied at the balance sheel date and hence have been reflected inthe ment of deferred tax balances at the period end,
o 1he extent those balances are expected 10 iImpact on current 1ax aftes 1 Aprit 2023,

The following 1ax has been charged to other comprehensive income or equity during the year:

200 2020

£000 £000
Deferrad tax charge/icredit) recognised in other comprehensive income
= On defined beneft pension abligations 8,809 (721
= 0On cash flow hedges 178 0a9)
Total deferred 1ax chargesicredit) recagnised in other comprehensive income 8,987 (1876)
Deferrad tax recognised directly in aquity
Oeferred tax credit:
—__on share-based payments 228 o
Tota! deferred lax recognised in equity {(228) 10
Total tax 1
Total current tax \7rs 10
Totwal deferred 1ax 9,994 {4,982)
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9. DISCONYINUED ACTIVITIES
During 2020, the Group completed the disposal of its Damiciliary Care business and dispesed of its Planning Solutions business.

A small amount of Income and expendilure were incurred in respect of the Domiclliary Care business during 2021, primarily for transitional services as
a resul of the separation of the disposed business from the continuing business. These transactions are recognised in disconlinued operations.

tn addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Solutions business included a contingent element to be received in April 2022,
The fair velue of this contingent consideration has been reassessed at 31 December 2021 and the resultant profit has been recognised in
discontinued operations.

The results of the operations which have been Induded in the consclidated financial statements are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'300

Revenve and profits .
Sales revenue ’ 57 35,389
Cost of sales E3) {20787
Administrative expenses (164} {11,738}
Profit on disposal - 54,074
Increase In fais value of contingent consideration 1500 -
finance costs ] {4)
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 940 56,933
Tax on discontinued operations 182 {129
Profit for the year after tax an discontinued operations - 1422 56.812

The results of all disposed businesses prior to thelr disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows In the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement,

The results of the operations which have been Included In the Consclidaied Cash Flow Statement are as follows:

202 2020
£'000 £000
Operating activities
Result for the year before tax 940 $6,933
Net finance costs 3 4
Share-based payments - 36
Depreciation and amortisation - 1,004
Net profit on disposal of investments - (58,993}
Fair value movement {1100) -
Change in operaling recelvables - 586
Change in operating payebles 34 2,962
Ne1 cash foutflow)inflow from operating activilies before taxation (123) 2,532
Taxes paid 182 )
Net cash ifiow from operating activitles 59 2,527
Investing activities
Additions 10 property, plant and equipment - (309)
Additions 10 other iManglble assets - (3]
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 500 63676
Nel cash disposed of with subsidtaries - (5,618)
Net cash inflow from Investing activitles 500 54,612
Financing activities
Discharge of lease llabilities a1 (485)
interest paid (3) 4
Net cash cutflow from financing activities (2209 (489
Net increase in cash and ¢ash equivalents ' 339 56,650
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. DIVIDENDS

Accounting policy

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included In ‘Current financisl liabilities’ when the dividends are approved in a general
mesating prior to the balance sheet date.

The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

2021 2020
€000 £'000
Final 2020 dividend of Op (2020: final 2019 dividend of Op) per share - -
Interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p (2020: Interim 2020 divigend of Op} per share 2773 -
2713 —

No dividend was deciared In respect of 2020. An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was pald to shareholders in October 2021,
The Directors recornmend a final dividend of 5.50p per share. This has not been Inciuded within the consoligated financial staterments as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2021,

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Continuing
Continuing Discominued sl discontinued
202 2020 201 2020 2021 2020
P P [ p ) B
Eamings per share nrn2 (10.66} 1.01 50.87 1273 40.21
Diluted earings per share 150 10,66} 0.99 50.87 1249 40.21

The calculation of EPS Is based on a weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The diluted EPS is based on 2 weighted average of
ordinary shares calculated in accordance with IAS 33 'Earnings per Share’, which assumes that sl dilutive options will be exercised. JAS 33 defines
dilutive options as those whose exercise would decrease earnings per share or inCrease loss per share from continuing aperatians.

2021 2020

Miltion Mitlion

Weighted average number of sharmes in issue: 10.93 1056
—Dilutive effect of share options . 213 -
Weighted average number of shares for calculating dikted eamings per sharé ' 113.08 1056

As the Group made a loss from continuing operations during 2020, there were no dilutive options during that period. The number of antidilutive
potential shares not included in the abave table for 2020 was 0,39 miflion.
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12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiarles and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired entity over the Group's Interest in the falr
value of the entity's identifiable assets and abillites acquired and Is capitalised as a separste termn. Goodwil is recognised #s an intangible asset.

Under the business cambinationg exemption of IFRS 1, goodwil| previously written off directly (o reserves under UK GAAP Is not recycled 1o the
Consolidated Statement of Ptofit ur Loss an calculsting a gain or loss on disposal.

Impairmant

For the purposes of assessing impaimment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which thece are separately identifiable cash lows: CGUs. As 8
result, some assets are tesled individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level. Goodwil is allocated to thase CGUs that are expected to
benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the loweslt leve) within the Group at which management monitors the
related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include gaodwill and those intengible assets not yet avaable for use are tested for impairment at least annually.
Alt other Individual assets or TGUs are tasted far impairment whenever events of changes in drcumstances indicaie thal the carrying armount may nol
be recoverable.

Animpairment loss Is recagnised in the Consolidated Statament of Profit of Loss for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amaunt. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs 1o sell, end value in use
based on an internal discounied cash flow evaluation. Impairment losses recognised for CGUSs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impakment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the CGU. With the exception of
goodwill, ail assets are subsequently resssessed for indications that an impairment koss previcusly recognisad may no langer exist.

Goadwill
weisingon. Purchased
consolidation goodwill Total
£000 £000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At January 2020 14,954 8,250 123,204
Reclassification 4208 (4,209 -
Disposal of subsidiary {433Y — (4,331
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 14,831 4,042 18,873
Accurmadated impairment losses
At 1 January 2020, al 1 January 202) and 3t 31 December 2021 - = -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 14,84 4,042 184873
At 31 December 2020 114,831 4,042 18,873

Goodwill on consolldation arlses on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a compary.

Purchased goodwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assels
of @ business by the Group.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 12 9

BONVNUYIAOD JLIVHOLHOD AHO4AH J19ALVNILS

SINIWNILYLS TVIONYNIL

A\Y

NOILYWNUOINI HITTOHIUVYHS

\Y

A




Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Goodwlil Is not amortised bul is reviewed for impakment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may be
impalred. Goodwill acquired in a business camblination is allocated to groups of CGUs according 1o the levet at which management monitors that
goodwill. Gondwill is carried at cost less accumulated impaikment losses.

The canrying value of goadwill s allocated to the following CGUs:

Goodwlll
arisingon Purchased
consalkidation goodwill Total
. £'000 £'000 £°000
Housing 95,742 4042 99784
Housing with Care 19,089 - 19,089
114,831 4,042 18,873

Howsing with Care is delivered through two standalone subsidiaries of the Group and includes those activities that include an element of personal
care as part of the service {0 the end user, The cash flows in respect of these twa subsidiaries are separately Identifiable and hence thisis a CGUn
its awn right. All other activilles fall within the Housing CGU.

An asset is impalred If the carrying value exceeds the CGU's recoverable amount, which Is based on valie in use. At 31 December 2021 impaiment
reviews were pedormed by comparing the carrying value with the value in use for the CGUs ta which goodwill has been aliocated.

The value in Luse for each CGL is calculated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for the next four
years discounted at a post-tax discount rate of aver & five-year period with a terminal value. The impakment reviews incorpasaled a terminal growth
a5sumption, which is conservative when cormpared with the UK long-term growth rate and the underdying demagraphics, which will be positive for the
Group's core markets.

The estimated growth rates are based on knowiedge of the Individuat CGU's sector and market and represent management's base level
expectalions for fulure growih. Changes o revenue and direct Costs are based on past experience and expeciation of future changes within the
markets of the CGUs. All CGUSs have the same access 10 the Group's treasury function and borrowing arrangements 1o finance their operations.

Managemen! considers that reasonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause a CGU's canylng ameunt 10 exceed fis
recoverable amount,

The rates used were as follows:

Volume Terminal

Post-tax Pre-tax growih rate prowth

o i rate rate tyears 1-5) rate

Housing 9.00% n.50% 2.00% 170%
Housing with Care 9.00% NnAS% 2.00% 1.70%
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13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

In accordance with IFRS 3 {Revised) ‘Business Combinations’, an intangible asset acquired in 8 business combinstion Is deemed to have a ¢cost to the
Group of its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible assel reflects market expectations about the probability that the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together with 8 related
tangible or Intangible asset, the group of assets Is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual fal values of the
assets in the Group are not reliably measurable. Where the Individual fair values of the complementary assets are relisbly measurable, the Group
recognises them 8s & single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. lntangible assets are amortised over the usefut economic
{Ife of those assets.

Development costs incufred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

— Completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be available for use.

= The Group Intends ta complete the development of the module and use it.

= The software will be used In generating probable fulure economic benelits.

== There are adequate technical, financial and other resowices to complete the development and to use the software.
~ The expenditure atiributable to the software during its deveiopment can be measured reliably.

Costs Incurred making Intellectual property available for use (including any associated borrowing costs) are capitalised when alt of the following
conditlons are satisfied:

Completion of the data set is technically feasible so that it will be available for use.

The Group intends to complete the preparation of the data and use it.

The data will be used in generating probable future economic benefits.

There ara adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the data set and to use it.

The expenditure attributsbie o the intellectual property during iis development can be measured reliably.

Development costs not meeting the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred, Careful judgement by management is applied when
dedding whether the recognition requirements for devefopment costs have been met, This is necessary as the economic success of any
development is uncertain and may be subject lo future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
available at each balance sheet date. In addition, &ll internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually
monitored by management,

The cost of aninternally generated intangible asset comprises all directly stiributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be
capable of operating In the manner intendad by managemenl. Directly atiributable costs include employee costs incurred on sofiware development.

Amartisation commences, upon completion of the asset and is shown within other administrative expenses. Untl! the assel is avallable for use on
completion of the project, the assets are subject to impaiment testing only. Development expenditure is amortised over the period expecied
to benefit

The Identiflable intangible assets and assoclated periods of amortisation are as follows:

Order book — over the perlod of the order book, typically three yeors
Client relationships — over the perlod expected to benefit, typically five years
Supplier relationships - over the period expected to benefit, typicaily two years
Development expemditure — over four Lo flve years, straight line

Software — 25% p.a., reducing balance

The useful economic lives of intangible assels are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Acquisition imtangibies

Tota
- Chent Orctat Supplier mulsmor: Development Yotal
retationships baok j p Intanglbh penditure Intangibies
£'000 £000 £'000 000 £000 €000
Gross carying amount
Al 1 January 2020 65987 17770 2272 85,929 22998 08927
Additions - - - - 4,858 4,858
Disposal of subsidiaries - - — -~ (7896) (7886)
A1 Janupary 2021 65,987 7770 FRr7] 85929 19860 105,889
Additions - - - - e 1182
At 31 December 2024 . 65,987 7,770 Fhrrd 85,929 21342 1w07on
Accumulated amortisation
At1January 2020 514 13,580 1089 66100 1485 80,285
Amortisation charge for period 8351 525 650 9,526 2625 12151
Disposal of subsidiaries - = - - 1752} 0,752}
At January 201 59782 5 1738 75626 15,058 90,684
Amortisation charge for perod 3,556 3,665 433 7654 2123 9777
At 31 Decomber 2021 63338 17770 272 83,280 17am 100,461
Carrying amount
Al 31 Deceamber 2021 . 2,549 - = 2,643 3,981 6,610
Al 31 December 2020 5,205 3,665 433 10,303 4,902 15,205

Development expenditure is an Internatly developed intangible asset and refates largaly 1o the development of the Group's Housing job management
system. Development expenditure is amortised aves its useful economic life of 5.0 years, The weighted average rémalning economic itfe of the asset
Is 3.1 years (2020: 3.1 years).

Al amonisation Is inciuded within other administrative expenses.

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policy

Items of praperty. plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of depreciation. Historical cost inciudes expenditure thal is directly atiributable
ta the acquisition of the items. Subsequent casts are included in the asset’s carrying amount ar recognised as & separate asset, as appropriste, only
when itis probabie that future economic benefits assoclated with the item will fiow into the Graup and the cost of the item can be measwed refiably.
Al other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Siatement of Proflt 6r Loss during the financial period In which they are incurred.

Freehaold 1and is not depreciated, Depreciation on other assets is calculated 10 wilte down the cost less estimated residual value over their estimated
useful economic lives. The rates generally applicable are:

Freehold buildings = 2% pa, straign line

Leasehold Improvements - ower ihe periad of the (ease, straight line
Plant and machinery - 25% p.a, reducing balance

Equipment - 21%% p.a, reducing balance

Fixtures and fittings - 50% p.a., slraight line

Wator vehicies ~ I5% p.a, reducing balance

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate. The carrying velue is reviewed for impairment in the period it events or changes in
circUmstances indicate the caffying value may not be recoverable. An asset’s camying value IS writien down immédiatety to its recoverable amount i
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recovergble amount.
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Galns and losses on dispasals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the camying amount and are recognised within administrative
expenses in the Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Identifying whether there are indicators of impairment In respect of preperty, plant and equipment invoives some judgement and a good

understanding of the drivers of value behind the asset. At each reparting period an assessment is performed In order to determine whether there are
any such indicators, which involves considering the performance at both a contract and business level, and any significant changes to the markets in

which we operate. This is hot considered to be a critical judgemant or an area of significant uncertainty.

Fixtures, Assats
Freehold Leasehold Plam and fittings and Motor under
proparty  improvements machinery squipment vahicles construction Total
£000 €000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
AL1 Jenuary 2020 822 22,497 2933 4':'.4-:40 1,008 4,726 79426
Additions - 2,969 28 846 - 13 4956
Disposals {6) {6,080) 059 {10755} (24) - (17,016)
Reclassification - {104) - 104 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries - (241 (7en (2.005) - - 3.007
Transferred from disposal group 1o 128 - 7 - - 256
A1 January 2021 926 19170 2,049 35,647 984 5,839 64,815
Additions 101 5225 9 2,051 - 216 76802
Disposals - - (500} (8.343) - - (8,843
Transfer to inventories - - - - - (6,055) (6,055)
At 31 December 2021 1,027 24,395 1,558 29,355 984 - 57319
Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 a6 12,824 213 3IN35 982 - 53100
Provided in the year 28 2,226 24 - 3205 7 - 5.680
Eliminated on disposals (3] {6,080) 0135) (10,496) 23) - 16,740}
Impairment - - - - - 1,500 1,500
Reclassification - 2 - (2} - - -
Disposal of subsidlaries - (102) {641 {1.808) - - (2,559
Transfemred to disposal group - 18 - 8 — ~ 25
At 1January 2021 68 8838 1,551 28042 966 1,500 4,015
Provided in the year 30 3241 ng 2,222 5 - 5616
Efiminated on disposals - - (426} (8,098) - - (8,524}
Transfer 10 inventories - - - - - 0.500 {1,500}
At 31 Dacember 2021 98 12429 1,243 22166 9N - 36,607
Carrying amount \ '
At 31 December 2021 929 12,266 315 7389 1 - 20,712
At 31 December 2020 858 10,282 458 7,605 B 4339 23,600

During the year, the property previousty presened as an asset under construction was reclassified to inventories as it is now expectedtobe sold to a
third party on completion, rather than used within the business.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18, RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Accounting policy

Where an asset is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right of use assel is
Measured at cost, which matches the initl2i measurement of the Iease liability and any costs expaciad at the end of the lease, and then depreciated
On a straighit-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability Is measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's incremental berrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed payments, varlable payments based on an Index and payments arising from options reasonably certain to
De exercised.

The Group has elected to account for shofi-term |leases and leases of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right
ofuse asset and a lease liability, the payments in relation ta these are recognisad a5 an expense in profit ar loss on a straighi-line basis over the
lease term,

On the statement of financial pasition, right of use assels and lease liabilities are presentad separately.

Critical judgements In applying the Group’s accounting pollcies

The Group halds more than 15,000 leases across its portfolio of residential properties, offces and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours

to standardise the form of leases, operational demands dictate that many leases have specific wording to address particular operationai needs angd
also to manage the associzted operational and financial risks. As such, each lease requires ingividual Bssessment and the Gioup Is required to make
key Judgements which include:

= theidentification of a lease,;

=~ assessing the right to direct the use of the underlying asse;

= determining the lease term; and

= (he assessment as to the level of fulure lease payments, including fixed and variable payments.

The most typical challenges encountered and which florm the key judgements are:

where the iease contains a one-way no-fault break In Mears' favour, the Group measures the obligation based on the Group’s best estimate of its
fulure Intentlons;

where a unllateral break is in place, #ssessing whether the lease can be terminated with no mare than an insignificant penalty;

where the lessor has a right of substitution meaning that the lessor can $wap one property for another without Mears’ approvai;

where Mears does not in practice have the right to control the use of the asset and the key decision making righis are retained by the supplier;
where a wider agreement for a supply of services includes a lease component which meets the definition of a lease under IFRS 16; and

the assessment of the fixed lease payments where the lease obligation to the landiord is based on a pass-through amangement in which Mears
only makes lease payments to the owner 1o the extent that the property Is occupled and o the extent that rents are received from the tenant

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Additions and remeasurements 1o right of use assats In respect of lease agreements are equivalent to the present value (or change In present value)
of the relevant lease obligation. Unless there is an interest rate impiicit in the lease itself, the Group's Incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR) is used to
calcuiate the present vaiue of future lease payments. Estimation is required in deriving an appropriate J8R. The Directors believe that the best
approximation for IBR is the currently applicable margin from the grid contained within the Group's RCF agreement, added 10 an appropriate base
rate. For the current period, that base rate was LIBOR. as that was the base rate under the RCF agreement throughout the yeat. For 2022, the base
rate will switch to SONIA as that is the base rate under the new RCF agreement, finalised in December 2021, This change is not expected 1o have a
materiadl impact on the calcutation of IBR.

The above represents a change in estimation methodoiogy for IBR from that used during the previous year. In 2020, the Geoup had 8 low level of
headroom on its RCF and a reduced ability for additional borrowing. it was therefora aot considered appeopriate at that time to uliise the RCF rate,
Instead, the Directors determined a syninetic credit rating and used this to select appropriate corporsie bond yield curves at varying tenors to
determine an appropriate IBR for leases enlered into during the year.

The Directors believe that the methodokgy appliedin 2021 is both a simplification of and an improvement to the method epplied in the prior year.
Given the significant reduction in the Group's leverage, the RCF would now be utilised 1o fund the undertying assets were the Directors to choose to
purchase rather than lease. The RCF rates are real commercial rates of interest that the Group has access 10 and therefore represent more rekiable
information on which 10 base this estimate. The sensilivity of the Jease llabillty to the assumptions used in these estimations Is Indicated in note 20.

Investment property

Inciuded within right of use assets are cef1ain properties classified as investment properties in accordance with 1AS 40. These properties are held
primarily in order 1o eam rentals. The Group has chasen (o 3pply the cost mode! to all investment property and therefore measuremant is In line with
IFRS 16 as described in the Leased assets accounting pelicy.
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Properties that generate rentals but are primarily held for the provision of social benefits are not considered to meet the definition of

Investment property.
Assets that are Assets that sre used
sub-leased to customers directly within the business
Investmeant Residential Residentinl
property property property Offices  Motor vehicles Tota!
£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 27052 15,592 42352 11,961 32,09 229,066
Additions® 476 2969 33,462 1479 8187 45,603
Disposals - (6.552) (507 (1105} {2.390} {10,554}
Disposel of subsidiaries - - - 1.259) - {1,259}
At 1 January 2021 27528 12,03% 75307 1076 37906 263856
Additions* . a7 5824 29,646 1,262 12,895 50,044
Disposals - (4,674) {1487 {9103 (19761 (26,832)
At 31 December 2021 27,945 n3189 103,456 1,428 31,040 287068
Depreciation
At1January 2020 1,509 1,874 3,460 3282 10557 30,662
Provided In the year 1521 10,832 16,292 2753 nz 42510
Eliminated on disposals - (5.555) (140} {1,063} 2213 8.973)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - {404) - {404) -
ALt January 2021 3030 17151 18,612 4,568 19,454 63,815
‘Provided In the year 1,553 8,609 21,589 1741 292 43403
Eliminsied on disposals - (4,40) (795) B810) (19,264) (25109)
At 31 December 2021 4,583 21,620 40,406 5,399 1011 g219
Carrying amount .
At 31 December 2021 3362 NSE69 63,060 6,029 20,929 204,949
Al 31 December 2020 24,498 94,888 55,695 6,508 18,452 200,041

' Agditions includes both new underlying assets and remeaswement of the right of use asset for changes in the lease terms.

Investment propesty included sbove represents properties held by the Group primarily to earn rentals, rather than for use in the Group’s other
activities. The amountintiuded in lease iIncome in note 2 in respect of these properties Is £1.7m (2020 £2.9m). Direct operating expenses arising from
investment property that generated rental income during the period was £3,3m (2020: £3.4m). The carrying value of the right of use asset in respect
of investmant property is considered to be approximately equal to its fair value.

16. INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments include those over which the Group has significant influence but which it dees not control. These are calegorised as assoclates. Itis
presumad that the Group has significant influence where it fias between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the investee unless indicaled otherwise.

The Group also holds Investments in Joint ventures where the Group and other partles have joint contral over thelr activities.

The basis by which associales and joint ventures are consolidated in the Group financial statements is through the equity method, as outlined In the

basis of consofidation.

In addition to associates and joint ventures, the Group holds investments In entities over which it does not exert significant influence. These are

accounted for at fak value through profit or loss.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. INVESTIMENTS CONTINUED

Other

Assotiates investments Total

£000 £'000 £000

Ar1 January 2020 . 536 - 536
Share of profil £056 - 1056
Qistributions received (69 - 691
Acquisition - 65 65
Ar1danuary 2021 am 65 966
Share of profit 855 - 855
Distributtons received {1108) = 008}
At 31 December 2024 648 65 3

On 9 Decemher 2020, as part of the disposal of the Groyp's Planning Solutions business, the Group acquired 6.16% of the ofdinary share capital of
Masan Topco Limited, the new owner of the disposed business. This investment Is presented in Other investments and is mandatorily held at fair

value through profit of loss. Thera have been no changes In the fair value of the Investment during the year {2020: none).

Associates

Setout below is the investment in an associate as at 31 December 2021, which In management's opinion is significant to the Group:

Carrying value
of Proport Coumry of 2021 2020
retationship held gistration £'000 £000
Pyramid Plus South LLP Associate 30% England and Wales 648 901

Pyramid Plus South LLP is a repairs and maimenance service provider that is central to one of the Group's contracis.

During the year, the Group received distributions of €13m {2020: £0.7m} from Pyramid Plus South LLP. Summarised financial information for Pyramid

Pus South LLP for the year is shown below.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 19,866 18413
Expenses 2,017) 14,895)
Profit for the year 2,849 158
Qther comprehensive Income - -
Total comprehensive income 2,849 3,518
Share of profil at 30% 855 1,056
Net assats
Non-curtént assets - -
Current assels 6,498 6,275
Current liablities (4,29 (3.257
Non-current liabikties - )
Total asses kess total llabikities 2207 3.0

Cash and cash equivelents of £1.9m (2020: £0.9m) were included in cuent assets above.
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The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2021 are shown betow:

Proportion hekd Courtry of rggmﬁon Nature of business
3c Asset Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Cateforce Group Pic 100% England and Wales Dormant
Evotve HousIng Limited 50% England and Wales Dormani
Helkcim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Oormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Oormant
Let to Birmingham Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited 80% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Direct Limited 80% England and Weles Domnant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormiant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Walaes Grounds maintenance
Mears Extra Care Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Maars Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Home Improvement Limited 100% England and Wakes Malntenance senvices
Mears Homecare Limited 100% Englard and Wales Provision of care
Mears Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited ' 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Mears Housing Management {Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housling Portfolio {Holdings}) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Houslng Portfollo (London) Limited 100% England and Wales Dommant
Mears Housing Portfollo 1 Limited 100% England and Wales Domant
Mears Housing Portfolic 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Houslng Portfolio 4 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Insurance Company Limited 99.99% Guemsey Insurance senvices
Mears Learning Limited 0% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Modular Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears New Homes Limited 100% England end Wales Hause building
Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland {Services) Limnlted 66.67% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland LLP 66.67% Scootland Maintenance services
Mears Social Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Supported Living Limited 100% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Wales Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MHM Property Servicas Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Morrison Facikities Services Limited 100% Scotland Maintenance services
MPM Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MPS Housing Limited 100% England and Wates Maintenance services
OA&T Developments Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management sefvices
Omega Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Plexus UK {First Project) Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Sclon Group Limited 100% England ang Wales Domant
Scion Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Sclon Technical Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Supporta Limited 100% England and Wales Dorrant
Tando Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Tando Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services

All subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Evolve Housing Limited prepare accounts to 31 December. Evolve Housing Limited prepares

accounts to 30 June in line with its historical accounting reference date.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

The Group includes the foilowing three subsidiaries with non-controlling interests: Manchester Working Limited, Mears Learning Limited and Mears
Scotland LLP. The table below sets out selected finandial Information in respect of those subsidiaries:

2021 2020

£'000 €000
Revenue gnd profits
Revenye 54,447 46,586
Expensas and iaxation {54,539) {47,685}
Profit for the year 92 {1,099
Other comprehensive expense - -
Total comprehensive income {92) {1,099}
Pront/ioss) for the year sllocated to non-controling interests 144 {68
Total comprehensive expense aliccated ic non-controling interests - -
MNet assets
Non-current assels 8 305
Current assets 14,985 17538
Current liabilities {10,339) 02.899)
Non-current ksbilities (3,393) .42
Total agsets less total Eabilities 3ax 3523
Equity shareholders” funds 2,629 2965
Non-controlhing interests 802 658
Total equity 34 3.523

The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended
31 December 2021, except MPM Housing Limited, which will take the same exemption for the 15-month period ended 31 Cecember 2021:

Registration

nymber

3C Asset Management Limited 02859913
Lel to Birmingham Uimited 08757503
Mears Estates Limited 03720903
Mears Extra Care Limited 03689426
Mears Homecare Limited 02744767
Mears Home improvement Limitea [ecralioin
Mears Hausing Management (Hoklings) Limited 04726480
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 0908305
Mears Housing Partfolic 4 Limited 10852906
Mears New Homes Limited 08780839
Mears Supported Living Limited SCE62805
MHM Property Services Limited 07448134
MPM Housing Limited 03528320
O&T Cevelopments Limited 05692883
Scion Group Limited 03905442
Scion Technical Services Limited 03671450
Tando Homes Limited 09260353
Tando Propeny Services Limited 07405761
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17. INVENTORIES
Accounting policy
Inventarles are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost Is the actual purchase price of materials.

Work In progress is Included In Inventories after deducting any foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work in
progress represents costs incurred on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yet been identified. Work in progress Is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable vaiue. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any sub-contracted work that has been incurred in bringing the
inventories and waork In progress to their present location and condition.

2021 2020

£°000 £000

Matertals and consymables 1,650 3,558
Work in progress 21,219 27700
22,869 31,258

The Group consymed inventories totaling £167.3m during the year (2020: £163.3m). No ltlems sre being carrled st fair value less costs to sek
{2020: £nil).

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounting pollcy

Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers in respect of iInvoices raised. They are initially measured al their ransaction price and
subsequenily remeasured at amortised cost.

Retention assets represent amounts held by customers for a period following payment of invoices, to cover any potential defects in the work.
Retention assets are included In trade receivables and are therefore Initially measured at their transaction price.

Conlract assets represent revenue recognised In excass of the totat of payments on account and amounts invoiced.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimation techniques used for revenue in respect of contracting require judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recovery of contract assets. Each contract |s treated on its merits and subject to a regular review of the revenue and costs to
complete that contract Contract assels represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments on accourd and amounts invoiced.

However, due 10 the estimation uncertainty scross numerous contracts @ach with different characteristics, it is not practical 10 provide a quantitative
analysls of the aggregated judgements thet are applied, and management does not believe that disdasing a polential range of cutcomes on a
consolidated basis wouki provide meaningful infermation to a reader of the accoumns.

2021 2020
£'000 £000

Current assels:
Trade recelvables 2851 39831
Contract assets 97,680 88,594
Contract fulfiiment costs 1,242 1,408
Prepayments ang accrued income 9,277 6,517
Contingent consideration 6,531 500
Other debtors 5,004 3,034
Total rade and Other receivables 148,305 139.864

included in trade receivables Is £4.9m [2020: £4.7m) in respect of retention payments due In more than one year.

Trace receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days and do not bear any effective interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued Income are
subject to credit risk exposure,

The maximum exposure to credit risk In relation to irade receivables and accrued income at the balance sheet date is the fair value of trade
receivabies and accrued income. The Group's customers are primarily a mix of Local and Central Governmeny and Housing Associations where credit
risk is minimal. The Group's customer base is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group does nat have a significant concentration of credit risk
with any one counterparty.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

The amaunts presented In the balance sheet in relatlon 10 the Group's rade recetvables and accrued income balances are presented Net of loss
allowances. The Group measures loss allowances a1 an amount equal to Ifetime expected credit bosses using both guantitalive and qualitative
information and analysis based on the Group's historical experience, and forward-looking information.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables Is as foliows:

2024 2020

Grass Expected Carrying Gross Expacied Carrying

amoun due cracitloss value asmournt due credit loss value

£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 €000

Not past due 27641 {1.110) 26,531 33279 722) 32557
Less than three months past due 2,063 29 1,634 5496 a7 5,017
Mare than three months past due 5873 {SA6T) 406 822 16,964) 21257
Total rade receivables 3BST7 {7.006) 28,571 47,396 {B.165) 39831

For expected creditiosses with large organisations, such as Government bodles or Housing Associations, expected credit losses are caloulated on
an individual basts, taking account of all the relevant factors apphcable to the amourit outstanding. The Group has no hislory of defaults with these
ypes of customers, 50 expected credit losses relate to specific disputed balances.

For individual tenant customers, expected credit losses are calculated based on the Group's historical experience of default by applying
& percentage based on the age of the customer’s batance.

The movement in expected credit loss during the periad is shown below:

20 2020

£'000 €000

As at1January 8165 2z

Changes in amounts provided 96 2,958
Amouris utilised 1355 1915

As at 1 December 7,008 8les

The mopvement in contract assets during the period is shown bitlow:

20 2020

£'000 £'000

As al1 January 28,594 10,263
Recognised on completion of performance abligations 843,628 773269
Involced during the year (334,542) (754,938}
As at 31 December 97,680 £88.594

Contingent consideration of £6.5m {2020: £0.5m} is consideration recelvable in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries. The 2021 balance is in respect
af the disposal of the Group's Planning Solutions business in December 2020. The 2020 balance was in respect of the disposal of the final element of
the Group's Damiciliary Care business in September 2020. This balance was received in full during 2021,

Included in other debtors is an amount of £2.9m (2020: £nil) recoverable from the Group's fronting insurers. An equal and opposite amount is also
inciuded within other creditors.,

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

02 2020

£'000 £'000

Trade payables 69,8385 4
Accruais 51343 42797
Socigl security and other taxes 29,724 34983
Contract liabilities 27843 25,330
Other creditors 5,582 3208
184,087 221029

Due 1o the short duration of trade payables, management considers the carrying amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheetiobe a
reasonable approximation of their fair value.

1 4 0 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



The movement in contract liabilities during the period is shown below:

2021 2020

£'000 £000

As at1.January 25330 202
Revenue recognised in respect of contract lisbilitles (13397) 212}
Payments recelved in advance of performance obligations being compteted 15,790 25,330
As at 31 December 27843 25,330

Contract liahilities refate to payments received fivin lhe customer on the contract, and/or smounts invoiced to the customer in advance of the Group
performing Its obligations on contracts where revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. These amounts are expected o be
recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

Included in other creditors ks an amount of £2.9m (2020: £nil} peyable to the Group's fronting insurers. An equal and opposie smount is also included
within ather debtors reflecting the subsequent reimbursement due 10 the Group's insurance captive.

20. LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease liabllities are separaiely presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as shown below:

201 2020

£'000 £000

Current 41,600 42,888
Non-current 175,290 166383

216,890 209,071

The Group had not committed to any leasas which had not commenced at 31 December 2021. The majority of the Group's property leases comaln
vatiable lease payments thyt vary annually either by reference (o an index, such as the Consumer Prices Index {CP), or based on market conditions
each year. The potential impact of this variation depends on future events and therefore cannot be quantified, but the Group would typically expect
commensurate adjustments to Income derived {rom these properties.

A smaller number of property leases contain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether it is reasonably certain that the
lenger term will apply. In same cases, a portfolio of leases with similar lease terms is considered together and, where a rolling notice period Is
availabie 1o the Group, 8n dverage expected lease life may be apped.

The Group has elected not to recognise & lease Kability for short-term leeses and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases are
aexpensed on a stralght-ine hasis. Centain leases incorporate variable lease payments that are not included In the measurement of laase liabifitles in
accordance with IFRS 18. The expense relsting to payments not included in the measurement of the |ease Hability IS as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Shori-term leases ‘ 46,780 45,846
Low value leases 879 839
Variable lease payments 1,550 2737

The portfolio of short-term leases to which the Group is committed at the end of the reporting pericd is not dissimilar to the portfolio to which the
above disclosure relates.

Other disclosures refating i lease liabilltles are provided in the table below:

on 020

Note £'000 £'000

Depreciation of right of use assets during the year % 43,413 42 510
Additions during the year ) 50,044 46603
Canrying value at the year ang 6 204,949 200,041
Interest an lease Kabllities during the year - cantinuing activities 5 6,952 7123
Total cash outflow in tespect of leases during the yeas 26 47,399 47470

The Group's lease liabilities are subject to changes in certaln key assumptions in estimating the 1BRs used to calculate the liabilities. The IBRs used
during the year ranged from 2.11% to 3.54%. The impact of an increase in ali IBRs applied during 2021 by 0.5% is a £0.6m reduction in the lease liability
and & £0.1m reduction In prafit before 1ax.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. PROVISIONS
A summary of the movement In provisions during the year is shown below:

Onergus

contract Property Legal
provisi provisions Provink Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000
AL 1 January 2021 344 - - 344
Utilised during the year (232) - - © {23
Provided during the year 1,288 730 2343 4,361
At 31 December 2021 1400 730 2,343 4473

The provision of £0.3m st 1 January 2021 was in respect of properity costs related to the discontinued care business. The remaining £0.tm of this
provision Is expected to be utilised within one year.

Al 31 December 2021, the Group identified a small number of maintenance contracts where the estimate of unavoidable costs of meeting contractusl
obligations exceed the remuneration expecied to ba received. These have been categonsed 85 onerous Contracts, In each case, the Group has
triggered the contracivdl break clause and the respective contracts will conchude during the course of 2022, a provision of £1.3m has been made for
the remaining lifetime losses on those conlracts.

Property provisions have been recognised during the year in respect of the axpected costs of reinstating several properties 10 their original condition.
These are expected to be utilised within gne year.

Legal provisions relate to sub-contractor and employee redated legal claims which are also expected to be utifised within one year.

22. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Accounting policy

The Group self-insures certaln flleet and kability risks. A provision for claims incurred bul nat recehved is recogrised in raspact of these potentia!
claims. The value of this provision is estimated based on pasi expenence of clsims.

2021 2020
£000 £000
Non-current provisions 3,800 3,667

Non-current pravisions represent seif-insured claims incurred but not yet reported. £1.7m of the provision was utifsed during the year and £1.8m of
additional amounts were provided. The timing of the utilisation af the provision /s unceriain as i depends upon the timing of insurence Claims against
the Group. However, the majority of the carrying value is expecied to be utilised in more than cne year and, as such, the provision s considered to be
non-current.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

The Group uses a limited number of financial Instruments comprising cash and figuid resources, bormowings. interes! rate swaps and various items
such as Irade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the
Group’s operations. The Group seexs 10 finance its operations through a combination of reteined eamings and borrowings and Investing swrplus cash
on deposit. The Group uses financipl instruments to manege the interest rate risks arising from its opearations and sources of finance but has no
interests in the wrade of financial instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised In the Consaolidated Balance Sheet when lhe Group becomes party 1o the contractual provisions of the
instrument. The principal financial assats and llabllities of the Group are as follows:

Financial assets
investments In unlisted equities that do not convey control or significant influence aver the underlying entity are recognised at fair value. They are
subsequently remeasurzd at fair value with any changes belng recognised in the Conscilgated Swatement of Profit or Loss.

Contingent consideration is held by the Group in order to collect the associated cash flows but untl the amoum is determined, these are not soiety
payments of principal and interest and therefore these assets are measured bath inltially and subxsequently at fair value, with any changes being
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit of Loss.

Loan notes are held by the Group in order to collect the associaled cash flows and not for trading. They are therefore inltially recognised st fair vekse
and subsequently measured al amartised cosl, 1e5s any provision for impalrment.
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Financial assels generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either trade receivables or contract assets. Al of the
Graup's irade receivables are shortderm In nature, with payments typlcally due within 60 days of the works belng performed. The Group's contracls
with its custamers therefore contain no significant financing component.

Mears recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses cn financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ‘simplified
approach”. Individually significant balances are reviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with the customer.
Other balances are grouped Mo credlt risk cetegories and reviewed in aggregate.

Trade receivables and cash at bank and in hand are non-derlvative finandal assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Trade recelvables are inltlally recordad at fair value net of ransaction costs, being invoiced value less any provisional estimate for
Impairment should this be necessary due to a loss event. Trade receivables are subsequenily remeasured at involced value, less an updated
provision for inpainment, Any change in thelr value through impakrment or reversal of impairment is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss. )

Cash and cash equivalents include cash a1 bank and in hand and bank deposits availsble with no notice or less than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject 1o an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current labilities to the extent that there is no
right of offsel with cash balances. The Group consldars its revolving credit facility to be an integrai part of its cash management.

Following initial recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financisl liabilities
The Group's financial Babllities are overdrafts, trade and other payables and interest rate swaps. They are included in the Consalidated Balance Sheet
line items ‘Long-term borrowings and overdrafts’, ‘Trade and other payables’, ‘Interest rate swaps’ and ‘Other payables’

Allinterest related charges are recognised as an expense In ‘Flnance costs' in the Consolidated Stalement of Profit or Loss with the exceplion of
those that are directly attributable to the construction of a guallfying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Bank and other bormow|ngs are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settiement or
cancelation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance Incarme and finance costs. Borrowing ¢osts are recognised as an expense inthe
period In which they are incurred with the exceptlon of those which are directly attrioutable to the construction of 8 qualifying asset, which are
capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade payables on narmal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initiat recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments 1o hedge its exposure to inlerest rate risks arising from operational and financing activities.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised inltially and subsequently at fair value, with mark-to-market movements recognised in the
Consoldated Statement of Profit or Loss except where cash fiow hedge accounting 1s applied.

The fair value of Interest rate swaps is the estimated amount thal the Group would recelve ar pay to terminate the swap at the bslance sheet date,
taking Into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

in accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financlal instruments for trading purposes.

Hedge accounting for interast rate swaps

Where an interest rate swap is designated as a hedge of the variability In cash flows of an existing or highly probable forecast loan interest payment,
the effective part of any valuation gain or loss on the swap instrument s recognised in other comprehensive income In the hedging reserve.

The cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss at the same time as the hedged
transaction, The Ineffective part of any gain or loss s recoagnised In the Consolidated Staternent of Profit or Loss immediately.

When a hedging instrument or hedge ralationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is stlll expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at

that polnt remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs, If the hedged transaction is na longer
probable, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity Is recagnised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss Immediately.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group contmued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Catugorles of financial instruments

20 2020
£'000 €000
Non-current assets
Fakr value (level 3)
Invesyments - other investmentis g5
Contingent consideration - 543
65 5496
Amortised cost
Loan notes 3ATS 3160
Current assets
Fair value (lavel 3)
Contingert Consideration 651 -
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 285N 39,831
Deferred cansigeration .- 500
Other debtors 5,004 3034
Cash al bank and in hand 54,632 96,220
88,207 139585
Non-current lisbilities
Fair vatua {level 2)
Interest rate swaps — efiective - (475}
interest rate swaps - ineffective = 7
Imerest rate swaps - {462
Amcrtised cost
Long-term borrowing and overdrafts - 39353)
Lease lisbilites __li5.390) (166.183)
{175, 290) (205,536}
Current liabilities
Fair value (leval 2)
Interest rate swaps — effective - [484)
Interast cale swaps — ineffeciive - 25
Interes) rate swaps = 1459)
Amortised cost
Trade payables {69,55%) mav
Lease liabilties {41,500} (42,888
Other creditors (5,582} {3.208)
e 3N {60,807
(193,748) {219023)

The armount recognised as an aliowance for expecied credit i35ses on irade recelvables during 2021 was £0.2m {2020: £3.0m).

The IFRS 13 hierarchy level categorisation relates to the extent the fair value can be determingd by reference to comparable market values.

The classifications range fcom level 1, where instruments are quoted on an active market, fhrough to level 3. where the sssumptions used 1o affive at

fair value do not have comparable market data,

The fair velues of inlerest rate swaps have been calculated by a thirg party expert discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of market

expeclations of future inte resi rates flevel 2).

The amaunt of contingent cansideration receivabla is lypically determinad by future expected profits of the sold businesses. The falr value

of contingent consideration has been calculated by management by reference to the draft income and expenditure of the disposed business during
2021 and the terms of the sale {level 3). Where appropriate, the fair vaiue of coningent consideration Is discounted at the Group’s weighted average
cost of capital. A £0.)m increase in ihe 2021 profits of the disposed business would increase the fair value of contingent consideration by £0.3m,
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The increase in the fair value of contingent consideration of £1.10m (2020: £0.04m) during the year was recognised In the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss.

The fair values of Investments (n unfisted equity instruments are detérmined by reference to an assessment of the falr value of the entity to which they
relate. This is typically based on 8 multiple of earnings of the underlying business.

There have been no transfars between levels during the year,

Fair value informatien
The fair value of the Group's financial assets and liabHities is as disclosed ebove and approximates to the book value.

Financial risk management

The Group's aclivities expose It to a variety of financlal risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk; and liquidity

risk. The main risks {sced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meel business needs and the risk of credit default by customers.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictabllity of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Direclors.

Borrowing facilities
The Group's borrowing tacilities are grawn on as required to manage its cash needs. Banking faclliges are reviewed regularty and extended and
replaced in advance of their expiry.

During the year, the Group agreed a replacement borrowing facility of £70.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Cili, of which €nil wes
utilised at 31 December 2021,

The facilitles comgrise a committed four-year £60.0m revolving credit facllity and an unsecured overdraft facility of £10.0m. The entire amount of both
elements was undrawn at 31 December 2021.

Details of the Group's banking covenants are provided on page 61.

Interest rate risk management

The Group finances its operations through & mixtuee of retalned profits and bank borrowlngs from major banking Institutions at floating rates of
interes! based on SONIA. During the year, the Group settled its outstanding interest rate swaps due (o Its reduction in borrowing requirements and
consequential ineffectivenass of the hedging relationships.

The Group's policy is t0 accept a degree of interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various potential changes in rates remain within certain
prescribed parameters.

Effective Interest rates
The Group's overall average cost of debt was 2.3% during the year to 31 December 2021{2020: 2.4%).

Cash flow hedging reserve

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which sre effective hedges and
mature sfter the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basis, accounted for tiwough the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged iem affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Movements during the year were:

£000
At 1 January 2020 24
Amounts transferred to the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss 354
Revaluations during the year {1439}
Deferred tax movement 149
At 1January 2021 760
Amounts transferred to the Consolideted Statement of Profit or Loss 85
Revaluations during the year 1.023
Deferred tax movement {178)

At 31 Dacamber 2021 -
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
At 31 December 2021 the Group had minimal exposure to movements in interest rates as it had no drawn borrowings.

If the interest rates had been 0.5% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before taxation for the year ended
31 December 2021 and reserves would have decreased, by £0.2m (2020: £0.6m).

Liquidity risk managemaent
The Group seeks to manage Nquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liguidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to Invest cash assets safely
and profitably.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve fcomprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on
the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally camed out at @ local level in the operating companies of the Group in accordance with the practice
and limits set by the Group. These limits vary by location and take into account the liquidity and nature of the market in which the entity operates.

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group is reqularly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels:
Far short-term werking capital purposes, the Group utilses bank overdrafts as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotiated
ahead of their expiry date.

The table below shaws the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities:

Within 1 year 1=2 years 2--5 years Over S ysans Total
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

201
Non-derivative financial lisbilities
Bank borrewings - - - - -
Trade and other payables : sa37 - - - 75137
Lease liabikties 42302 30.76% 63,8859 123,394 260,354
Derivative financial iabilities
Interest rate swaps — effecive - - - - -
2020
Non-derivative financial liabikities
Bank borrowings - 39353 - - 39353
Trade and other payables 17,919 3667 - - 121586
Lease liabilities 55237 33777 54774 121603 265391
Detivative financial abilities
Interest rate swaps — effective 459 246 216 - 9

Credit risk managemant
The Group's credit risk ts primarily attributable to its tade receivabies, contract assets and work in progress.

Trade receivables ate normally due within 30 Lo 60 days. Trade and other recetvables inciluded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are siated net of
an expected credit loss provision which has been estimated by management following a review of individual recetvable accounts. There is ne
Group-wide rate of provision and provision mada for debts that are overdue is based on prior default experience ang known factors at the balance
sheet date. Receivables are written off against the expected credit boss provisian when management considers that the dedt is no longer
recoverable,

Housing customers are typicelly Leca! and Central Governrnent and Housing Associstions. The nature of these customers means that credit risk is
minimal. Other trade receivables ¢contain no specific concentration of credit risk as the amounts recognised represent a large number of receivables
from various customers.

The Group continualy monivors the position of major customers and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. External credit ratings
afe oblained where appropriaie.

Details of the ageing of rade recetvables are shown in note 18,
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Loan notes receivable
The loan notes included within non-current assets were received as part of the disposal of the Terraquest Group. They are repayable in December
2028 and accrue interest at 10% per annum,

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in deferred consideration receivable:

Deferred Contingent Totat

£000 £'000 £'000

At 1January 2020 4618 - 4618
Increase due to disposal of Domiclliary Care businesses 1,500 - . 1500
Fair value of contingent consideration on disposal of Planning Solutians business - 5,395 6,395
Mavement In fair value of contingent consideration - 36 36
Recelved duting the year {5.618) - (>.618)
At1January 2021 - 500 5,431 5,931
Movement in fair vaiue of contingent consideration - 1300 1100
Received during tha year {S00) = {300)
At 31 December 2021 - 6,531 6,531

The balance of conlingent consideration is expected (o be received in April 2022.

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

— o safeguard the Group's ability to continue as 8 going concerm, so that it can continue 1o provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; ,

— to provide an adequate retum (o sharehoiders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk; snd

— lo maintain an aptimal capital structure to reguce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in propertion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to Itin light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order 10 malntain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends pald 1o sharehodders, retumn capital to shareholders, ssue new shares or sel assets (0 reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt as disclosed below and equity as disciosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity.

2021 2020
£'000 £000

The Group conskders its revolving credit facllity to be an Integral part of its cash management.
— Cash at bank and In hand 54,632 96,220
— Revolving credi facility - (39.353)
Cash and cash equivalents, inciuding revolving credit fachity 54,632 56,867
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
Defesred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the Rability method.

Defeired tax relaies to the folowing:

Consolidated statement
Halance sheet of profit ar 0SS Cther movements
A3t AN
D D

20 2020 20 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Persion schemes 8,315) 1497 {1.003) 1e7 (8,809) 1726
Share-based payments 588 28 79 100} 28 1©
Cash-flow hedges - 178 - - 78 49
Tax losses 249 1279 {1,030) 12415 - -
Provisions 149 76 3 143) - -
Acquisition imtangibles (662) {.B75) 1213 1553 - -
Capital allowances 6547 1,323 (676} 439 - -
Leases 558 561 107 32) - -
{6.676) 3320 4,237 3099 {8,759) 1885

Other movements are recognised in the Consolidated Stetement of Comprehensive Income, except those in respect of share-based payments 7
which are recognised In the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

In accordance with IFRS 2 'Share-based Payment’, the Group has recognised an expense for the consumption of emplayee services recetved

as conslderalicn for share options granted. A tax deduction will nol arise unti the options are exerclsed. The tax deduction in future periodsis
dependent on the Company’s share price s the date of exercise. The estimated future 1ax deduction is based an the options’ Intrinsic value at the:
balance sheet date.

The cumulative amount crediied to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is limited to the tax effect of the assoclated cumulative share-based
payment expense. The excess has been credited directly to equity. This is presented in the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

In addition to those recognised, unused tax losses tolaling £25.5m (2020: £29.0m) have not been recognised as managemen does not consider that
it s prababile that they will be recovered.

Intangible assets acquired as pan af a business combination are capitalised at fair value at the date of the acquisition and amortised over their useful
econamic lives. The UK tax regime caloulates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the censolidated
accounts, Hence, the tax base of acquisition intangible assets arising on consalidation Is £nil. Furthermore, no UK tax relied is availabie on the majority
of acquisition Irangibles within individual entities. 5o the tax base of these assets i5 8l50 £nl. The estimated tax effect of this £niltax base is
accounted for as a deferred tax liability which Is released over the pariod of emortisation of the associated acquisition intangible asset.

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Classes of raserves

Share capital represants the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium reprasents the difference between the nominal value of shares Issued and the total consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited 1o the share-based payment reserve until the relgted share
aptions Bre exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve s ransferred to retained earnings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income
and recycled through the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

The merger reserve relates 10 the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of acquisitions, where the Comparty was
entitied to the merger refief offered by the Companies Act 2006.
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Share capital
2021 2020
£000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 110,881,897 {2020: 110,430,459) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1105
Issue of 44,613 (2020: 391,438} shares on exarcise of share optlons - 4
A1 31 December 110,926,510 {2020: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109
During the year 44,613 (2020; 391,438) ardinary 1p shares were issued In respect of share options exercised.
26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-operating cash flow adjustments have been made 1o the result for the year before tax:
2021 2020
£ 000 £000
Depreciation 49,024 47688
Impaiment of fixed assets - 1,500
Loss on disposal of assets 245 3
Amortisation o777 1736
Share-based paymenis 575 953
IAS 19 pension movement (933 878
Share of profits of associates {855) 365}
Finance income (835) (86)
Finance cost 8,904 10,186
Total 6%,902 72761
Movements In financing llabilities during the year are as follows:
Revolving Lease
credit fadility Rabiities Total
£'000 €000 £000
At1January 2020 124,047 205175 329,222
inception of new leases - 456,603 46,603
Termination of leases - {1.61% .61
Intarest 27 7254 9,965
Asrangement lees expensed during the year 515 - 515
Disposal of subsidlaries - (880Q) (880)
Cash outflows including in respect of interest {87.920) {47470) {135.3%0)
At Januery 2021 39,353 200,07 249,424
Inception of new leases - 50,044 50,044
Termination of leases - (1.750) {1,750}
Iinterest 966 6,955 79
Arrangement fees expensed during the year 647 - €47
Cash outflows including in respect of interest (40,966) {47.430) {B8.396)
At 31 December 2021 - 29,890 216,890

27. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Na disposals of subsidiaries were made during 2021. During 2020, the Group disposed of its Scotland Domiciliary Care business in the form of Mears
Care (Scotland) Limited and its Planning Solutions business in the form of Terraquest Solutlons Limited and Portalplanquest Limited.

During 2021, the deferred consideration of £0.5m in respect of the sale of Mears Care (Scotland) Limited was recetved in full.

The contingent cansideration in respect of the disposal of the Planning Solutions business ts carried 1 fair value as a current debtor and is due te be

received in April 2022. The fair value was estimated to be £6.3m as at 31 December 2021 {2020: £5.4m).
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as Rollaws:

Defined contribution pensions
A defined contribution plan is 8 pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent entity. The Group has no legal
obligations 1o pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contribistion's recognised in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets May be recognised if
underpeyment or prepayment has occwred and are incluged In current lisbllitles or current assets as they are normally of a short-term nature,

The assets of the schemas are held separately from those of the Group in an independently sdminiswered fund.

Defined banefit ponsions
The Group contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made 1o separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit thal an employee will recelve on retirement, usually dependent on
ane or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The iegal obligations for any benel(its from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even i plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabllities are measured using the projected unit funding method. applying the principal actuarisl assumptions at the balance sheet date.
Assets are measured at market value, In accordance with IFRIC M, the asset that is recognised is restricted to the amount by which the IAS 18 service
cost Is expected, over the lifetime of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payabie in respect of accruing benefits.

Where the Group has a contractual obligation 1o make good any deficit in its share of an LGPS bui alsa has the right to recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Group’s client, the fair value of that guarantee asset has been recognised and disclosed. Movements In the guaraniee asset
are taken to the Consalidated Siatement of Profit or Loss and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the movement in
pension Bssels and llabikities, :

The Group recognises the pension liability and guarantee assets separately on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Actuarial gains and 10sses ere taken to the Consolideted Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuarial gains and
losses comprise both the effects of changes n actuanal assumplions and exparience adjustmantis arising because of differences between the
previous acluarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other mavements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss, ncluding the turrent service cost, any
past service cost and the effect of curtaiiments or settlements. The net Imeres: cost is akio charged 10 the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss,
The amount charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss In respect of these plans s included within operating costs.

When the Group ceases its participation in & defined benefit pension scherme, the difference between the carrylng value of the scheme as calculated
onanlAS 19 basis and any deficlt payment or surplus receipt due ave recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss as a settiement.

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in Accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the schema actuary.

Defined banefit assots

Scheme assets for LGPS have been estimated by rolling forward the published asset postiion from the previous year using market index returns over
the period. This is considerad to provide a good estimate of the fair value of the scheme assets and the values will be updated 10 actuals each time &
triennlal valuation takes place.

Defined bengfit liabilities
A number of key estimates have been made. which are given below, and which are largely dependent on factors outside the contral of the Group:

inflation rates;

maontailty,

discoun rate; and

salary and pension Increases.

——
—
—
—
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS CONTINUED
The principat actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2021 2020
Rate of increase of salaries — first year 3.00% 2.85%
Rate ol Increase of saleries — second year : 3.00% 285%
Rale of increase of salaries — long term 2.00% 2.85%
Rate of increase far pensions in payment — basad on CPl with a cap of 5% . 2.55% 2.45%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPTwith & cap of 5% 2.90% 280%
Rale of increase for pensions In payment — based on CPl with a cap of 3% 245% 210%
Rate of increase tor gensians in payment — based on RPl with 8 cap af 3% 2.35% 2.30%
Discount rate . 2.00% 1.35%
Retall prices inflation 3.00% 2.85%
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% 245%
t e expectancy fara 65-year-oid mate” 215 years 218 years
Life expeciancy for a 65-year-old femaie 241 yours 24.0 years

*  This assumptin 15581 0n @ schema-by-scheme basis, taking into account the demagraphics of the relevam members. The Rgures disciosed are an sverage 82ross
all schemes.

The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets are:

2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
e Total h Total

£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Guoted assots
Equities - 139,695 135,695 - 18079 BOTHN
Bonds 109357 62,509 171,666 92,356 66,618 158,974
Propenty 5075 22.891 27968 4325 29857 34482
Paoled investment vehicles
Multi-asset funds 75,002 4,085 3,087 8247 - 8247
Alternative asset funds 9,840 226 10,066 10604 - 10,604
Return seeking funds 2,035 333 2,368 2089 - 2,089
Other assats
Equities - 14233 14133 - - -
Bonds - 3170 3170 - - _
Property - 4275 4275 - 361 361
Derivativas 1,979 a1 2310 2,284 - 2,284
Cash and other 4470 44,921 49,391 3823 10864 14.687
vestiment liabilities
Derivatives {10,646) - {10,646) 012192 - (12192)
Group's estimated asset share 196,912 2965M 493,453 185436 28845 473927
Present value of funded scheme liabillties (159,261) @7rs.828) (435.089) {181,184) (320186} (501.370)
Funded status 37881 20,743 38394 4252 (31.695) (27443
Scheme surpluses not recognised as assels - (7738} a7738) = M142) (1142
Pension asset/Niatiliy 7,651 (16.995) 20,656 4252 (42837) {38.585)
Pension guaraniee assets - 12.975 12,975 - 30708 30705
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The amounis recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss are as follows:

2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
schames schemes ToAa! schemes schemes Total
£'000 €000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Current service cost 2154 4277 6,431 2,029 4,244 6,273
Settlemeant and curtailment . - (687) (687 - 22 (rFi}
Administration costs 545 - 645 375 - 375
Total operating charge 2,699 3,500 6,289 2404 4222 6,626
Net interest (639) 282 213 {208) 466 260
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related
to nel interest - 152 152 — 56 56
Tolal charged to the result for the year 2630 4,024 6,654 2198 4744 6,942
Cumuiative ectyarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCJ) are as follows:
201 2020
Graup Other Group Othar
schemes schemes Total schames schemaes Total
) £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Return on plan essets in excess of thai recorded In
net interest 12,093 1,69 23784 21081 20766 41,847
Actuarial galn arising from changes in
demographic assumplions 292 1,001 1,293 1,693 8364 10,057
Actuarial gainfloss) arising from changes in
financist assumptions 17,044 31,648 48,692 {25,060 62,337 (87.397)
Actuarial gainfloss) arising from Hability experience 4364 8,032 12,396 (350 25300 24,950
On scheme transfer - - - - 57 {57
Effects of limitation of recognisable suplus related
to OCl movements - {26,444) {26,444) — (8,414) (8,44
Total gains and losses recognised in OCl 33793 25,928 5971 {2.636) [165,478) {19144}
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 101184 320186 501,370 156,379 327460 493,839
Current service cost 2154 4277 6,431 2029 4244 6,273
Interest on obligations 2413 3,808 [ %y 3241 5,974 9,215
Plan participants’ contributions 236 540 776 264 763 1027
Benefiis paid {5,026) 6,348) (11.,374) {4.446) (4,89} {8,635
Contract transfer - {2,212) 2.292) - {42.595) {42,595)
Settiements - (3.742) @782 - (144) (144)
Actuarial galn arsing from changes in
demographic assumptions (292} {1,001 (1293) {1.693) (8.364) (0,057
Actuarial {gainloss arising from changes in
financial assumptions {17.044) {31,648} {48,692) 25,060 62,337 87397
Actuarial {gainyloss anising from lability experience {4,364) (8,032) {12.396) 350 {25,300) {24,950}
Present value of obligations 8t 31 December 159,261 275828 435,089 181184 320186 50,370
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as lollows:

2021 2020
Group Othat Group Othar
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Fair value ¢f plan assets at 1 January 185,436 288,49 473827 153,250 303,464 46614
Expected return on plan assets 2482 3526 5,008 3447 5,508 8955
Empiayer's contributions 2,236 3279 5518 2,215 1,805 . 4020
Pign participams’ contribytions 36 sS40 778 264 763 1027
Benefits paid (5,026) (6.249) (n.374) {4,446} {4189) {8.635)
Scheme administration costs {54%) - (545) 375 - (375
Contract transfer - (L5593 (1,953) - (39.836) [39,836)
Settlements - {3,055) {3,055) - (122 (122)
Retum an plan assets above that recorded in .
net Interest 12,093 HeM 23794 21081 0098 479
Fair vatue of plan assets at 31 December 196,912 296.5M 493,483 185436 28849 473,927
Changes In the fair value of guarantee assets are as follows:
2024 2020
£'000 £'000
Fair value of guarantes assets a1 January 30,705 23810
Transterred in on scheme entry S0 -
Transferred out on scheme exit 6.369) (=473
Recognieed in the Consolidatad Statement of Profitor Loss
Guaraniee asset movement in respect of service cost 1707 1,628
Guaraniee asset movement In respect of net interest 240 48
Recognised in other prehensive (i
Guaraniee assel movement in respect of actuarial losses {19,018) 10,024
Falr value of guarantee assets at 31 December 12,975 30,705

Funding arrangements are agreed for each of the Group's defined bhenelit pension schemes with their respective trustees. The employer's
contributions expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2022 amount to £3.5m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through s varistly of methods and stralegles 1o imit downside in falls in equity markets, movement In inflation and
movement in Inlerest rates.

The Group’s defined benefit obligation is senslitive to changes in certain key assumpticns. The senshivity analysis below, prepared using the same
methoos and assumptions used above, Shows how 8 reasonably possible increase or decrease in a particular assumption, In isolation, results in an
increase or decrease in the present value cf the defined benafit obligation as at 31 December 2021,

£'000 £°000
Rate of inflation — decrease/increase by 0.1% 7.287) 7296
Rate of increase in selaries ~ decrease/incresse by 0.1% ’ (1,344) 1344
Discaunt rale — decreasefincrease by 0.1% 8450 (8,449
Lif¢ expectancy — decrease/incraase by i year {18.403) 18402
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19, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments et 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certaln Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2021 these guarantees amounted to

£15.7m (2020 £14,7m),

The Group had nop other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

identity of related parties

Tne Group has a related party refationship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemes
Details of contribulions to pension schemes are set out In note 28.

Subsldlaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidisrles participate, Management does nat consider it meaningful to set out detalfs of
transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between campanies, nor does it consider it meaningful 1o sel out details of interest or dividend

payments made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnal
The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC:

201 2020

% %

Directors 0.6 06
Key managemen| personnels compensation is as follows:

201 2020

£'000 £'000

Selanies including social security costs 1,659 2,063

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 134 &3

Share-based paymenis 146 340

1,939 2,534

Further detalls of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Reporl.
Dividends totalling £0.02m (2020: £nil) were paid to Directors during the year.

Transactions with other related parties

At the beginning of the year the Group was owed £0.5m (2020: £0.5m) from YourMK LLP, an entily in which the Group is 8 50% member. This loan was

repald in full during the period.

During the year the Group provided maintenance servicas o Pyramid Plus South LLP, an entity in which the Geoup is a 30% member, totalling €10.2m
{2020: £7.9m). At 31 December 202, £1.0m [202: £0.9m) was due to the Group infespect of these transactions. Pyramid Plus South LLP also made
recharges of cerlaln staff costs to the Group tolalling £0.2m (2020: £0.1m). There were no amounts outstanding at 31 December 2021in respact of

these recharges (2020: Enil).
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Financial statements

Parent Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2020
2021 {restated*)
Noie £000 £000
Non-currem assets.
Intangible assets: gooowli - -
Right of use assets -] 21,417 1346
Investments 7 139398 139398
Loan notes Ll 31476 360
Pension and other employee benefits 15 1920 -
Deferred tax asset - 3
166,211 162417
Currant assels
Deatiors 8 45,833 37612
Cash at bank and in hand 649 21,461
46,582 59,073
Creditors: amounts failing due within one year g (71.215) 0194)
Net current (lisbiiiies)/aascts {24.638) 28,879
Total assals less current Habilities ’ 1577 191206
Creditors: amounis falling due after more than one year 10 (15492) (49,919)
Provisions for llabllitles
Penston Wlability 5 - [2816)
126,085 128.561
Capital and ressrves
Called up share capital 12 1109 1108
Share gremuam account 82,265 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 1313 1312
Hedging reserve - (760}
Profit and loss account . 41,398 54,675
Shareholders’ funds i 126.085 138,561

' Detalls of the raciassificalion in respect of 2020 sre Included in note 11

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Seclion 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit and loss account in these
financial statements. The Group profit (2020; kss) for the year includes a loss of £15.2m {2020 profit of £30.9m) which is recognised within the
financial s1atements of the Company.

The financial staternents were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022,

D J Miles A C M Smith - y .

Director Director A1l BATron ity

Company number. 03232863 djmiles {Jun 19, 2022 13:34 GMT+1} andrew smith {Jun 19, 2022 21:11 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral pact of these financial staterments.
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share-
Share based

Share premium payment Hedging Retained Total

capial accoumt reserve reserve eamings equity

£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2020 1105 82224 2421 f124) 22874 108,500

Net result for the year - - - - 30,936 30,936

Other comprehensive expense - - - {636) 0.273) 11.909}

Total comprehensive expense for the year — - — {636) 29,663 29,027

Issue of shares 4 1 - - - 5

Share options - value of employee services - - 1,029 - - 1,029

Share aptions — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (2138} - 2,138 -

At tJanuary 2021 139 82,225 1312 (780 54,675 138,561

Net result for the year - - - - 015,229} (15,.229)

Other comprehensive expense - — - 760 4151 4.91
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for

the year - - - 760 {1.078) (10,318)

Issue of shares - 40 - - - 40

Share aptions - value of employee services - - S75 - - 575

Share options — exercised, cencelied or lapsed - - ®74) - 574 -

Dividends - - - - (2773 (2773

At 31 December 2021 1109 82,265 1313 - 41396 126,085

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral parn of these financial statements,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting palicies are detalled in their respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific 10 a particular note are detailed below.

Statement of compliance

Mears Group PLC is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales. his registered office is 1390 Montpeliier Court, Gloucester Business
Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared In accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the
Companies At 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost besis except for the maodification 1o & fair value basis for
certain finendial Instruments specified In the accounting palicies below. The financial statements are presented in Steriing.

The financia! statements have been prepared on a gaing concern baslis. Further details of the considerations made by management when making
this assessment are pravided in note 1 ofthe notes to the Group financlal statements.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemplion in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from disclasing its Individusl profit and loss account.

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for In FRS 101 and has therefore not
provided a cash flow statement or certain disclosures In respect of share-based paymenis.

The principal accounting policies of the Company are sel out below. These policies have been applied consistently (o all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Government grants

Govemment grants are recognised wherg there is reasonable assurance thal the grant wil be recelved, and all attached condilions will be complied
with. When the grant refates to an expense item, it |5 recognised as Income on 8 systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are axpansed.

Duwring the prior period, the Group benefitied from recelpts from the UK Government under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. In accordance
with FRS 101, samounts received were présented as other income.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences where the transactions of events that give the Company an cbiigation to pay more tax in the
future, of a right 1o pay less tax in the future, have octurred by the balance sheel date. Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is more likely than
not that they will be recovered. Deferred 1ax Is measured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Critical jJudgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical judgememts In applying the Comipany’s accounting pokcles and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in lhe Group's
accounting policies,

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result for the year Is stated after charging auditor's remuneration of £150.000 (2020: £130,000) relating to audit services.
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3. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Employee benefits expanse:
2021 2020
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 13283 13089
Sochal security costs 1510 1,665
Other penslon Costs 512 412
15,3058 15,266
A Coronavirus Job Retentlon Scheme grant of €nil (2020: £0.6m) was recognised as other income,
The average number of employees of the Company during the year was:
2021 2020
Number Number
Management 287 308
Remuneration in respect of Directors was as follows:
oo > ] 2020
£'000 £'000
Emoluments 1427 182
Pension contributions to personal pension schemes 124 £
Gains on execcise of optians 46 340
1707 2,292

During the year contributions were pald to personal pension schemes for three Directors (2020: three).
During the year no Directors (2020 three) exercised share optlons.
4. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financlal statements,

The Group operates equity-settled and cash-setiled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services recelved in exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by reference 1o the fak value of the
share options awarded, Their value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the awerd
was grantad are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated using the Black Schales option pricing model and the cosl is recognised

on a straight-line basis over the vasting period. Adjustments are made to refiect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period.

Share-based remuneration in respect of employees of the Compary is ultimately recognised as an expense In the profit and loss account. For
equily-settied share-based payments there is 8 cormesponding credit to the share-based payment reserve; for cash-seitied share-based payments
the Company recognises & lisbility at the balance sheet date. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for emplayees of subsidiaries

using the Company’s equity instruments. The fair value of the compensatlon given in respect of these share-based compensation plans less

payments received from subsidiaries In respect of those share-based payments is recognised as a capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the naminal value of the shares issued,

are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four shere-based payment schemes for employee remuneration. The details of each scheme are

included within note 7 to the consolidated financlal slatemenis.

All share-based emplyee remuneration will be seftled in equity. The Group has ne legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

5. WVIDENDS
The foliowing divigends were pakd on ordinary shares In the year:

2021 2020
£000 £000
Final 2020 dividend of Op {2020; final 2019 dividend of 0} per share - -
tnterim 2021 dividend of 2.5p (2020: interim 2020 dividend of Op) per share 27713 b
2773 -

No dividend was declared in respect of 2020. An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid to shareholders in October 2021.
The Directots recommend a final dividend of 5.50p per shase, This has not been included within the consalidated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 Decermber 2021,

6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset is sublect 10 a lease, the Company recognises a right of use assel and a lease llabifity on the balance sheet. The right of use asset is
measured at cost, which matches the initisl measurement of the fease lability and any cosls expected ai the end of the lease, and then depreciated
on a straight-line basis over ihe lease tesm.

The tease liabiiity is measurad at the presentvalug of the future lease paymens discounted using the Group's incrementat borrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed paymenis, variable payments based on an index and payments arising from oplions reasonably cenain to
be exercised.

The Group has elected to accoun for short-term leases and {eases of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a sight
of use asset and a lease liabllity, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense In profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
|ease term.

On the statérmen of financlal position, right of use assets and lease liabiities are presentied separataly.

Offices  Motor virhities Yotal
£000 £000 £'000

Gross CaTying amount
AL1 January 2020 : ms 32,09 33224
Additions® : ' 12 Bi87 8199
Disposals {18) {2350 {2.408)
At1January 2021 1109 37.906 39,015
Additions” {1 12,896 12,886
Disposals & {19767 (19.842)
At 31 Decomber 2021 1,018 .08 32,059
Depreciation
At 1 Januery 2020 219 10,557 10776
Provided in year 4 mn naze
Eliminated on disposals L2] (2.215) {2,233}
ALt January 2021 415 19,454 19.869
Provided ir the year 197 9921 0ns
Eliminated on disposals Jt:1)] {19,264} (19.345)
At 21 Decempber 2021 531 10 10,642
Carrying amount
At 31 Decomber 2021 487 20,930 2L477
At 31 December 2020 694 18452 19146

*  Additions indudes baoth new undedying assets and remeasurement of the right of use asset for changes in the lease terms,
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7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments in equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at deemed cost lass

Impairment. Dividends on equity securitles are recognised in incame when recelvable.

Investman

in subsidiary

undertakings

£'000

Al ! January 2020 39,583

Capitalisation of l0ans with subsidiarles 10,000

Disposal of subsidiary (10.250)

Retention of holding in disposed subsidiary 85

At1January 2021 and 3t December 2021 139,338
Detalis of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shawn i note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. DEBTORS

2020

2021 {restated)

£000 £'000

Amounts owed by Group undenakings g s5ae 31724

Dther receivables TAOS 5,888

45,933 37,612

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on demand. Expected credil losses are assessed on an individual basis, taking into account all

the relavant factors in respect of the counterparty.
Detalls of the reclassification in respect of 2020 are included in note 11

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

201 2020
£000 £'000
Trade creditors 12855 15,478
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 49,485 423
Interest rate swaps - 459
Accruals 1727 751
Corporation tax 348 579
Lease obligations 6,720 8,768
Other payables 13 36
1,216 30194

10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Bank borrowings - 39344
Lease obligations 15,012 oM3
Interest rate swaps - 462
Deferred tax 480 -
15,492 49,919
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

Financial assels and Kabllities are recognised In the Ceonsoligated Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party 1o the coniractual provisions of
the: instrument. The principal financial assets and llabiities of the Company are as follows:

Financial assets

Basic Mnancial assets, including trade and alher recelvables, amounts due to Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are initlally
recoghised st transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured af the present value of
the future recelpts discounted at 3 market rate of interes!.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,

At the end of each reporiing period flinancial assets measured 8t amortised cost are assassed for objective evidence of impairment. f an asset s
impaired the impalrment loss is the difference between the carmying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective Interest rate. The Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the cantractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled; (b) substantially afl the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the assel are transferred to another party: or () despite having retained somne significant risks and rewards of
ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party which has the practical abifity lo unitaterally sell the asset o an unrelated third
perty without impasing additional restrictlons.

Cash and cash equivalents Include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits avallable with no notice or less than three months’ natice from
inception that are subject ta an insignificant risk of changes in value, Bank overdrafts are presented as cument liabifities to the extent that there is no
right of offset with cash balances.

Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabllities, Including irade and other payables, and amounts payable to Group companies that are classified as debt, are Initlally
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument Is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discountad at a market rate of interest.

Bank borrawings are non-basic financial liabilities and are mitially recognised at fair value, being the present value of future payments discounted ata
market rate of interest. Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair value,

Derivatives, including Interes! raie swaps, are not basic financial instruments.

Derivatives are iniflalty recognised at fair value on the date a derivativa contract is entéred into and are subsequently remeasured at their {air value.
Changes In the falr value of derlvatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or finance income as apprapriate, unkess they are included in a
hedging arrangement.

Financial kabilitles are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged or cancelied or expires.

Ofisetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offsel and the net amounts presenied in the financial stalernents when there is a legally enforcesble right to set off
the recognised amounts and there is an Intention 1o seltle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the llabllity simuligneously.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company applies hedge accounting for transactions entered into to manage the cash flow exposures of borrowings. interest rate swaps are held
o manage the interest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow hedges of floaling rate borrowings.

Changes in the falr velues of dertvatives designated as cash flow hedges, and which are eflective, are recognised directly In equity, Any ineffectiveness
in the hedging relationship (being the excess of the cumulative change In fair value of the hedging instrument since inception of the hedge over the
cumutative change In the fair valye of the hedged irem since inception of the hedge) is recognised in the Consolidated Statement af Profit or Loss,

The gain or joss recagnised In other comprehensive Income Is reclassified 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedge

relationship ends. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging Instrument expires or no longer meets the hedging criteria. the forecast
transaction is no longar highly probable, the hedged debt Instrument is derecognised or the hedging instrument is terminated.
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The Company has the following financial instruments:

2020
200 [restated)
£'000 £'000
Financlal assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:
— Loan notes 3,476 360
-  Amounts owed by Group undertakings 38,528 31,724
- Other receivables 7405 8,048
Financial iabilities that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
—  Interest rate swaps - {92%
Financial Kabllities that sre measured at amortised cost:
- Bank borrowings - (39,344}
— Trade creditors (12,855) (15,478}
a= Lease obligations M732) {18.881)
- Amounts owed to Group undertakings {49,455} (4,23}
- Other payables "3 (36}
(34,746) (34.851)

Thera have been no changes during the period or cumulatively in the fair value of bank borrowlings attributable to changes In the credit risk of the
instrureent. The change attributable 10 changes In own credit risk is not material due to the shori life of individual draw-downs within bank borrowings.
The difference between the carrying amount and the amount expected to be psid at maturity Is not material due to the shor! lIfe of individual
draw-downs within bank borrewings.

The Company pald a margin over angd above LIBOR on bank borrowings. The margin s based on the ratio of Group consolidated net borrowings to
Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.35% and 2.2% during the year. In December 2021, the Company agreed a
new bomowing facility based on SONIA; however, the facility had not yet been utilised at the year end.

During the year, the Company settled ali outstanding interest rate swap instruments due to its reduced borrowing requirements.

During 2021, 8 hedging galn of £1.0m (2020 loss: £1./m} was recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the interest
rate swap and £0.Ym of income (2020: £0.4m of expense) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss.

The Comparny seeks 10 manage liquidity sk by ensuring sufficlent liquidity is avallable 1o meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assels safely
and profitably.

Management monitors roliing forecasts of the Group and Company's liquidity reserve {comprising undrawn borrowing facliities and cash and cash
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. The quantum of committed borrowing faciiities of ihe Group ard Company is regutarly reviewed
and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purposes, the Group and Company utilise bank overdrafis
as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegoliated ahead of thelr expiry date.

Loan notes
Loan notes are hald as a result of the sale of the Company's holding In TerraGQuest Solutions Limited during 2020. The notes are repayable on the
earlier of the onward sale of that business or In 2028, They attract interest at 10% per annum, payable on seitiement of the loan notes.

During 2021, these notes were reclassified from current to non-current assets, In line with their expected maturity. This reclassification is presented as
a restatementin the Balance Sheet and has no other impact,

12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2021 2020
£000 £'000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Al 1 January 110,881,897 (2020: 110,490,459) ordinary shares of ip each 1309 1105
Issue of 44,613 (2020: 391.438) shares on exercise of share options - 4
Al 31 December 110,926,510 [2020: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of ip each 1109 1109

During the year 44,613 (2020: 391,438) ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share oplions exercised,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. SH;AI!E CAPITAL AND RESERVES CONTINUED
Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the naminal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the difference betweaen the nominal value of shares issued and the total consideration received.

Share-bssed payment reserve represents employee remuneration which Is credited to the share-based payment reserve unt the related share
oplions are exercised. Upon exercisa the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retsined eamings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of Interest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basts, accounted for Lhrough the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycted through the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Lass when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss,

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2021 or 81 31 December 2020,

14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has guaranteed that it will complate certaih Group contracts that its subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 2021 these
guarantees amounted to £15.7m (2020: £44.7m). '

The Company is & participant In the Group’s RCF agreement and, as such, has provided a full guarantee in respect of amounts drawn under this
facility. The total facility | £70m (2020: £145m) of which none (2020: £40m) was drawn at the batance sheet date,

The Company had no other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020,

15. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Dafined contribution pension scheme

The penslon costs charged against profits are the contributions payable 1o individual policies in respect of the accounting period.

Defined benefit pansions
The Company contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contributions 10 be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on
ane or move factars such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligations (or any benefits from this kKing of pension plan remakn with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabilittes are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarisl assumptions at the balance sheet date,
Assets are measured at market valye. The asset thal is recognised s restricted o the amount by which the service cost is expected, over the lifetime
of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits.

Actuarial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuarial galns and
losses comprise both the effects of changes In actuarial assumptions and experience agjiustments arising becayse of differences between the
previaus actuarial assumptions and what has actually occuerred.

Oiher movements in the net surplus or defici are recognised in the profit and loss account, including the current service cost, any past service cost
and the effect of curtailments or settlements. The Interest costs less the expected return on assels are also cherged 1o the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss. The amount charged 10 the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in respect of these plans is included within operating costs.

The Company’s contributions 1o the schemes are paid In accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the actuary.

Defined contribution schames
The Company cantributes to the personal pension schemes of cerlain employees.

Defined benefit schame
The Compary operates a2 defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of centain employees of its subsidiary companies. The assets of the
schemes are administered by trustees in a fund mdependent from the assets of the Comparyy.

Costs and fiabilities of the schemne are based on actuarial valuations. The actugtial valuations were reviewed and updated to 31 December 2021 by a
qualified independent actuary using the projecied unit funding method.
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The principal actuarial assuymptions st the balance sheet date are as follows:

2021 2020
Rate of increase of salsries — first year 3.00% 2.85%
Rate of increase of salaries — second year 3.00% 285%
Rate of increase of salaries — long term 2.00% 2.895%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RP) with a cap of 5% ‘ 2.90% 285%
Rate of Incresse for pensions in payment — based on RPIwith a cap of 3% 2.35% 235%
Discourt rate ‘2.00% 135%
Retak prices Inflation 3.00% 2.85%
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% _ 2.45%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old make 21.0 years 2liyears
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female 23.9 years 24.0 years

The arounts recognised In the Parent Company Balance Sheet and major categorles of plan assets as a percentage of lotal plan assels are:

021 2020
£000 £'000
Quoted assets
Bonds 33m 3.865
Property B53 558
Other assets
Multi-asset funds 16,272 15,364
Alternative asset funds . 2205 2,039
Retumn seeking funds 335 410
Dertvatives 564 733
Cash and other 1251 275
Investment abilities
Dertvatives 38) (194
Group's estimated asset share 24,824 23050
Present vatue of funded scheme llabilities (22.904) (25.866)
Funded status 1,920 {2,816)
Related deferred tax Jiability)/assel (480) 535
Pension assetfliabllity} 1,440 (2,281
The amounts recognised In the profit and loss account are as follows:
2021 2020
£000 £000
Current service cost B8 13
Acdministration costs ‘ 167 77
Total operating charge 175 80
Net interest 37 28
212 18

Total charged to the result for the year
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

15. PENSIONS CONTINUED

202 2020
£'000 €000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 25,866 22350
Current service cost B 13
Interest on obhigations 346 463
Plan participants’ contribations 2 2
Benefits paid (538) 524)
Actuarisd [gainyloss arising frorm changes in demographic assumptions . {802 216
Acwarial (gain)loss arsing from changes in financial assumptions 2.420) 3613
Actuarial lossAgain) arising from liability experience 40 67
Presen value of obligations at 31 December 22,904 25.866
Changes in the 3ir value of the plan assets are as follows:
2021 2020
£000 £000
Fair value of plan assets at \ January . 23,050 20972
Expected retum on plan asseals 08 435
Employer's contributions n 252
Ptan participants’ contributions 2 2
Benefits paid {635) 624)
Administration costs L] N
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net Interest 1835 2,090
Falr value of plan assets at 31 December 24,824 23,050
The movements in the net pension llability and the amount recognised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet are as follows:
2004 2020
£'000 £'000
Defictt in schemes at 1 January {2,818) 01.378)
Cuwirent service cost [0 03
Administration costs (167) h
Contributions i) 252
Other finance cost an {28
Actuaiial gainfloss) arising from changes in demaographic assumptions 402 (216)
Actusrial gainfloss) arising from changes in financlal assumptions 2,820 3613
Actuarlal {loss)gain arising from llability experience (40) ©7
Return on plan assets above that recorded n net interest 1,935 2,090
Daficitin schemes at 31 December . 1,920 2.816}

No employar’s contributions are expected 10 be pald during the financial year ending 31 December 2022,
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Shareholder information

Five-year record (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

20x1 2020 2010 2018 2017
{continuing) {continuing} {continwing) fcontinuing)  {all nctivities)
£000 £'000 £'000 £7000 £000
Revenue by business sagment '
Housing 878420 805817 881457 Thas 766,021
Care - - - - 134,063
Continuing activities 878,420 8058177 881,457 771,861 800,84
Gross profit 180,487 156,287 206109 184,928 223702
QOperating profit before acquisition Intangible amortisation and
exceptional costs 33,683 5528 40,229 33093 399
Exceptional items 1,627) 2,279 2018} (5,657 -
Operating profitloss) 24,401 {6,276} 28,089 29,698 28513
Profitiloss) for the year before tex 4,333 [15,.218) 20,253 27377 26484
Profiti{loss) before taxation before acquisition intangibie
amortisation and exceptional costs 25,615 2.5 32,333 36772 In22
Earnings per share
Bask n72p 10.661p 1572p N9p 20.28p
Diluted 11.50p nG66p 15.64p 278p 2010p
Normalised 18.23p 2.29p 2374p 2770p 28.05p
Dividends per share 8.0p 0.0p 3.65p 12.40p 12.00p
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
a0 2020 2019 2018 2007
{continuing) {comtinuing) {continuing) {cominuing) (sl activities)
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Non-current assets 405,959 408369 409151 304,549 264,567
Cuwirent assets 227,980 267720 284230 244272 21,439
Current liabilities [230,120) (255.78) {326,329) {222,909) (198.678)
Non-cumrent liabiliies (#02,761) (264.720) {248715) 115,632) 67738)
Total equity 201,038 156,051 18,337 210280 200590
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 54,632 56.867 {50,986) (65.504) {25,785}
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Shareholder and corporate information

Financial calendar
Annual General Meeting
17 May 2022

Registered office

1390 Montpeller Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AK

Tel 01452 634600
WWW.MEearsgroup.co.uk

Company registration number
03232863

Company Secretary

Ben Westran

1350 Montpelier Courl
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel 01452 634600

Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC

Wales and South West
Cosporate Banking

4th Floor, Bridgewater House
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS168BX

Tel 0800 2851152

HSBC Bank PLC

Wesl & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3Rivergale

Temple Quay

Bristal BSI6ER

Tel 08455839796

Citi Bank plc
25-33Canada Square
Canary Wharl

London

E14 5LB

Tet 020 7500 %000

Solicitors
Travers Smith

10 Snow Hill
London EC1A 2AL

Tel 0207295 3000

Auditor

Emst & YoungLLP
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
The Paragon
Counterslip

Bristol BS16BX

Tek 0117 5812050

Registrar

Neville Registrars Ltd
Neville House
Steelpark Road
Halesowen

West Midlands B62 8HD

Tel: 0123585 1131

Corporate brokers
Peel Hunt

Mocr House

20 Landon Wall
London EC2Y SET

Tek 020 7418 8900
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Internet

The Group operates a website, which can be
found at www.mearsgroup.co.uk. This site Is
regularly updated to provide information about
the Group. In particular, all of the Group's press
releases and announcements can be found on
the sile.

Registrar

Any enquiries concerning your shareholding
should be addressed to the Company's
registrar. The registrar should be notified
promptly of any change in & shareholder’s
address or other details.

Investor refations

Requests for further copies of the Annual
Report and Accounts, or other investor
relations enquiries, should be addressed (o the
registered office,

Consultancy, design and production
www.luminous.co.uk
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